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Risks Related to Our Business and Industry + We have a history of operating losses and may not achieve or sustain profitability
in the future. « We have a short operating history at our current scale in a rapidly evolving industry. + We may experience
quarterly fluctuations in operating results. « We may be unable to retain our current clients, attract new clients, and increase the
number of our clients’ customers that use our solutions or sell additional functionality to our clients. « Efforts-to-attractnew
elients-Our operational and business portfolio reviews may be-unsteeessful-not result in improvements to our financial
performance, strategy, or operations . = We may be unable to expand our direct and channel sales capabilities, grow our
marketing reach and increase sales productivity. « We expect our revenue mix to vary over time, which could affect our gross
profit, gross margin and results of operations. « Our business could be adversely affected if our clients and their customers are
not satisfied with the timing or quality of implementation services provided by us or our partners , or our ability to meet
service levels to allow for timely payment processing due to system downtime or other factors . + Our financial and
operating results are subject to seasonality and cyclicality. « We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
that could materially and adversely affect our cash flows and results of operations. ¢ Certain of our key performance indicators
are subject to inherent challenges in measurement. « Our business depends, in large part, on our proprietary network of global,
regional, and local banking partners and our relationships with other third parties. « Our markets are highly competitive. * The
estimates of market opportunity and our ability to capture a meaningful share of this payment volume may prove to be
inaccurate. * Our education business may be adversely affected by decreases in enrollment or tuition, inereased-limitations or
other restrictions on student issaanees-of-visas to international students or increased operating expenses for our clients. « The
healthcare industry is rapidly evolving. « Our travel business may be sensitive to events affecting the travel industry in general. ¢
We may be unable to enter or expand into new verticals or sub- verticals, including our relativelynew-B2B payment-vertical.
There could be consolidation in the payment processing or enablement industry. « We may be adversely impacted by worldwide
global economic and political instability. Risks Related to Our Operations « We may not be able to scale our business quickly
enough to meet our growing client base. * We enable the transfer of large sums of funds to our clients daily and are subject to
the risk of errors. ¢ Volatility in the banking and financial services sectors may impact our bank partnerships and relationships,
which could adversely affect our operations and liquidity. * Our management of our operating funds and those of our clients
may be reliant on a limited number of our banking partners and other financial institutions. + We may be unable to maintain or
expand our ability to offer a variety of local and international payments. * Improper or unauthorized use of, disclosure of, or
access to personal or sensitive data could harm our reputation. « We may fail to adapt and respond effectively to rapidly
changing technology, evolving industry standards, changing regulations, and changing business needs, requirements, or
preferences. « Changes to payment card networks fees or rules could harm our business. ¢ If we lose key members of our
management team or are unable to attract and retain executives and employees we need to support our operations and growth,
our business may be harmed. Risks Related to Our Legal, Regulatory and Compliance Landscape ¢ Payments and other financial
services- related regulations and oversight are material to our business. * We are subject to governmental laws and requirements
regarding economic and trade sanctions, AML, CFT and those applicable to a MSB. « We are subject to governmental
regulation and other legal obligations, particularly those related to privacy, data protection, information security, anti-
corruption, anti- bribery, and similar laws. Risks Related to Being a Public Company « We may fail to develop-and-continue to
maintain proper effective internal control over financial reporting.  Estimates relating to our critical accounting policies may
prove to be incorrect. « We will continue to incur increased costs as a public company. Risks Related to Ownership of Our
Common Stock ¢ Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations, or require us
to relinquish rights to our intellectual property on unfavorable terms. © Our repurchase program Seeturities-and-ndustry
analysts-may not pablish-achieve or-our goals publish or business-meet
expectatlons Risks Related to Our Business and Industry We were 1nc0rp0rated in 2009 and although we have generated net
income for fn—pﬂer—peﬂeés—we—met&red-a—net—}ess—m—the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , we have incurred net losses in
the past, and may continue to incur net losses in the future. We generated net income of $ 2. 9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, and net losses of $ 8. 6 million yand $ 39. 3 mithenand-$28—-million for the years ended December 31,
2023 yand 2022 and-2021-, respectively. In addition, as of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had an accumulated deficit of § 373
170 . 8-9 million. We have experienced significant revenue growth in recent periods and we are not certain whether or when we
will obtain a high enough volume of revenue to sustain or increase our growth or achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
We also expect our costs and expenses to increase in future periods, which could negatively affect our future operating results if
our revenue does not increase. In particular, we intend to continue to expend-signifieantfunds-strategically invest in
headcount, to further develop our solutions, including introducing new functionality, and to expand our marketing programs
and sales teams to drive new client adoption, expand strategic partner integrations, and support international and dustey
product expansion. Our operating results are also impacted by the mix of our revenue generated from our different revenue
sources, which include transaction revenue and platform and other usage—based-fee revenue. Changes in our revenue mix from
quarter to quarter, including those derived from cross- border or domestic currency transactions, will impact our margins, and
we may not be able to grow our revente-gross margin adequately to achieve or sustain profitability. In addition, the mix of
payment methods utilized by our clients’ customers may have an impact on our margins given that our costs associated with
certain payment methods, such as credit cards, are higher than other payment methods accepted by our solutions, such as bank




transfers. Due to the cross- border nature of much of our business, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, slowdowns in
international mobility and other regional considerations may affect our operating results. We will also face increased compliance
and security costs associated with growth, the expansion of our client base, and being a public company. Our efforts to grow our
business may be costlier than we expect, and we may not be able to increase our revenue enough to offset our increased
operating expenses. We may incur significant losses in the future for several reasons, including the other risks described herein,
and unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays, and other unknown events. If we are unable to achieve and sustain
profitability, the value of our business and common stock may significantly decrease. If the assumptions we use to plan our
business are incorrect or change in reaction to changes in our markets, or if we are unable to maintain consistent revenue or
revenue growth, it may be difficult to achieve and maintain profitability. Our financial results from any prior quarterly or annual
periods should not be relied upon as an indication of our future revenue or growth in revenue, gross profit or volume of
payments processed. In addition, we expect to continue to expend substantial management time, financial and other resources
on: « sales, marketing, relationship management and client support, including an expansion of our sales organization, and new
client support and payer retention initiatives; ¢ our technology infrastructure, including systems architecture, scalability,
availability, performance, and security; ¢ our technology development, including investments in our technology development
team and the development of new solutions and new functionality; ¢ expanding into more international markets; * retaining
existing clients, attracting new clients and increasing the number of our clients’ customers that use our solutions; * acquisitions
or strategic investments;  regulatory compliance and risk management; and * general administration, including increased
insurance, legal and accounting expenses associated with being a public company. These investments may not result in
increased revenue growth in our business. If we are unable to increase our revenue at a rate sufficient to offset the expected
increase in our costs, our business, financial position and operating results will be harmed, and we may not be able to achieve or
maintain profitability over the long term. We have a short operating history at our current scale in a rapidly and significantly
evolving industry and, as a result, our past results may not be indicative of future operating performance. We have a short
history operating at our current scale in a rapidly and significantly evolving industry that may not develop in a manner favorable
to our business. This relatively short operating history makes it difficult to assess our future performance with certainty. You
should consider our business and prospects in light of the risks and difficulties we may encounter. Our future success will
depend in large part upon our ability to, among other things: * cost- effectively acquire new clients and-, retain existing clients,
increase the number of our clients’ customers that use our solutions and sell additional functionality to our clients; *
maintain and increase our market share; * avoid pricing pressure on our solutions which would compress our margins;
effectively market our solutions;  enhance our existing solutions and develop new solutions; ¢ increase awareness of our brand
and maintain our reputation; * develop new technologies, adapt to technology changes and evolving industry standards and to
incorporate new technologies, such as artificial intelligence, into our solutions; * offer seamless experience for our clients and
their customers, including all user facing attributes ranging from the user interface to client and customer support; * anticipate
and respond to microeconomic and macroeconomic changes; ¢ expand our solutions and geographic reach, including with
respect to B2B and travel payments; « our decision to exit certain markets, or our inability to process payments from certain
jurisdiction we had previously served; ¢ anticipate and effectively respond to changing trends and the preferences of clients and
their customers; * compete effectively; ¢ avoid interruptions in our business from information technology (IT) downtime, an
inability to manage emerging technology risks (including those posed by generative Al or other tools), cybersecurity
breaches, or labor stoppages; * effectively manage our growth; * effectively identify and manage risks, including foreign
currency exchange risk; ¢ hire, integrate, and retain talented people at all levels of our organization; * maintain the quality of our
technology infrastructure; * compliance with multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations, including
with respect to employment, tax, competition, workplace and ESG-sustainability and other social matters; < global pandemics,
such as COVID- 19, or other public health emergencies; * retain our existing proprietary global network of banking and other
payment partners and add new banking and other payment partners to scale our business; and ¢ retain our existing technology
partners that allow us to provide alternative payment methods and add new technology partners to scale our business. If we fail
to address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those associated with the challenges listed above as well as those
described elsewhere in this section titled “ Risk Factors ”, our business and operating results will be adversely affected. If we are
unable to retain our current clients, attract new clients and increase the number of our clients’ customers that use our solutions or
sell additional functionality to our clients, our revenue growth and operating results will be adversely affected. To increase our
revenue, in addition to acquiring new clients, we must continue to retain existing clients, increase the volume of payments made
by our clients’ customers and sell additional functionality to our clients. We expect to derive a significant portion of our revenue
from the renewal of existing clients’ contracts and sales of additional features and solutions to existing clients. As the market for
our solutions matures, solutions evolve, and competitors introduce lower cost or differentiated products or services that are
perceived to compete with our solutions, our ability to attract (and our clients’ ability to attract) new customers and maintain our
current client base and clients’ customer usage could be hindered. As a result, we may be unable to retain existing clients or
increase the usage of our solutions by them or their customers, which would have an adverse effect on our business, revenue,
gross profit, gross margins, and other operating results, and accordingly, on the trading price of our common stock. As the
market for our solutions matures, or as new or existing competitors introduce new products or services that compete with our
solutions, we may experience pricing pressure. This competition and pricing pressure could have an adverse effect on our ability
to retain existing clients or attract new clients at prices that are consistent with our pricing model, operating budget and expected
operating margins. In particular, it has become more common in the education sector for competitors to offer generous revenue
sharing arrangements for clients we target. Our business could be adversely affected if clients or their customers perceive that
features incorporated into alternative products reduce the need for our solutions or if they prefer to use competitive services. If
we are unable to attract new clients and increase the number of our clients’ customers that use our solutions, our revenue growth



and operating results will be adversely affected. Further, in an effort to attract new clients and increase usage by their customers,
we may need to offer simpler, lower- priced payment options, which may reduce our revenue. Our ability to sell additional
functionality to our existing clients may require more sophisticated and costly sales efforts, especially for our larger clients with
more senior management and established accounts receivable solutions. Similarly, the rate at which our clients deploy
additional solutions from us depends on several factors, including general economic conditions, the availability of client
technical personnel to implement our solutions, and the pricing of additional functionality. If our efforts to sell additional
functionality to our clients are not successful, our business and growth prospects would suffer. Contracts with our clients
generally have a stated initial term of three years, are not subject to termination for convenience and automatically renew for
one- year subsequent terms. Our clients may negotiate terms less advantageous to us upon renewal, which may reduce our
revenue. If our clients fail to renew their contracts, renew their contracts upon terms less favorable to us or at lower fee levels or
fail to purchase new solutions from us, our revenue may decline or our future revenue growth may be constrained. In addition,
certain of our clients are subject to requirements to issue requests for proposals (RFPs) to open up competition for their ongoing
business notwithstanding their satisfaction with our solutions. In order to retain their business, we may be required to accept
terms or pricing conditions less favorable to us than would be the case with automatic renewal of an existing contract. Should
any of our clients terminate their relationship with us after implementation has begun, we would not only lose our time, effort
and resources invested in such implementation, but we would also have lost the opportunity to leverage those resources to build
a relationship with other clients over that same period of time. We may experience quarterly fluctuations in our operating results,
as well as our key metrics, due to a number of factors which make our future results difficult to predict and could cause our
operating results to fall below expectations or our guidance. Our operating results, and key metrics, may fluctuate due to a
variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period- to- period
basis may not be meaningful. Our past results should not be relied on as an indication of our future performance. If our revenue
eroperating results or key metrics fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts or below any guidance we may
provide to the market, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Our operating results have varied in the past
and are expected to continue to do so in the future. In addition to other risk factors listed in this section titled *“ Risk Factors ”,
factors that may affect our quarterly operating results, business and financial condition include the following: ¢ demand for our
solutions and the number, volume and timing of payments processed; * timing of tuition payments; * government restrictions
or related limitations on the issuances of visas, such as recently enacted policies in Canada and Australia;  market
acceptance of our current and future solutions; * our revenue mix in a particular quarter; ¢ the mix of payment methods and
currencies utilized by our clients’ customers in a particular quarter; ¢ a slowdown or delay in spending on IT and software by
our current and / or prospective clients; ¢ sales cycles and performance of our direct and indirect sales force; * budgeting and
implementation cycles of our current or potential clients; ¢ foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; ¢ the management,
performance and expansion of our domestic and international operations; ¢ the rate of renewals of contracts with our clients; ¢
changes in the competitive dynamics of our markets; ¢ our ability to control and predict costs, including our operating expenses;
* clients delaying purchasing decisions, including in anticipation of new products or product enhancements by us or our
competitors; ¢ the seasonality and cyclical nature of our business;  failure to successfully manage or integrate any acquisitions,
including our most recent acquisitions of WPM-Sertifi , Cohort Go and-, StudyLink and Invoiced ; * the outcome or publicity
surrounding any pending or threatened lawsuits or government investigations ; * general economic and political conditions in
our domestic and international markets, including heightened interest rates, imposition of tariffs, inflation and fluctuations in
supply chains, and restrictions on cross- border travel or commerce; ¢ changes in the level of scrutiny applied by regulators and
investors on our ESG program; ¢ unexpected events, including those resulting from climate change, international or civil
conflicts and wars, or other geopolitical events; * expected or actual extended U. S. federal government shutdowns, priorities
partisan-gridloek-thatresultsinthe-inability-of Congress-to-take-acttorror-the U. S. presidential administration and related
changes te-gevernment-in laws, regulations or policies , which among other things could result in increased limitations on visa
issuances , geopolitical uncertainty and impact educational financial aid payments; and * global pandemics, such as COVID-
19, or other public health emergencies and the responses thereto. In addition, we may in the future experience fluctuations in our
gross and operating margins due to changes in the mix of our domestic and international payments and the mix of payment
methods, including an increase in the use of credit cards, and currencies used by our clients’ customers to make payments. Based
upon the factors described above and those described elsewhere in this section titled “ Risk Factors ”, we have a limited ability
to forecast the amount and mix of future revenues and expenses, which may cause our operating results to fall below our
estimates or the expectations of public market analysts and investors . QOur restructuring plan may not yield its intended
efficiencies and could strain resources, negatively impact workforce morale, and slow down execution of our strategic
plans. In February 2025, we announced a restructuring plan that is designed to improve operational efficiencies, reduce
operating costs and better align the our workforce with current business needs, top strategic priorities and key growth
opportunities (Restructuring Plan). As part of the Restructuring Plan we have reduced our workforce by approximately
10 %. This reduction in force, and any other future reductions, and the attrition that may occur following them, result in
the loss of institutional knowledge and expertise and the reallocation and combination of certain roles and
responsibilities across our company, all of which could adversely affect our operations. These actions and other
additional measures we might take to reduce costs may potentially result in a strain our workforce, divert management
attention, yield attrition beyond our intended reduction in force, negatively impact employee morale and productivity,
cause us to delay, limit, reduce or eliminate certain strategic plans or otherwise interfere with our ability to operate and
grow our business effectively, each of which could have an adverse impact on our business, operating results and
financial condition. Additionally, as we are operating our business with a different level and mix of employees, we face
additional risk that we might not be able to execute on our strategic plans and product roadmap, which may have an



adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results. Moreover, the workforce reduction we are
implementing, though currently planned to be temporary, may negatively impact our ability to attract, integrate, retain
and motivate highly qualified employees, make it difficult for us to pursue new opportunities and initiatives, and may
harm our reputation with current or prospective employees. Our operational and business portfolio reviews may not
result in improvements to our financial performance, strategy, or operations, and we face a number of risks related to
such reviews. We are currently undertaking a comprehensive operational and business portfolio review that is expected
to encompass geographies, products, verticals, and cost structure, and explore various options and an operational cost-
saving review to identify efficiencies and synergies across all of our business areas, including opportunities to combine
and optimize systems and processes. Implementation of a go forward plan and any other cost- saving initiatives,
including possible future restructuring efforts, may be costly and disruptive to our business, the expected costs and
charges may be greater than forecasted, and the estimated cost savings may be lower than forecasted. We may not
achieve the desired strategic, operational, and financial benefits of any actions taken as a result of our operational and
business portfolio reviews. Further, we may not be able to successfully execute the desired changes. During the pendency
of these reviews or any transaction that may occur as a result of these reviews, we may be subject to risks related to a
decline in the business or employee morale and turnover, as well as distraction of management from our business and
clients, and investors may not react favorably to our decisions, which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and the market price of our common stock. If we are unable to successfully complete our operational and
business portfolio reviews or we are unable to complete the proposed outcomes of these reviews or they do not meet our
strategic objectives, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected. Our
operational and business portfolio reviews are ongoing, and we are continuing to carefully consider the full range of
options for maximizing value to our shareholders, including potential transactions with third parties and other strategic
and financial alternatives. There can be no assurance that the operational and business portfolio reviews will result in
any particular action or that a transaction will be consummated, nor can there be any assurance regarding the timing of
any action or transaction. We have not set a deadline or definitive timetable for the completion of our reviews, and we
can provide no assurance that any actions taken or any transaction or other strategic alternative we may pursue will
achieve the anticipated cost savings, operating efficiencies or have a positive impact on our results of operations or
financial condition . We expect our revenue mix to vary over time due to a number of factors. Shifts in our business mix from
quarter to quarter could produce substantial variation in revenue recognized. Further, our gross profit, gross margins and results
of operations could be affected by changes in revenue mix and costs, together with numerous other factors, including payment
methods and currencies, pricing pressure from competitors, increases in credit card usage on our solutions and associated
network fees, changes in payment volume across verticals and the portion of such payment volume for which we perform
foreign exchange. Any one of these factors or the cumulative effects of certain of these factors may result in significant
fluctuations in our gross profit, gross margin and results of operations. This variability and unpredictability could result in our
failure to meet internal expectations or those of securities analysts or investors for a particular period. If we fail to meet or
exceed such expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our common stock could decline. If our efforts to
attract new clients and increase the number of our clients’ customers that use our solutions are unsuccessful, our revenue growth
and operating results will be adversely affected. Our future growth and profitability will depend in large part upon the
effectiveness and efficiency of our efforts to attract new clients and increase the number of our clients’ customers that use our
solutions. While we intend to dedicate resources to attracting new clients and increasing the number of our clients’ customers
that use our solutions, our ability to do so depends in large part on the success of these efforts and the success of the marketing
channels we use to promote our solutions. Our marketing channels include search engine optimization, search engine marketing,
account- based direct marketing campaigns, industry events and association marketing relationships. If any of our current
marketing channels become less effective, if we are unable to continue to use any of these channels, if the cost of using these
channels were to significantly increase or if we are not successful in generating new channels, we may not be able to attract new
clients in a cost- effective manner or increase the number of our clients’ customers that use our solutions. If we are unable to
recover our marketing costs through increases in the number of clients and in the number of our clients’ customers that use our
solutions, or if we discontinue our marketing efforts, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of
operations, and financial condition. If we are unable to expand our direct and channel sales capabilities, grow our marketing
reach and increase sales productivity, we may not be able to generate increased revenues. We believe that our future growth will
depend on the continued development of our direct sales force and its ability to obtain new clients and to manage our existing
client base. Our ability to increase our client base and achieve broader market acceptance of our solutions will depend to a
significant extent on our ability to expand our sales and marketing organizations, and to deploy our sales and marketing
resources efficiently. We intend to continue to strategically increase our number of direct sales professionals and to expand our
relationships with new strategic channel partners. These efforts will require us to invest significant financial and other resources.
New hires require training and take time to achieve full productivity. Similarly, new channel partnerships often take time to
develop and may never yield results, as they require new partners to understand the services and solutions we offer, and how to
position our value within the market. We cannot be certain that recent and future new hires or partner relationships will become
as productive as necessary or that we will be able to hire enough qualified individuals or build effective channel sales in the
future. If we are unable to hire, develop, integrate, and retain talented and effective sales personnel, if our new and existing sales
personnel are unable to achieve desired productivity levels, or if our sales, channel strategy and marketing programs and
advertising are not effective, we may not be able to expand our business and grow our revenue, which may harm our business,
operating results and financial condition. Our business could be adversely affected if our clients or their customers are not
satisfied with the timing or quality of implementation services provided by us or our partners. Our business depends on our



ability to satisfy our clients and their customers with respect to our solutions as well as the services that are performed to help
our clients and their customers use the features and functions of our solutions. Services are usually performed by us, and are
also on occasion provided together with a third- party partner. If our clients or their customers are not satisfied with the
functionality of our solutions or the services that we or a third- party partner provide, such dissatisfaction could damage our
ability to retain our current clients or expand our clients’ or their customers’ use of our solutions. In addition, any negative
publicity and reviews that we may receive which is related to our client relationships may further damage our business and may
invite enhanced regulatory scrutiny at the federal and state level in the United States as well as internationally. Our financial and
operating results are subject to seasonal trends. For example, the volume of education tuition processed typically increases in the
northern hemisphere during the summer and early fall months, as well as at year end, as students and their families seek to pay
tuition costs for the fall semester, the spring semester, or the entire academic year, respectively. We expect this seasonality of
education tuition processing to continue and expect it to impact the amount of processing fees that we earn and the level of
expenses we incur to generate tuition payment volume and process the higher volume activity in a particular fiscal quarter. We
are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates that could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations. A majority of the total payment volume we have historically processed is cross- border payments denominated in
many foreign currencies, which subjects us to foreign currency risk. The strengthening or weakening of the U. S. dollar versus
these foreign currencies impacts the translation of our net revenues generated in these foreign currencies into the U. S. dollar.
For example, for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , as the U. S. deHlar-Dollar strengthened-weakened against several
currencies, including the British Pound, relative to the-same-pertod-irthe prior year, these foreign exchange impacts redueed
increased our reported revenue in U. S. deHars-Dollars by approximately $ 42 . 43 million compared to the year ended
December 31, 2622-2023 on a constant currency basis. In connection with providing our solutions in multiple currencies, we
may face financial exposure if we are unable to implement appropriate hedging strategies, negotiate beneficial foreign exchange
rates, or as a result of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates between the times that we set them. We also have foreign exchange
risk on our assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our subsidiaries. We also incur
expenses for employee compensation and other operating expenses at our non- U. S. locations in the local currency.
Fluctuations in the exchange rates between the U. S. dollar and other currencies could result in the dollar equivalent of our
expenses being higher which may not be offset by additional revenue earned in the local currency. This could have a negative
impact on our reported results of operations. Periods of instability in the Eurozone, including fears of sovereign debt defaults,
and stagnant growth generally, and of certain Eurozone member states in particular, have resulted in concerns regarding the
suitability of a shared currency for the region, which could lead to the reintroduction of individual currencies for member states.
If this were to occur, Euro- denominated assets and liabilities would be re- denominated to such individual currencies, which
could result in a mismatch in the values of assets and liabilities and expose us to additional currency risks. As our international
operations continue to operate and grow, our risks associated with fluctuation in currency rates will become greater, and we will
continue to reassess our approach to managing this risk, such as using foreign currency forward and option contracts to hedge
certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Our use of such hedging practices may not offset any, or
more than a portion, of the adverse effects of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates. In addition, currency
fluctuations or a weakening U. S. dollar can increase the costs of our international operations, and the strengthening U. S. dollar
could slow international demand as solutions priced in the U. S. dollar become more expensive. Certain of our key performance
indicators are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may harm our
reputation and negatively affect our business. We track certain key performance indicators, including metrics such as total
payment volume, revenue less ancillary services, FX Neutral Revenue Less Ancillary Services, adjusted gross profit, adjusted
gross margin and, adjusted EBITDA , and adjusted EBITDA margin , with internal systems and tools and which may differ
from estimates or similar metrics published by third parties due to differences in sources, methodologies, or the assumptions on
which we rely. Our internal systems and tools have a number of limitations, and our methodologies for tracking these metrics
may change over time, which could result in unexpected changes to our key performance indicators, including the metrics we
publicly disclose, or our estimates. If the internal systems and tools we use to track these metrics undercount or overcount
performance or contain algorithmic or other technical errors, the data we report may not be accurate. While these numbers are
based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in
measuring these metrics across our growing client base. If our key performance indicators are not accurate representations of our
business, or if investors, clients or other stakeholders do not perceive our operating metrics to be accurate, or if we discover
material inaccuracies with respect to these figures, our reputation may be significantly harmed, and our operating and financial
results could be adversely affected. Our business depends, in large part, on our proprietary network of global, regional and local
banking partners. To grow our business, we will need to maintain and expand our network of global, regional and local banking
partners. Our proprietary network of strategic relationships with global, regional and local banking partners is a material asset to
our business, which took more than a decade to build. Establishing and maintaining our strategic partner relationships,
particularly with our banking partners entails extensive and highly specific efforts, with little predictability and various ancillary
requirements. These partners and suppliers have contractual and regulatory requirements and conditions that we must satisfy and
continue to comply with in order to continue and grow the relationships. For example, our financial institution partners generally
require us to submit to an exhaustive security audit including adherence to AML policies and KYC procedures. If we are not
able to comply with those obligations or if our agreements with our banking partners or our network partners are terminated for
any reason, we could experience service interruptions as well as delays and additional expenses in arranging new services,
potentially interfering with our existing client relationships or making us less attractive to potential new clients. In addition, our
existing banking partners may at any time and from time to time cease serving certain categories of payments due to perceived
risk or similar reasons as well as payments originating from, or being paid to, certain high risk jurisdictions. These partners may



also impose additional requirements on Flywire, or with respect to their own internal procedures, as a condition of processing
such payments in partnership with us. If we cease to be able to process payments from corridors or within certain of our
verticals, or we are unable to comply with new requirements or only at considerable expense, our client relationships and ability
to grow our revenue could be adversely affected. Instability and volatility in the banking and financial services sectors, including
bank failures, have increased and may in the future increase uncertainty in the global economy and the risk of a global recession.
Volatility in the banking and financial services sectors may adversely impact our bank partnerships and could negatively impact
our business. We may face difficulty establishing or maintaining banking relationships due to instability in the global banking
system and increasing regulatory uncertainty and scrutiny. If these financial institutions are subject to suspension of operations,
receivership, closure or similar action, or if our banking relationships become severely limited or unavailable in a certain
country, there could be temporary delays in or unavailability of services in such country that are critical to our or our clients'
operations. This could potentially lead to reduced use of our platform and lower payment volume which may adversely impact
our business, operating results, and financial condition. We may not be able to attract new network partners to our existing
network of global, regional and local banking partners, which could adversely affect our ability to expand to additional countries
and territories and transact in additional currencies. In addition, our potential partners may choose to work with our competitors’
or choose to compete with our solutions directly, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, and
operating results. Further, many of our network partners have greater resources than we do and could choose to develop their
own solutions to replace or compete with ours. If we are unsuccessful in establishing, growing, or maintaining our relationships
with network partners, our ability to compete or to grow our revenue could be impaired, and our results of operations may
suffer. Our growth depends in part on the success of our relationships with other (non- banking) third parties. We have
established relationships with a number of other companies, including financial institutions, processors, other financial services
suppliers, channel sales partners, providers of electronic health records (EHR) services, implementation partners, technology
and cloud- based hosting providers, and others. In order to grow our business, we will need to continue to establish and maintain
relationships with these types of third parties, and negotiating and documenting relationships with them requires significant time
and resources. Our competitors may be more effective in providing incentives to third parties to favor their products or services.
If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with third parties, our ability to compete in the
marketplace or to grow our revenues could be impaired and our operating results could suffer. Even if our strategic relationships
are successful, we cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased client usage of our solutions or increased
revenues. The markets in which we participate are competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our operating results could
be harmed. The market for payments solutions is fragmented, competitive, and constantly evolving. Our competitors range from
legacy payment methods, such as traditional bank wires, to integrated payment providers that focus on cross- border payments.
With the introduction of new technologies and market entrants, we expect that the competitive environment will remain intense
going forward. Our competitors that offer legacy payment methods or integrated cross- border payment platforms may develop
products that compete with ours. Financial institutions that choose to enter into and compete in our market may have the
operating flexibility to bundle competing solutions with other offerings, including offering them at a lower price or for no
additional cost to clients as part of a larger sale. In addition, new entrants not currently considered to be competitors may enter
the market through acquisitions, partnerships, or strategic relationships. Many of our domestic and foreign competitors have
greater resources, experience or more developed customer relationships than we do. For example, foreign competitors may seek
to leverage local or common language relationships to cater to potential customers of our clients. There are new market entrants
with innovative revenue sharing and other pricing arrangements that are able to attract customers that we compete to serve. Our
competitors vary in size, breadth, and scope of the solutions offered. Some of our competitors and potential competitors have
greater name recognition, longer operating histories, more established client relationships, larger marketing budgets, and greater
resources than us. Our competitors may be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing
opportunities, technologies, standards, and client requirements. For example, an existing competitor or new entrant could
introduce new technology that reduces demand for our solutions. For these reasons, we may not be able to compete successfully
against our current or future competitors, and this competition could result in the failure of our solutions to continue to achieve
or maintain market acceptance, any of which would harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Our estimates
of market opportunity and our ability to capture a meaningful share of this payment volume may prove to be inaccurate, and
even if the market in which we compete achieves the forecasted growth, our business could fail to grow at similar rates, if at all.
Our market opportunity estimates, including those we have generated ourselves and our ability to capture a meaningful share of
this payment volume, are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not prove to be
accurate. The variables that go into the calculation of our market opportunity are subject to change over time, and there is no
guarantee that any payment volumes covered by our market opportunity estimates will materialize in clients using our solutions
as anticipated or generate any particular level of revenue for us. Any expansion in our market depends on a number of factors,
including the cost, performance, and perceived value associated with our business and those of our competitors. Even if the
market in which we compete meets the size estimates and growth forecasted, our business could fail to grow at similar rates, if at
all. Our growth is subject to many factors, including our success in implementing our business strategy, which is subject to
many risks and uncertainties. Our clients in the education sector may be adversely affected by decreases in enrollment,
limitations or other restrictions on student visas, pressure on tuition costs, or increased operating expenses, which may
reduce demand for our solutions. We are reliant on our education clients, including colleges, universities and other education-
related organizations that include language schools, boarding schools, summer programs, and others, to drive enrollment at their
schools and maintain tuition costs. Factors outside of our control will affect enrollments and tuition costs, including the
following: » Declines in international student enrollment. Global conflict, geopolitical tensions and restrictions on
immigration or increased limitation on the award of student visas (such as those recently announced in Canada and



Australia) has and is expected to continue to negatively impact the cross- border education industry and schools that rely
on foreign student populations. * Reduced enrollment in higher education due to lack of funding, increases to cost of
attendance or other inflationary pressure. Some institutes of higher education may close or merge with other colleges and
universities. Significant reductions in student funding, through grants or loans, may reduce enrollments and decrease the
payment volume we process. Potential students may also be deterred by increases in the cost of attendance. * Government
supported institutions may experience losses or reduction in public funding. Many of our clients rely considerably upon public
funding or support, which may not always be available due to budget constraints. * Changing perceptions about in- person
classes. Students may reject the opportunity to attend courses in person, when online or virtual classes are offered as an option,
due to growing familiarity and perceived convenience of remote learning or a lower price point for online classes. * Our clients’
rankings, reputation and marketing efforts strongly affect enrollments, none of which we control. If we fail to maintain or add
clients with strong, stable leLlldllOH\ and ldlll\lll“\ lhu W 111 fail to achieve consistent enrollments —Beelinestrinternational

contraction in Ihu economy could L )ulul to reduce unollmun in hwhu education, w huhu b\ reducing funding, uduunﬂ
corporate allowances for continuing LdLlLdIlOH. general reductions in employment or savings or other factors. International
cross- border transaction revenue represents a significant part of our revenue; international regulations and restrictions that
inhibit cross- border travel and relocation of international students, as well as ongoing political friction between China and the
U. S., as well as between Canada and India, that hawve-has from time to time slowed the growth of Chinese students studying
in the U. S. and Indian students studying in Canada, and may have resulted in changes in Chinese and Indian student
education destinations, have had and may continue to have an impact on our revenue growth. Mere-reeently-These geopolitical
tensions and perceptions regarding potential hostility of host country study destinations may further suppress interest in
international study (even at levels below the caps described below set by the governments of Canada and Australia),
which would have an adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. In January 2024 , the
Canadian government announced #-witt-set-what at the time appeared to be a temporary intake cap on international student
permit applications to stabilize new growth for the-a period of two years . This cap — intended to address Canada’ s
housing shortage, overburdened health systems, and rising costs of living — has reportedly reduced the number of
international students coming to Canada by about 40 % since implementation. Building on these changes, the
Immigration, Refugees, and Citizenship Canada (IRCC) announced in January 2025 that new study permits for
international students will be reduced by 10 % from the 2024 and-target of 485, 000 to 437, 000 in 2025 ;-metivatedinpart
and 2026. When first instituted by the IRCC, the cap initially excluded students enrolled in master’ s and PhD programs,
but recent reports indicate that the 2025 and 2026 study permit intake cap will include master’ s and doctoral students.
Additionally, in November 2024, Canada ended its Student Direct Stream (SDS) program for expedited international
student visa processing, and international students applying to study in Canada no longer need to prepay tuition to apply
for a study permit. These limitations have resulted in a corresponding reduction in payment flows, which had an adverse
effect on our business in the fourth quarter of 2024 and which we anticipate will continue to impact our Canada
revenues in 2025. Similarly, since late 2023, the Australian government has taken actions to tighten international student
visa rules, including an increase in the amount of minimum savings that international students would need to have in
order to obtain a visa, raising the standards of the English language proficiency requirements for student and graduate
visas, a 125 % increase in the visa fee for international students, and the imposition of a ban for holders of visitor visas
and students holding temporary graduate visas from applying for a student visa while in Australia. In August 2024, the
Australian government announced the setting of a national planning level to apply from January 1, 2025 and which is
intended to limit the number of new overseas student places available in Australia — including a ceiling of 270, 000
international students for calendar year 202S. However, in December 2024, the government announced a change of
course, instead implementing a system to introduce two categories of student visa processing: “ high priority ” and “
standard priority ”, with all international education providers to receive high priority processing up to 80 % of their
indicative international student cap. After reaching 80 %, the providers will receive standard priority processing. These
new Australian government policies, including university quotas, slower visa processing, higher fees, and stricter
financial and language requirements, has had an adverse impact on our business in the fourth quarter of 2024 and we
anticipate will continue to impact our Australian revenues in 2025. Other governments where our client institutions are
located, including in the U. S., may introduce measures from time to time to manage the growth of the international
student population in their respective countries, which may have adverse effects on our business. Our U. S. market saw
slower growth in the fourth quarter of 2024 due to shifting visa trends. In addition, there are reports that the new
executive administration in the U. S. is likely to closely scrutinize applications for international student visas, adding to
uncertainty around the number of students coming to the U. S. to study in the near future. Delays in issuances of visas or
visa denials may discourage prospective international students from housing-choosing shertages-U . This-S. institutions as
places for study. The existing rules and any introduction of new rules further limiting the attractiveness of international
study by the governments of countries where our client institutions are located has and is expected in the near term to
continue to adversely impact the growth of our business in the applicable regions. In addition to caps on international
students, government changes to other visa or student insurance requirements (for example, no longer requiring a one
year tuition deposit as a condition to issuance of a student visa, or eliminating a need to procure insurance) may
negatively impact payment volume. The existing rules and any introduction of new rules further limiting potential
payment flows or the attractiveness of international study by the governments of countries where our client institutions



are located has and could continue to adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition. In addition,
some clients’ customers may find that higher education is an unnecessary investment during uncertain economic times and defer
enrollment in educational institutions until the economy grows at a stronger pace, or they may turn to less costly forms of
secondary education, thus decreasing our education payment volumes. A significant decrease in the payment volume and
resulting revenue from clients and their customers in this market would have an adverse effect on our business, operating results
and financial condition. The healthcare industry is rapidly evolving and the market for technology- enabled payment services
that empower healthcare clients and their customers is relatively immature and unproven. If we are not successful in promoting
the benefits of our solutions, our growth may be limited. The market for our payment solutions is subject to rapid and significant
changes. The market for technology- enabled payment services that empower healthcare clients and their customers is
characterized by rapid technological change, new product and service introductions, increasing patient financial responsibility,
consumerism and engagement, the ongoing shift to value- based care and reimbursement models, and the entrance of non-
traditional competitors. In addition, there may be a limited- time opportunity to achieve and maintain a significant share of this
market due in part to the rapidly evolving nature of the healthcare and technology industries and the substantial resources
available to our existing and potential competitors. The market for technology- enabled payment services that empower
healthcare clients and their customers is relatively new and unproven, and it is uncertain whether this market will achieve and
sustain high levels of demand and market adoption. In order to remain competitive, we are continually involved in a number of
projects to compete with these new market entrants by developing new solutions, growing our client base and penetrating new
markets. Some of these projects include the expansion of our integration capabilities and the expansion of our mobile solutions.
These projects carry risks, such as cost overruns, delays in delivery, performance problems and lack of acceptance by our
clients. Our integration partners may also decide to develop and offer their own patient engagement solutions that are similar to
our solutions. In addition, the decisions we make on allocation of engineering resources, reliance on, integration with or
discontinuance of, legacy systems or those acquired in acquisition, or the pace at which we remain technologically current
within our internal systems and customer payment platforms, may negatively affect the morale of our engineering teams and the
payment experiences our clients wish to feature to their customers. We may lose engineering talent or healthcare clients as a
result, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Our success depends on providing
high- quality payment solutions that healthcare clients use to improve their financial and operational performance, allowing
them to collect payments and enhance their revenue lifecycle management objectives. If we cannot adapt to rapidly evolving
industry standards and technology and increasingly sophisticated and varied healthcare client and customer payment needs, our
existing technology could become undesirable, obsolete or harm our reputation. We must continue to invest significant resources
in our personnel and technology in a timely and cost- effective manner in order to enhance our existing solutions and introduce
new high- quality solutions that existing clients and potential new clients will want. Our operating results would also suffer if
our innovations are not responsive to the needs of our existing clients or potential new clients, are not appropriately timed with
market opportunity, are not effectively brought to market or significantly increase our operating costs. If our new or modified
product and service innovations are not responsive to the preferences of healthcare clients and their customers, emerging
industry standards or regulatory changes, are not appropriately timed with market opportunity or are not effectively brought to
market, we may lose existing clients or be unable to obtain new clients and our results of operations may suffer. We believe
demand for our payment solutions in the healthcare industry has been driven in large part by more patient responsibility for out-
of- pocket spend, a trend towards higher deductibles for health care services, increased digitization in payments, and the
tailoring of payment offers and increased patient engagement. Our success also depends to a substantial extent on the ability of
our solutions to increase the volume of our clients’ customers payments, and our ability to demonstrate the value of our solutions
to our clients. If our existing clients do not recognize or acknowledge the benefits of our solutions or our solutions do not drive
payment volume, then the market for our solutions might not develop at all, or it might develop more slowly than we expect,
either of which could adversely affect our operating results. A significant decrease in the payment volume and resulting revenue
from our clients and their customers in the healthcare industry may have an adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition. In addition, we have limited insight into trends that might develop and affect our healthcare business. We
might make errors in predicting and reacting to relevant business, legal and regulatory trends and healthcare reform, which could
harm our business. If any of these events occur, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of
operations. Finally, our competitors, including major EHR providers, may have the ability to devote more financial and
operational resources than we can to developing new technologies and services, including services that provide improved
operating functionality, and adding features to their existing service offerings. Relationships with companies in the EHR space
and business focused on revenue lifecycle management are critical to leverage if we are to add to our healthcare customer
portfolio. However, intense competition and rising costs experienced by certain major EHR providers has resulted, in certain
cases, in increased financial strain on these businesses, and in at least one notable instance, an action to seek bankruptcy
protection. To the extent we have outstanding amounts owed to us by companies that seek bankruptcy protection or cease
operations, it may become difficult for us to be paid in full in a timely manner, if at all. Many of these companies may offer
products and services similar to ours and may have greater name recognition, longer operating histories, stronger and more
dependent client relationships, larger marketing budgets, and greater resources than us. If successful, their development efforts
could render our solutions less desirable, resulting in the loss of our existing clients or a reduction in the fees we generate from
our solutions. Our business serving clients in the travel sector may be sensitive to events affecting the travel industry in general.
Events like regional or larger scale conflicts, war or other military conflict, including the conflicts between Russia and Ukraine,
and Israel and Hamas, terrorist attacks, mass shooting incidents, natural disasters, such as hurricanes, earthquakes, fires,
droughts, floods and volcanic activity, including events resulting from climate change, and travel- related health events, such as
the COVID- 19 pandemic, have had a negative impact on the travel industry and affect travelers’ behavior by limiting their



ability or willingness to visit certain locations. In addition, the travel industry can be negatively impacted by adverse economic
conditions in the United States and globally, including economic slowdown , heightened interest rates and inflation. We are
not in a position to evaluate the net effect of these circumstances on our business as these events are largely unpredictable;
however, we believe there has been and may continue to be negative impact to our business due to such events. Furthermore, in
the longer term, our business might be negatively affected by regulatory changes, financial pressures on or changes to the
travel industry. For example, certain jurisdictions, particularly in Europe, have implemented or are considering implementing
regulations intended to address the issue of “ overtourism ” including by restricting access to city centers or popular tourist
destinations or limiting accommodation offerings in surrounding areas, such as by restricting construction of new hotels or the
renting of homes or apartments. Such regulations could adversely affect travel and the volume of travel related payments that we
process for our clients. In addition, any hostlllty towards tourists may depress international travel. The United States has
implemented or proposed, or is considering, various travelrestrietions-and-aetions-changes in laws, regulations or policies that
could affect U. S. trade policy or practices , relations with other countries and travel permits . which could also adversely
affect travel to or from the United States. If such events result in a long- term negative impact on the travel industry, such impact
could have a material adverse effect on our business. The payment volume from our travel vertical represents-represented less
than 10 % of our total payment volume during the year ended December 31, 2024 . Because we seek to grow the payment
volume and the revenue from this vertical in the future through various initiatives, including the recently announced Sertifi
acquisition , failure to grow our payment volume and resultlng revenue from this industry, may have an adverse effect on our
busmess operatlng results and ﬁnanc1a1 condmon —Whth v f :

-faefefs—eﬂ—tfavel—behaﬂe% If we are unable to enter or expand new client Vertlcals or sub verticals, mCludlng our relatlvely new
B2B payment vertical, or if our solutions for any new vertical fail to achieve market acceptance, our operating results could be
adversely affected and we may be required to reconsider our growth strategy. Our growth strategy is influenced, in part, on our
ability to expand into new client verticals and sub- verticals, including our relatively new B2B payment vertical. The B2B
payment vertical represents a relatively new market for us, and we have limited prior experience with the key ERP platforms
that are critical to the B2B payment vertical. Accordingly, our lack of experience in the B2B payment vertical and with the key
ERP platforms may result in operational difficulties, which could cause a delay or failure to integrate and realize the benefits of
entering into this vertical. In addition, B2B payments carry a higher risk profile than education or healthcare receivables, and we
will be required to devote more resources to manage the increased risk inherent in these payments. Banking and other payment
services partners may be more reluctant to support B2B payment flows, and countries with currency controls are less likely to
permit payments of a B2B nature. The payment volume and resulting revenue from our B2B payment vertical during the year
ended December 31, 2024 represents-represented , and is expected for the foreseeable future to represent, less than 10 % of
our total payment volume and revenue. We expect both the payment volume and the revenue from this vertical to grow over
time. As such, failure to grow our payment volume and resulting revenue from our B2B payment vertical may have an adverse
effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. We may be unable to identify new verticals or sub- verticals
that meet our criteria for selecting industries that our solutions are ideally suited to address. In addition, our market validation
process may not support entry into selected verticals due to our perception of the overall market opportunity or of the
willingness of market participants within those verticals to adopt our solutions. Even if we choose to enter new verticals or sub-
verticals, our market validation process does not guarantee our success. We may be unable to tailor our solutions for a new
vertical or, in the event that we enter a new vertical by way of a strategic acquisition, we may be unable to leverage the acquired
platform in time to take advantage of the identified market opportunity, and any delay in our time- to- market could expose us to
additional competition or other factors that could impede our success. In addition, any solution we develop or acquire for a new
vertical may not provide the functionality required by potential clients or their customers and, as a result, may not achieve
widespread market acceptance within the new vertical. To the extent we choose to enter new verticals, whether organically or
via strategic acquisition, we may invest significant resources to develop and expand the functionality of our solutions to meet
the needs of customers in those verticals, which investments will occur in advance of our realization of revenue from them.
Consolidation in the payment processing or enablement industry could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Many payment processing or enablement industry participants are consolidating to create
larger and more integrated financial processing systems with greater market power. We expect regulatory and economic
conditions to result in additional consolidation in the healthcare industry in the future. As consolidation accelerates, the
economies of scale of our clients’ organizations may grow. If a client experiences sizable growth following consolidation, it may
determine that it no longer needs to rely on us and may reduce its demand for our solutions. In addition, as payment processing
providers consolidate to create larger and more integrated systems with greater market power, these providers may try to use
their market power to negotiate fee reductions for our solutions. Finally, consolidation may also result in the acquisition or
future development by our clients of products and services that compete with our solutions. Any of these potential results of
consolidation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may be
adversely affected by global economic and political instability. As we seek to continue to operate and expand our business, our
overall performance will depend in part on worldwide economic and geopolitical conditions. Economies domestically and
internationally have been affected from time to time by falling demand for a variety of goods and services, restricted credit, poor



liquidity, heightened interest rates, reduced corporate profitability, employment pressures in services sectors, volatility in the
banking ecosystem or credit, equity and foreign exchange markets, bankruptcies, as well as war, terrorist activity, political or
social unrest, civil strife and other geopolitical uncertainty, including the effects of ongoing United-States—China-and-Canada~-
India-diplomatic and trade friction between Canada and India and the U. S. and countries such as Canada, Mexico and
China , and the resulting impact on business continuity and travel, supply chain disruptions, inflation, security issues, and
overall uncertainty with respect to the economy, including with respect to tariff and trade issues. To the extent that inflationary
pressures and other global factors lead to an economic recession, demand for our solutions, our business and financial condition
could be negatively impacted. In addition, from time to time we have reduced expenses and needed to restructure or reorganize
certain portions of our operations , including our restructuring announced in February 2025, in order to align our business
with market conditions and our strategies, any of which can result in near term expense and harm to our growth prospects. For
example, on February 24, 2022, Russian military forces invaded Ukraine, and continued conflict and disruption in the region is
likely, and on October 7, 2023, Hamas terrorists infiltrated Israel’ s southern border from the Gaza Strip and conducted a series
of attacks on civilian and military targets. Hamas also launched extensive rocket attacks on the Israeli population and industrial
centers located along Israel’ s border with the Gaza Strip and in other areas within the State of Israel. On October 8, 2023, Israel
formally declared war on Hamas, and thereafter commenced military operations against Hamas . Although recent cease- fires

have in Gaza-and-the-some instances reduced hostilities, armed conflict is contmulng eﬂgeﬁrg—as—e%&re—&a-te—e%&ns—ﬁhng—
Although-thetength;impaetand could intensify if cease- fires ot ate-a :

highly-anpredietable-not sustained , these-and eonfliets— conﬂlct could lead to Slgnlflcant market and other dlsruptlons ......

these conflicts continue to develop and potentlally spread

Force (IDF), the natloml military of [srael, is a conserlpted military service, subject to certain exceptions. Smce 9efeber—7—292—3~
the outbreak of hostilities , the [DF has called up more than 350, 000 of its reserve forces to serve. It is possible that there will
be further military reserve duty call- ups in the future, which may affect our business due to a shortage of skilled labor and loss
of institutional knowledge, and necessary mitigation measures we may take to respond to a decrease in labor availability, such as
overtime and third- party outsourcing, for edeple, may have unintended negative effects and adversely impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Shelter- in- place and work- from- home measures, government- imposed
restrictions on movement and travel and other precautions taken to address the ongoing conflict may temporarily disrupt our
employees’ ability to effectively perform their daily tasks. eenfliets-eeutd-lead to significant market and other
disruptions,including significant volatility in commodity prices and supply of energy resources,instability in financial
markets,supply chain interruptions,political and social instability,changes in consumer or purchaser preferences as well as an
increase in cyberattacks and espionage.We are actively monitoring the situations in Ukraine and Israel and assessing any
potential impact on our business,but to date have not experienced any material impact.We have no way to predict the progress or



outcome of the conflicts in Ukraine and Israel as the conflicts,and any resulting government reactions,continue to develop
beyond our control and can quickly change.The extent and duration of the military action,sanctions and resulting market
disruptions could be significant and could potentially have a substantial impact on the global economy and our business for an
unknown period of time.As the adverse effects of these conflicts continue to develop and potentially It is entrenthynot possible
to predict the duration-ultimate broader consequences of these conflicts and any of the abovementioned factors could have
a material adverse effect on or-our severity-business, financial condition and results of operations, particularly to the
engeing-extent the conflict escalates to involve additional countries, further economic sanctions and wider military
conflicts. Any such disruptions could also magnify the impact of other risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. In addition, political tensions between the U. S. and countries, such as Canada, Mexico and China, have recently
escalated due to, among other things, priorities and executive orders from the new U. S. presidential administration, and
could have an adverse effect on or-our operations. Rising political tensions could reduce levels of trade, investments,
technological and educational exchanges, travel and other economic activities between the U. S. and such other countries,
which would have a material adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets.
For example, the Trump administration recently confirmed its intent to impose heavy tariffs on imports from several
nations, including Canada, Mexico, and China. On February 3, 2025, President Trump announced a deal to delay the
imposition of tariffs on imports from Canada and Mexico by a month. However, any such tariffs, if and when enacted,
and any further legislation or actions taken by the U. S. federal government (and responsive actions adopted by other
countries as well) that restrict trade, such as additional tariffs, trade barriers, and other protectionist or retaliatory
measures could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Any of these factors could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot assure you
that, if the political tension between the U. S. and other countries intensifies and further regulations affecting our
business are passed, our business will not be materially and adversely affected. Inflation and heightened interest rates
have and may in the future result in decreased demand for our solutions, increases in our operating costs including our
labor costs, constrained credit and liquidity, and volatility in financial markets and the banking ecosystem. Although the
Federal Reserve lowered interest rates by 50 basis points on September 18, 2024, interest rates remain elevated and
there continues to be uncertainty in the changing market and economic conditions, including the cffects of additional
measures that have and could be taken by the Trump administration, the Federal Reserve and other government
agencies, related to concerns over inflation risk. A sharp rise in interest rates could have an adverse impact on the fair
market value of securltles we may invest i in as part of our busmess—portfollo lnvestments epef&ﬁeﬂs—&ﬂd-whlch could

se&ewmﬂes—ﬁmﬂge&m We may not be dble to scale our busmess qulckly enough to meet our growing chent bdse dnd
if we are not able to grow efficiently, our operating results could be harmed. As usage of our solutions grows and we sign

additional clients and technology partners, we will need to devote additional resources to improving and maintaining our
infrastructure and global payments network and integrating with third- party applications to maintain the performance of our
solutions. In addition, we will need to appropriately scale our internal business systems, including client support, our 24x7
multilingual support to clients’ customers and risk and compliance operations, to serve our growing client base. Any failure of
or delay in these efforts could result in interruptions to our solutions, impaired system performance, and reduced client
satisfaction, resulting in decreased sales to clients, lower renewal rates by existing clients, the issuance of service credits, or
requested refunds, all of which could hurt our revenue growth. If sustained or repeated, these performance issues could reduce
the attractiveness of our solutions to clients and their customers and could result in lost client opportunities and lower renewal
rates, any of which could hurt our revenue growth, client loyalty, and our reputation. Even if we are successful in these efforts to
scale our business, they will be expensive and complex, and require the dedication of significant management time and
attention. We could also face inefficiencies or service disruptions as a result of our efforts to scale or improve our internal
infrastructure. We cannot be sure that the expansion and improvements to our internal infrastructure will be effectively
implemented on a timely basis, if at all, and such failures could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial
condition. We enable the transfer of large sums of funds to our clients daily, and are subject to the risk of errors, which could
result in financial losses, damage to our reputation, or loss of trust in our brand, which would harm our business and financial
results. For the year ended December 31, 2823-2024 , we processed over $ 24-29 . 8-7 billion in payments on our solutions,
compared to appreximately-over $ +8-24 . +-0 billion for the year ended December 31, 20222023 , and approximately $ 43-18 .
2-1 billion for the year ended December 31, 26242022 . We have grown rapidly and seek to continue to grow, and our business
is subject to the risk of financial losses as a result of chargebacks for client- related losses, credit losses, operational errors,
software defects, service disruption, employee or partner misconduct, security breaches, or other similar actions or errors in our
solutions. As a provider of accounts receivable and other payment solutions, we enable the transfer of funds to our clients from
their customers. Software errors in our solutions, including as a result of ordinary course updates to our software and systems,
and operational errors by our FlyMates and business partners may also expose us to losses. In our business model, subject to
certain exceptions, we function as a merchant of record in connection with the receipt of payments by our clients’ customers,
which subjects us to chargeback risk in the event a client’ s customer cancels or otherwise does not receive the services for
which such customer paid. Although our client contracts allow us to pass such chargeback risk to our client, if a client has gone
out of business yor we are otherwise unable to collect on the chargeback and-, we will bear the economic loss, which can
negatively impact our business. Moreover, our trustworthiness and reputation are fundamental to our business. As a global
payments enablement and software company, the occurrence of any credit losses, operational errors, software defects, service
disruption, employee misconduct, security breaches, or other similar actions or errors in our solutions could result in financial



losses to our business and our clients, loss of trust, damage to our reputation, or termination of our agreements with strategic
partners, each of which could result in: « loss of clients or a reduction in use of our solutions by our clients’ customers; * lost or
delayed market acceptance and acquisition of new clients; ¢ legal claims against us; ¢ regulatory enforcement action; or *
diversion of our resources, including through increased service expenses or financial concessions, and increased insurance costs.
There can be no assurance that the insurance we maintain to cover losses resulting from our errors and omissions will cover all
losses or our coverage will be sufficient to cover our losses. If we suffer significant losses or reputational harm as a result, our
business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected. Our management of our operating funds and
client funds may be reliant on a limited number of our banking partners and other financial institutions. As to certain verticals
that we may choose to serve, as well as in selected geographical locations, our network of banking and other financial institution
partners may be limited. As a result, although we seek to distribute financial and credit risk among multiple financial
institutions, from time to time there may be a concentration of operating funds or client fund flows among a more limited
number of financial institution partners. These partners are generally heavily regulated by national and local governments, and
in some locations may be involved in a multitude of related businesses or part of larger, higher- profile financial conglomerates.
These partners and suppliers are often subject to strict regulatory requirements and enforcement actions or may experience
failures to satisfy capital adequacy conditions that result in a suspension of operations, seizure of assets or closure, which could
materially impact the safeguarding of our operating funds or client funds. If we are not able to access , or are delayed in
accessing, our own funds or if client funds were in any way impacted, we could be adversely impacted, including by
experiencing reputational damage and claims for restitution, potentially interfering with our existing client relationships or
making us less attractive to potential new clients . Our marketable securities portfolio is subject to credit, liquidity, market,
and interest rate risks that could cause its value to decline significantly and materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. We maintain an investment portfolio of marketable securities.
These investments are subject to general credit, liquidity, market, and interest rate risks that can affect the income that
we receive from our investments, the net realizable value of our investments, and our ability to sell them, which may be
exacerbated by market downturns or events that affect global financial markets. As a result, we may experience a
significant decline in value or loss of liquidity of our investments, which could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. We attempt to mitigate these risks through diversification of our
investments and continuous monitoring of our portfolio’ s overall risk profile, but the value of our investments may
nevertheless decline. To the extent that we increase the amount of our security investments in the future, these risks
could be exacerbated . Volatility in the banking and financial services ecosystems may impact our bank partnerships and
relationships, which could adversely affect our operations and liquidity. Instability and volatility in the banking and financial
services ecosystems, including limited liquidity, defaults, non- performance or other adverse developments that affect the
banking ecosystem, or concerns or rumors about any such events or other similar risks, has and may in the future increase
uncertainty in the global economy and the risk of a recession. Volatility in the banking and financial services sectors may impact
our bank partnerships and relationships, which could adversely affect our operations and liquidity. Our cash equivalents include
money market funds, which are AAA- rated and comprised of liquid, high- quality debt securities issued by the U. S.
government. Our access to our cash and cash equivalents and client funds could be significantly impacted in volatile markets
given our concentration in government money market funds or impaired by the financial institutions with which we have
arrangements directly, if such financial institutions are facing liquidity constraints or failures. We regularly maintain cash
balances at third- party financial institutions in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limit. A
failure of a depository institution to return these deposits, or if a depository institution is subject to other adverse conditions in
the financial or credit markets, could further impact access to our invested cash or cash equivalents and could adversely impact
our operating liquidity, financial performance and ability to recover or repay client funds. If one or more of our bank partners
were to fail and enter receivership proceedings, we may not be able to withdraw our or our clients' funds in excess of FDIC
insurance limits, or may not be able to withdraw such funds in a timely manner, which could adversely affect our brand, business
and results of operations, and may lead to regulatory or other claims or litigation, which may be costly to address. In addition,
investor concerns regarding the U. S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing
terms, including higher interest rates or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to
credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more difficult for us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all. Any
material decline in available funding or our ability to access our cash and cash equivalents could adversely impact our ability to
meet our operating expenses, result in breaches of our contractual obligations or result in violations of federal or state wage and
hour laws, any of which could have material adverse impacts on our operations and liquidity. If we are unable to maintain or
expand our ability to offer a variety of local and international payment methods for our clients to make available to their
customers, or if we fail to continue to grow and develop preferred payment choices, our business may be materially and
adversely affected. The continued growth and development of our proprietary global payments network will also depend on our
ability to anticipate and adapt to changes in client and customer behavior. For example, behavior may change regarding the use
of credit and debit card transactions, including the relative increased use of cash, crypto- currencies, other emerging or
alternative payment methods and credit card systems that may include strong regional preferences that we or our processing
partners do not adequately support. Any failure to timely integrate emerging payment methods into our solutions, anticipate
behavior changes, or contract with payment processing partners that support such emerging payment technologies could cause
our clients to use our solutions less, resulting in a corresponding loss of revenue, in the event such methods become popular
among their customers. The number and variety of the payment methods we offer or currencies we are able to service may not
meet client expectations, or the costs borne by our clients’ customers in completing payments may become unsuitable.
Accordingly, we may need to change our pricing strategies or reduce our prices, which could harm our revenue, gross profit, and



operating results. We utilize a number of payment providers to clear and settle transactions for our clients, including payments
providers such as China UnionPay Co. Ltd. and Adyen N. V. If the services provided by these partners become unavailable due
to extended outages or interruptions or because they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms or prices, or due
to regulatory restrictions or for any other reason, our expenses could increase and our ability to process certain payments could
be materially interrupted, all of which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, our
agreements with these providers include certain terms and conditions. These providers have broad discretion to change their
terms of service and other policies with respect to our business, and those changes may be unfavorable to us. Therefore, we
believe that maintaining successful partnerships with these payment providers is critical to our success. We, our strategic
partners and our clients obtain and process large amounts of personal and sensitive data. Any real or perceived improper or
unauthorized use of, disclosure of, or access to such data could harm our reputation as a trusted brand, as well as have a material
adverse effect on our business. We, our strategic partners and our clients, and the third- party vendors that we use, obtain and
process large amounts of sensitive data, including personally identifiable information, also referred to as “ personal data, ”” and
other potentially sensitive data related to our clients, their customers and each of their transactions, as well as a variety of such
data relating to our own workforce and internal operations. We face risks, including to our reputation as a trusted brand, in the
handling and protection of this data, and these risks will increase as our business continues to expand to include new solutions
and technologies. We are responsible for data security for ourselves and for third parties with whom we partner and under the
rules and regulations established by the payment networks, such as Visa, Mastercard and American Express, and debit card
networks and by industry regulations and standards that may be promulgated by organizations such as NACHA, which manages
the governance of the ACH network in the United States. These third parties include our distribution partners and other third-
party service providers and agents. We and other third parties collect, process, store and / or transmit personal and sensitive data,
such as names, addresses, social security numbers, credit or debit card numbers and expiration dates, driver’ s license numbers
and bank account numbers. We have ultimate liability to the payment networks and to our eustemers-clients for our failure or
the failure of third parties with whom we contract to protect this data in accordance with PCI DSS and network requirements.
The loss, destruction or unauthorized modification or disclosure of merchant or cardholder data by us or our contracted third
parties could result in significant fines, sanctions, claims, litigation and proceedings or actions against us by the payment
networks, governmental entities, clients, client customers or others and damage our reputation. Similarly, there are existing
regulatory regimes designed to protect the privacy of categories of personal or otherwise sensitive data. Relevant U. S. federal
privacy laws include the FERPA, the Gramm- Leach- Bliley Act (GLBA), and HIPAA. We also are subject to stringent
contractual obligations relating to the handling of such data, including obligations that are more restrictive than legally required.
For example, under HIPAA, the information we collect during the payment experience may include protected health
Information (PHI), and as such, we are considered a *“ business associate ” of the U. S. healthcare clients we serve, and we are
required to enter into a business associate agreement (BAA) with these clients. The BAAs largely mirror some of the statutory
obligations contained in HIPAA, but many contain additional contractual undertakings that give these clients additional
remedies in the event of a breach of our obligations to protect the confidentiality of the client’ s PHI or otherwise meet our
contractual obligations. Privacy laws impose a variety of compliance burdens on us and our clients, such as requiring notice to
individuals of privacy practices, providing individuals with certain rights to prevent the use and disclosure of protected
information, and also imposing requirements for safeguarding and proper destruction of personal information through the
issuance of data security standards or guidelines. Privacy laws grant audit rights to our regulators and those of our clients. Any
unauthorized disclosure of PHI or other data we are obligated to protect by regulation or contract could result in significant
fines, sanctions, or requirements to take corrective action and could materially adversely affect our reputation and business.
Threats may derive from human error, fraud, or malice on the part of employees or third parties, or from accidental
technological failure. For example, certain of our FlyMates have access to personal and sensitive data that could be used to
commit identity theft or fraud. Concerns about security increase when we transmit information electronically because such
transmissions can be subject to attack, interception, or loss. Also, computer viruses can be distributed and spread rapidly over the
Internet and could infiltrate our systems or those of our contracted third parties. Denial of service or other attacks could be
launched against us for a variety of purposes, including interfering with our solutions or to create a diversion for other malicious
activities. These and other types of actions and attacks could disrupt our delivery of solutions or make them unavailable. Any
such actions or attacks against us or our contracted third parties could impugn our reputation, force us to incur significant
expenses in remediating the resulting impacts, expose us to uninsured liability, result in the loss of our bank sponsors or our
ability to participate in the payment networks, increase our risk of regulatory scrutiny and the costs associated with such
scrutiny, subject us to lawsuits, fines or sanctions, distract our management, or increase our costs of doing business. We and our
contracted third parties could be subject to security breaches by hackers. Our encryption of data and other protective measures
may not prevent unauthorized access to or use of personal and sensitive data. A breach of a system may subject us to material
losses or liability, including payment network fines, assessments and claims for unauthorized purchases with misappropriated
credit, debit or card information, impersonation, or other similar fraud claims. A misuse of such data or a cybersecurity breach
could harm our reputation and deter clients and their customers from using electronic payments generally and our solutions
specifically, thus reducing our revenue. In addition, any such misuse or breach could cause us to incur costs to correct the
breaches or failures, expose us to uninsured liability, increase our risk of regulatory scrutiny and the costs associated with such
scrutiny, subject us to lawsuits, and result in the imposition of material penalties and fines under state and federal laws or by the
payment networks. The insurance coverage we maintain to cover cyber risks may be insufficient to cover all losses. In addition,
a significant cybersecurity breach of our systems or communications could result in payment networks prohibiting us from
processing transactions on their networks or the loss of our bank sponsors that facilitate our participation in the payment
networks, either of which could materially impede our ability to conduct business. Additionally, it is also possible that
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vbreach-arisin ; ; ehatirattaele. We have administrative, technrcal and physical
security measures in place, and we “have pohcres and procedures in place to both evaluate the security protocols and practrces of
our vendors and to contractually require service providers to whom we disclose personal data to implement and maintain privacy
and security measures. However, we cannot provide assurance that the contractual requirements related to security and privacy
that we impose on our service providers will be followed, or that those requirements, or our internal measures, will be adequate
to prevent the unauthorized use or disclosure of data. If our privacy protection or security measures or those of the previously
mentioned third parties are inadequate or are breached as a result of third- party action, employee or contractor error,
malfeasance, malware, phishing, hacking attacks, system error, software bugs or defects in our solutions, trickery, process
failure, or otherwise, and, as a result, there is improper disclosure of, or someone obtains unauthorized access to or extract funds
or sensitive information, including personally identifiable information, on our systems or our partners’ systems, or if we suffer a
ransomware or advanced persistent threat attack, or if any of the foregoing is reported or perceived to have occurred, our
reputation and business could be damaged. Recent high- profile security breaches and related disclosures of personal and
sensitive data by large institutions suggest that the risk of such events is significant, even if privacy protection and security
measures are implemented and enforced. If personal or sensitive information is lost or improperly disclosed or threatened to be
disclosed, we could incur significant costs associated with remediation and the implementation of additional security measures,
including costs to deploy additional personnel and protection technologies, train employees, and engage third- party experts and
consultants. In addition, we may incur significant liability and financial loss and may be subject to regulatory scrutiny,
investigations, proceedings, and penalties and our reputation may be harmed. Additional risks will emerge to the extent we
incorporate artificial intelligence in our solutions. Artificial intelligence algorithms or automated processing of data may be
flawed, and datasets may be insufficient or may use third party artificial intelligence with unclear intellectual property rights or
interests. Inappropriate or controversial data practices by us or others could subject us to lawsuits, regulatory investigations,
legal and financial liability, or reputational harm. Additionally, our use of artificial intelligence may create additional
cybersecurity risks or increase cybersecurity risks, including risks of security breaches and incidents. Under our terms of service
and our contracts with strategic partners and clients, if there is a breach of payment information that we store, we could be liable
for their losses and related expenses. Additionally, if our own confidential business information were improperly disclosed, our
business could be materially and adversely affected. A core aspect of our business is the reliability and security of our solutions.
Any perceived or actual breach of security, regardless of how it occurs or the extent of the breach, could have a significant
impact on our reputation as a trusted brand, cause us to lose existing partners or clients, prevent us from obtaining new partners,
clients or customers, require us to expend significant funds to remedy problems caused by breaches and implement measures to
prevent further breaches, and expose us to legal risk and potential liability including those resulting from governmental or
regulatory investigations, class action litigation, and costs associated with remediation, such as fraud monitoring and forensics.
Any actual or perceived security breach at a company providing services to us or our clients could have similar effects. We
cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for data handling or data security liabilities actually incurred, that
insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny
coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance
coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large
deductible or co- insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our business, including our financial condition,
operating results, and reputation. Cyberattacks and security vulnerabilities can disrupt our business and harm our competitive
position. Cyber incidents have been increasing in sophistication and frequency and can include third parties gaining access to
employee or customer data using stolen or inferred credentials, computer malware, viruses, spamming, phishing attacks,
ransomware, card skimming code, and other deliberate attacks and attempts to gain unauthorized access. Providers of payment
and accounts receivable software have frequently been targeted by such attacks and due to the wars in the Ukraine and Gaza and
continued political uncertainty involving Russia and Ukraine, and Israel and Hamas, respectively, and potentially other regions
of Europe and the Middle East, there is an increased likelihood that escalation of tensions could result in cyberattacks that could
either directly or indirectly impact our operations. In addition, the development and implementation of Al technologies may
further increase our exposure to or exacerbate the risks of cyberattacks or other security incidents, particularly where
such technologies are exploited by third parties to breach our or other parties’ systems, including when such technologies
are used to target our employees or impersonate members of senior management in order to gain unauthorized access to
our systems. Because of this, we face additional cybersecurity challenges, including threats to our own IT infrastructure or those
of our clients, our clients’ customers >eklients-, and / or third- party providers, that may take a variety of forms ranging from
stolen bank accounts, business email compromise, client employee fraud, account takeover, or check fraud, to “ mega breaches ”
targeted against payment and accounts receivable software, which could be initiated by individual or groups of hackers or
sophisticated cyber criminals using any of the methods described above. A cybersecurity incident or breach could result in
disclosure of confidential information and intellectual property, or cause production downtimes and compromised data. We have
in the past experienced cybersecurity incidents of limited scale, and we may in the future experience other data security
incidents or breaches affecting personally identifiable information or other confidential business information. We may be unable
to anticipate or prevent techniques used in the future to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems because they change
frequently and often are not detected until after an incident has occurred. As we increase our client base and our brand becomes
more widely known and recognized, third parties may increasingly seek to compromise our security controls or gain
unauthorized access to our sensitive corporate information or our clients’ (or our clients’ customers’) data. Our business policies



and internal security controls may not keep pace with these evolving threats. Despite the internal control measures, and security
procedures we employ to safeguard our systems, we may still be vulnerable to a security breach, intrusion, or loss or theft of
personal or sensitive data, which may harm our business, reputation and future financial results. The lost revenue and
containment, remediation, investigation, legal and other costs could be significant and may exceed our insurance policy limits or
may not be covered by insurance at all. Further, we may be subject to regulatory enforcement actions and litigation that could
result in financial judgments or the payment of settlement amounts and disputes with insurance carriers concerning coverage. In
addition, sufficient insurance coverage may become increasingly expensive to maintain as incidents increase globally. Our risk
management efforts may not be effective to prevent fraudulent activities by our eustemets-clients , FlyMates or other third
parties, which could expose us to material financial losses and liability and otherwise harm our business. Our software provides
payment facilitation solutions for a large number of our clients and their customers. We are responsible for performing KYC
reviews of our clients, sanctions screening their customers, and monitoring transactions for fraud. We have been and may
continue to be targeted by parties who seek to commit acts of financial fraud using techniques such as stolen identities and bank
accounts, compromised business email accounts, employee or insider fraud, account takeover, false applications, and fake
invoicing. We may suffer losses from acts of financial fraud committed by our clients, our clients’ customers and purported
customers, our FlyMates and payment partners or third parties. The techniques used to perpetrate fraud are continually evolving
and we may not be able to identify all risks created by new solutions or functionality. Our risk management policies,
procedures, techniques, and processes may not be sufficient to identify all of the risks to which we are exposed, to enable us to
prevent or mitigate the risks we have identified, or to identify additional risks to which we may become subject in the future.
Furthermore, our risk management policies, procedures, techniques, and processes may contain errors or our FlyMates or agents
may commit mistakes or errors in judgment as a result of which we may suffer large financial losses. The software- driven and
highly automated nature of our solutions could enable criminals and those committing fraud to steal significant amounts of
money accessing our solutions. As greater numbers of our clients' customers use our solutions, and we serve clients in industries
that are at higher risk for fraudulent activity, our exposure to material risk losses from a single client, or from a small number of
clients, will increase. In addition, our clients or their customers may suffer losses from acts of financial fraud by third parties
posing as us through account takeover, credential harvesting, use of stolen identities and various other techniques, which could
harm our reputation, consume significant time of our compliance, security and client relations teams to investigate and
remediate, or prompt us to reimburse our clients for such losses in order to maintain client business relationships. Our current
business, the changing and uncertain economic, geopolitical and regulatory environment, and our anticipated domestic and
international growth will continue to place significant demands on our risk management and compliance efforts. As our business
grows and becomes more complex, we will need to continue developing and improving and investing in our risk management
infrastructure, policies, procedures, techniques, and processes. As techniques used to perpetrate fraud on our solutions evolve,
we may need to modify our solutions to mitigate fraud risks. As our business grows and becomes more complex, we may be less
able to forecast and carry appropriate reserves in our books for fraud related losses. Further, these types of fraudulent activities
targeting our solutions can also expose us to civil and criminal liability, governmental and regulatory sanctions as well as
potentially cause us to be in breach of our contractual obligations to our clients and partners. If we fail to adapt and respond
effectively to rapidly and significantly changing technology, evolving industry standards, changing regulations, and changing
business needs, requirements, or preferences, or if we fail to continue to grow and develop our payments solutions, our business
may be materially and adversely affected. Our future success depends in large part on the continued growth and development of
our payments solutions. If such activities are limited, restricted, curtailed or degraded in any way, or if we fail to continue to
grow and develop our payments solutions, our business may be materially and adversely affected. The market for payments
enablement solutions is relatively new and subject to changes in technology, regulatory regimes, industry standards, payment
methods, regulations and client and customer needs. Rapid and significant technological changes, evolving industry standards,
changing regulations and business needs continue to confront the verticals in which we operate, including developments in
digital banking, open banking, mobile financial apps, as well as developments in cryptocurrencies and in tokenization (e. g.,
replacing sensitive data such as payment card information) with symbols (tokens) to keep the data safe), blockchain, and
artificial intelligence, including machine learning. The success of our business will depend, in part, on our ability to adapt and
respond effectively to these changes through methods which include launching new solutions and incorporating new
technologies, such as generative artificial intelligence, into our solutions. The success of any new product and service, or any
enhancements or modifications to existing solutions, depends on several factors, including the timely completion, introduction,
and market acceptance of such solutions, enhancements, and modifications. Our engineering and software development teams
operate in different locations across the globe (including teams in Spain, Romania, the United States, Israel and Australia),
which can create logistical challenges. If we are unable to effectively coordinate with our global technology and development
teams to enhance our solutions, add new payment methods or develop new solutions that keep pace with technological and
regulatory changes to achieve market acceptance, or if new technologies emerge that are able to deliver competitive solutions
that are more effective, secure, convenient or cost effective than our solutions, our business, operating results, and financial
condition would be adversely affected. Furthermore, modifications to our existing solutions or technology will increase our
technology and development expenses. Any failure of our solutions to operate effectively with existing or future network
solutions and technologies could reduce the demand for our solutlons result in clients or chents customer dlssatlsfactlon and
adversely affect our busmess We Artiftets sen Ats i he at-can-mpac ;
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concerns that could impaet-adversely affect our business and results of operations . \We incorporate Al, including
generative Al into our solutions and services. These technologies are complex and rapidly evolving and building them
requlres significant investment 1n infrastructure and personnel w1th no assurance that we w1ll reallze the des1red or
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their Al solutions, which could impair our ability to compete effectively and adversely affect our results of operations
may also encounter new risks, challenges, and unintended consequences as a result of our use te-of AL. For example, the
issue of intellectual property ownership and license rights surrounding Al technologies has not been fully addressed by
U. S. courts or federal or state laws and regulations, and the incorporation of Al technologies into our solutions and
services could expose us s-and-to intellectual property claims or mandatory compliance with open source software or the
other providers-license terms. Our use of AI may also lead to novel cybersecurity or privacy risks which may adversely
affect our operations and reputation. The European Union’ s Artificial Intelligence Act, which would apply beyond the
European Union' s borders, came into force in August 2024, and various other governments have proposed or adopted
policy and regulatory responses to oversee the use of AI. Compliance with regulations as well as social and ethical
standards relating to AI may require significant research and development costs as well as management and employee

attention. Any actual or perceived failure to comply with thesc generative-artifietalinteligeneetools-laws, regulations or
ethlcal standards could 1nclude severe penaltles, reputatlonal harm, and slow adoptlon of Al in our solutlons and
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business-. Chanoes to payment card networks fees or rules could halm our business. We are requlred to Comply Wlth Mastercard,
American Express, and Visa payment card network operating rules and the rules of other regional card (such as China UnionPay
or JCB) or payment providers, in connection with our solutions. We have agreed to reimburse our merchant acquirers for any
fines they are assessed by payment card networks as a result of any rule violations by us. We may also be directly liable to the
payment card networks for rule violations. The payment card networks set and interpret the card operating rules. The payment
card networks could adopt new operating rules or interpret or reinterpret existing rules that we or our processors might find
difficult or even impossible to follow, or costly to implement. For example, the card networks could adopt new rules or
reinterpret existing rules to substantially modify how we offer credit card payment methods to our clients, or impose new fees or
costs (including demanding a cash reserve from Flywire) that could negatively impact our margins. Card networks also
could modify security or fraud detection methodologies that could have a downstream impact on our business, and force us to
change our solutions, payment experience or security protocols, which may increase our operating costs. We also may seek to
introduce other card- related solutions in the future, which would entail additional operating rules. As a result of any violations
of rules, new rules being implemented, or increased fees, we could lose our ability to offer certain cards as a payment method to
our clients’ customers, or such payments could become prohibitively expensive for us or for our clients. Additionally, from time
to time, card networks, including Visa and Mastercard, increase the fees that they charge processors. We could attempt to pass
these increases along to our clients and their customers, but this strategy might result in the loss of clients to our competitors
who do not pass along the increases. If competitive practices prevent us from passing along the higher fees to our clients and
their customers in the future, we may have to absorb all or a portion of such increases, which may increase our operating costs
and reduce our profit margins. If we are unable to offer credit cards as a payment method to our clients’ customers, our business
would be adversely affected. If we do not or cannot maintain the compatibility of our solution with evolving software solutions
used by our clients, or the interoperability of our solutions with those of our third- party payment providers, payment networks
and key software vendors, our business may be materially and adversely affected. Our solutions integrate with ERP systems,
such as Ellucian Company, L. P. in education, Epic Systems Corporation in healthcare, Rezdy Pty Ltd in travel and Oracle
Corporation in B2B payments. We automatically synchronize suppliers, clients, client customers, invoices, and payment
transactions between our solutions and these systems. This two- way sync eliminates duplicate data entry and provides the basis
for managing cash- flow through an integrated solution for accounts receivable, and payments. In addition, we are subject to
certain standard terms and conditions with these partners. These partners have broad discretion to change their terms of service
and other policies, and those changes may be unfavorable to us. Therefore, we believe that maintaining successful partnerships
with these providers is critical to our future success. We also rely on our proprietary global payment network comprised of
leading global, regional and local banks and technology and payment partners. If we do not or cannot maintain the
interoperability of their products or services or the products or our key software vendors that are integral to our solutions, our
business may be materially and adversely affected. These third parties periodically update and change their systems, and
although we have been able to adapt our solutions to their evolving needs in the past, there can be no guarantee that we will be
able to do so in the future. In particular, if we are unable to adapt to such changes, we may not be able to utilize these strategic
partners and we may lose access to large numbers of clients as a result. If any of the third party software providers change the
features of their APIs, discontinue their support of such APIs, restrict our access to their APIs, or alter the terms governing their



use in a manner that is adverse to our business, we will not be able to provide synchronization capabilities, which could
significantly diminish the value of our solutions and harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. If we fail to
maintain, protect and enhance our brand, our ability to expand our client base will be impaired and our business, operating
results, and financial condition may suffer. We believe that further developing, maintaining, protecting and enhancing our brand
domestically and on a global basis is important to support the marketing and sale of our existing and future solutions to existing
and new clients and to attracting additional and strategic partners. Successfully further developing, maintaining and enhancing
our brand will depend largely on the effectiveness of our marketing and demand generation efforts, our ability to provide reliable
and seamless solutions that continue to meet the needs of our clients and their customers at competitive prices, our ability to
maintain our clients’ trust, our ability to continue to develop new functionality, solutions, and our ability to successfully
differentiate our solutions from competitive solutions. Our brand promotion activities may not generate client awareness or
yield increased revenue, and even if they do, any increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in maintaining and
building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand or if we incur excessive expenses in this effort, our
business could suffer. The introduction and promotion of new solutions, as well as the promotion of existing solutions, may be
partly dependent on our visibility on third- party advertising platforms, such as Google, LinkedIn, Facebook, or X. Changes in
the way these platforms operate or changes in their advertising prices, data use practices or other terms could make the
maintenance and promotion of our products and services and our brands more expensive or more difficult. If we are unable to
market and promote our brands on third- party platforms effectively, our ability to acquire new clients would be materially
harmed. Harm to our brand can arise from many sources, including failure by us or our partners and service providers to satisfy
expectations of service and quality; inadequate protection or misuse of sensitive information; fraud committed by third parties
using our solutions; compliance failures and claims; litigation, regulatory and other claims; errors caused by us or our partners;
and misconduct by our partners, service providers, or other counterparties. In addition, negative statements about us can cause
and have caused a decline in the market price of our common stock, divert our management’ s attention and resources, and could
cause other adverse impacts to our business. Partners with whom we maintain relationships could engage in behavior or use their
platforms to communicate directly with our clients and their customers in a manner that reflects poorly on our brand and such
behavior or communications may adversely affect us. Further, negative publicity or commentary regarding the partners who are,
or are perceived to be, affiliated with us may also damage our reputation, even if the negative publicity or commentary is not
directly related to us. Any negative publicity about the industries we operate in or our company, the quality and reliability of our
solutions, our risk management processes, changes to our products and services, our ability to effectively manage and resolve
customer complaints, our privacy, data protection, and information security practices, litigation, regulatory activity, policy
positions, and the experience of our clients and their customers with us, our products or services could adversely affect our
reputation and the confidence in and use of our solutions. If we do not successfully maintain, protect or enhance our brands, our
business could be materially and adversely affected. If we lose key members of our management team or are unable to attract
and retain executives and employees we need to support our operations and growth, our business may be harmed. Our success
and future growth depend upon the continued services of our management team and other key employees. Our Chief Executive
Officer, Michael Massaro, and our President and Chief Operating Officer, Rob Orgel, are critical to our overall management, as
well as the continued development of our solutions, strategic partnerships, culture, relationships with financial institutions, and
strategic direction. From time to time, there may be changes in our management team resulting from the hiring or departure of
executives and key employees which could dlsrupt our busmess Our sen1or management and key employees are employed on
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unable to manage an orderly transition, our business may be adversely affected. We currently have “ key person ” insurance on
our Chief Executive Officer, Michael Massaro, but not for any efthe-other members of our management team. Certain of our
key employees have been with us for a long period of time and have fully vested stock options or other long- term equity
incentives that are or may become valuable and are publicly tradable subject to Rule 144 limitations, which may reduce the
incentive for each of these key employees to remain at our Company. We cannot ensure that we will be able to retain the
services of any members of our senior management or other key employees or that we would be able to timely replace members
of our senior management or other key employees should any of them depart. The loss of our Chief Executive Officer, or our
President and Chief Operating Officer, or one or more of our senior management, or other key employees could harm our
business, and we may not be able to find adequate replacements. The failure to attract and retain additional qualified personnel
could prevent us from executing our business strategy and growth plans. To execute our business strategy, we must attract and
retain highly qualified personnel. Competition for executive officers, software developers, compliance and risk management
personnel and other key employees in our industry and locations is intense and increasing, especially in the U. S., where wage
inflation has been increasing. We compete with many other companies for software developers with high levels of experience in
designing, developing, and managing payment systems, as well as for skilled legal and compliance and risk operations
professionals. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we do and
can frequently offer such personnel substantially greater compensation than we can offer. In addition, immigration policy and
regulatory changes may also affect our ability to hire, mobilize, or retain some of our global talent. If we fail to identify,
attract, develop and integrate new personnel, or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our growth prospects would be
adversely affected. If we cannot maintain our company culture as we grow, our success and our business may be harmed. We
believe our culture has been a key contributor to our success to date and that the critical nature of the solutions that we provide
promotes a sense of greater purpose and fulfillment in our FlyMates. Any failure to preserve our culture could negatively affect
our ability to retain and recruit personnel, which is critical to our growth, and to effectively focus on and pursue our corporate




objectives. As we grow and develop the infrastructure of a public company, we may find it difficult to maintain these important
aspects of our culture. If we fail to maintain our culture, our business and competitive position may be adversely affected. Our
sales cycles may be long and vary. We devote significant resources to establish relationships with new clients and deepen
relationships with existing clients. The sales cycles of our solutions tend to vary depending on the client industry sector which
may-make-makes forecasting more complex and uncertain. In addition, sales and sale cycles may be based in part or entirely on
factors, or perceived factors, not directly related to the features of our solutions, including, among others, a client or prospective
client’ s projection of business growth, uncertainty about economic conditions (including as a result of trereased-heightened
inflationary conditions, regulatory concerns, recession concerns , priorities of the U. S. presidential administration and
related changes in laws, regulations or policies, and the escalation of hostilities between Russia and Ukraine, and Israel and
Hamas), capital budgets, anticipated cost savings from the implementation of our solution, potential preference for internally-
developed software solutions, perceptions about our business and solutions, more favorable terms offered by potential
competitors, and previous technology investments. Mid- market and large enterprises tend to have more complex operating
environments than smaller businesses, making it often more difficult and time- consuming for us to demonstrate the value of our
solutions to prospective clients. The decision to use our solutions may also be an enterprise- wide decision, and require us to
provide greater levels of education regarding the use and benefits of our solutions, which may result in additional time, effort,
and money spent on our sales cycle without any assurance that our efforts will be successful in generating any sales. Often,
major hospital systems and national or state higher education systems will solicit service offers by issuing RFPs, which are
generally a time- and resource- intensive process, with no assurances of being selected as a vendor after the RFP process is
completed. Additionally, large enterprises typically have longer implementation cycles, especially hospital and education
systems, require greater product functionality and scalability and a broader range of services, demand that vendors take on a
larger share of risks, sometimes require longer testing periods that delay general availability of our solutions, and expect greater
payment flexibility from vendors. All of these factors can add further risk to business conducted with these clients. If we fail to
realize an expected sale from a large end- client in a particular quarter or at all, our business, operating results, and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected. In addition, we may face unexpected deployment challenges with
enterprise clients. It may be difficult to deploy our software solutions if a client has unexpected database, hardware or software
technology issues, or if a client insists on a more customized or unique solution that is time intensive or that we have little prior
experience in delivering. Decisions on timing of deployments may also be impacted by cost and availability of personnel. Any
difficulties or delays in the initial implementation could cause clients to reject our solutions or lead to the delay or non- receipt
of future orders, in which case our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed. We typically incur
significant upfront costs in our client relationships, and if we are unable to develop or grow these relationships over time, we are
unlikely to recover these costs and our operating results may suffer. We devote significant resources to establish relationships
with new clients and deepen relationships with existing clients. Our sales cycle for our solutions can be variable, typically
ranging from three to nine months from initial contact to contract execution. However, there is potential for our sales cycle to
extend beyond three to nine months. During the period of our sales cycle, our efforts involve educating our clients about the use,
technical capabilities and benefits of our solutions. Our operating results depend in substantial part on our ability to deliver a
successful client experience and persuade our clients to grow their relationship with us over time. As we expect to grow rapidly,
our client acquisition costs could outpace our build- up of recurring revenue, and we may be unable to reduce our total operating
costs through economies of scale such that we are unable to achieve or maintain profitability. Any increased or unexpected costs
or unanticipated delays, including delays caused by factors outside of our control, could cause our operating results to suffer. If
we fail to offer high- quality client support, or if our support is more expensive than anticipated, our business and reputation
could suffer. Our clients and their customers rely on our support services to resolve issues and realize the full benefits provided
by our solutions. High- quality support is also important for the expansion of the use of our solutions with existing clients and
their customers. We provide multilingual support over chat, email or via telephone. The number of our clients, and the number
of their customers utilizing our solutions, has grown significantly and such growth, as well as any future growth, will put
additional pressure on our client service organization. If we do not help our clients and their customers quickly resolve issues
and provide effective ongoing support, or if our support personnel or methods of providing support are insufficient to meet the
needs of our clients and their customers, our ability to retain clients and their customers and acquire new clients and customers
could suffer, and our reputation with existing or potential clients could be harmed. Providing an exceptional client experience
requires significant time and resources from our client service team. Therefore, failure to scale our client service organization
adequately may adversely impact our business results and financial condition. In addition, as we continue to operate and grow
our operations and continue to expand to new jurisdictions, we need to be able to provide efficient client service that meets our
clients’ needs globally at scale. In geographies where we sell through our channel partners, if we are unable to provide a high
quality client experience tailored to the language and culture of the applicable jurisdiction, our business operations and
reputation may suffer. We may require additional capital to support the growth of our business, and this capital might not be
available on acceptable terms, if at all. We have funded our operations since inception primarily through equity and debt
financings, sales of our solutions, and fees. We cannot be certain swheserif our operations will continue to generate sufficient
cash to fully fund our ongoing operations or the growth of our business. We intend to continue to make investments to support
our business, which may require us to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. Additional financing may
not be available on terms favorable to us, if at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to
invest in future growth opportunities, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. If we incur
additional debt, the debt holders would have rights senior to holders of common stock to make claims on our assets, and the
terms of any debt could restrict our operations, including our ability to pay dividends on our common stock. Furthermore, if we
issue additional equity securities, stockholders will experience dilution, and the new equity securities could have rights senior to



those of our common stock. Because our decision to issue securities in the future will depend on numerous considerations,
including factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing, or nature of any future issuances of debt
or equity securities. As a result, our stockholders bear the risk of future issuances of debt or equity securities reducing the value
of our common stock and diluting their interests. Our business could be harmed as a result of the risks associated with our
acquisitions. As part of our business strategy, we have in the past and intend to continue to seek to acquire or invest in
businesses, products or technologies that could complement or expand our business, enhance our technical capabilities or
otherwise offer growth opportunities by providing us with additional intellectual property, client relationships and geographic
coverage. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in
identifying, investigating, and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not such acquisitions are completed. In addition, we
can provide no assurances that we will be able to find and identify desirable acquisition targets or that we will be successful in
entering into a definitive agreement with any one target. In addition, even if we reach a definitive agreement with a target, there
is no assurance that we will complete any future acquisition or if we do acquire additional businesses, we may not be able to
integrate them effectively following the acquisition or effectively manage the combined business following the acquisition. Any
acquisitions we undertake or have recently completed, including the acquisitions of Sertifi in February 2025, Invoiced in
August 2024, StudyLink in November 2023 and Cohort Go in July 2022, will likely be accompanied by business risks which
may include, among other things: « the effect of the acquisition on our financial results, strategic position or reputation; * the
failure of an acquisition to result in expected benefits, which may include benefits relating to enhanced revenues, technology,
human resources, costs savings, operating efficiencies, goodwill and other synergies; ¢ the difficulty, cost and management
effort required to integrate the acquired businesses, including costs and delays in implementing common systems and
procedures and costs and delays caused by communication difficulties; ¢ the assumption of certain known or unknown liabilities
of the acquired business, including litigation- related liabilities; ¢ the reduction of our cash available for operations and other
uses, the increase in amortization expense related to identifiable assets acquired, potentially dilutive issuances of equity
securities or the incurrence of debt; * a lack of experience in new markets, new geographies, new business culture, products or
technologies or an initial dependence on unfamiliar distribution partners; * the possibility that we will pay more than the value
we derive from the acquisition; * the impairment of relationships with our clients, clients' customers, partners or suppliers or
those of the acquired business; and ¢ the potential loss of key employees of the acquired business. These factors could harm our
business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition to the risks commonly encountered in the acquisition of a
business or assets as described above, we may also experience risks relating to the challenges and costs of closing a transaction.
The risks described above may be exacerbated as a result of managing multiple acquisitions at once. Systems failures and
resulting interruptions in the availability of our solutions and core payment platform could harm our business. Our systems
and payment platform and those of our service providers and partners have experienced from time to time, and may experience
in the future, service interruptions or degradation because of hardware and software defects or malfunctions, distributed denial-
of- service and other cyberattacks, insider threats, human error, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, and other natural disasters,
including events resulting from climate change, war or other military conflict, including an escalation of the conflicts between
Russia and Ukraine, and Israel and Hamas, respectively, power losses, disruptions in telecommunications services, fraud,
computer viruses or other malware, or other events. Some of our systems are not fully redundant, and our disaster recovery
planning may not be sufficient for all possible outcomes or events. In addition, as a provider of payments solutions targeted to
highly regulated clients in industries such as education and healthcare, we are subject to heightened scrutiny by regulators that
may require specific business continuity, resiliency and disaster recovery plans, and more rigorous testing of such plans, which
are may-be-costly and time- consuming to implement, and may divert our resources from other business priorities. A prolonged
interruption in the availability, speed, or functionality of our solutions , payment platform or payment methods could
materially harm our business. Frequent or persistent interruptions in our solutions could cause current or potential clients and
their customers to believe that our systems are unreliable, leading them to switch to our competitors or to avoid or reduce the use
of our solutions, and could permanently harm our reputation and brand. Moreover, if any system or platform failure or similar
event results in damages to our clients or their customers and business partners, these clients, customers or partners could seek
significant compensation or contractual penalties from us for their losses, and those claims, even if unsuccessful, would likely be
time- consuming and costly for us to address. We have undertaken and continue to make certain technology and network
upgrades and redundancies which are designed to improve the reliability of our solutions and payment platform . These efforts
are costly and time- consuming, involve significant technical risk and may divert our resources from new features and solutions,
and there can be no guarantee that these efforts will succeed. Because we are a regulated payments institution in certain
jurisdictions, frequent or persistent interruptions could lead to regulatory scrutiny, significant fines and penalties, and mandatory
and costly changes to our business practices, and ultimately could cause us to lose existing licenses that we need to operate or
prevent or delay us from obtaining additional licenses that may be required for our business. We use public cloud hosting with
AWS and depend on AWS’ ability to protect their data centers against damage or interruption from natural disasters, power or
telecommunications failures, criminal acts, and similar events. Our operations depend on protecting the cloud infrastructure
hosted by AWS by maintaining the configuration, architecture, and interconnection specifications, as well as the information
stored in these virtual data centers and transmitted by third- party internet service providers. In limited occasions, we have
experienced service disruptions in the past, and may experience interruptions or delays in our solutions in the future. We may
also incur significant costs for using alternative equipment or taking other actions in preparation for, or in reaction to, events that
damage the data storage services we use. Although we have disaster recovery plans that utilize various data storage locations,
any incident affecting our data storage or internet service providers’ infrastructure that may be caused by fire, flood, severe
storm, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failures, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses and disabling devices,
natural disasters, war or other military conflict, including an escalation of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, terrorist



attacks, negligence, and other similar events beyond our control could negatively affect our solutions . Additionally, in July
2024, a software update by CrowdStrike Holdings, Inc., a cybersecurity technology company, caused widespread crashes
of Windows systems into which it was integrated, including certain Windows systems used by our vendors and
customers. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10- K, we have not experienced any significant impacts as a
result of the CrowdStrike software update, but we could in the future experience similar software- induced interruptions
to our operations . Any prolonged service disruption affecting our solutions could damage our reputation with current and
potential clients, expose us to liability, cause us to lose clients, or otherwise harm our business. In the event of damage or
interruption to our solutions, our insurance policies may not adequately compensate us for any losses that we may incur. In
addition, we may experience financial losses due to a number of factors, including: ¢ third party disruptions, including potential
outages at network providers and other suppliers; * supply chain impacts, including shortages of goods, raw materials, increased
prices or delays in shipment; ¢ challenges to the availability and reliability of our network due to changes to normal operations; *
increased cyber and payment fraud risk, as cybercriminals attempt DDoS related attacks, phishing scams and other disruptive
actions, given the shift to online banking, e- commerce and other online activity, as well as more FlyMates working remotely;
and ¢ system failures or outages, including any potential disruptions due to significantly increased global demand on certain
cloud- based systems, could compromise our ability to provide our solutions in a timely manner, which could harm our ability to
conduct business or delay our financial reporting. Such failures could adversely affect our operating results and financial
condition. Our solutions and payment platform are accessed by many of our clients and their customers, often at the same
time. As we continue to expand the number of clients that we serve and solutions that we are able to offer to our clients and their
customers, we may not be able to scale our technology to accommodate the increased capacity requirements, which may result
in interruptions or delays in service. In addition, the failure of data centers, internet service providers, or other third- party
service providers to meet our capacity requirements could result in interruptions or delays in access to our solutions or platform
or impede our ability to grow our business and scale our operations. If our third- party infrastructure service agreements are
terminated, or there is a lapse of service, interruption of internet service provider connectivity, or damage to data centers, we
could experience interruptions in access to our solutions as well as delays and additional expense in arranging new facilities and
services. We also rely on components, applications, and services supplied by third parties, including payment service providers
and merchant acquirer partners which subjects us to risks. If these third parties experience operational interference or
disruptions, breach their agreements with us, fail to perform their obligations and meet our expectations, or experience a
cybersecurity incident, our operations could be disrupted or otherwise negatively affected, which could result in client
dissatisfaction, regulatory scrutiny, and damage to our reputation and brand, and materially and adversely affect our business. In
addition, we are continually improving and upgrading our systems and technologies. Implementation of new systems and
technologies is complex, expensive, and time- consuming. If we fail to timely and successfully implement new systems and
technologies, or improvements or upgrades to existing information systems and technologies, or if such systems and
technologies do not operate as intended, this could have an adverse impact on our business, internal controls (including internal
controls over financial reporting), results of operations, and financial condition. We eurrenthy-handle cross- border and domestic
payments and plan to expand our solutions to new clients, to accept and settle payments in new countries and in new currencies,
and to increase our global network to allow us to offer local and alternative payment methods, creating a variety of operational
challenges; additionally, our domestic and international operations subject us to increased risks, which could harm our business.
Our business is subject to risks inherent in conducting business globally, including cross- border payments and domestic
payments in the United States and certain other markets. Our handling of domestic and cross- border payments to our clients
generates a significant portion of our revenues, with a substantial portion of such revenues coming from payments processed
from Asia (including India, China and Korea). We expect that international revenues will continue to account for a significant
percentage of total net revenues for the foreseeable future, and that in particular, the proportion of our revenue from Asia will
continue to increase. Current events, including the potential implementation of tariffs, the possibility of renegotiated trade
deals and international tax law treaties , priorities of the U. S. presidential administration and related changes in laws,
regulations or policies , United States- China and Canada- India diplomatic and trade friction, heightened tensions between
China and Taiwan and the escalation of the conflicts between Russia and Ukraine, and Israel and Hamas, respectively, create a
level of uncertainty, and potentially increased complexity, for multinational companies. These uncertainties could have a
material adverse effect on our business and our results of operations and financial condition. In addition, international operations
are subject to various risks which could have a material adverse effect on those operations or our business as a whole, including:
« foreign currency exchange rate volatility; ¢ adverse economic conditions in the United States and globally, including economic
slowdown, heightened interest rates, inflation, recession concerns and the disruption, volatility and tightening of credit and
capital markets; ° risks related to compliance with multiple complex, potentially conflicting and changing governmental laws
and regulations; ¢ local licensing and reporting obligations or the imposition of currency controls which make it impossible or
increasingly difficult for our clients to collect payments from international customers; ¢ local regulatory and legal obligations
related to privacy, data protection, data localization, and user protections; * the need to localize our solutions, including offering
clients and their customers the ability to transact business in the local currency and adapting our solutions to local preferences,
in markets in which we may have limited or no experience; * trade barriers and changes in trade regulations; * the impact of
government sanctions on our ability to offer services in a region, such as sanctions issued by the U. S. and other countries
against Russia; ¢ difficulties in developing, staffing, and managing a large number of varying foreign operations as a result of
distance, language, and cultural differences; ¢ stringent local labor laws and regulations; ¢ limitations on the repatriation of cash,
including imposition or increase of withholding and other taxes on remittances and other payments by foreign subsidiaries;
diplomatic friction, political or social unrest, war or other military conflict, including an escalation of the conflict between
Russia and Ukraine, and between Israel and Hamas, respectively, economic instability, repression, or human rights issues; *



natural disasters, global pandemics such as COVID- 19 or other public health emergencies, acts of war, and terrorism; ¢
compliance with U. S. laws and foreign laws prohibiting corrupt payments to government officials, such as the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (FCPA) and the U. K. Bribery Act, and other local anti- corruption laws; « compliance with U. S. and foreign laws
designed to combat money laundering and the financing of terrorist activities; * retaliatory tariffs and restrictions limiting free
movement of currency and an unfavorable trade environment, including as a result of political conditions and changes in the
laws , regulations or policies in the United States and elsewhere and as described in more detail below; * antitrust and
competition regulations; ¢ expanded compliance with potentially conflicting and changing laws of taxing jurisdictions where we
conduct business and applicable U. S. tax laws as they relate to international operations, the complexity and adverse
consequences of such tax laws, and potentially adverse tax consequences due to changes in such tax laws or levels of
enforcement, including the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which includes a minimum corporate tax which could result in an
additional tax liability in a given year; * expected or actual extended federal government shutdowns ;-partisangricdtoekthat
results-in-the-inability of Congress-to-take-aetionor the priorities of the U. S. presidential administration and related
changes to-governmentpottey-in laws, regulations or policies ; * national or regional differences in macroeconomic growth
rates; and ¢ increased difficulties in collecting accounts receivable. Foreign operations may also expose us to political, social,
regulatory and economic uncertainties affecting a country or region, or to political hostility to investments by foreign or private
equity investors. Many financial markets are not as developed or as efficient as those in the United States, and as a result,
liquidity may be reduced and price volatility may be higher in those markets than in more developed markets. The legal and
regulatory environment may also be different, particularly with respect to bankruptcy and reorganization, and may afford us less
protection as a creditor than we may be entitled to under U. S. law. Financial accounting standards and practices may differ, and
there may be less publicly available information in respect of such companies. Restrictions imposed or actions taken by foreign
governments could include exchange controls, seizure or nationalization of foreign deposits and adoption of other governmental
restrictions which adversely affect the prices of securities or the ability to repatriate profits. For instance, we process a
substantial amount of payments from China. The Chinese government imposes controls on the convertibility of the Renminbi
the currency of China, into foreign currencies and, in certain cases, the remittance of currency out of China. The Chinese
government may at its discretion further restrict access in the future to foreign currencies for current account transactions, or
impose regulatory requirements that may require modifications to our business model for our clients' payors located in China. In
addition, income received by us from sources in some countries may be reduced by withholding and other taxes. Any such taxes
paid by us will reduce the net income or return from such investments. While we will take these factors into consideration in
making investment decisions, including when hedging positions, no assurance can be given that we will be able to fully avoid
these risks or generate sufficient risk- adjusted returns. Violations of the complex foreign and U. S. laws, rules and regulations
that apply to our cross- border operations may result in fines, criminal actions, or sanctions against us, our officers, or FlyMates;
prohibitions on the conduct of our business; and damage to our reputation. Although we have implemented policies and
procedures designed to promote compliance with these laws, there can be no assurance that our FlyMates, contractors, or agents
will not violate our policies. These risks are inherent in our cross- border operations and expansion, may increase our costs of
doing business internationally, and could harm our business. Payments and other financial services- related regulations and
oversight are material to our business. Our failure to comply could materially harm our business. The local, state, and federal
laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and industry standards in the United States and other jurisdictions in which we
operate that govern our business include, or may in the future include, those relating to consumer finance and consumer
protection, cross- border and domestic money transmission, foreign exchange, payments services (such as money transmission,
payment processing, and settlement services), AML and CFT, escheatment, international sanctions regimes, and compliance
with the PCI DSS. These laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and standards are enforced by multiple authorities and
governing bodies in the United States, including the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the
SEC, CFPB, the Federal Trade Commission, self- regulatory organizations, and numerous state and local regulators and law
enforcement agencies. Our clients also have their own regulatory obligations, and they expect our solutions to comply with the
regulatory requirements that are applicable to their businesses. For additional discussion about the regulatory environment that
we and our clients operate in, please see “ Business — Regulation and Industry Standards ”. As we expand into new jurisdictions,
the number of foreign laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and standards governing our business will expand as well. In
addition, as our business and solutions continue to develop and expand, we may become subject to additional laws, rules,
regulations, licensing schemes, and standards. We may not always be able to accurately predict the scope or applicability of
certain laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, or standards to our business, particularly as we expand into new areas of
operations, which could have a significant negative effect on our existing business and our ability to pursue future plans. Certain
of our subsidiaries are registered with FinCEN. Our subsidiary Flywire Global Corp. has obtained licenses to operate as a money
transmitter (or the statutory equivalent) in42-45 U. S. jurisdictions, and is in the process of applying for a license in, to the best
of our knowledge, all U. S. states and territories where such licensure or registration is required in order to be able to offer
additional business lines in the future. As a licensed money transmitter, we are (and in the states where we are awaiting
licensure, will be) subject to obligations and restrictions with respect to the investment of client funds, reporting requirements,
bonding requirements, minimum capital requirements, and inspection by state regulatory agencies concerning various aspects of
our business. Evaluation of our compliance efforts, as well as the questions of whether and to what extent our solutions are
considered money transmission, are matters of regulatory interpretation and could change over time. In addition, there are
substantial costs involved in maintaining and renewing our licenses, certifications, and approvals, and we could be subject to
fines or other enforcement action if we are found to violate disclosure, reporting, AML, CFT, capitalization, corporate
governance, or other requirements of such licenses. If we fail to predict how a U. S. law or regulation or a law or regulation from
another jurisdiction in which we operate will be applied to us, we could be subject to additional licensure requirements and / or



administrative enforcement actions. This could also require changes to the manner in which we conduct some aspects of our
business or potential product changes, and require us to pay fines, penalties, or compensation to clients for past non-
compliance. At the federal level, we are registered as a MSB with FinCEN. For additional discussion of the requirements of our
MSB registration, please see “ Business — Regulation and Industry Standards. ” At the state level, we rely on various exemptions
from state money transmitter licensing requirements, and regulators may find that we have violated applicable laws or
regulations because we are not licensed or registered as a money transmitter in all of the U. S. jurisdictions we service. We
believe, based on our business model, that we have valid exemptions from licensure under various state money transmission
laws, either expressly as a payment processor or agent of the payee, or pursuant to common law as an agent of the payee. While
we believe we have defensible arguments in support of our positions under the state money transmission statutes, we have not
expressly obtained confirmation of such positions from the state banking departments who administer the state money
transmission statutes. It is possible that certain state banking departments may determine that our activities are not exempt. Any
determination that we are in fact required to be licensed under the money transmission statute of a state where we are not yet
licensed may require substantial expenditures of time and money to remediate and could lead to liability in the nature of
penalties or fines, costs, legal fees, reputational damage or other negative consequences. We could be required to cease
operations in some or all of the U. S. jurisdictions we service and where we are not yet licensed, which determination would
have a materially adverse effect on our business, including our financial condition, operating results, and reputation. In the past,
certain competitors have been found to violate laws and regulations related to money transmission, and they have been subject to
fines and other penalties by regulatory authorities. The adoption of new money transmitter or MSB statutes in jurisdictions or
changes in regulators’ interpretation of existing state and federal money transmitter or MSB statutes or regulations could subject
us to new registration or licensing requirements. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain or maintain any such
licenses in all of the jurisdictions we service, and, even if we were able to do so, there could be substantial costs and potential
product changes involved in maintaining such licenses, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business. These
factors could impose substantial additional costs, involve considerable delay to the development or provision of our solutions,
require significant and costly operational changes, or prevent us from providing our solutions in any given market. The
regulatory environment in which we operate is subject to constant change, and new regulations could make aspects of our
business as currently conducted no longer possible. As In-the-future;-as-a result of the regulations applicable to our business, we
could be subject to investigations and resulting liability, including governmental fines, restrictions on our business, or other
sanctions, and we could be forced to cease conducting certain aspects of our business with residents of certain jurisdictions, be
forced to change our business practices in certain jurisdictions, or be required to obtain additional licenses or regulatory
approvals. For example, because a majority of voters in the U. K. approved an exit from the E. U. (commonly referred to as
Brexit), we were required to obtain a license from a member state of the EEA which would allow us to continue to provide our
solutions to clients located in the EEA under a principle known as ““ passporting ”. We were able to obtain a license as an
authorized payment institution from the Bank of Lithuania in September 2019 and subsequently obtained the right to passport
our solutions to other EEA member states. Government agencies may impose new or additional rules on money transmission,
which may increase our costs of doing business, including, but not limited to regulations that: ¢ prohibit, restrict, and / or impose
taxes or fees on money transmission transactions in, to or from certain countries or with certain governments, individuals, and
entities; « impose additional client identification and client due diligence requirements; ¢ impose additional reporting or
recordkeeping requirements, or require enhanced transaction monitoring; ¢ limit the types of entities capable of providing money
transmission services, or impose additional licensing or registration requirements; ® impose minimum capital or other financial
requirements; * limit or restrict the revenue that may be generated from money transmission, including revenue from the
transaction value associated with the payment method used by our clients’ customers and platform- related fees for access to our
solutions and invoice and payment plan fees; * require enhanced disclosures to our money transmission clients or their
customers; * require the principal amount of money transmission transactions originated in a country to be invested in that
country or held in trust until paid;  limit the number or principal amount of money transmission transactions that may be sent to
or from a jurisdiction, whether by an individual or in the aggregate; and ¢ restrict or limit our ability to process transactions
using centralized databases, for example, by requiring that transactions be processed using a database maintained in a particular
country or region. We are subject to governmental laws and requirements regarding economic and trade sanctions, AML and

CFT that could impair our ability to compete in international markets or subject us to criminal or civil liability if we violate
them. We are currently required to comply with U. S. economic and trade sanctions administered by OFAC and we have
processes in place designed to comply with the OFAC regulations as well as similar requirements in the foreign jurisdictions in
which we already operate. As part of our compliance efforts, we scan our clients and their customers against watch lists
promulgated by OFAC and certain other international agencies. Our application can be accessed from nearly anywhere in the
world, and if our service is accessed from a sanctioned country or otherwise accessed or used in violation of applicable trade and
economic sanctions, we could be subject to fines or other enforcement actions. In the course of enhancing our implementing
geoloeattondata—based-sanctions sereening-measures-compliance function , we initiated an internal review that identified
eertain-issues related to our compliance with sanctlons, mcludlng payments that may whwh—bm
appeatrto-have originated been-initiated-from i ; viola apphes anetions-sanctioned
regimes-jurisdictions or sanctioned persons . We have made a—voluntary subfmssreﬁ—submlssnons to OFAC to report the
potential-apparent violations and to provide supplemental information. Flywire is currently engaging with OFAC to
resolve these matters . Although the internal investigation completed to date suggests that any loss incurred as a result of this
matter would not be material to our business, if OFAC ultimately concludes any violation has occurred in connection with these
or other transactions, it could result in penalties, fines, costs, and restrictions on our ability to do business, which could also
harm our operating results. We are also subject to various AML and CFT laws and regulations around the world that prohibit,




among other things, our involvement in transferring the proceeds of criminal or terrorist activities. In the United States, most of
our solutions are subject to AML laws and regulations, including the BSA, and similar laws and regulations. The BSA, among
other things, requires MSBs to develop and implement risk- based AML programs, to report large cash transactions and
suspicious activity, and in some cases, to collect and maintain information about clients who use their services and maintain
other transaction records. Regulators and third- party auditors have identified gaps in how similar businesses have implemented
AML programs, and we could likewise be subject to significant fines, penalties, inquiries, audits, investigations, enforcement
actions, and criminal and civil liability if our AML program is found to be insufficient by a regulator. Our business operations in
other parts of the world such as the U. K., Lithuania, Canada, Australia, Hong Kong, New Zealand , Indonesia and Singapore
are subject to similar laws and requirements. Regulators in the United States and globally continue to increase their scrutiny of
compliance with these obligations, which may require us to further revise or expand our compliance program, including the
procedures we use to verify the identity of our clients and to monitor transactions on our system, including payments to persons
outside of the United States. Regulators regularly re- examine the transaction volume thresholds at which we must obtain and
keep applicable records or verify identities of clients, and any change in such thresholds could result in greater costs for
compliance. Similarly, as a condition to doing business with us, our banking and other strategic partners also impose ongoing
obligations on us related to AML and CFT and sanctions screening. Any failure on our part to maintain the necessary processes
and policies to comply with these regulations and requirements, or to adapt our processes and policies to changes in laws, would
subject us to penalties, fines, or loss of key relationships which would have a material adverse effect on our business and results
of operations. Furthermore, government sanctions imposed with respect to Russia' s invasion of Ukraine in early 2022 are
impacting our ability to offer our services in the region, and additional sanctions could be imposed in the future. Further
instability or tension in Russia, Ukraine, and the surrounding region could also cause us to adjust our operating model, which
would increase our costs of operations. Any actual or perceived failure to comply with governmental regulation and other legal
obligations, particularly those related to privacy, data protection, and information security, could harm our business.
Compliance with such laws could also result in additional costs and liabilities to us or inhibit sales of our solutions. Our clients
and their customers store personal and business information, financial information and other sensitive information through our
solutions. In addition, we collect, store, and process personal and business information and other data from and about actual and
prospective clients, their customers, our FlyMates and our service providers and other business partners, as well as their
personnel. Our handling of data is subject to a variety of laws and regulations, including regulation by various government
agencies, such as the U. S. Federal Trade Commission (FTC), and various state, local, and foreign agencies. Our data handling
is also subject to contractual obligations and industry standards. The U. S. federal and various state and foreign governments
have adopted or proposed limitations on the collection, distribution, use, and storage of data relating to individuals and
businesses, including the use of contact information and other data for marketing, advertising, and other communications with
individuals and businesses. In the United States, various laws and regulations apply to the collection, processing, disclosure, and
security of certain types of data, including the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, the
Gramm Leach Bliley Act, FERPA, HIPAA, and the now in question E. U.- U. S. and Swiss — U. S. Privacy Shield protections,
as well as state laws relating to privacy and data security. Additionally, the FTC and many state attorneys general are
interpreting federal and state consumer protection laws as imposing standards for the online collection, use, dissemination, and
security of data. For example, California enacted the CCPA, which took effect on January 1, 2020 and became enforceable by
the California Attorney General on July 1, 2020, and broadly defines personal information. The CCPA creates new individual
privacy rights for consumers (as that term is broadly defined) and places increased privacy and security obligations on entities
handling personal data of consumers or households. The CCPA requires covered companies to provide certain disclosures to
California consumers about its data collection, use and sharing practices, provide such consumers with ways to opt- out of
certain sales or transfers of personal information, provides for civil penalties for violations, and allows for a new private right of
action for data breaches that has resulted in an increase in data breach litigation. It remains unclear, however, how the CCPA
will be interpreted. As currently written, it will likely impact our business activities and exemplifies the vulnerability of our
business to not only cyber threats but also the evolving regulatory environment related to personal data and protected health
information. On August 24, 2022, the California Attorney General announced the entry of a final judgment enforcement action
resulting in a fine and settlement under the CCPA, as the defendant was ordered to pay a $ 1. 2 million penalty and, among other
things, implement a monitoring and reporting program to demonstrate its ongoing compliance with the CCPA. Additionally, the
California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA), which was passed in November 2020 and became effective on January 1, 2023, imposed
additional obligations on companies covered by the legislation and significantly modified the CCPA, including by expanding
consumers’ rights with respect to certain sensitive personal information. The CPRA also created a new state agency that will be
vested with authority to implement and enforce the CCPA and the CPRA. The effects of the CCPA and the CPRA are
potentially significant and may require us to modify our data collection or processing practices and policies and to incur
substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply and increase our potential exposure to regulatory enforcement and / or
litigation. The laws and regulations relating to privacy and data security are evolving, can be subject to significant change, and
may result in ever- increasing regulatory and public scrutiny and escalating levels of enforcement and sanctions. The CCPA, in
particular, has prompted a number of proposals for new federal and state- level privacy legislation, which could increase our
potential liability and adversely affect our business. Several states in the U. S. have proposed or enacted laws that contain
obligations similar to the CCPA and CPRA that have taken effect or will take effect in coming years. The U. S. federal
government also is contemplating federal privacy legislation. The effects of recently proposed or enacted legislation potentially
are far- reaching. Such legislation may add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk,
require additional investment of resources in compliance programs, impact strategies and the availability of previously useful
data and could result in increased compliance costs and / or changes in business practices and policies. Many of the foreign



jurisdictions where we or our clients operate or conduct business, including the E. U., have laws and regulations dealing with the
collection, use, storage, and disclosure and other handling (collectively, processing) of personal information, which in some
cases are more restrictive than those in the U. S. In addition to regulating the processing of personal information within the
relevant jurisdictions, these legal requirements often also apply to the processing of personal information outside these
jurisdictions, where there is some specified link to the relevant jurisdiction. For example, we have multiple offices in Europe
and serves clients and their customers throughout the E. U., where the GDPR went into effect in 2018. The GDPR, which is also
the law in Iceland, Norway, Liechtenstein, and — to a large degree — the U. K., has an extensive global reach and imposes
robust obligations relating to the processing of personal information, including documentation requirements, greater control for
data subjects (e. g., the “ right to be forgotten ”” and data portability), security requirements, notice requirements, restrictions on
sharing personal information, data governance obligations, data breach notification requirements, and restrictions on the export
of personal information to most other countries. The solutions that we currently offer subject us to many of these laws and
regulations in many of the foreign jurisdictions where we operate or conduct business, and these laws and regulations may be
modified or subject to new or different interpretations, and new laws and regulations may be enacted in the future. Legal
developments have created compliance uncertainty regarding some transfers of personal information from the U. K. and EEA to
locations where we or our clients operate or conduct business, including the United States and potentially Singapore,
particularly with respect to cross- border transfers. Under the GDPR, such transfers can take place only if certain conditions
apply or if certain data transfer mechanisms are in place. In July 2020, the Court of Justice of the E. U. ruled in its * Schrems II
” decision (C- 311 / 18), that the Privacy Shield, a transfer mechanism used by thousands of companies to transfer data between
those jurisdictions and United States (and also used by us), was invalid and could no longer be used due to the strength of
United States surveillance laws. In September 2020, the Federal Data Protection and Information Commissioner of Switzerland
(where the law has a similar restriction on the export of personal information) issued an opinion concluding that the Swiss- U. S.
Privacy Shield Framework does not provide an adequate level of protection for data transfers from Switzerland to the United
States pursuant to Switzerland’ s Federal Act on Data Protection. We and our clients continue to use alternative transfer
strategies, including SCCs, while the authorities interpret the Schrems II decision and the validity of alternative data transfer
mechanisms. The SCCs, though previously approved by the European Commission, have faced challenges in European courts
(including being called into question in the Schrems II decision), and may be further challenged, suspended or invalidated for
transfers to some or all countries. For example, guidance regarding Schrems II issued by the European Data Protection Board
(which is comprised of representatives from every E. U. member state’ s top data protection authority) have cast serious doubt
on the validity of SCCs for most transfers of personal information to the United States. At present, there are few if any viable
alternatives to the Privacy Shield and the SCCs, so such developments may necessitate further expenditures on local
infrastructure, changes to internal business processes, changes to clients and clients' customer facing solutions, or may otherwise
affect or restrict our sales and operations. On June 4, 2021, the European Commission released the final Implementing Decision
on SCCs (New SCCs) for the transfer of personal data from the E. U. to “ third countries ” such as the US. The New SCCs will
repeal and replace the existing SCCs (dating from 2001, 2004 and 2010) and address the entry into force of the GDPR) and the
July 2020 decision of the CJEU in Schrems II, which invalidated the E. U.- U. S. Privacy Shield. The New SCCs broadly follow
the draft implementing decision on standard contractual clauses (Draft SCCs) issued by the European Commission on
November 12, 2020, but there are some material differences. The Draft SCCs’ significant and extensive new requirements for
data importers that act as controllers (for example, obligations to give notice to data subjects and to notify personal data
breaches to EU authorities) remain, but have been aligned more closely with the GDPR requirements. While the New SCCs are
not immediately in force, compliance with them will be required for new transfer agreements entered into from late September
2021. SCCs then in effect were required to be replaced with the New SCCs by December 27, 2022. On July 10, 2023, the
European Commission formally approved the new EU- U. S. Data Privacy Framework (the “ Framework ), under which
European entities will now be able to transfer personal data to Framework participants in the U. S. without having to put in
place additional data protection safeguards or use the Standard Contractual Clauses for data transfers. We are in the process of
evaluating how we may self- certify as a participating organization with the U. S. Department of Commerce. E. U. data
protection authorities have the power to impose administrative fines for violations of the GDPR of up to a maximum of € 20
million or 4 % of a corporate family” s total worldwide global turnover for the preceding fiscal year, whichever is higher. Such
penalties are in addition to any civil litigation claims by clients, data subjects or other third parties. We believe that the solutions
that we currently offer subject us to the GDPR and other laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, and
information security, and these may be modified or subject to new or different interpretations in the future. We will need to take
steps to address compliance obligations in this rapidly evolving legal environment, but we cannot assure you that we will be
able to implement changes in a timely manner or without significant disruption to our business, or that such steps will be
effective, and we may face the risk of liability and loss of business. In addition, further to the U. K. exit from the E. U. on
January 31, 2020, the GDPR ceased to apply in the U. K. at the end of the transition period on December 31, 2020. However, as
of January 1, 2021, the U. K.” s European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 incorporated the GDPR (as it existed on December 31,
2020 but subject to certain U. K. specific amendments) into U. K. law (referred to as the U. K. GDPR). The U. K. GDPR and
the U. K. Data Protection Act 2018 set out the U. K.” s data protection regime, which is independent from but aligned to the E.
U.” s data protection regime. Non- compliance with the U. K. GDPR may result in monetary penalties of up to £ 17. 5 million or
4 % of worldwide revenue, whichever is higher. Like the GDPR, the U. K. GDPR restricts personal data transfers outside the U.
K. to countries not regarded by the U. K. as providing adequate protection (this means that personal data transfers from the U.
K. to the EEA remain free flowing). On June 28, 2021, the European Commission adopted an adequacy decision under the
GDPR, thereby recognizing that the U. K.” s data protection system continues to provide the same protections with respect to
personal data as when it was an EU member state, and enabling the continued exchange of personal data between the E. U. and



the U. K. The adequacy decision facilitates the implementation of the E. U.- U. K. Trade Cooperation Agreement, which
foresaw the need for bilateral data flow and continued cooperation. The adequacy decision does, however, include a © sunset
clause’, limiting its duration to four years, at which point the European Commission will need to once again review the
safeguards in place in the U. K.” s post- Brexit legal system and decide if the adequacy decision may be renewed. This lack of
clarity on future U. K. laws and regulations and their interaction with E. U. laws and regulations could add legal risk,
uncertainty, complexity and cost to our handling of E. U. personal information and our privacy and data security compliance
programs. It is possible that over time the U. K. Data Protection Act 2018 could become less aligned with the GDPR, which
could require us to implement different compliance measures for the U. K. and the E. U. and result in potentially enhanced
compliance obligations for E. U. personal data. In Asia, there has been an increase in both regulation and enforcement of privacy
laws. The Act on Protection of Personal Information originally enacted in June 2020 by the Japanese government, was amended
and came into effect on April 1, 2022 (Amended APPI). Since the passage of the Amended APPI, a number of implementing
regulations and supporting documents have been released, addressing the requirements for transferring personal data outside
Japan, notifying security breaches and creating pseudonymous information exempt from certain obligations under the Amended
APPI. We have taken steps to address compliance obligations that apply to us under the Amended APPI, but cannot assure you
that such steps will be effective, and we may face the risk of increased costs, liability and loss of business. China (home to the
most online users in the world) passed its DSL and its PIPL in 2021. The DSL applies to a wide range of data processing
activities including, but not limited to, processing personal information. With extraterritorial scope and severe fines and
penalties, these laws are set to impose an increasingly complex and comprehensive legal framework for processing personal
information when doing business in China. The PIPL is enforced and administered by the Cyberspace Administration of China
and relevant state and local government departments. The law draws from the GDPR, with heavy penalties up to the greater of 5
% of the previous year’ s revenue (possibly global) or $ 7. 7 million. Chinese authorities have demonstrated a willingness to
impose significant fines for violations of PIPL and other privacy laws, as evidenced by enforcement actions against Alibaba
Group Holding Ltd and Didi Global Inc. in 2022. As a reaction to data security concerns, in 2022, the Australian parliament
approved a bill to amend the country' s privacy legislation, significantly increasing the maximum penalties for companies and
data controllers who suffer large- scale data breaches to the greater of: (i) AU $ 50 million, (ii) three times the value of any
benefit obtained through the misuse of information, and (iii) 30 % of a company' s adjusted turnover in the relevant period.
Previously, the penalty for severe data exposures was AU $ 2. 22 million, considered by the current parliament to be wholly
inadequate to incentivize companies to improve their data security mechanisms. The Office of the Australian Information
Commissioner has new regulatory tools and flexibility that should, together with an ongoing focus on funding enforcement, see
a more proactive regulator with capacity and capability to investigate and litigate more privacy incidents in Australia. We have
taken steps to address compliance obligations that apply to us under the Amended APPI, the DSL, the PIPL and applicable
Australian regulations, but cannot assure you that such steps will be effective, and we may face the risk of increased costs,
liability and loss of business. In addition to government regulation, privacy advocates and industry groups may propose new and
different self- regulatory standards that, if adopted, may apply to us, or which clients or clients' customers may require us to
adopt. Because the interpretation and application of privacy and data protection laws, regulations, rules, and other standards are
still uncertain, it is possible that these laws, rules, regulations, and other actual or alleged legal obligations, such as contractual or
self- regulatory obligations, may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our existing data management
practices or the functionality of our solutions. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, lawsuits and other claims, we could be
required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or modify our software, which could have an adverse
effect on our business. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with laws, regulations, policies, legal, or contractual
obligations, industry standards, or regulatory guidance relating to privacy or data security, may result in governmental
investigations and enforcement actions, litigation, fines and penalties, or adverse publicity, and could cause our clients and
partners to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business. We expect that there will continue
to be new proposed laws, regulations, and industry standards relating to privacy, data protection, marketing, consumer
communications, and information security, and we cannot determine the impact such future laws, regulations, and standards
may have on our business. Future laws, regulations, standards, and other obligations or any changed interpretation of existing
laws or regulations could impair our ability to develop and market new functionality and maintain and grow our client base and
increase revenue. Future restrictions on the collection, use, sharing, or disclosure of data, or additional requirements for express
or implied consent of our clients, partners, or end users for the use and disclosure of such information could require us to incur
additional costs or modify our solutions, possibly in a material manner, and could limit our ability to develop new functionality.
If we are not able to comply with these laws or regulations, or if we become liable under these laws or regulations, we could be
directly harmed, and we may be forced to implement new measures to reduce our exposure to this liability. This may require us
to expend substantial resources or to discontinue certain solutions, which would negatively affect our business, financial
condition, and operating results. In addition, the increased attention focused upon liability issues as a result of lawsuits and
legislative proposals could harm our reputation or otherwise adversely affect the growth of our business. Furthermore, any costs
incurred as a result of this potential liability could harm our operating results. We are subject to anti- corruption, anti- bribery,
and similar laws, and non- compliance with such laws can subject us to criminal or civil liability and harm our business. We are
subject to the FCPA, the U. K. Bribery Act, U. S. domestic bribery laws, and other anti- corruption laws. Anti- corruption and
anti- bribery laws have been enforced aggressively in recent years and are interpreted broadly to generally prohibit companies,
their employees, and their third- party intermediaries from authorizing, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper
payments or benefits to recipients in the public sector. These laws also require that we keep accurate books and records and
maintain internal controls and compliance procedures designed to prevent any such actions. We maintain operations and serve
clients trseverateountries-around the world. Although we do not target government entities as clients, some of our clients may



receive funding or other support from local, state, provincial or national governments. As we maintain and seek to increase our
international cross- border business and expand operations abroad, we may engage with business partners and third- party
intermediaries to market our servtees-solutions and to obtain necessary permits, licenses, and other regulatory approvals. In
addition, we or our third- party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of
government agencies or state- owned or affiliated entities. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of
these third- party intermediaries, our FlyMates, representatives, contractors, partners, and agents, even if we do not explicitly
authorize such activities. While we maintain policies and training programs for our FlyMates related to anti- corruption, anti-
bribery and gift giving, and include representations regarding legal compliance in our contracts with vendors and strategic
partners, there can be no assurances that these policies, training programs or contractual provisions will be observed or
enforceable. We cannot assure you that all of our FlyMates and agents will not take actions in violation of our policies and
applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible. As we increase our international business, our risks under
these laws may increase. Detecting, investigating, and resolving actual or alleged violations of anti- corruption laws can require
a significant diversion of time, resources, and attention from senior management. In addition, noncompliance with anti-
corruption or anti- bribery laws could subject us to whistleblower complaints, investigations, sanctions, settlements, prosecution,
enforcement actions, fines, damages, other civil or criminal penalties, injunctions, suspension or debarment from contracting
with certain persons, reputational harm, adverse media coverage, and other collateral consequences. If any subpoenas are
received or investigations are launched, or governmental or other sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible
civil or criminal proceeding, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be materially harmed. In addition,
responding to any action will likely result in a materially significant diversion of management’ s attention and resources and
significant defense costs and other professional fees. In February 2022, following Russia’ s invasion of Ukraine, the United
States and other countries announced sanctions against Russia. The sanctions by the United States and other countries against
Russia to date include restrictions on selling or importing goods, services or technology in or from affected regions, travel bans
and asset freezes impacting connected individuals and political, military, business and financial organizations in Russia,
severing Russia’ s largest bank from the U. S. financial system, barring some Russian enterprises from raising money in the U.
S. market and blocking the access of Russian banks to financial markets. The United States and other countries could impose
wider sanctions and take other actions should the conflict further escalate. While it is difficult to anticipate the impact the
sanctions announced to date may have on us, any further sanctions imposed or actions taken by the United States or other
countries, and any retaliatory measures by Russia in response, could increase our costs, reduce our sales and earnings or
otherwise have an adverse effect on our operations. If we fail to adequately protect our proprietary rights, our competitive
position could be impaired and we may lose valuable assets, generate less revenue and incur costly litigation to protect our
rights. Our success is dependent, in part, upon protecting our proprietary technology. We rely on a combination of copyrights,
trademarks, service marks, trade secret laws, the domain name dispute resolution mechanism, confidentiality procedures, and
contractual provisions to establish and protect our proprietary rights. However, effective protection of intellectual property rights
is expensive, both in terms of application and maintenance costs, as well as the costs of defending and enforcing those rights,
and the steps we take to protect our intellectual property may be inadequate. We do not have patents covering any of our
technology and do not actively pursue patents. Any of our trademarks, or other intellectual property rights may be challenged or
circumvented by others, or narrowed or invalidated through administrative process or litigation. There can be no guarantee that
others will not independently develop similar solutions or duplicate any of our solutions. Furthermore, legal standards relating to
the validity, enforceability, and scope of protection of intellectual property rights are uncertain. Despite our precautions, it may
be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy our solutions and use information that we regard as proprietary to create
solutions that compete with ours. We pursue registration of copyrights, trademarks, and domain names in the United States and
in certain jurisdictions outside of the United States, but doing so may not always be successful or cost- effective. We may be
unable or, in some instances, choose not to obtain legal protection for our intellectual property, and our existing and future
intellectual property rights may not provide us with competitive advantages or distinguish our solutions from those of our
competitors. The laws of some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of
the United States, and effective intellectual property protection and mechanisms may be uncertain or unavailable in those
jurisdictions. We may need to expend additional resources to defend our intellectual property in such countries, and the inability
to do so could impair our business or adversely affect our international expansion. Particularly given the international nature of
the Internet, the rate of growth of the Internet, and the ease of registering new domain names, we may not be able to detect
unauthorized use of our intellectual property or take prompt enforcement action. Furthermore, the growing use of generative
artificial intelligence presents an increased risk of unintentional and / or unauthorized disclosure or use of our intellectual
property rights. We endeavor to enter into agreements with our FlyMates, consultants and contractors and with parties with
whom we do business in order to acquire intellectual property rights developed as a result of service to us, as well as to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. No assurance can be given that our intellectual property related
agreements with our FlyMates, consultants, contractors clients, their customers, or strategic partners and others will be effective
in controlling access to and distribution of our solutions and proprietary information, potentially resulting in the unauthorized
use or disclosure of our trade secrets and other intellectual property, including to our competitors, which could cause us to lose
any competitive advantage resulting from this intellectual property. Further, these agreements do not prevent our competitors or
partners from independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our solutions. In addition,
individuals not subject to invention assignment agreements may make adverse ownership claims to our current and future
intellectual property. To protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor,
protect and defend these rights. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect
our trade secrets. Such litigation could be costly, time consuming, and distracting to management and could result in the



impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights
may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property
rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or
diversion of our management’ s attention and resources, could delay further sales or the implementation of our solutions, impair
the functionality of our solutions, delay introductions of new features, integrations, and capabilities, result in our substituting
inferior or more costly technologies into our solutions, or injure our reputation. In addition, we may be required to license
additional technology from third parties to develop and market new features, integrations, and capabilities, and we cannot be
certain that we could license that technology on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and our inability to license this
technology could harm our ability to compete. We may in the future be subject to intellectual property disputes, which are costly
and may subject us to significant liability and increased costs of doing business. We may in the future become subject to
intellectual property disputes. Lawsuits are time- consuming and expensive to resolve and they divert management’ s time and
attention. We cannot predict the outcome of lawsuits and cannot assure you that the results of any such actions will not have an
adverse effect on our business, operating results, or financial condition. During litigation, we may become subject to provisional
rulings, including preliminary injunctions requiring us to cease some or all of our operations. We may decide to settle legal
disputes on terms that are unfavorable to us. Furthermore, such disputes, even those without merit, may subject us to an
unfavorable judgment that we may not choose to appeal or that may not be reversed upon appeal. In such a situation, we could
be required to pay substantial damages or license fees to third party patent owners. In addition, we may also be required to
modify, redesign, reengineer, or rebrand our solutions, or stop making, licensing, or providing solutions that incorporate the
asserted intellectual property. Alternatively, we may enter into a license agreement to continue practices found to be in violation
of a third party’ s rights. If we are required, or choose to enter into, royalty or licensing arrangements, such arrangements may
not be available on reasonable terms or at all. In addition, we may also be contractually obligated to indemnify our clients in the
event of infringement of a third party”’ s intellectual property rights. Our use of “ open source ” software could negatively affect
our ability to offer and sell access to our solutions and subject us to possible litigation. We use open source software in our
solutions and expect to continue to use open source software in the future. There are uncertainties regarding the proper
interpretation of and compliance with open source licenses, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner
that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to use such open source software, and consequently to
provide or distribute our solutions. Although use of open source software has historically been free, reeently-several open source
providers have begun to charge license fees for use of their software. If our current open source providers were to begin to
charge for these licenses or increase their license fees significantly, this would increase our research and development costs and
have a negative impact on our results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, we may from time to time face claims
from third parties claiming ownership of, or seeking to enforce the terms of, an open source license, including by demanding
release of source code for the open source software, derivative works or our proprietary source code that was developed using,
or that is distributed with, such open source software. These claims could also result in litigation and could require us to make
our proprietary software source code freely available, require us to devote additional research and development resources to
change our solutions or incur additional costs and expenses, any of which could result in reputational harm and would have a
negative effect on our business and operating results. In addition, if the license terms for the open source software we utilize
change, we may be forced to reengineer our solutions or incur additional costs to comply with the changed license terms or to
replace the affected open source software. Further, use of certain open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-
party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of software or
indemnification for third party infringement claims. Although we have implemented policies to regulate the use and
incorporation of open source software into our solutions, we cannot be certain that we have not incorporated open source
software in our solutions in a manner that is inconsistent with such policies. Indemnity and liability provisions in various
agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property infringement, data protection, and other losses.
Our agreements with some of our technology partners and certain clients include indemnification provisions under which we
agree to indemnify them for losses suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual property infringement, data
protection, damages caused by us to property or persons, or other liabilities relating to or arising from our solutions or other
contractual obligations. Some of these indemnity agreements provide for uncapped liability and some indemnity provisions
survive termination or expiration of the applicable agreement. Large indemnity payments could harm our business, operating
results, and financial condition. We may incur substantial liability, and we may be required to cease use of certain functions of
our solutions, as a result of intellectual property related claims. Any dispute with a client or technology partner with respect to
these obligations could have adverse effects on our relationship with that client or technology partner and other existing or new
clients or technology partners, and harm our business and operating results. In addition, although we carry insurance, our
insurance may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed, or otherwise protect us from liabilities or
damages with respect to claims alleging compromises of client or clients' customer data, and any such coverage may not
continue to be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. New or revised tax regulations, unfavorable resolution of tax
contingencies or changes to enacted tax rates could adversely affect our tax expense. As a multinational organization, we may
be subject to taxation in several jurisdictions around the world with increasingly complex tax laws, the application, interpretation
and enforcement of which can be uncertain. Changes in tax laws or their interpretations could result in changes to enacted tax
rates and may require complex computations to be performed that were not previously required, significant judgments to be
made in interpretation of the new or revised tax regulations and significant estimates in calculations, as well as the preparation
and analysis of information not previously relevant or regularly produced. Future changes in enacted tax rates could negatively
affect our results of operations. For example, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 includes a minimum tax equal to fifteen
percent of the adjusted financial statement income of certain corporations as well as a one percent excise tax on share buybacks,



effective for tax years beginning in 2023. When effective, it is possible that the minimum tax could result in an additional tax
liability over the regular federal corporate tax liability in a given year based on differences between book and taxable income
(including as a result of temporary differences). The vast majority of states have considered or adopted laws that impose tax
collection obligations on out- of- state companies. States where we have nexus may require us to calculate, collect, and remit
taxes on sales in their jurisdiction. Additionally, the Supreme Court of the United States ruled in South Dakota v. Wayfair, Inc.
et al (Wayfair) that online sellers can be required to collect sales and use tax despite not having a physical presence in the buyer’
s state. In response to Wayfair, or otherwise, states or local governments may enforce laws requiring us to calculate, collect, and
remit taxes on sales in their jurisdictions. We may be obligated to collect and remit sales and use tax in states in which we have
not collected and remitted sales and use tax. A successful assertion by one or more states requiring us to collect taxes where we
historically have not or presently do not do so could result in substantial tax liabilities, including taxes on past sales, as well as
penalties and interest. The imposition by state governments or local governments of sales tax collection obligations on out- of-
state sellers could also create additional administrative burdens for us, put us at a perceived competitive disadvantage if they do
not impose similar obligations on our competitors, and decrease our future sales, which could adversely affect our business and
operating results. Relevant foreign taxing authorities may disagree with our determinations as to whether we have established a
taxable nexus, often referred to as a “ permanent establishment ”, or the income and expenses attributable to specific
jurisdictions. In addition, these authorities may take aggressive tax recovery positions that the funds flows we process are
subject to value added tax or goods and services tax. If disagreements with relevant taxing authorities on other unknown matters
were to occur, and our position was not sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties, which
could result in one- time tax charges, higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows and lower overall profitability of our
operations. Our tax returns and positions are subject to review and audit by federal, state, local and international taxing
authorities. An unfavorable outcome to a tax audit could result in higher tax expense, thereby negatively affecting our results of
operations and cash flows. We have recognized estimated liabilities on the balance sheet for material known tax exposures
relating to deductions, transactions and other matters involving some uncertainty as to the proper tax treatment of the item.
These liabilities reflect what we believe to be reasonable assumptions as to the likely final resolution of each issue if raised by a
taxing authority. While we believe that the liabilities are adequate to cover reasonably expected tax risks, there can be no
assurance that, in all instances, an issue raised by a tax authority will be finally resolved at a financial amount no more than any
related liability. An unfavorable resolution, therefore, could negatively affect our financial position, results of operations and
cash flows in the current and / or future periods. Our ability to use our net operating losses ( NOENOLS ) to offset future taxable
income may be subject to certain limitations. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had U. S. federal NOL carryforwards of
approximately $ 86-57 . 3-9 million and state NOL carryforwards of approximately $ +64-88 . 4-3 million. The federal and
material state NOL carryforwards will begin to expire in 2632-2030 and 2624-2029 , respectively. In general, under Sections 382
and 383 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (Code), a corporation that undergoes an “ ownership
change ” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre- change NOLs and other tax attributes such as research tax credits
to offset future taxable income. An “ ownership change ” pursuant to Section 382 of the Code generally occurs if one or more
stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5 % of the company’ s stock increase their ownership by more than 50
percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three- year period. Future changes in our stock
ownership, many of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under Sections 382 or 383 of the
Code. Furthermore, our ability to utilize NOLs of companies that we may acquire in the future may be subject to limitations.
During 2022, the Company completed a Section 382 study and as a result of the ownership changes identified, $ 1. 6 million of
Flywire’ s NOLs and $ 0. 2 million of Simplee’ s NOLs will expire unutilized, assuming sufficient taxable income is generated
in the future. Fhe-In 2024, the Company completed is-in-the-proeess-ofupdating-its refresh of the Section 382 study through
the 2023 tax year and preliminary-tndieattons-show-there are wil-be-no additional limitations in using Federal-federal and
State-state NOL carryforwards. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted in 2017 as modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act enacted in 2020, U. S. federal NOL carryforwards generated in taxable periods beginning after
December 31, 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such NOL carryforwards in taxable years
beginning after December 31, 2020 is limited to 80 % of taxable income. In addition, federal NOLs arising in tax years ending
after December 31, 2017 can be carried forward indefinitely, but carryback is generally prohibited. NOLs generated in tax years
beginning before January 1, 2018 will not be subject to the taxable income limitation, and NOLs generated in tax years ending
before January 1, 2018 will continue to have a two- year carryback and twenty- year carryforward period. Deferred tax assets
for NOLs will need to be measured at the applicable tax rate in effect when the NOL is expected to be utilized. Similar rules
may apply under state tax laws. The changes in the carryforward / carryback periods as well as the new limitation on use of
NOLs may significantly impact our valuation allowance assessments for NOLs generated after December 31, 2017. As a public
company, we are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, and if we fail
to develop-and-continue to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our
ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable laws and regulations could be impaired.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
Exchange Act), the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 (Sarbanes- Oxley Act), the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act of 2010 (Dodd- Frank), the listing requirements of The Nasdaq Global Select Market (Nasdaq), and other
applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial
compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time consuming, or costly, and increase demand on our systems and
resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our
business and operating results. The Sarbanes- Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. It may reeuire-requires significant resources and



management oversight to maintain and, if necessary, improve our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting to meet this standard. As a result, management’ s attention may be diverted from other business concerns,
which could adversely affect our business and operating results. To comply with these requirements, we may need to hire more
employees in the future or engage outside consultants, which would increase our costs and expenses. As a" large accelerated"
filer, we are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act (Section 404), to furnish a report by management on,
among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Effective internal control over financial
reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure controls and procedures,
are designed to prevent fraud. Any failure to maintain our internal controls, implement required new or improved controls, or
difficulties encountered in their implementation, could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Ineffective internal
controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect
on the trading price of our common stock. This assessment includes disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our
management in our internal control over financial reporting and our independent registered public accounting firm is witt-be
required to issue an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. We expect to incur significant
expenses and devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with the auditor attestation requirements of
Section 404. Furthermore, we will also have to file a more expansive proxy statement and are subject to shorter filing deadlines,
which will require additional time and expense as well. An independent assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls
could detect problems that our management’ s assessment might not. Undetected material weaknesses in our internal controls
could lead to financial statement restatements and require us to incur the expense of remediation. We are required to disclose
changes made in our internal control and procedures on a quarterly basis. To comply with the requirements of being a public
company, we have undertaken and expect to need to continue to undertake various actions, such as implementing new internal
controls and procedures, hiring risk professionals, accounting and internal audit staff, and engaging outside consultants, which
will increase our operating expenses. We are actively engaged in the ongoing costly and-ehalenging-process of maintaining
compliance performing-the-evaluationneeded-to-eemply-with Section 404. We may not be able to complete our evaluation,
testing, and any required remediation in a timely fashion. During the evaluation and testing process, if we identify material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our
independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control,
including as a result of a material weakness, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial
reports, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline, and we may be subject to investigation or sanctions by the
SEC. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on Nasdag.
Increased scrutiny from investors and others or changes in regulations regarding our environmental, social, governance, or
sustainability responsibilities could result in additional costs or risks and adversely impact our reputation, employee retention,
and willingness of partners, clients or our clients’ customers to do business with us. Investor advocacy groups, certain
institutional investors, investment funds, other market participants, stockholders, and consumer groups have focused
increasingly on ESG or “ sustainability ” practices of companies. These parties have placed increased importance on the
implications of the social cost of their investments. We have convened a cross- functional working group to further enhance our
commitment to sustainability and ESG, and recognize the importance of communicating our progress on ESG to our
stakeholders. As part of its responsibilities, our ESG working group is assessing opportunities for communicating progress on
our priority initiatives. However, if our ESG practices do not meet (or are viewed as not meeting) investor or other industry
stakeholder expectations and standards, which continue to evolve, our brand, reputation and employee retention may be
negatively impacted, including based on an assessment of our ESG practices. Any sustainability report that we publish or
sustainability disclosure we make may include our policies and practices on a variety of social and ethical matters, including
corporate governance, community involvement, environmental compliance, employee health and safety practices, cybersecurity
and privacy, human capital management, and workforce management egtity;ineluston-and-diversity-. It is possible that
stakeholders may not be satisfied with our ESG practices or the speed of their adoption. We could also incur additional costs and
require additional resources to monitor, report, and comply with various ESG practices. Also, our failure, or perceived failure, to
meet the standards included in any sustainability disclosure could negatively impact our reputation, employee retention, and the
willingness of our partners, clients or our clients’ customers to do business with us. In addition, increasing governmental interest
in, and public awareness of, the impacts and effects of climate change and greater emphasis on sustainability by federal, state,
and international governments could lead to further regulatory efforts to address the carbon impact of housing and travel. In
particular, the current regulatory landscape regarding climate change (including disclosure requirements and requirements
regarding energy and water use and efficiency), both within the United States and in many other locations where we operate
worldwide, is evolving at a pace, and is likely to continue to develop in ways, that require our business to adapt. Many U. S.
states, either individually or through multi- state regional initiatives, have begun to address greenhouse gas emissions, including
disclosure requirements relating thereto, and some U. S. states have also adopted various ESG- related efforts, initiatives and
requirements. As a result, governments may enact new laws and regulations and / or view matters or interpret laws and
regulations differently than they have in the past, including laws and regulations which are responsive to ESG trends or
otherwise seek to reduce the carbon emissions relating to travel and set minimum energy efficiency requirements, which could
materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition. The legislative landscape continues to be
in a state of constant change as well as legal challenge with respect to these laws and regulations, making it difficult to predict
with certainty the ultimate impact they will have on our business in the aggregate. We will continue to incur increased costs as a
result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to devote substantial time to compliance with our
public company responsibilities and corporate governance practices. As a public company, we will continue to incur significant



legal, accounting, and other expenses as a result of operating as a public company, which increased during 2023 as a result of
becoming a" large accelerated" filer. The Sarbanes- Oxley Act, Dodd- Frank, the listing requirements of the Nasdaq, and other
applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies. Our management and other
personnel devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these requirements and interacting with public company
investors and securities analysts. These obligations and constituents require significant attention from our management team and
could divert their attention away from the day- to- day management of our business, which could harm our business, operating
results, and financial condition. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and
will make some activities more time- consuming and costly. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we
will incur as a public company or the specific timing of such costs. The price of our common stock may be volatile or may
decline regardless of our operating performance and you may not be able to resell your shares at or above the price you paid for
them. An active or liquid market in our common stock may not be sustainable. The market price of our common stock may
fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including: ¢ overall performance
of the equity markets; ¢ our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies; ¢ delays in the roll out of
new solutions; ¢ changes in our projected operating results that we provide to the public, our failure to meet these projections or
changes in recommendations by securities analysts that elect to follow our common stock; ¢ regulatory actions with respect to
our payment solutions; « regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries , including the priorities of
the U. S. presidential administration and related changes in laws, regulations or policies ;  the level of expenses related to
our solutions; ¢ announcements of acquisitions, strategic alliances or significant agreements by us or by our competitors;
developments or disputes concerning patent applications, issued patents or other intellectual property or proprietary rights;
recruitment or departure of key personnel; ¢ the economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry; ¢ political or social
unrest, war or other military conflict, including an escalation of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, or between Israel and
Hamas (or other combatants in the region) , respectively, economic instability, repression, or human rights issues; ¢ variations
in our financial results or the financial results of companies that are perceived to be similar to us; ¢ financing or other corporate
transactions, or inability to obtain additional funding; ¢ restrictions that negatively impact international travel, study or
commerce; * changes in the structure of payment systems; ¢ effects of ongoing United States- China and Canada- India
diplomatic and trade friction; ¢ trading acthlty by a limited number of stockholders who together benehclally own a majority of
our outstanding common stock; ¢ the expira 0 aetts +the-size of our market
float; and ¢ any other factors discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10- K and our other SEC hlmg% In addition, the stock
markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of
equity securities of many companies. Concerns over economic recession, heightened interest rate-rates inereases-and inflation,
supply chain delays and disruptions, pekey-priorities of the U. S. presidential administration and Congress and related changes
in laws, regulations or policies , trade wars, unemployment, or prolonged government shutdown may contribute to increased
volatility and diminished expectations for the economy and markets. Additionally, concern over geopolitical issues may also
contribute to prolonged market volatility and instability. For example, the conflict between Russia and Ukraine could lead to
disruption, instability and volatility in global markets and industries. The U. S. government and other governments in
jurisdictions have imposed severe economic sanctions and export controls against Russia and Russian interests, have removed
Russia from the SWIFT system, and have threatened additional sanctions and controls. The full impact of these measures, as
well as potential responses to them by Russia, is unknown. Steelepriees-ef-Our business and operations could be negatively
affected by securities litigation or stockholder activism. From time to tlme, we maty-— may eempames—be subJect to
securities class actions ., derivative suits or other securltles- afd :
manter-unrelated—- related legal actions © In the past,
stoekholders-have-filed-sccurities class action litigation have often been brought agamst a company followmg pertods-ofa
decline in the market price of its securities. In addition, stockholder activism, which could take many forms and arise in a
variety of situations, has been increasing recently, and new universal proxy rules could significantly lower the cost and
further increase the ease and likelihood of stockholder activism. This risk is especially relevant for us because technology
companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years . I-we-were-Volatility in our stock price or
other reasons may in the future cause us to become tvelvedmn-the target of sccurities litigation or stockholder activism.
Securities litigation and stockholder activism , it-including potential proxy contests, could result in subjeetus-to-substantial
costs, including significant legal fees and other expenses, and divert our management and board of directors’ attention
and resources and-the-attention-of-management-from our business . Additionally, securities litigation and stockholder
activism could give rise to perceived uncertainties as to our future, adversely affect our relationships with clients and
business partners, adversely affect our reputation, and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel .
Raising-Our stock price could also be subject to significant fluctuation or otherwise be adversely affected by the events,
risks and uncertainties of any securities litigation and stockholder activism. Any claims or litigation, even if fully
indemnified or insured, could adversely affect our relationships with clients and business partners, damage our
reputation, decrease client or their customers’ demand for our solutions and make it more difficult to attract and retain
qualified personnel, making it more difficult for us to compete effectlvely In aéd-r&eﬁa-k addltlon e&pﬁ&l— lawsults or
legal claims involving us may increase ea d 0 ¢
msurance premlums, deductibles or co- insurance requlrements or otherwise make it more dlfﬁcult for us to maintain
or inteHeetaal-property-obtain adequate insurance coverage on unfaverable-acceptable terms te-as-,
if at all . YUnti-Furthermore, while we maintain insurance for certain potential liabilities, such timeifever;-as-we-ean
gew&te—subsf&nﬁ&l—revenuerwe—may—ﬁ-naﬂee» insurance does not cover all types our-eash-needs-through-a-eombination-of
tty HES; £OV tvate-partyg gs-and amounts strategie-partnership-agreements—We-may




seeleadd-i-t—ienal—e&pi-ﬁrl—t-hreﬂgh—a—vaﬂew—of potentlal llabllltles ----- o AFEATSCRTe! .

is sub]ect to
s-caps on amounts recoverable. Even if we
believe that a clalm is covered by 1nsurance, insurers may dlspute e-eour an-y—eeﬂabma&eﬁ—entltlement to recovery for a

variety of potentlal reasons, which may affect the timing and, if the insurers prevall the amount of our recovery Our

our at—a-H—"Fe-lndemnlﬁcatlon obhgatlons, to the extent that
we raise—add-rﬁeﬂa-l—e&pﬁal—t-hfeﬁgh—have any, to current and former officers and directors against losses incurred in
connection with the-these matters sate-ofequity-oreonvertible-debtseeurities-, your-ownership-interest-with-be-diluted;and-the
terms-may-tnelade-including -l-tqmd&&en—pfefefenees—efrelmbursement of legal fees and other expenses. As ﬂghfs—pewers—ef

effect on otf-our eenan&erena-l-nzaﬁen—effer‘rs—bumness, reputatlon, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and the
trading price of our common stock . We may allocate our cash and cash equivalents in ways that you and other stockholders
may not approve. Our management has broad discretion in the application of our cash and cash equivalents. Because of the
number and variability of factors that determine our use of our cash and cash equivalents, their ultimate use may vary
substantially from their currently intended use. Our management might not apply cash and cash equivalents in ways that
ultimately increase the value of your investment. The failure by our management to apply these funds effectively could harm
our business. Pending their use, we may invest our cash and cash equivalents in short- term, investment- grade, interest- bearing
securities. These investments may not yield a favorable return to our stockholders. If we do not invest or apply our cash and cash
equivalents in ways that enhance stockholder value, we may fail to achieve expected financial results, which could cause our
stock price to decline. We cannot guarantee that our repurchase program will be fully implemented or that it will enhance
stockholder value, and share repurchases could affect the price of our common stock. In August 2024, we announced
that our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program, or the Repurchase Program, pursuant to which we
may, from time to time, purchase shares of our Voting and Non- voting common stock for an aggregate purchase price
not to exceed $ 150 million. As of December 31, 2024, approximately $ 104. 9 million remained available for repurchases
under the Repurchase Program. Repurchases under the Repurchase Program may be made through a variety of
methods and are subject to market and business conditions, levels of available liquidity, cash requirements for other
purposes, regulatory, and other relevant factors. The timing, pricing, and size of share repurchases will depend on a
number of factors, including price, corporate and regulatory requirements, and general market and economic
conditions. The Repurchase Program does not obligate us to repurchase any minimum dollar amount or number of
shares, and may be suspended or discontinued by our Board of Directors at any time, which may result in a decrease in
the price of our common stock. Repurchases under the Repurchase Program will decrease the number of outstanding
shares of our common stock and therefore could affect the price of our common stock and increase its volatility. The
existence of the Repurchase Program could also cause the price of our common stock to be higher than it would be in the
absence of such a program and could reduce the market liquidity for our common stock. Repurchases under the
Repurchase Program will diminish our cash reserves, which could impact our ability to further develop our business and
service our indebtedness. There can be no assurance that any share repurchases will enhance stockholder value because
the market price of our common stock may decline below the levels at which we repurchased such shares. Any failure to
repurchase shares after we have announced our intention to do so may negatively impact our reputation and investor
confidence in us and may negatively impact our common stock price. Although the Repurchase Program is intended to
enhance long- term stockholder value, short- term price fluctuations could reduce the program’ s effectiveness. [
securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock
price and trading volume could decline. The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports
that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. If industry analysts cease coverage of us, the trading price
for our common stock would be negatively affected. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock
or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our common stock price would likely decline. If one or more
of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease,
which might cause our common stock price and trading volume to decline. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in
the public markets could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. The price of our common stock could decline
if there are substantial sales of our common stock, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers and significant
stockholders, or if there is a large number of shares of our common stock available for sale and the market perceives that sales
will occur. We had a total of $26-122 , 695-182 , +62-878 shares of our voting common stock and 1, 8§73, 320 shares of our non-
voting common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2623-2024 . Other than shares held by directors, executive officers and
other affiliates that are subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act and various vesting agreements,
these shares of common stock generally are freely tradable without restrictions or further registration under the Securities Act.
Certain of our stockholders will have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their



shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or our stockholders, subject to market
standoff and lock- up agreements. We registered shares of common stock that we have issued and may issue under our equity
incentive plans. These shares will be able to be sold freely in the public market upon issuance, subject to securities laws. The
market price of the shares of our common stock could decline as a result of the sale of a substantial number of our shares of
common stock in the public market or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell
their shares. The concentration of our stock ownership will likely limit your ability to influence corporate matters, including the
ability to influence the outcome of director elections and other matters requiring stockholder approval. As of December 31,
2623-2024 , our current executive officers, directors and the holders of more than 5 % of our outstanding voting and non- voting
common stock, in the aggregate, beneficially owned a significant percentage of our outstanding voting and non- voting common
stock. As a result, these stockholders, acting together, will have significant influence over all matters that require approval by
our stockholders, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. Corporate actions might
be taken even if other stockholders oppose them. This concentration of ownership might also have the effect of delaying or
preventing a change of control of our company that other stockholders may view as beneficial. We do not intend to pay
dividends on our common stock ane-, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on
appreciation in the price of our common stock. We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock and do
not currently intend to do so for the foreseeable future. We currently anticipate that we will retain all available funds and any
future earnings for reinvestment to fund the development, operation and-, expansion and growth of our business and to fund
our Repurchase Program and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. In addition,
our senior secured revolving credit syndication loan currently prohibits us from paying dividends on our equity securities, and
any future debt financing arrangement may contain terms prohibiting or limiting the amount of dividends that may be declared
or paid on our common stock. Any return to stockholders will therefore be limited to the appreciation of their stock. Therefore,
the success of an investment in shares of our common stock will depend upon any future appreciation in their value. There is no
guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which our stockholders have
purchased their shares. Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby depressing the trading price of our common
stock. Our status as a Delaware corporation and the anti- takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (DGCL)
may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an
interested stockholder for a period of three years after the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change of control
would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended
and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult, including the following: *
a classified board of directors with three- year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the
membership of a majority of our board of directors; ¢ the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to
determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval,
which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror; * the exclusive right of our board of directors to
elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a
director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors; ¢ a prohibition on stockholder
action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders; ¢ the
requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a majority vote of our entire board of directors, the
chairman of our board of directors or our chief executive officer, which could delay the ability of our stockholders to force
consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; ¢ the requirement for the affirmative vote of
holders of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the voting power of all of the then- outstanding shares of the voting stock, voting together as a
single class, to amend the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated
bylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an acquiror to effect such amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and
« advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose
matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a
solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror’ s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us. In addition,
as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in
particular those owning 15 % or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a certain period of
time. A Delaware corporation may opt out of this provision by express provision in its original certificate of incorporation or by
amendment to its certificate of incorporation or bylaws approved by its stockholders. However, we have not opted out of this
provision. These and other provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and
Delaware law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirors to obtain control of our board of directors or
initiate actions that are opposed by our then- current board of directors, including delay or impede a merger, tender offer or
proxy contest involving our company. The existence of these provisions could negatively affect the price of our common stock
and limit opportunities for you to realize value in a corporate transaction. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United States will be the
exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to
obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or FlyMates. Our amended and restated certificate
of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or
proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising
pursuant to the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed
by the internal affairs doctrine. This provision would not apply to claims brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the
Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Our amended and restated certificate



of incorporation provides further that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving
any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. These choices of forum provisions may limit a
stockholder’ s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or
other FlyMates and may discourage these types of lawsuits. Furthermore, the enforceability of similar choice of forum
provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a
court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable. While the Delaware courts have determined that
such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than
those designated in the exclusive- forum provisions, and there can be no assurance that such provisions will be enforced by a
court in those other jurisdictions. If a court were to find the exclusive- forum provision contained in our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with
resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business. Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments None. Item
1C. €yberseenrity-CybersecurityFlywire Flywire-recognizes the critical importance of developing, implementing and
maintaining robust cybersecurity measures to safeguard our information systems and protect the confidentiality, integrity, and
availability of our and our client’ s data. Risk Management and StrategyManaging StrategyManaging-Material Risks and
Integrated Overall Risk ManagementFlywire ManagementFlywire-has strategically integrated cybersecurity risk management
into our broader risk management framework to promote a company- wide culture of cybersecurity risk management. This
integration is designed to ensures— ensure that cybersecurity considerations are an integral part of our decision- making
processes at every level. Our security and risk management team works closely with our IT department to continuously evaluate
and address cybersecurity risks in alignment with our business objectives and operational needs. Engage Third- parties on Risk
ManagementRecognizing ManagementReeognizing-the complexity and evolving nature of cybersecurity threats, Flywire
engages with a range of external experts, including cybersecurity assessors, consultants and auditors in evaluating and testing
our risk management systems. These partnerships enable us to leverage specialized knowledge and insights ;-ensuring-to help
ensure our cybersecurity strategies and processes remain at the forefront of industry best practices. Our collaboration with these
third- parties includes regular audits, threat assessments and consultation on security enhancements. Oversee Third- party Risk
Hlywire-RiskFlywire implements stringent processes to oversee and manage the risks associated with third- party service
providers. We conduct thorough security assessments of all third- party providers before engagement and maintain ongoing
monitoring to ensure compliance with our cybersecurity standards. The monitoring includes annual assessments by our Chief
Information Security Officer (CISO) and on an ongoing basis by our security and risk management team and our security
engineers. This approach is designed to mitigate risks related to data breaches or other security incidents originating from third-
parties. Risks from Cybersecurity Fhreats-ThreatsWe We-have not encountered cybersecurity challenges that have materially
impaired our operations or financial standing. Gevernanee-GovernanceOur ©ur-Board of Directors is acutely aware of the
critical nature of managing risks associated with cybersecurity threats. Our Board has established robust oversight mechanisms
to ensure effective governance in managing risks associated with cybersecurity threats because we recognize the significance of
these threats to our operational integrity and stakeholder confidence. Board of Directors Oversight-OversightOur Our-Audit
Committee is central to the Board’ s oversight of cybersecurity risks and bears the primary responsibility for this domain. The
Audit Committee is composed of board members with diverse expertise including risk management, technology and finance,
which we believe equips them to oversee cybersecurity risks effectively. Management’ s Role Managing RiskThe RiskThe
CISO, General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer (GC & CCO), Chief Operating Officer (COO) and the Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) play a pivotal role in informing the Audit Committee on cybersecurity risks. They provide comprehensive
briefings to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. These briefings encompass a broad range of topics, including: « Current
cybersecurity landscape and emerging threats; ¢ Status of ongoing cybersecurity initiatives and strategies; ¢ Incident reports and
learnings from any cybersecurity events; ¢ Risk mitigation efforts and insurance; and « Compliance with regulatory requirements
and industry standards. In addition to our scheduled meetings, the Audit Committee, CISO, GC & CCO, COO and CEO
maintain an ongoing dialogue regarding emerging or potential cybersecurity risks. Together, they receive updates on any
significant developments in the cybersecurity domain, ensuring the Board’ s oversight is proactive and responsive. The Audit
Committee actively participates in strategic decisions related to cybersecurity, offering guidance and approval for major
initiatives. This involvement ensures that cybersecurity considerations are integrated into the broader strategic objectives of
Flywire. Our Audit Committee conducts an annual review of our cybersecurity posture and the effectiveness of its risk
management strategies. This review helps in identifying areas for improvement and ensuring the alignment of cybersecurity
efforts with the overall risk management framework. Risk Management PersonnelPrimary PersennetPrimary-responsibility for
assessing, monitoring and managing our cybersecurity risks rests with the CISO. With over 30 years of experience in the field of
cybersecurity, the CISO brings a wealth of expertise to her role. Her background includes extensive experience as an enterprise
CISO and she is well- recognized within the industry. Her in- depth knowledge and experience are instrumental in developing
and executing our cybersecurity strategies. Our CISO oversees our governance programs, tests our compliance with standards,
remediates known risks, and leads our employee training program. Monitor Cybersecurity Inetdents-IncidentsThe The-CISO is
continually informed about the latest developments in cybersecurity, including potential threats and innovative risk management
techniques. This ongoing knowledge acquisition is crucial for the effective prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of
cybersecurity incidents. The CISO implements and oversees processes for the regular monitoring of our information systems.
This includes the deployment of advanced security measures and regular system audits to identify potential vulnerabilities. In the
event of a cybersecurity incident, the CISO is equipped with a well- defined incident response plan. This plan includes
immediate actions to mitigate the impact and long- term strategies for remediation and prevention of future incidents and is
subject to periodic testing for effectiveness of response and remediation. Reporting to Management and Board of Direetors
DirectorsOur ©ur-CISO, in her capacity, regularly informs our Chief Financial Officer (CFO), GC & CCO, COO and CEO of



all aspects related to cybersecurity risks and incidents. This ensures that the highest levels of management are kept abreast of the
cybersecurity posture and potential risks facing Flywire. Furthermore, our CISO reports to the Board of Directors at a minimum
twice a year, ensuring that they have comprehensive oversight and can provide guidance on significant cybersecurity matters,
and strategic risk management decisions. Item 2. Properties Our corporate headquarters are located in Boston, Massachusetts,
where we occupy facilities totaling appreximately-10, 946 square feet under a lease that expires in June 2027. We use these
facilities for administration, finance, legal, compliance, human resources, global payments, IT, sales and marketing, engineering,
and customer success. We maintain other leased locations in the United States and throughout the world. We intend to procure
additional space as we strategically add FlyMates and expand geographically. We believe that our facilities are adequate to
meet our needs for the immediate future, and that, should it be needed, suitable additional space will be available to
accommodate any such expansion of our operations. Item 3. Legal Proceedings From time to time, we may be subject to legal
proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including patent, commercial, product liability, employment, class
action, whistleblower, and other litigation and claims, as well as governmental and other regulatory investigations and
proceedings. In addition, third parties may from time to time assert claims against us in the form of letters and other
communications. We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings that we believe to be material, individually or in the
aggregate, to our business or consolidated financial statements. The results of any future litigation cannot be predicted with
certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs,
diversion of management resources, and other factors. In the course of enhancing our implementing-geoloeationdata—based
sanctions sefeeﬂmg—rﬂeasﬂfes-comphance function , we initiated an internal review that 1dent1ﬁed eertatirissues related to
whieh d ar-to-have originated
beentnittated-from Cuba P appleable-sanetions-sanctioned fegtmes—Jurlsdlctlons or
sanctioned persons . Although F 1yw1re continues to evaluate whether the%e or other transactions constitute potential violations
of OFAC sanctions (including whether certain of these payments may have been authorized by general licenses or license
exemptions under the relevant sanctions regulations), #r-Atgust2023-Flywire has made a-voluntary sabmissten-submissions to
OFAC to report apparent the-petenttal-violations and provide supplemental information. Flywire is currently engaging
with OFAC to resolve these matters . Based upon the results of the internal investigation completed to date, we do not believe
that the amount of any loss incurred as a result of this matter would be material to #s-our business, financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures Not applicable. PART II Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common
Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Market Information Our voting common stock
trades on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “ FLYW. ” Our non- voting common stock is not listed on any
stock exchange nor traded on any public market. Holders of Record As of February 23-21 , 2024-2025 , there were
approximately 36-25 holders of record of our voting common stock. This number does not include beneficial owners whose
shares are held by nominees in street name. As of February 23-21 , 2624-2025 , there was 1 holder of record of our non- voting
common stock. Dividend Policy We have never declared nor paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend
to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use-nrreinvestment to fund the development, operation , expansion
and growth of our business and to fund our Repurchase Program, and do not expect to pay any dividends on our capital
stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination relating to our dividend policy will be at the discretion of our board of
directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements,
general business conditions, and other factors that our board of directors considers relevant. In addition, the terms of our
revolving credit syndication loan restrict our ability to pay dividends. Stock Performance Graph The following performance
graph and related information shall not be deemed “ soliciting material ” or to be * filed ” with the SEC for purposes of Section
18 of the Exchange Act, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act
or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any
such filing, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under the Securities Act or Exchange Act, except to the extent that we
specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing. The following graph depicts the total cumulative stockholder return on
our common stock from May 26, 2021, the first day of trading of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market,
through December 31, 2823-2024 , relative to the performance of the S & P 500 Index and S & P 500 IT Index. The graph
assumes an initial investment of $ 100. 00 at the close of trading on May 26, 2021 and that all dividends paid by companies
included in these indices have been reinvested. The performance shown in the graph below is not intended to forecast or be
indicative of future stock price performance. Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities During the quarter ended
December 31, 2024, we issued an aggregate of 41, 998 shares of common stock (the Shares) as a stock- based
compensation associated with the retention of a key employee of StudyLink. The key employee was not a ¢ U. S. person
”, as defined in Rule 902 of Regulation S under the Securities Act, and the issuance was exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act under Regulation S. The certificates evidencing the Shares are endorsed with a
restrictive Securities Act legend. The following table summarizes the repurchases of voting common stock during the
three months ended December 31, 2024 (in thousands, except shares and per share amounts): Period Total Number
ofShares Purchased (1) Average Price Paidper Share (2) Total Number ofShares Purchased asPart of
PubliclyAnnounced Plans orPrograms Approximate DollarValue of Shares thatMay Yet BePurchased Underthe Plans
orPrograms October 1, 2024- October 31, 2024 69, 798 $ 15. 83 69, 798 $ 126, 012 November 1, 2024- November 30, 2024
160, 912 $ 21. 77 160, 912 $ 122, 509 December 1, 2024- December 31, 2024 864, 894 $ 20. 38 864, 894 $ 104, 887 Total 1,
095, 604 1, 095, 604 (1) All shares were repurchased in open market transactions pursuant to a share repurchase
program to repurchase up to $ 150 million of our outstanding voting and non- voting common stock for an indefinite
period (the Repurchase Program). The Repurchase Program was authorized by our board of directors and publicly
announced on August 6, 2024. Repurchases under the Repurchase Program may be made from time to time through




open market purchases, in privately negotiated transactions or by other means, including through the use of trading
plans intended to qualify under Rule 10b5- 1 under the Exchange Act, in accordance with applicable securities laws and
other restrictions, including Rule 10b- 18. For additional information on our Repurchase Program, see Note 12-
Stockholders’ Equity in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K
(2) Average price paid per share includes related commissions, but excludes the 1 % excise tax accrued on our share
repurchases as a result of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022. [tem 6. [ Reserved | [tem 7. Management’ s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations You should read the following discussion and analysis of our
financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Some of the information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10- K
includes forward- looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read the sections titled “ Special Note
Regarding Forward- Looking Statements ” and “ Risk Factors ” for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward- looking statements contained in the following
discussion and analysis. Our fiscal year end is December 31, and our fiscal quarters end on March 31, June 30, September 30,
and December 31. Overview Flywire is a leading global payments enablement and software company. Our next- gen payments
platform, proprietary global payment network and vertical- specific software help our clients get paid and help their customers
pay with ease — no matter where they are in the world. Our clients rely on us for integrated solutions that are both global and
local, and combine tailored invoicing, flexible payment options, and highly personalized omni- channel experiences. We believe
we make generational advances for our clients by transforming payments into a source of value and growth for their
organizations while delighting their customers with payment experiences that are engaging, secure, fast, and transparent. Our
Flywire Advantage is derived from three core elements: (i) our next- gen payments platform; (ii) our proprietary global payment
network; and (iii) our vertical- specific software backed by our deep industry expertise. With our Flywire Advantage, we aim to
power the transformation of our clients’ accounts receivable functions by automating paper and check- based business processes
in addition to creating interactive, digital payment experiences for their customers. As a result, clients who implement our
payments and software solutions can see increased digital payments and improved accounts receivable, higher enrollment in
payment plans, and a reduction in customer support inquiries. We help our clients turn their accounts receivable functions into
strategic, value- enhancing areas of their organizations. We reach clients through various channels, with our direct channel being
our primary go- to- market strategy. Our industry- experienced sales and relationship management teams bring expertise and
local reach, and our solution combines high- tech and high- touch functions backed by 24x7 multilingual customer support,
resulting in high client and customer satisfaction. In addition, the value of our Flywire Advantage has been recognized, with
global financial institutions and technology providers choosing to form channel partnerships with us. These partnerships
promote organic referral and lead generation opportunities and enhance our indirect sales strategy. The combination of our
differentiated solution and efficient go- to- market strategy has resulted in strong and consistent client growth. * Rapid domestic
and international payments volume growth. We have grown our total payment volume by approximately 24 % period- over-
period from $ 24. 0 billion during the year ended December 31, 2023 to $ 29. 7 billion during the year ended December
31, 2024. We have grown our total payment volume by approximately 33 % period- over- period from $ 18. 1 billion during
the year ended December 31, 2022 to $ 24.0 brlllon durmg the year ended December 31,2023. We—gfew—etuete’fa-l-paymenf

bﬂ-heﬂ-dt&tﬂg—t-he—ye&r—eﬁded—Beeem-ber%HG%%—' Expanded global payments network We have contmued to add to the

capabilities of our payment network by means of new local bank accounts and payment partners, and have expanded our global
reach to over 240 countries and territories and more than l40 currencies —'—Enjﬁya-ble-aﬂd-pefseﬂalﬂed-useﬁeﬂqaeﬂenee—em
p of62-infiseal-yes es-a-strongaffin 6 tef platform-. * Strong dollar- based net
retentron For the year ended December 31 2024 our annual net dollar- based retentmn rate was approximately 114 % .
For the year ended December 31, 2023, our annual net dollar- based retention rate was approximately 125 %. For the year ended
December 31,2022, our annual net dollar ba%ed retention rate was approximately 124 %—For-the-yearendedDeeember3+

: v H46-%. We calculate the annual net dollar- based retention
rate for a given year based on the Welghted average of the quarterly net dollar- based retention rates for each quarter in that
year. We calculate the quarterly net dollar- based retention rate for a given quarter by dividing the revenue we earned in that
quarter by the revenue we earned from the same clients in the corresponding quarter of the previous year. Our calculation of
quarterly net dollar- based revenue rate for a given quarter only includes revenue from clients that were clients at the beginning
of the corresponding quarter of the previous year. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we serve ever3-approximately 4 ., 866-500
clients around the world , excluding clients acquired from the Invoiced acquisition . In education, we serve more than 2-3 ,
$66-100 institutions. In healthcare, we power more than 98-100 healthcare systems, including four of the top 10 healthcare
systems in the United States ranked by hospital size as of December 31, 2623-2024 . In our newer-payment-travel and B2B
verticals eftraveland-B2Bpayments-, we have a growing portfolio of mere-than-906-approximately 1, 300 clients as of
December 31, 2823-2024 . Our success in building our client base around the world and expanding utilization by our clients’
customers has allowed us to achieve significant scale. We enabled over $ 29. 7 billion and over $ 24. 0 billionrand
approximately-$38—t-billion in total payment volume during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-,
respectively. We generated revenue of $ 493-492 . | million, $ 403. 1 million and $ 289. 4 m—l-l-l-teﬂ—and—$—29—l—l—mrlllon for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 -and 2022 and2024-, respectively, and incurred net income of $ 2. 9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024 and net losses of $ 8. 6 million ;and $ 39. 3 million ;and-$28—millienfor these—- the same
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 . We believe that the growth of our business and our operating results will be
dependent upon many factors, including our ability to add new clients, expand the usage of our solutions by our existing clients
and their customers, integrate the businesses and technology platforms that we acquire and increase the breadth and depth of our




payments and software capabilities by adding new solutions. While these areas present significant opportunities for us, they also
pose challenges and risks that we must successfully address in order to sustain the growth of our business and improve our
operating results. While we have experienced significant growth and increased demand for our solutions over recent periods, we
may expeet-to-continue to incur losses in the short term and may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
Our marketing is focused on generating leads to develop our sales pipeline, building our brand and market awareness, scaling
our network of partners and growing our business from our existing client base. We believe that these efforts will result in an
increase in our client base, revenues, and improved margins in the long term. To manage any future growth effectively, we must
continue to improve and expand our IT and financial infrastructure, our operating and administrative systems and controls, and
our ability to manage headcount, capital, and processes in an efficient manner. Additionally, we face intense competition in our
marleet-markets , and to succeed, we need to innovate and offer solutions that are differentiated from legacy payment solutions.
We must also effectively hire, retain, train, and motivate qualified personnel and senior management. There are also
circumstances beyond our control which can materially impact our business that we need to respond to, including, but not
limited to fluctuations in exchange rates. If we are unable to successfully address these challenges, our business, operating
results, and prospects could be adversely affected. We had approximately 1, 250 full- time FlyMates as of December 31,
2024, compared to approximately 1, 200 full- time FlyMates as of December 31, 2023. 2023 Follow- On Public Offering
On August 9, 2023, we entered into an underwriting agreement (Underwriting Agreement) with Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, as
representative of the several underwriters (Underwriters), in connection with the offer and sale of 8, 000, 000 shares of voting
common stock, at a price to the public of $ 32. 00 per share (the Primary Offering). In addition, pursuant to the terms of the
Underwriting Agreement, we granted the Underwriters an option to purchase up to 1, 200, 000 additional shares of €Cemmenr
common Steekstock ( the Haderwriters>Option). ©x-The Primary Offering closed on August 14, 2023 and on September
12, 2023, the Underwriters exercised the Brderwriters=Option in part and purchased an additional 500, 000 shares of voting
common stock ytresehinstanee-at a price to the public of $ 32. 00 per share (the Public Offering) . We received $ 260. 1

million in net proceeds from the Primary-Public Offering and-the-Underwriters™Option-, after deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions of $ 10. 9 m11110n and other offering costs 0f$ 1. 1 million. nitiatPublie-Offering- PO O May28;2024we

2024 we acqulred all of the issued and outqtandlng ihare@ of -Stud-y-]:rn}elnvmced for an estimated total aggregate purchase
price of approximately $ 35-51. 7 million, consisting of approxnmately $ 47 2 mllllon in cash cons1derat10n, net of cash
acquired and up to $ 7 . 5 million ;eensisting-of appre 6
up-to-approximately-$2—Fmilhenin-contingent consideration 3 3
speetfiednrthe-share-sale-agreement-, mel-udmg—a—net—wefkmg—e&pﬁa{—adjﬂﬁment—w1th an estlmated falr value of $ 4. 5 million

on the date of acquisition . The contingent consideration represents additional payments that we may be required to make in
the future dependent on the successful achievement of revenue, cross- selling, product and security and IT milestones.
During the year ended December 31, 2024, we made a payment of contingent consideration of $ 1. 1 million based on
Invoiced' s successful and timely achievement of the contracted milestones. Invoiced is a U. S.- based SaaS B2B company
that provides accounts receivable software that automates all aspects of billing, collections, payments, reporting and
forecasting within a single online platform. The acquisition of Invoiced was intended to accelerate our global expansion
in our B2B vertical. Invoiced contributed $ 2. 4 million in platform revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024. In
November 2023, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of StudyLink for an estimated total aggregate
purchase price of approximately $ 35. 5 million, consisting of approximately $ 32. 8 million in cash consideration, net of
cash acquired and up to $ 3. 9 million of contingent consideration, with an estimated fair value of $ 2. 7 million on the
date of acquisition. The contingent consideration represents additional payments that we may be required to make in the
future dependent on the successful achievement of revenue, volume, cross- selling and engineering implementation
milestones, a portion of which can be paid in the form of cash or shares of common stock, at our option, and is subject to
exchange rate fluctuation adjustment between the U. S. Dollar and Australian Dollar. Additional payments in the form of shares
of common stock will be made based on the continuing employment of a key employee; accordingly, the fair value of $ 2. 4
million, approximately 84, 000 shares of common stock, have been excluded from the purchase consideration . During the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we expensed $ 1. 2 million and $ 0. 2 million, respectively, in stock based
compensation associated with retention of the key employee . StudyLink is an Australian- based SaaS education company
that provides platforms to education providers to support their student admissions systems and processes, including features such
as eligibility assessment, offer generation, recruitment agent and commission management and acceptance processing. The
acquisition of StudyLink was intended to accelerate our saeeess-growth in the Australian higher education market and enhance
our value proposition to payers, universities and agents in the higher education ecosystem. StudyLink contributed $ 7. 6 million
and $ 1. 4 million in platform revenue during the year-years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively . [n July 2022,
we acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Cohort Go for an estimated aggregate purchase price of $ 23. 1 million,
which consisted of $ 17. 1 million in cash consideration, net of cash acquired, $ 4. 3 million in shares of common stock and up to
$ 2. 2 million of contingent consideration, with an estimated fair value of $ 1. 7 million on ireentingent-consideration
assessed-at-the acquisition date. Subsequent to the acquisition date, at each reporting date, the contingent consideration was
remeasured and changes in the fair value resulting from a change in the underlying inputs were recognized in general and
administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Contingent consideration
represented additional payments that Flywire was required to make which was dependent upon Cohort Go' s achievement of




specific post- acquisition milestones and was subject to exchange rate fluctuation adjustment between the U. S. Dollar and
Australian Dollar. During the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we paid $ 1. 7 million and $ 0. 5 million, respectively,
in contingent consideration based on Cohort Go' s successful and timely achievement of contracted milestones. No additional
contingent consideration is due or payable with respect to the Cohort Go acquisition. Cohort Go is an Australian- based
education payments provider that simplifies the student recruitment process by bringing together students, agents and essential
student services such as health insurance into one platform. The acquisition of Cohort Go accelerated the growth of Flywire' s
agent related revenue and contributed to our global expansion. Cohort Go contributed $ +6-14 . 6-5 million in transaction
revenue and $ +8-9 . 4-3 million in platform revenue during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 and-, $ 16. 6 —4-million in
transaction revenue and $ 3—10 3—4 million in platfmm revenue during the year ended December 3 1, 26222023 —I-ﬂ—Beeefnber
v G 0 arrand esﬁm&ted—&ggreg&te—pu-rehase—pﬂee-ef—b 59-6.
m11110n —W%neh—eems’fed—e-f%éé—l—mﬂ-heﬁ—m transactlon revenue eas-h—eeﬂstder&t-teﬂ—net—e-ﬁeash—aeqtnred—dnd ﬂp—fe—$ 3. 5—3

v vely OLII Revenue Model We &erwe—generate
revenue from transactions and from pldtform and other ﬁe&ge-—based—fees as described below . Transaction revenue is-includes
fees carned from payment processing services provided to our clients , which is comprised of processing domestic and cross-
border transactions . The fee is generally earned on each transaction through eenststs-ef-a rate applied to the total payment
value of the transaction, which can vary based on the payment method , currency pair-pairs eenversionrbeing converted and the
geographic region in which our eltent-and-the-clients ~-and their eustormer-customers restdes— reside . We-Payment
processing services also earirreventefronrinclude fixed fees per transaction, which generally relate to domestic payments
processed. It also includes marketing fees from credit card service providers for marketing arrangements in which we perform
certain marketing activities to increase the awareness of the credit card provider and promote certain methods of
payments, which we consider to be ancillary to the payment processing solutions we provide to our clients. Platform and
other usage—based-fee-revenue-revenues primarily ineludes— include (i) fees earned for the utilization of our payment
platfermplatforms to optimize cash collections and student application processing, which include revenue earned from
software subscription fees and usage based fees , (ii) fees eoHeeted-on-for the establishment of payment plans established-by
eur-ehents-on our payment platform, (iii) strbseﬂpﬂeﬁ—fees—aﬁd—&va—fees related to printing and-, mailing , and other services
which we consider to be ancillary to the solutions we provide to our clients —Key-OperatingMetries-, (iv) commissions from

insurance pr0v1ders when afd-- an Neﬂ—end user purchases an insurance pohcy GAAP—F—m&netalMeasares—’Fe—s&pp-}emeﬂf

-42-6-514- - y d b - 4 pte-revenues and—has been referred to as
platform and usage —based fee revenue represented 81. 8 % and 18...... of total payment volume from transactions included in
prior filings transaction revenue and $ 6. 3...... platform and usage- based fee revenue . Total Payment Volume To grow
revenue from clients we must facilitate the use of our payment platform by our clients to process the amounts paid to them by
their customers. The more our clients use our platform and rely upon our features to automate their payments, the more payment
volume is processed on our solution. This metric provides an important indication of the value of the transactions that our
clients’ customers are completing on our payment platform and is an indicator of our ability to generate revenue from our
clients. We define total payment volume as the total amount paid to our clients on our payments platform-platforms in a given
period. 9-2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022-2021 ,an increase of § 39-37 . 4-7 million or 36-53 . 5-7 %.The
increase in payment processing services costs is correlated with the increase in total payment volume of approximately 33-37 %
over the same perlod as w ell as increased use of credit cards,which have higher processing costs.Technology and development
expenses were § 62:0-millionforthe-yearended December31;,2023,compared e-$-50.3 million for the year ended December
31,2022, compared to $ 31 3 mllhon for the year ended December 31 2021, an increase of $§ ++-19.0 million or 60 .7 mithien
or23-3-%.The increase in technology and development cost was primarily driven by an increase in personnel costs ané-, stock
Revenue Less Ancillary Services 8 474.2 $ 381. 5 $ 267. 1 FX Neutral Revenue Less Ancillary Services at-Constant




Curreney;-$ 471. 9 $ 381. 5 $ 267. 1 Gross Profit $ 306. 9 $ 247. 4 $ 174. 9 Adjusted Gross Profit+-$312. 8 $254.1 $ 181. 9
Gross Margin 62. 4 % 61.4 % 60. 4 % Adjusted Gross Margin and-66. 0 % 66. 6 % 68. 1 % Net Income (Loss) $2.9 $ (8.
6) $ (39. 3) Adjusted EBITDA transaction revenue and $ 6.3 billion of total payment volume from transactions included

in platform and usage- based fee revenue For the year ended December 31, 2022 traﬁsaeﬁen—re’v‘enﬂe—&nd-p-}atfeimaﬂd-ether

3—1—29%4—0ur total payment Volume was Weieapprmﬂmately $ 2—9—18 —7—1 b11110n conqlstmg of $ 2312 . 2—1 b11110n of total
payment volume from transactions included in transaction revenue and $ 6. 5-0 billion of total payment volume from
transactions included in platform and ether-usage- based fee reventues—- revenue .For the year ended December 31, 2623-2021
Jour total payment volume was everapproximately $ 24-13 . 9-2 billion,consisting of $ 47-8 . 74 billion of total payment
volume from transactions included in transaction revenue and $ 64 . 3-8 billion of total payment volume from transactions
included in platform and usage- based fee revenue We use non- GAAP financial measures to supplement financial
information presented on a GAAP basis. We believe that excluding certain items from our GAAP results allows management to
better understand our consolidated financial performance from period to period and better project our future consolidated
financial performance as forecasts are developed at a level of detail different from that used to prepare GAAP- based financial
measures. Moreover, we believe these non- GAAP financial measures provide our stakeholders with useful information to help
them evaluate our operating results by facilitating an enhanced understanding of our operating performance and enabling them to
make more meaningful period to period comparisons. There are limitations to the use of the non- GAAP financial measures
presented here. Our non- GAAP financial measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.
Other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate non- GAAP financial measures differently than we do,
limiting the usefulness of those measures for comparative purposes. We use supplemental measures of our performance which
are derived from our consolidated financial information, but which are not presented in our consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with GAAP. These non- GAAP financial measures include the following: « Revenue Less Ancillary
Services- Revenue Less Ancillary Services represents our consolidated revenue in accordance with GAAP less (i) pass- through
cost for printing and mailing services and (ii) marketing fees. We exclude these amounts to arrive at this supplemental non-
GAAP financial measure as we view these services as ancillary to the primary services we provide to our clients. * FX Neutral
Revenue Less Ancillary Services at-Constant-Currenrey— FX Neutral Revenue Less Ancillary Services at-Constant-Cuarreney
represents Revenue Less Ancillary Services adjusted to show presentation on a constant currency basis. The constant currency
information presented is calculated by translating current period results using prior period weighted average foreign currency
exchange rates. We analyze FX Neutral Revenue Less Ancillary Services enra-eenstantetrreney-basis-to provide a comparable
framework for assessing how the business performed excluding the effect of foreign currency fluctuations. * Adjusted Gross
Profit- Adjusted Gross Profit represents Revenue Less Ancillary Services, less cost of revenue adjusted to (i) exclude pass-
through cost for printing services, (ii) offset marketing fees against costs incurred and (iii) exclude depreciation and
amortization, including accelerated amortization on the impairment of customer set- up costs tied to technology integration, if
applicable. Management believes this presentation supplements the GAAP presentation of gross profit with a useful measure of
the gross profit of our payment- related services, which are the primary services we provide to our clients. * Adjusted Gross
Margin- Adjusted Gross Margin represents Adjusted Gross Profit divided by Revenue Less Ancillary Services. Management
believes this presentation supplements the GAAP presentation of gross margin with a useful measure of the gross margin of our
payment- related services, which are the primary services we provide to our clients. Beginning-> EBITDA- EBITDA
represents our consolidated net income (loss) in accordance with the-year-ended-Deeember3+-GAAP adjusted to include
(i) interest expense , 2022-(ii) interest i income we—have—exe}uded-(ln) (benefit from) pr0v1s1on for income taxes and (1v)
depre01at10n and amortization frem v v ; e

feﬁeemp&ﬂseﬁ—ptuﬁeses— Adju%ted EBITDA Adju%ted EBITDA repreqente EBITDA further adjusted by excludmg (1) stock-
based compensation expense and related payroll taxes, (11) the 1mpact from the Change in fair value measurement for Contmgent

consideration associated with acquisitions, (iii) the
W&i‘f&ﬁtS—pﬂﬁl‘—tﬁ-@tﬂ“I—P@—fﬁ')—galn (loss) from the remeaqurement of forelgn currency, (¥iv ) mdnect taxe% related to
intercompany activity, (Vv ) acquisition related transaction costs and ( - vi ) employee retention costs, such as incentive
compensation j-associated with acquisition activities. Management believes that the exclusion of these amounts to calculate
Adjusted EBITDA provides useful measures for period- to- period comparisons of our business. *« Adjusted EBITDA Margin-
Adjusted EBITDA Margin represents Adjusted EBITDA divided by Revenue Less Ancillary Services. Management
believes this presentation supplements the GAAP presentation of gross margin with a useful measure of the gross margin
of our payment- related services, which are the primary services we provide to our clients. * Non- GAAP Operating
Expenses- Non- GAAP Operating Expenses represents GAAP Operating Expenses adjusted by excluding (i) stock- based
compensation expense and related payroll taxes, (ii) depreciation and amortization, (iii) acquisition related transaction
costs, (iv) employee retention costs, such as incentive compensation associated with acquisition activities and (v) the
impact from the change in fair value measurement for contingent consideration associated with acquisitions. These non-
GAAP financial measures are not meant to be considered as indicators of performance in isolation from or as a substitute for
revenue, gross margin or net income (loss ) prepared in accordance with GAAP and should be read only in conjunction with
financial information presented on a GAAP basis. Reconciliations of Revenue Less Ancillary Services, Adjusted Gross Profit,
Adjusted Gross Margin, FX Neutral Revenue Less Ancillary Services at-Constant-Curreriey—, EBITDA Adjusted-GrossProfit
, Adjusted-Gross-Marginand-Adjusted EBITDA , Adjusted EBITDA Margin and Non- GAAP Operating Expenses to the
most directly comparable GAAP financial measure are presented below. We encourage you to review these reconciliations in




conjunction with the presentation of the non- GAAP financial measures for each of the periods presented. In future fiscal
periods, we may exclude such items and may incur income and expenses similar to these excluded items. Reconciliations of
Non- GAAP Financial Measures The tables below provide reconciliations of Revenue Less Ancillary Services, Adjusted Gross
Profit, Adjusted Gross Margin, FX Neutral Revenue Less Ancillary Services at-Constant-Curreriey—, EBITDA Adjusted
GrossProfit, Adjusted-GrossMarginand-Adjusted EBITDA , Adjusted EBITDA Margin and Non- GAAP Operating
Expenses to the most comparable GAAP figure on a consohdated basis for the periods presented. All dollar amounts are
rounded and as to-the-nearestmtton—As-a result, certain amounts may not recalculate using the rounded amounts provided.
Revenue Less Ancillary Services, Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Margin: Year EndedDecember 31, (dollars in
millions) Revenue $ 492.1 $ 403. 1 § 289. 4 $204-—+-Adjusted to exclude gross up for: Pass- through cost for printing and
mailing (15.9) ( 19. 4) (20. 4 ¥8-—2-) Marketing fees (2. 0) (2. 2) (1. 9 3=8-) Revenue Less Ancillary Services $ 474.2 $
381.5 $ 267 —+$38L. | Payment processing services costs 177. 5 147. 3 107. 9 #8-2-Hosting and amortization costs within
technology and development expenses 7. 7 8. 4 6. 6 5-7Cost of Revenue $ 185.2 $ 155. 7 § 114. 5 $F5-9-Adjusted to: Exclude
printing and mailing costs (15. 9) (19. 4) (20. 4 3¥382-) Offset marketing fees against related costs (2. 0) (2. 2) (1. 9) &8>
Exclude depreciation and amortization (5. 9) (6. 7) (7. 0) ¢4—5)-Adjusted Cost of Revenue $ 161.4 $ 127. 4 $ 85. 2 $5+4-Gross
Profit $ 306.9 $ 247. 4 § 174. 9 $425-2-Gross Margin 62.4 % 61. 4 % 60. 4 %623-% Adjusted Gross Profit $ 312. 8 $ 254. 1
$ 181. 9 $429-FAdjusted Gross Margin 66. 0 % 66. 6 % 68. 1 %7FH-—-6-% (dollars in millions) Transaction Platform
andotherrevenues andUsage-BasedFee-Ycar Ended December 31, 2623-2024 Revenue $ 329-410 . 72 § 73-81 . 49 § 463-492
. 1 Adjusted to exclude gross up for: Pass- through cost for printing and mailing — (49-15 . 49 ) (19-15 . 49 ) Marketing fees
(2.220 ) — (2.20 ) Revenue Less Ancillary Services $ 327408 . 5-2 § 54-66 . 0 $ 384474 . 5-2 Percentage of Revenue 8483 . &
4 %4816 . 2-6 9% 100. 0 % Percentage of Revenue Less Ancillary Services $5-86 . 81 % +4-13 . 2-9 % 100. 0 % (dollars in
millions) Transaction Platform andotherrevenues andYsage-—BasedFee-Year Ended December 31, 2022-2023 Revenue $ 224
329 .27 $6573 . 24 $ 289403 . 41 Adjusted to exclude gross up for: Pass- through cost for printing and mailing — ( 26-19 .
4) (26-19 . 4) Marketing fees (42 .92 ) — (42 .92 ) Revenue Less Ancillary Services $ 222-327 . 3-5 $ 44-54. 0 $ 381. 5
Percentage of Revenue 81 . 8 $267 1 Pereentage-of Revente 7752 22-18 . 52 % 100. 0 % Percentage of Revenue Less
Ancillary Services $3-85. 8 % 14 . 2 %1689 100. 0 % (dollars in millions) Transaction Platform andotherrevenues
andUsage-—BasedFee-Year Ended December 31, 2624-2022 Revenue $ 448224 . 6-2 § 53-65 . +-2 § 26+-289 . +4 Adjusted to
exclude gross up for: Pass- through cost for printing and mailing — (4820 . 24 ) (4820 . 24 ) Marketing fees (1.9 ) — (1. &
9 ) Revenue Less Ancillary Services $ +46-222 . 2-3 § 34-44 . 9-8 § 48+-267 . | Percentage of Revenue 43-77 . 6-5 % 2622 . 4-5
% 100. 0 % Percentage of Revenue Less Ancillary Services $6-83 . 72 % +9-16 . 3-8 % 100. 0 % FX Neutral Revenue Less
Ancillary Services at-Censtant-Curreney— Year EndedDecember 31, Growth Rate (dollars in millions) Revenue $ 463-492 . 1 $
289-403 . 439-1 22 . 3-1 % Ancillary services (2417 . 69 ) (2221 . 3-6 ) Revenue Less Ancillary Services 474. 2 381. 5 26724
. 3 H42-8-% Effects of foreign currency rate fluctuations $ (2 . 4—3) FX Neutral Revenue Less Ancillary Services at
eonstant-eurreney-5 382471 . 9 § 267381 . +43-5 23 . 47 % EBITDA and-, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
Margin : Year EndedDecember 31, (in millions) Net income (loss ) $2.9 $ (8. 6) $ (39. 3) $28—)-Interest expense 0. 5 0. 4
1. 2 20-Interest income (21. 4) (13. 3) (3. 2) —(Benefit from) Previsten-provision for income taxes (1. 0) 4. 2 2. 0 22
Depreciation and amortization 18.5 16. 4 14. 1 S-EBITDA ( 0 EBHFDA-. 5) (0. 9) (25. 2 334-9-) Stock- based compensation
expense and related taxes 65 8 45.231.2 -1-8—9—Change in fair value of contingent consideration (1. 0) 0. 4 (2. 8) Loss 23

3 : e ; y Gatn-( toss-gain ) from remeasurement of foreign currency
11.8 (4 2) 9 2 (9—19—lnd1rect taxes related to 1ntercompany acthlty 0.70.20. 4 6-9-Acquisition related transaction costs (1) 0.
6 0. 4 0. 8 9-FAcquisition related employee retention costs (2) 0. 50. 9 1. 4 42-Adjusted EBITDA $ 77.9$42.0 $ 14. 9 $22;
8-(1) Acquisition related transaction costs consisted of legal and advisory fees incurred in connection with the Invoiced,
StudyLink ;-and Cohort Go and-WPM-acquisitions. (2) Acquisition related employee retention costs consisted of costs incurred
to retaln and compensate Invmced StudyLmk rand WPM ﬁﬂd—S—rmp-}ee—s—Group Ltd (WPM) employees in connection Wlth







ineludes<( @) costs incurred in connection with...... Year Ended Decembe1 31 (dollars in mllllons) Revenue (A) % 492 1 Gha-&ge
Yo-ChangeRevenue-b 403. 1 § 289. 4 Revenue less anc1llary -$—l—l—3—7—3r9—3%—l1aymeﬁt—pfeeessmg—sc1\ ices eests—l—4€'—(B) 474 .

2 381 31+67939-436-. 5267 ¢ g € eting :

1 37. 1 % General and administrative...... 2. 2 1 10 0 % Nel loss (C) 2 9 (‘% 6) (39 3) EBITDA %9—7—( 7-8—D) (0 5) (0 9) (25 2)
Adjusted EBITDA (E) 77. 9 42. 0 14. 9 Net margin (C/A) 0. 6 % (2 . 1) % (13 Foretgnreurreney-transiationadjustment3-. 6)
% Net margin using RLAS (C/B) 0.6 % (2 61%}—4—7—63—1—3— 3) % Geﬂ‘rpfeheﬂswe—less%—( 514 . 7 3 5H4-H$3568796)
% Revente-was$403-EBITDA Margin (D / A) (0 . | millienforthe-yearended) % (0. 2) % (8. 7) % Adjusted EBITDA
Margin (E / A) 15. 8 % 10. 4 % 5. 1 % EBITDA Margin using RLAS (D / B) (0. 1) % (0. 2) % (9. 4) % Adjusted EBITDA
Margm using RLAS (E / B) 16 4 % 11.0 % 5. 6 % Reconc1llatlon of GAAP Operatmg Expenses to Non- GAAP

With%ﬂ—eﬂﬁeelmelegy—&ﬁd-develepﬁwﬁt—te&ms?&ocl - based eompen\au()n expense was-$-9—3-milllenfor-the-yearended
ared-to-S rrrtHor-for-the a1 and increase 01‘ $ 4. 4 million
.. 31,2023,

meeme—taxes—@q— 4) ( 258 9—4 ) ( -l—l—7 5—8 ) (= ) Acqu1s1tlon related employee retentlon costs — 44—4%—P'E0‘\7‘t816ﬂ—f01‘

neome-taxes 20220 - ] S 0-0-9
.2-1 ) Non- GAAP Technology and development H%%éé@—@%&mpfeheﬂme—less—s 47 (40 9) ‘{a (
289 45 20+43 . 49 58836 . 5 GAAP Selllng and marketlng 3—43—9—94;—"Pf&ns&et—teﬂ—feveﬁﬂe—was—$ 224.2 m11110n for the
...... 2021 an increase 01‘ $12 129 4 +m - - ; d-fe Ae-was

()7 69—ﬂ‘1-ﬂ-heﬁ—fer—t-he—ye&ﬁeﬁded—l§eeeﬁaber—3-l%922—
...... an increase in personnel costs, stock )b&s-ed—eempeﬂsat-ieﬂ

teams—Stock- basul eomlxnsduon expense Was—and related taxes (18 3) (12 4) (7. 9) “-) Depreclatlon and amortlzatlon (8.
2) (5. 2) (3. 9) (-) Acquisition related employee retention costs (0. 5) (0. 4) (0. 3) Non- GAAP Selling and marketing $ 102.
4$89.6% 66 4 GAAP General and admlnlstratlve $ 125. 8 $ 107 6 $ 82 9 (ﬂﬁ-ﬂheﬁ—fer—t-he—ye&ﬁeﬂded—laeeeﬁa-beﬁ-l%%%




eonsultingfees—Stock- asui wmlxnsdtmn Was—expense and related taxes (35 7) (23 6) (18 4) ( ) Depreclatmn and
amortization (3. 0) (2. 8) (2. 4) (-) Acquisition related transaction costs (0. 6) (0. 4) (0. 8) (-) Acquisition related employee
retention costs — — (0. 1) (-) Change in fair value of contingent consideration 1. 0 (0. 4) 2. 8 Non- GAAP General and
administrative $ 7-87 . 9-mittionfor-the-yearended-S $ 80. 4 § 64. 0 Liquidity and Capital Resources As of December 31,
2622-2024 , eompared-to-our principal source of liquidity is cash and cash equivalents of $ 5495 . 2 million , short- term
avallable- or - sale debt securltles {-he—ye&ﬁeﬁéed—BeeembeHHG%l—&ﬂ—mefease-ol $ 115 2—7—n‘r1-1-heﬂ—e-ré-l—9%—"llhe

Wefe—$é—. 8 mllll()n e




m11110n C ash equlV"llents is comprised prlmarlly of money market funds and bdnk deposm Our short- term avallable- for-
sale debt securities are comprised of corporate bonds, U. S. Government obligations, treasury bills, foreign agency
securities and commercial paper. On August 6, 2024, the Company announced a share repurchase program of up to $
150 million of outstanding voting and non- voting common stock for an indefinite period as part of the Company’ s
Repurchase Program. For additional information on our Repurchase Program, see Note 12- Stockholders’ Equity in our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company repurchased 2, 386, 856 shares of its common stock for an aggregate amount of $ 45. 6
million under the Repurchase Program, which includes commissions, $ 1. 4 million of common stock repurchase and $ 0.
5 million of excise tax recorded in accrued expense as of December 31, 2024. The repurchased shares are currently being
held as treasury stock. As of December 31, 2024, approximately $ 104. 9 million of the originally authorized amount
under the Repurchase Program remained available for future repurchases . On February 23, 2024, we entered into an
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement for a five- year senior secured revolving credit syndication loan with four banks for a
total commitment of $ 125. 0 million, which replaced the Rev olvms_ Credit Facﬂlty of $ 50.0 that was 1r1 effect as of December
No a 7—On August 14, 2023
and September 12 2023 . we completed our Prlmary fel-}ew—eﬂ—pub-l-te—effe%rﬁg—Offermg Whlch resulted in aggregate net
proceeds of $ 260. 1 million, after underwriting dlscounts and commissions of $ 10. 9 million and othel 1ssuance costs of b 1.1

S€ aree-€osts m iv We behe\ e thdt our ex1st1ng cash and cash equ1valents will be
sufficient to support our expected Workmg capital needs and material cash requirements for at least the next 12 months from the
issuance of these consolidated financial statements. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our
revenue growth rate, the timing and the amount of cash received from clients, the expansion of sales and marketing activities,
the timing and extent of spending to support development efforts, the price at which we are able to purchase public cloud
capacity, expenses associated with our international expansion, the introduction of platform enhancements, and the continuing
market adoption of our platform. In the future, we may enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary
businesses, products, and technologies. In addition, we have, and may in the future, repurchase shares of our voting and
non- voting common stock from time to time under our Repurchase Program. We may be required to seek additional
equity or debt financing. In the event that we require additional financing, we may not be able to raise such financing on terms
acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital or generate cash flows necessary to expand our operations
and invest in continued innovation, we may not be able to compete successfully, which would harm our business, results of
operations, and financial condition. Contractual Obligations Contractual obligations consist of operating leases that relate to real
estate for our primary facilities. The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2623-2024 :
Payments Due by Year (in thousands) Total Less Thanl Year 1 to 3Years 4 to SYears More Than5 Years Operating lease
obligations § 3, 846-877 S 1, 643-904 § 2-1 , 197899 § —§ — Total § 3, 846-877 § 1, 643-904 § 2-1 , $97-899 § —§ — Cash
Flows The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flow information for the periods presented: Year EndedDecember
31, (in millions) Net cash provided by operating activities $ 91. 5 $ 80. 6 $ 5. 4 $4F—+Net cash used in investing activities (215.
8) (38. 8) (24. 7) £62-9)-Net cash (used in) provided by fased-m)-financing activities (37. 6) 263. 4 (24. 0) 32F-5-Effect of
exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2. 6 (1. 8) 5. 0 4—4)>-Net irerease-(decrease) increase in cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash $ (159. 4) $ 303. 4 $ (38. 2) $2808:3-Operating Activities Net cash provided by operating
activities consists of net income ( loss ) adjusted for certain non- cash items and changes in other assets and liabilities. During
2024, net cash provided by operating activities of $ 91. S million was primarily the result of net income of $ 2. 9 million
adjusted for non- cash expenses of $ 72. 2 million, which primarily consisted of stock- based compensation expense of $
64. 9 million and depreciation and amortization of $ 17. 4 million, and the benefit of changes in operating assets and
liabilities, net of acquisitions of $ 16. 4 million. During 2023, net cash provided by operating activities of $ 80. 6 million was
primarily the result of net loss of § 8. 6 million adjusted for non- cash expenses of § 62. 4 million, which primarily consisted of
stock- based compensation expense of $ 43. 7 million and depreciation and amortization of $ 15. 8 million, and the benefit of
changes in operating assets and liabilities , net of acquisitions of $ 26. 8§ million. During 2022, net cash provided by operating
activities of $ 5. 4 million was primarily the result of net loss of $ 39. 3 million adjusted for noncash expenses of § 40. 3 million,
which primarily include stock- based compensation expense of $ 30. 3 million, depreciation and amortization of § 12. 3 million
and amortization of contract costs of § 1. 8 million, offset by change in fair value of contingent consideration of $ (2. 8) million
and deferred tax benefit of § (1. 7) million, benefited by changes in operating assets and liabilities , net of acquisitions of $ 4. 4
million. Net Paring202+;-cash provided by operating activities efwas $ +791. 5 million during the year ended December 31,



2024, compared to $ 80. 6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase of $ 10. 8 million in our net
cash provided by operating activities was primarily related to a net increase in our operating assets and liabilities, net of
acquisitions of $ 16. 4 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to a net increase of $ 26. 8 million
during the year ended December 31, 2023. This increase was driven by an increase in funds receivable from payment
partners of $ 74. 8 million, as a result of the timing of collections from our partners in the applicable period, partially
offset by a decrease in funds payable to clients of $ 79. 7 million compared to the prior year as a result of the timing of
payments to our clients in the applicable period. The timing of collections from our partners will vary from period to
period based on when our clients’ customer payment for a particular transaction is made, as well as the customer’ s
payment method which impacts the timing of settlement of the payment. The timing of payments to our clients will vary
from period to period based on when our client’ s customer payment for a particular transaction is made and when we
are contractually required to remit such payment to our client. This net increase in cash provided by operating activities
was also impacted by our operating cash flows from our net income (after adjustments for an increase in non- cash
expenses of $ 9. 9 million) which increased by $ 21. 3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the
prior period, reflective of the growth in transaction payment volumes, from both our existing clients and new clients, an
increase in interest income as a result of our higher cash balances and higher market interest rates, offset by increases in
our costs and operating expenses, the largest of which was our payment processing services costs and an increase in
losses from the remeasurement of foreign currency due to foreign currency intercompany loans and impact of
fluctuations in exchange rates during respective remeasurement periods. Net cash provided by operating activities was $
80. 6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $ 5. 4 million during the year ended December 31,
2022. The increase of $ 75. 2 million in our net cash provided by operating activities was primarily related to a net
increase in our operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions of $ 26. 8 million during the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to a net increase of $ 4. 4 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was driven by
an increase in funds payable to clients of $ 37. 7 million compared to the prior year primarily as a result of the timing of
payments to our clients in the applicable period, partially offset by a decrease in funds receivable from payment partners
of $ 20 . | million, as a result of the timing of collections from our partners in the applicable period. The timing of
payments to our clients will vary from period to period based on when our client’ s customer payment for a particular
transaction is made and when we are contractually required to remit such payment to our client. The timing of
collections from our partners will vary from period to period based on when our clients’ customer payment for a
particular transaction is made, as well as the customer’ s payment method which impacts the timing of settlement of the
payment. This net increase in cash provided by operating activities was also impacted by our operating cash flows from
our net loss (after adjustments for an increase in non- cash expenses of $ 22. 0 million) which increased by $ 52. 8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior period, reflective of the growth in transaction payment
volumes, from both our existing clients and new clients, an increase in gains from the remeasurement of foreign
currency due to foreign currency intercompany loans and impact of fluctuations in exchange rates during respective
remeasurement periods and an increase in interest income as a result of our higher cash balances and higher market
interest rates, offset by increases in our costs and operating expenses, the largest of which was our payment processing
services costs. Investing Activities During 2024, cash used in investing activities of $ 215. 8 million was primarily the result
0[ purchase ﬂet—}ess—o[ short- term and long- term 1nvestments for $ 193 28—+-mithen-adjusted-fornoneash-expenses-of $41-
. 9 million, our acquisition ehange-in-fair-vakie

0[ pfeferred—s’feeﬁfarrant—hab&rt-yhlnv01ced for a purchase cons1derat10n of $ +6-45 . 8-2 million, depreetationnet of cash
acquired and amertization-capitalization of internally developed software costs of $ 5 9-6-millionehangeinfair-valae-of

eontingent-eensideration-of-$2-. 3 million, ren-offset primarily by the proceeds from the maturity and sale of short and
long - term 1nvestmentseash—rnferes{—expeﬂse—< %9—29 3—6 mil mn—&rner&zat-tefre-ﬁdeferred-eeﬂ&aet—eesfs—e%e— 2—n=n-H-teﬂ—

M&ﬁ%ﬁrﬁmn—kﬁeﬁ&rgﬁeﬁﬂ&es—Dumw "()" 3, cash u\ed in investing activities of % 38.8 mllllon was the 1e\ull of
our acquisition of StudyLink for a purchase consideration of § 32. 8 million, net of cash acquired, capitalization of internally
developed software costs of $ 5. 8-mithen-Omillion and purchase of property and equipment for $ 1. 0 million. During 2022,
cash used in investing activities of § 24. 7 million was primarily the result of our acquisition of Cohort Go for a purchase
consideration of § 17. 1 million, capitalization of internally developed software costs of § 5. 7 million and purchase of property
and equlpmem or $ 1. 4 million. Financing Activities During 26242024 , cash used in investing-financing activities of $ 62-37

.9-6 million was primarily driven by common stock theresult-ofouracquisitionof- WPM-for-a-purehase-repurchase
eonsideration-of $ 56-43. 7 million, offset primarily by proceeds from the exerc1se of stock 0pt10ns 0f $5. 6 mllhon and
proceeds from the issuance of stock under the ESPP of $3. 1 ml“l()n s 5 ey 78
Aet—mt—res—Dunng 2()" Ld\h provided by [mdnune activities of S "(n 4 mllllon was driven by the proce Is from issuance of
common sloek in our Primary fellew—enpublie-offering-Offering of $ 261. | million, proceeds from the exercise of stock
options of § 10. 4-mithen-4million and proceeds from the issuance of stock un(lu the ESPP of § 2. 7 million, offset by payments
of tax w 1lhholdm<rs or net settled option exercises of $ 8. 5 million, payments for contingent consideration of $ 1. 2 million and
payments of costs related to the Primary eur-folow—onpublie-offering-Offering of $ 1. | million. During 2022, cash used in
financing activities of $ 24. 0 million was driven by the repayment of our Revolving Credit Facility of § 25. 9 million, payments
for contingent consideration of $ 3. 7 million primarily related to the acquisition of Simplee, payments of tax withholdings of $
2. 6 million for net settled option exercises, offset by proceeds from the exercise of stock options of § 7. 0 million and proceeds
from the issuance of stock under the ESPP of $ 1. 3 million. Buring-As of December 31, 26212024 and 2023 , there eash




preﬁded%y—ﬁnaﬂeh&g—aeﬁ*&les—ef—&}%—mﬂheﬁ—was no outstandmg 1ndebtedness prnﬁarﬂy—d-rwen—by—t-he—net—pfeeeeds

Accountrng Pohcre@ Our con%ohdated ﬁnaneral statements have—beeﬁ—and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10- K are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these-our consolidated financial
statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported revenue
generated, and reported expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on our historical experience and
on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note
1- Business Overview and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. We believe that the following critical accounting policies are most important to
the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Intangible Assets, net Intangible
assets consist of acquired developed technology, acquired relationships sand trade names and associated trademarks ane
noneompete-agreements-. Intangible assets are recognized at fair value using generally accepted valuation methods deemed
appropriate for the type of intangible asset acquired, and reported net of accumulated amortization, separately from goodwill.
We estimate the fair value of acquired developed technology using the relief- from- royalty method, a form of the income
approach, which estimates the cost savings that accrue to the owner of an intangible asset who would otherwise have to pay
royalties or license fees on revenues earned through the use of the asset. The royalty rate used is based on an analysis of
empirical, market- derived royalty rates for similar technology. The fair value of acquired relationships is estimated using the
multi- period excess earnings method under the income approach, which represents the total income to be generated by the
asset. Under this method, the value of an intangible asset is equal to the present value of the incremental after- tax cash flows
attributable solely to the intangible asset. We value trade names and trademarks using the relief from royalty method. The relief-
from- royalty method determines the present value of the economic royalty savings associated with the ownership or possession
of the trade name or trademark based on an estimated royalty rate applied to the cash flows to be generated by the business. The
estimated royalty rate is determined based on the assessment of a reasonable royalty rate that a third party would negotiate in an

arm’ s- length license agreement for the use of the trade name or trademark —We-valae-nonecompete-agreements-using-the-with

ﬁoneempe’fe—&g-reemeﬁt— The useful lives for developed technology are determrned ba%ed on expectatlons regardmg the
evolution of existing technology and future investments. The useful lives for acquired related intangible assets are determined
based primarily on forecasted cash flows, which include estimates for the revenues, expenses and customer attrition associated
with the assets. The useful lives of definite- lived trademarkq and trade names are based on our plan% to phase out the trademarkq
and trade names in the applicable markets. Fh
related-agreements—Intangible assets are amortrzed using a method that reﬂectq the pattern in Wthh the economic benefits of the
intangible asset are expected to be realized over their estimated useful lives ranging from one to fifteen years. No significant
residual value is estimated for intangible assets. The estimated fair values of these intangible assets reflect various assumptions
including discount rates, revenue growth rates, operating margins, terminal values, attrition, useful lives and other prospective
financial information. The judgments made in determining the estimated fair value of intangibles as well as the estimated lives,
can materially impact net income or loss in periods subsequent to the acquisition through depreciation and amortization, and in
certain instances through impairment charges, if the assets become impaired in the future. Software Developed for Internal-
Use We capitalize costs incurred in the development of internal- use software during the application development stage
including third- party consulting costs and compensation expenses related to FlyMates who devote time to the
development of the projects. We also capitalize costs related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable
the expenditures will result in additional functionality. Once the additional functionality is available for general use,
capitalization ceases and the asset begins being amortized. We evaluate the useful lives of internal- use software
whenever changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets. Unforeseen circumstances
in software development, such as a significant change in the manner in which the software is intended to be used,
obsolescence or a significant reduction in revenues due to attrition, could require us to implement alternative plans with
respect to a particular effort, which could result in the impairment of previously capitalized software development costs.
Contingent Consideration Contingent consideration in business combinations is recognized at fair value on the acquisition date .
In connection with the acquisition of WP-M—Invmced we entered 1nto an agreement to make certain earn- out payrnent@ based on
the-Invoiced' s achievement of certain pla ; as-the-a

targets related to revenue,cross- selling,product and security and IT mllestones estabhshed through a perlod endmg
December 31,2025 .The fair value of the contingent consideration related to the revenue milestones payment-volame-targets




was determined using an option pricing model and the fair value of the contingent consideration related to the platform
ntegration-objeetives-cross- selling,product and security and IT milestones was determined using a scenario- based method
that refleeted—- reflect our expectation about the probability of payment based on facts and circumstances that existed at the
acqumtlon clo%lng date The option prlcmg model ineluded-includes significant unobservable inputs such as probability
ditrg VO tee-of risk-adjustment-for-achieving earn- out revenue thresholds and

feveﬁtte—ve-}&t-rl-&y-dlscount rates The scenario- based method ineladed-includes significant unobservable inputs such as the
probability of eompleting-eertainplatformrintegrations-achieving earn- out targets and discount rates .Increases or decreases
in any of the probabilities of success in which the platferm-integration-objeetives-were-revenue,cross- selling,product and
security and IT milestones are expected to be achieved would result in higher or lower fair value
measurement,respectively.Increases or decreases in expeetations-regarding-the discount rate tfevelat-which-payment-volime
wefe—expeeted—te—be—aeh-teved—would re§ult ina lower or hlgher eHeweiLf"ur value measurement,respectively Jnereases-or

t : p d v ase-. [n connection with the acquisition of
StudyLlnk we entered into an agleement to make certain earn- out paymentq based on StudyLink' s achievement of revenue,
volume, cross- selling and engineering implementation milestones established through a period ending December 31, 2025. The
fair value of the contingent consideration related to the revenue and-velame-of money-movement-milestones— milestone was
determined using an option pricing model and the fair value of the contingent consideration related to the volume of money
movement, cross- selling and engineering implementation milestones was determined using a scenario- based method that
reflect our expectation about the probability of payment based on facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition closing
date. The option pricing model includes significant unobservable inputs such as probability of achieving earn- out revenue
thresholds and discount rates. The scenario- based method includes significant unobservable inputs such as the probability of
achieving earn- out targets and discount rates. Increases or decreases in any of the probabilities of success in which the revenue,
volume, cross- selling and the engineering implementation milestones are expected to be achieved would result in higher or
lower fair value measurement, respectively. Increases or decreases in the discount rate would result in a lower or higher fair
value measurement, respectively. In connection with the acquisition of Cohort Go, we entered into an agreement to make certain
earn- out payments based on Cohort Go' s achievement of specific post- acquisition milestones established through a period
ending March 31, 2023. The fair value of the contingent consideration was determined using a scenario- based method formed
on the likelihoods of achieving each of the milestones. Increases or decreases in any of the probabilities of success in which the
specific post- acquisition milestones were expected to be achieved would result in a higher or lower fair value measurement,
respectively. Increases or decreases in the discount rate would result in a lower or higher fair value measurement, respectively.
In connection with the acquisition of WPM...... the fair value measurement, respectively. Subsequent to the acquisition date, at
each reporting date, the contingent consideration is remeasured and changes in the fair value resulting from a change in the
underlying inputs are recognized in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss until the contingent consideration is settled. The maximum amount we would be required to pay related to
the Invoiced acquisition is $ 7. S million. The maximum amount we would be required to pay related to the StudyLink
acquisition is $ 3. 9 million . During the year ended December 31, 2024, we made a payment of contingent consideration of
$ 1. 1 million based on Invoiced' s successful and timely achievement of the contracted milestones . During the year ended
December 31, 2023, we made the final Cohort Go payment of contingent consideration of $ 1. 7 million, in the form of cash,
based on Cohort Go' s successful and timely achievement of the contracted milestones. No addmonal contlngent Con%1derat10n is
due or payable with respect to the Cohort Go acquisition. A

payable-withrespeetto-the-WPM-aequisttion— he fair value of the contmgent con§1derat10n at December 31 2024 and 2023
a-nd%@%%—waq $ 5. 1 mllllon and $ 2. 9 million a-nd—$—1—3—m1-1-heﬂ— re%pectlvely

Recognmon We derlve revenue from transactlons and platform and other revenues. Transactlon Revenue Our transaction
revenue is derived from fees charged for payment processing services provided to educational institutions, healthcare entities
and other commercial entities , which is comprised of processing domestic and cross- border transactions . Our services
relate to facilitating payments from individuals, such as students and patients, and organizations to clients. Fees charged for
payment processing services consists of a rate applied to the monetary value of the payment and can vary based on the payment
method, currency pair conversion the transaction is settling in, as well as the geographic region in which the client and the
client’ s customer resides. Fees received are recorded as revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and



comprehensive loss upon completion of the payment processing transaction. We do not recognize the underlying amount of the
transaction being settled between client and client’ s customer, as revenue or cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss, as we are not the responsible party for fulfilling the obligation between the client and client’
s customer. Therefore, revenue is only recognized for the fee for which we are entitled for processing the payment. We also
earn revenue from fees charged to credit card service providers for marketing arrangements in which we perform certain
marketing activities to increase the awareness of the credit card provider and promote certain methods of payment.
Consideration under these arrangements include fixed fees and variable fees based on a percentage of transactions processed
during the duration of the marketing program. The money can be wired directly from the client’ s customer to us; however, in
certain situations when the client’ s customer lives in a country where we do not have an active bank account, we use third-
party service providers to collect wired funds before remitting the funds to us. The third- party service provider invoices us on a
recurring basis with a fee for each payment processed and deposited into our bank account. The fee paid to third- party service
providers as well as any foreign exchange banking fees paid by us are reflected in the payment processing services costs line in
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. We-aise-Platform and Other Revenues Our platform and
other revenues primarily include (i) fees earn-earned for the utilization of the Company' s platforms to optimize cash
collections and student application processing, which include revenue earned from software subscription fees and usage-
based fees, (ii) fees for the establishment of payment plans on the Company' s payment platform, (iii) fees related to
printing, mailing, and other services which are ancillary to the solutions the Company provides to its clients, (iv)
commissions from insurance providers when an end- user purchases an insurance policy, and (v) revenue from interest
earned on funds held for customers —whteh—de—net—repfeseﬂt—ln interest- bearlng accounts. Platform and other revenues has

judgment on determmmg the performance obligations in the alrangement ba%ed on considerations iuch as Whether the client can
benefit from each service on its own or together with other resources that are readily available from third parties or from us and
whether each service is distinct in the context of the arrangement, whereby the transfer of the service is separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract. In addition, we consider whether the arrangements contain a series of distinct services that
are substantially the same and whether they have the same pattern of transfer. Substantially all of our arrangements represent a
single promise to provide continuous access to our platform to perform a series of activities such as payment processing services,
cash collection optimization services, marketing, printing and mailing services, on an as- needed basis. As each day of providing
these services is substantially the same and the client simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as services are
provided, these services are viewed as a single performance obligation comprised of a series of distinct daily services. We
satisfy the performance obligation as these services are provided. Revenue is recognized in the month the service is complete.
For those arrangements that include fixed consideration, the fixed component is recognized ratably over the service period while
variable consideration is recognized in the period earned. We consider implementation service an activity to fulfill a contract,
rather than a distinct performance obligation as the client does not obtain benefits from the implementation service alone. We
charge an immaterial amount for implementation services. Variable Consideration Our contracts contain variable consideration
as the amount we expect to receive in a contract is based on the occurrence or non- occurrence of future events, such as
processing services performed as a transaction- based pricing arrangement. The variable consideration relates specifically to our
effort to transfer each distinct daily service, as such we allocate the variable consideration earned to the distinct day in which
those activities are performed and we recognize these fees as revenue in period earned, at which point the variable amount is
known and it does not require estimation. Other Revenue Recognition Policies We incur costs in processing payments which
may include banking, credit card processing, foreign currency translation and partner fees. These fees are direct costs incurred in
providing payment processing services. The determination of whether we are a principal to a transaction (gross revenue) or an
agent (net revenue) can require considerable judgment. Changes in judgments with respect to these assumptions and estimates
could impact the amount of revenue recognized. Since we control the payment processing service, we are responsible for
completing the payment, bear primary responsibility for the fulfillment of the payment service, and have full discretion in
determining the fee charged we act as a prlnmpal As such, we recognlze payment proce%slng fee charged on a gross basis.




Business Overview and Summary of Slomhednt Accounting Pollues to our consolidated hndncml statements meluded
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K for accounting pronouncements adopted and accounting pronouncements not
yet adopted as of December 31, 2023-2024 . Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk We have operations both within the United States and globally, and we are
exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, including foreign currency fluctuations and the effects of interest
rate changes. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative disclosures about these market risks is described below. Interest
Rate Risk We are exposed to interest rate risk relating to our cash and cash equivalents and available- for- sale debt
securities. We hold cash in both non- interest and interest- bearing bank accounts. Our corporate investment portfolio
consists primarily of money market funds, which are AAA- rated and comprised of liquid, high quality debt securities
issued by the U. S. government, and investments in available- for- sale corporate bonds, U. S. government obligations,
treasury bill, foreign agency securities, commercial paper, agency bond and asset- backed debt securities. We are also
exposed to interest rate risk related to our 2024 Revolving Credit Facility. Our 2024 Revolving Credit Facility consists of
ABR -}eaﬂs—eihEufede-l-}a-P&affewmgs—borrowmgs or Term SOFR borrowmgs at our optlon eﬁ%tlﬁe%%e%—we—exee&te&

effeefwe%t&w—&@%@%—kraeeefd&ﬂeeﬂmﬂﬁkﬁ&sﬁ%me&éﬂ&eﬁkABR -}e&ﬂs—borrowmgs bedl mtelest at the ABR plus the
applicable rate. Buredotar-Term SOFR Berrowings-borrowings bear interest at the Adjusted Term SOFR for the interest
period plus the applicable rate. The ABR rate is based on the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate, (b) the Federal Funds Effective
Rate plus 1/2 of 1 %, or (c) the Adjusted Term SOFR for a one- month interest period, plus 1 %. The Adjusted Term SOFR is
based-orrequal to the sum of ( x-a ) the-Term SOFR for such 1nterest perlod plus ( yhb ) the SOFR &pphe&b-}e-spfeaé

adjustment of ranging-from-0. +H448-10 %

the-StatutoryReserveRate-. The applicable 1ate is based upon our -l-tqmdﬁy—consolldated total net leverage ratlo as of the most
1ecent consolidated financial mfmmatlon and ranges from 1. 0 —75—‘ to 25—5 V0. Priette-the FirstAmendment ABRloans
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ranging from 0. 25 % to 0. 35 % based upon our heuidity-consolidated total net leverage ratio as of the most recent
consolidated financial information assessed on the average undrawn-pertion-ofthe-available commitment. As of December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2622-, there was no outstanding indebtedness under the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility and 2021
Revolving Credit Facility. An immediate 10 % increase or decrease in interest rates on either our cash and cash equivalents
and available- for- sale debt securities or our 2024 Revolving Credit Facility would not have a material effect on our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows . Information provided by the sensitivity analysis is not a prediction of
future events and does not necessarily represent the actual changes that would occur . Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
For our cross- border payments, we have short term foreign currency exchange exposure, typically between one and four days.
Our cross- border payment service allows our client’ s customers to use their local currency to pay our clients. When a client’ s
customer books a cross- border payment in the customer’ s local currency, we provide an amount to be paid to the client in that
local currency based on the foreign exchange rate then in effect. The client” s customer then has a certain amount of time to
complete payment — typically one to four days — that may differ depending on the payment method selected. When our client’
s customer makes the payment and we process these funds to our clients through our global payment network, the actual
exchange rate may differ from the exchange rate that was initially used to calculate the amount payable by the client’ s customer
due to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. The amount our client’ s customers pay in their local currency is not adjusted for
changes in foreign exchange rates between booking the transaction and the date the funds are paid and converted. If the value of
the currency used by the client’ s customer weakens relative to the currency in which funds are remitted to our clients, we may
be required to cover the shortfall in remitted funds. This could have an unfavorable effect on our cash flows and operating
results. We have been leveraging our in- house currency hedging algorithms since 2014, including entering into non- deliverable
forward foreign currency contracts, to mitigate the volatility related to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates. Our cash flows
and operating results may also be impacted by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the U. S. Dollar and
various currencies, in particular the British Pound. The value of our revenue and profits in local currencies may be worth more
or less in U. S. Dollars due to a strengthening or weakening, respectively, of those currencies against the U. S. Dollar. For
example Buring-the-year-ended-Deeember31,2623-, as the U. S. Dollar strengthened-weakened against several currencies,
including the British Pound, relative to the prior year, these foreign exchange impacts redueed-increased our reported revenue
in U. S. Dollars by approximately $ +2 . 4-3 million compared to 2622-the prior year on a constant currency basis. Fluctuations
in foreign currency exchange rates may also impact the value of assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of our entities. Our reporting currency and the functional currency of our subsidiaries, with the exception
of our U. K. and Australian subsidiaries, is the U. S. Dollar. The functional currency for our U. K. and Australian subsidiaries is
the local currency, or British Pound and Australian Dollar, respectively. Financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are
translated from local currency into U. S. Dollars using exchange rates at the balance sheet date for assets and liabilities, and
average exchange rates in effect during the period for revenue and expenses. Resulting translation adjustments are included as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive #reemre-(loss) income in our consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses
from the remeasurement of foreign currencies into functional currencies are recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. A potential change in foreign exchange rates of 10 % from such remeasurement would have
impacted income ( loss ) before income taxes by approximately $ 24. 7 million and $ 19 —9-miHienand-$+6-. 9 million for the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, respectively. Inflation Risk Inflation did not have a material effect on our
cash flows and results of operations during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . If our costs were to become subject to
significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through increase in prices of our product
offerings. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Page Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
(PCAOB ID 238) Consohdated Balance Sheets Consohdated Statements of Operatlons and Comprehensive Loss Consolidated
Statements of €env d-Stoe and-Stockholders” Equity {Defieity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Consohdated F 1nan01al Statements Note 1. Business Overview and Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies 116Note 2. Revenue and Recognition Note 3. Segment Information Alewaneefor-Credit
Fosses-Note 4 . Investments Note 5 . Fair Value Measurements Note 5-6 . Derivative Instruments Note 6-7 . Accrued Expenses
and Other Current Liabilities Note 78 . Property and Equipment, net Note 89 . Business Combinations Note 9-10 . Goodwill
and Acquired Intangible Assets Note +6-11 . Debt Note +-12 . Stockholders’ Equity {Befieitj-Note +2-13 . Stock- Based
Compensation Note 43-14 . Net Income ( Loss ) per Share Note +44-15 . Income Taxes Note +5-16 . Leases Note +6-17 .
Commitments and Contingencies Note +7-18 . Employee Benefit Plan Note +8-19 . Subsequent EventREPORT OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Flywire
Corporation Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reperting-ReportingWe We-have
audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Flywire Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “'" Company 2" ) as of
Decelnber 31,2024 and 2023 aﬁd—ZGQQ— and the related consohdated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, of

eot e d eemablee d-steeland-stockholders’ equity ¢deftetty-and of cash flows for each
of the three years in the perlod ended Decelnber 31 %92—3—2024 including the related notes (collectively referred to as the <"
consolidated financial statements 2" ). We also have audited the Company' s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2623-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2022-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2623-2024 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31,2623-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO. Basis for




Opinions The Company' s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in Management’ s Annual Report on Internal Control everOver Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’ s consolidated financial statements and on the Company' s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. As described in Management’ s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Invoiced Inc. FearningInformation-Systems
(“ StadyEinlcInvoiced ) from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623
2024 , because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2823-2024 . We have also excluded
StadybinkcInvoiced from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. Stadykink-Invoiced is a wholly- owned
subsidiary whose total assets and tetalreventres— revenue excluded from management’ s assessment and our audit of internal
control over financial reporting represent 4—4-less than 1 % of each and-0-—3-%;trespeetively;-of the related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . Definition and Limitations of Internal
Control over Financial Reporting A company’ s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’ s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Critical
Audit Matters The critical audit matter-matters communicated below are 1s-a-matter-matters arising from the current period
audit of the consolidated financial statements that s#as-were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that (i) relates— relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the
critical audit matter-matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or
disclosures to which they relate. Revenue Recognition — Transaction Revenue for Cross- Border Transactions As
described in Notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’ s transaction revenue relates to fees
charged for payment processing services provided to educational institutions, healthcare entities and other commercial
entities (each a separate-opinton-on-client), which is comprised of processing domestic and cross- border transactions.
Total transaction revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $ 410. 3 million, of which a significant portion
related to cross- border transactions. Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of the promised goods or
services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity expects to receive in exchange for the-those goods
or services. The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to recognition of
transaction revenue for cross- border transactions is a critical audit matter are a high degree of auditor effort in
performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to the Company’ s revenue recognition or-for cross- border
transactions. Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with
forming our overall opinion on the aeeetnts-consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the
effectiveness of controls relating to revenue recognition, including controls over revenue transactions recognized as
cross- border transactions. These procedures also included, among others (i) testing revenue recognized ot-for diselosures
to-whieh-itrelates-a sample of cross- border revenue transactions by obtaining and inspecting source documents, such as
client contracts, cash receipts and cash payments; (ii) testing the revenue recognized for a sample of cross- border
revenue transactions near period end by obtaining and inspecting source documents, such as bank statements; and (iii)
confirming a sample of balances receivable from third party payment providers outstanding as of December 31, 2024 .

Acquisition of Inveiced Inc FearningInformation-SystemsPtyEtd. — Valuation of Acquired a-Certain-Customer



Relationship-Relationships and a-Certatn-Developed Technology As described in Notes 1 and 8-9 to the consolidated financial
statements, on Nevember-3-August 2 , 2023-2024 , the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Invoiced
J:eaﬂﬂﬂg—}&feﬂﬁaﬁeﬁ—Sysfefﬁs—PtH:td—%Sfudy%rﬂH—for estimated total purchase consideration, net of cash acquired, of § 35
51 . 57 million. Of the acquired intangible assets, $ 42-18 . -6 million of eustemer-acquired relationships ra-pertienrefwhieh

related-to-a-certairenstomerrelationship-asset;-and $ 7. 4-1 million of developed technology ya-majority-of whichrelated-toa
eertatirdeveloped-teehnology-asset,-were recorded. Management estimates the Fair-fair valuc is-estimated-by-management-of

acquired relationships under the income approach using a-the multi- period excess earnings method fer-eusterer
relationships-and a-estimates the fair value of acquired developed technology under the income approach using the relict-
from- royalty method fer-developed-teehnotogy-. Determining the fair value of assets acquired is judgmental in nature and can
involve the use of significant estimates and assumptions. Fair value is-determinations are based on, among other factors,
estimates of future expected cash flows, revenue growth rates, royalty rates, operating margins yroyaltyrates-and appropriate
discount rates used in computing present values . The principal considerations for our determination that performing
procedures relating to the valuation of the acquired a-eertainreustomerrelationship-relationships and aeertainr-developed
technology acquired in the acquisition of StudyEimieInvoiced is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by
management when developing the fair value estimates of the acquired a-eertainreustomerrelationshiprelationships and a
eertain-developed technology acquired; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures
and evaluating management’ s significant assumptions related to revenue growth rates sreyaktyrates;-and discount rates for the
acquired a-eertaineustomerrelattonship-relationships and a-eertainr-developed technology assets acquired ; and (iii) the audit
effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge. Addressing the matter involved performing
procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the acquisition accounting, including
controls over management’ s valuation of the acquired a-eertainreustomerrelationship-relationships and aeertain-developed
technology acquired. These procedures also included, among others (i) reading the purchase agreement; (ii) testing
management’ s process for developing the fair value estimates— estimate of the acquired a-eertaineustomerrelationship
relationships and a-eertain-developed technology acquired; (iii) evaluating the appropriateness of the multi- period excess
earnings and relief —from —royalty methods used by management; (iv) testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying
data used in the multi- period excess earnings and relief —from —royalty methods; and (v) evaluating the reasonableness of the
significant assumptions used by management related to revenue growth rates sreyaltyrates;-and discount rates for the acquired
a-eertatretstomerrelationshiprelationships and a—eertain-developed technology. Evaluating management’ s assumptions
related to revenue growth rates involved considering (i) the current and past performance of the StadyEintcInvoiced business;
(ii) the consistency with external market and industry data; and (iii) whether the assumptions were consistent with evidence
obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with %pecialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating (i)
evaluating-the appropriateness of the multi- period excess earnings and relief —from —royalty methods used by management
and (ii) the reasonableness of the reyaltyrate-and-discount rate assumptions for the acquired a-eertain-eustomerrelationship
relationships and a-eertain-developed technology. / s / PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP February 28-25 , 2624-2025 We have
served as the Company’ s auditor since 2019. FLYWIRE CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Amounts
in thousands, except par value per share and share amounts) December 31, Assets Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents $
495, 242 $ 654, 608 $349-Short- term investments 115 , 848 177 Restricted-eash-— 2-000-Accounts receivable, net of
allowance of $ 410 and $ 507, respectively 23, 703 18, 215 43;-697Unbilled receivables, net of allowance of $ 36 and $ 27,
respectively 15, 453 10, 689 5;268-Funds receivable from payment partners 90, 110 113, 945 62:-976-Prepaid expenses and
other current assets 22, 528 18, 227 +%;-53+Total current assets 762, 884 815, 684 Long- term investments 456-- 50 , 643-125
— Property and equipment, net 17, 160 15, 134 43;3+FIntangible assets, net 118, 684 108, 178 94-6+6-Goodwill 149, 558 121,
646 97766-Other assets 24, 035 19, 089 +4:-945-Total assets § 1, 122,446 $ 1, 079, 731 $-674:287Liabilities and
Stockholders” Equity Current liabilities: Accounts payable $ 15,353 $ 12, 587 $43;325-Funds payable to clients 217, 788 210,
922 424:305-Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 49, 297 43, 315 34;423-Deferred revenue 7, 337 6, 968 5;223-Total
current liabilities 289, 775 273, 792 4972%6-Deferred tax liabilities 12, 643 15, 391 42,449-Other liabilities 5, 261 4, 431 2;
959-Total liabilities 307, 679 293, 614 +92384-Commitments and contingencies (Note +6-17 ) Stockholders’ equity: Preferred
stock, $ 0. 0001 par value; 10, 000, 000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-; and no shares issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-— — Voting common stock, $ 0. 0001 par value; 2, 000, 000, 000
shares authorized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ; 126, 853, 852 shares issued and 122, 182, 878 shares outstanding as of
December 31 %922—2024 123 010 207 %hare% 1§§ued and 120, 695, 162 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023 +409;

33 e At Non- voting common qtock $ 0. 0001 par
Value 10 000 000 %hare% authorlzed as ofDecember 31 2024 and 2023 aﬁd—ZGQQ— 1, 873, 320 shares issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 — and-2622-Treasury voting common stock, 4, 670 974 and 2, 315, 045 and253++722
shares as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, respectively, held at cost (74746, 268 ) (#48-747 ) Additional paid- in
capital 1, 033, 958 959, 302 649-F56-Accumulated other comprehensive ireeme-(loss) income (2, 066) 1, 320 (5942
Accumulated deficit (+73-170 , 776-870 ) (+65-173 , 264-770 ) Total stockholders’ equity 814, 767 786, 117 484+-963-Total
liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1, 122,446 $ 1, 079, 731 $-674;,287-The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts) Year Ended December 31, Revenue $ 492, 144 $ 403, 094 § 289,
375 $201;,1449-Costs and operating expenses: Payment processing services costs 177, 490 147, 339 107, 933 70,19+
Technology and development 66, 636 62, 028 50, 257 345295-Selling and marketing 129, 435 107, 621 78, 456 54529%General
and administrative 125, 838 107, 624 82, 949 64-623-Total costs and operating expenses 499, 399 424, 612 319, 595 244,466




Loss hom opeldtlons $ ( 7 255) $ ( 21, 518) $ (3() 220 )—$—61—3%§—7—) Other income (expense): Interest expense ( 538) (372) (1,

3 e arrant-HabHity Interest income 21, 440 13, 349 3, 244 —
Gain( erss—Loss ) galn hom remedsurement of fmelon currency (11, 787) 4, 189 (9, 172) Total other income (expense), net 9,
11517, 166 (7, 139) Income ( loss +2-676-) Foss-before (benefit from) provision for income taxes 1, 860 (4, 352) (37, 359)
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (41 , 352-040 ) 373592592 Provistonfor-ineome-taxes4, 214 1, 988 Net
income (loss) $ 2. 900 +58Nettoss-$ (8, 560) $ (39 347) $-Other comprehensive income ( loss 28;:-885-) : Foreign currency
translation adjustment (3, 594) 3, 232 (1, 513) Unrealized gains on available- for- sale debt securities, net of taxes — —
Total other comprehensive ( 485-loss) income (3, 386) 3,232 (1, 513 ) Comprehensive loss $ (486) $ (5, 334) $ (40, 860) &
Net income ( loss 28;276-) Netdoss-attributable to common stockholders = basic and diluted $ 2,900 $ (8, 566) $ (39, 347) %
Net income ( loss 28;-898-) Netdossper share attributable to common stockholders — basic and-dilated-$ 0. 02 $ (0. 07) $ (0.
36) Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders — diluted $ 0. 02 $ (0.39-07) $ (0. 36 ) Weighted
average common shares outstanding —— basic and-dtluted-124, 269, 820 114, 828, 494 107, 935, 514 #-Weighted average
common shares outstandlng dlluted 129 -1-6-8—339 954—462 114 828 494 107 935 514 CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF €6N :
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (-BE-F{GI—T—)—GAmounts in thousands except share dmounts) Geﬁveﬁlb}eP-fefeffed—Steek
RedeemableConvertiblePreferred-Stoel-V otingCommon Stock Non- VotingCommon Stock Treasury Stock AdditionalPaid- In

Accumulated OtherComprehensive-OtherComprehensiveIncome Accumulated TotalStockholders’ Eguity-Shares-Amount
-Sh&fes—&meuﬁt—Shdres Amount Shares Amount Shdres Amount Cdpltdl (Loss ) Deficit Equlty (—Beﬁert)—Bdlances dt Decembel
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I[ssuance of common stock upon exercise of stock optlons, net of th Wlthheld —2, 507, 070 — — — — — 4, 745 —
— 4, 745 Conversion of non- voting common stock to voting common stock ——————4, 115, 058 — (4, 115, 058) — — —
— — — — Issuance of common stock upon settlement of restricted stock units ——————111,549 — — — — — — — —
— Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan ———84, 812 — — — — — 1,271 —— 1,271
Issuance of common stock as consideration for acquisition —————200, 314 — — — — — 4,287 — —4, 287 Foreign
currency translation adjustment — — — — — — — ——1, 513) — (1, 513) Stock- based compensation expense——
_— 30,259 ——30,259 Netloss ———— ———— —(39, 347) (39, 347) Balances at
December 31, 2022 ——————109, 790, 702 $ 1, 873, 320 $ (2,317, 722) $ (748) $ 649, 756 § (1,912) $ (165, 204) § 481,

903 Issuance of common stock in connection with publlc offering, net of underwriter discounts and commissions —8,
500, 000 — — — —261, 119 — — 261, 120 Costs incurred in connection with public offering — — — — — —

(1,062) — — (1, 062) Issuance of treasury stock —————under equity incentive plans — — — — 2,677 (1) — — —
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options, net of tax withheld ————3,339, 587 — — — — — 1,877 —
— 1, 877 Issuance of common stock upon settlement of restricted stock units —————1,192,362 —— — — — — — —
— Issuance of common stock for retention bonus —8 ——42,498 — — — — — 1, 196 — — 1, 196 Issuance of common
stock under employee stock purchase plan ————145, 05§ — — — — — 2,691 — — 2,691 Foreign currency translation
adjustment — — — — — — — ———3, 232 — 3, 232 Stock- based compensation expense —_—
— 43,726 — — 43,726 Net loss —— — — — — — — — (8, 5606) (8, 566) Balances at December 31, 2023
123,010,207 $ 1,873,320 $(2,315,045) $ (747) $ 959,302 $ 1,320 § (173, 770) $ 786, 117 Issuance of common
stock upon exercise of stock options, net of tax withheld 1, 799,325 — — ——35, 613 — — 5, 614 Issuance of common
stock upon settlement of restricted stock units, net of tax withheld 1, 794,743 — — — — — (798) — — (798) Issuance of
common stock under employee stock purchase plan 193,413 — — — — — 3,108 — — 3, 108 Issuance of common stock
for retention bonus 56, 164 — — — — — — — Common stock repurchased — — — — (2, 386, 856) (45, 564) — — —
(45, 564) Issuance of treasury stock under equity incentive plans — — — — 30, 927 (43) — — — Foreign currency
translation adjustment — — — — — — — (3,594) — (3, 594) Unrealized gains on available- for- sale debt securities,
net of taxes —— — — — — — — Stock- based compensation — — — — — — 66,452 — — 66, 452 Net income — —
—————— 2,900 2, 900 Balances at December 31, 2024 126, 853, 852 1, 873, 320 — (4, 670, 974) (46, 268) 1, 033,
958 (2, 066) (170, 870) 814, 767 * All dollar amounts are rounded and as a result, certain amounts may not recalculate
using the rounded amounts provided. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Amounts in thousands) Year
Ended December 31, Cash flows from operating activities: Net income (loss ) $2,900 $ (8, 566) $ (39, 347) $+28;-085)
Adjustments to reconcile net income ( loss ) to net cash provided by operating activities: Depreciation and amortization 17, 363
15, 764 12, 304 8;-998-Stock- based compensation expense 64, 933 43, 726 30, 259 +8;:-928-Amortization of deferred contract




costs 1, 789 1, 799 Change in fair value of preferred-stoek— tabih t-fair—y
consideration ( 978) ( 2, 805) 27263-Deferred tax (beneﬁt) provision (beﬂeﬁ-t—s 794 ) (1 708) P10V1§10n for uncollectlble
accounts (83) Non- cash interest income (1, 435) — — Non- cash interest expense Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
net of acquisitions: Accounts receivable ( 5, 292) ( 2, 082) (323) £58F-Unbilled receivables (4, 764) (5, 394) (1, 928 345642
Funds receivable from payment partners 23, 835 (50, 975) (30, 917) £5:-885)-Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other
assets (5, 322) (4, 279) (11, 318) €5-854>-Funds payable to clients 6, 867 86, 616 48, 932 H53+6-Accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other current liabilities 3, 302 5, 548 6, 761 +5238-Contingent consideration (93) (467) (4, 510) &;242>-Other
liabilities (1, 543) (1, 260) (1, 872) Deferred revenue ( 630) ( 871) (400 H+3459-) Net cash provided by operating activities 91, 468
80, 625 5, 427 ¥43+Cash flows from investing activities: Purchase of short- term and long- term investments (193, 927)
— — Proceeds from the maturity and sale of short- term and long- term investments 29, 598 — — Capitalization of
internally developed software (5, 317) (5, 004) (5, 717) Purchases of property and equipment ( 924 5;-635-) Purehases-of
pfepeﬁy—aﬁd—equfpmeﬁt—(l 009) 1, 353) 61—949)—Acqul§1t10n§ of businesses, net of cash acquired (45, 230) (32, 764) (17, 1409
) Contingent consideration paid for acquisitions — — (453) —Net
a%h used i in 1nve§t1ng aCthltle§ (215 800) (38 777) (24 663 )—(62—9—1—4—) Ca@h flows from flnancmg activities: Proceedi from

effeﬁng—ﬂ—%é@)—llfeeeeds—frefn—msuance of common stock under pubhc offermg net of undelwrltmg discount and
commissions — 261, 119 ——Payments of costs related to pubhc offerlng — (1, 062) — Repayment—Pfeeeeds—ffefﬁ

tssuanee-of long- term debt — —

-P-feeeeds—ffeﬁa—exeretse—e—flwafr&nts—Contmoent con§1derat10n pald f01 acqumtlons (1 032) (1 207) (3 701) Payment of
long- term debt issuance costs ( 783 3;-806-) — — Payments of tax withholdings for net settled option exercises ( 797) (8,
483) (2, 564) —Proceeds from the issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 3, 108 2, 691 1, 271 —Proceeds
from exercise of stock options 5, 613 10, 360 6, 963 6-Common stock repurchased (43 , 928-740) — — Net cash (used in)
provided by fased+m)-financing activities (37, 631) 263, 418 (23, 970) 32%4-542-Effect of exchange rates changes on cash and
cash equivalents 2,597 (1, 835) 5, 023 (542H-Net inerease-decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
(159, 366) 303, 431 (38, 183) 286;3088-Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year $ 654, 608 $ 351, 177 §
389, 360 $489;-052-Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year § 495, 242 $ 654, 608 $ 351, 177 $389,360-Y car
Ended December 31, Supplemental disclosures of cash flow and noncash information Cash paid during the period for interest —
— +-680-Issuance of common stock for acquisition — — 4, 287 —Aeeretion-of redeemable-eonvertible-preferred-Accrued
excise tax related to common stock repurchase — — (433-Purchase of property and equipment in accounts payable
Capitalized stock- based compensation expense 1, 519 — — Issuance of common stock for retention bonus 1, 196 — —
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash Cash and cash equivalents $ 495, 242 § 654, 608 $ 349, 177 $385;
ash $ 495,242 $ 654, 608 $ 351, 177 $389;366
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Note 1. Business Overview and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies Flywire Corporation (Flywire or the Company) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in
July 2009 as peerTransfer Corporation. In 2016, the Company changed its name to Flywire Corporation. The Company is
headquartered in Boston, Massachusetts and has a global footprint in 16 countries across 5 continents. Flywire provides a secure
global payments platform, offering its clients an innovative and streamlined process to receive reconciled domestic and
international payments in a more cost effective and efficient manner. The Company’ s solutions are built on three core elements:
(1) a next- gen payments platform, (ii) a proprietary global payment network, and (iii) vertical- specific software backed by its
deep industry expertise. 2023 Follow- On Public OfferingOn August 9, 2023, the Company entered into an Underwriting
Agreement with Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, as representative of the several Underwriters, in connection with the offer and sale

by-the-Company-of 8, 000, 000 shares of voting common stock efthe-Company;par-value-$0-0001pershare-, at a price to the

public of $ 32. 00 per share. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, the Company granted the

U‘ﬂdefW"erfS—OpthH to purcha%e up to 1, 200, 000 addltlonal shares of Commen-Stoek(eoleetivelythe Publie-Offering)—On

s-voting common stock . The Primary Offering closed on August

14 2023 and on Septembel 12 2023 the Underwnter@ exercmed the Hﬁdeﬁvﬂ-tefs—Optlon mn palt and purcha%ed an additional

Company recelved $ %63—260 -8—1 m11110n n net proceed% from the I-PG—Publlc Offerlng after deductlng undelwrltmg
discounts and C01111111§§10n§ of $ -1-9—10 4—9 million and othel offerlng costs 0f$ 41. 9—1 mllhon —Pﬂer—te—t-he—I-PG—t-he




fhe—effeeﬁa%t-l‘wsﬁaelespht—fe%aﬂ-peﬂeé&pfeseﬁfed- chs 01‘ Plesentdtlon and leuples of C onsolldatlonThe accompanying

consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries and have been
plepared in agcmddnce w 1th genelally dccepted dccountm;: pllnuples in the United States (GAAP) Intercompany dccounts and

1o o d-Hoeatine S - See Note 2—3 Segment Informatlon
Reveﬁue—aﬁd—Reeegmﬁeﬂ—for -rn-fefm&t-teﬁ—addltlonal detalls regarding the C ompany' s significant segment expenses revente
by-geographie-area—. Use of Estimates The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying notes. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these financial statements include,
but are not limited to, the valuation of certain stock- based compensation awards, the valuation of the-prefetred-stoek-warrant
hability-up-untit-the-date-of the-Company—sHPO;contingent consideration, the valuation of acquired intangible assets and their
useful lives, the estimate of credit losses on accounts receivable and, unbilled receivables and available- for- sale debt
securities , the assessment of the-other - than- temporary impairment assessment-of goedwill-available- for- sale debt
securities , intangibles and other long- lived assets and the incremental borrowing rates for operating leases. The Company
bases its estimates on historical experience, known trends and other market- specific or other relevant factors that it believes to
be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates as there are maybe-changes
in Cll‘CllInStdnCCS facts and expelleme C hanoes in estimates are recorded in the peuod in which they become known. Actual

S dunno the year ended December 31 %92—3—202




and Slgnlhcant C hents Financial instruments that potentlally subject the C ompany to concentratlon of Cledlt risk consnts
principally of cash, cash equivalents , investments in available- for- sale debt securities , accounts receivable, unbilled
receivables and funds receivable from payment partners. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with financial
institutions that management believes are of high credit quality. Our cash equivalents include money market funds, which are
AAA- rated and comprised of liquid, high —quality debt securities issued by the U. S. government. The Company' s cash and
cash equivalents deposited with the financial institutions exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance
limit of § 250, 000. As part of its cash management process, the Company performs periodic reviews of the credit standing of
the financial institutions holding its cash and cash equivalents. Additionally, to mitigate credit risk associated with financial
institutions, the Company diversifies its cash and cash equivalents across multiple financial institutions and U. S. Treasury
Money Market Funds. U. S. Treasuries, by their nature, create a concentration of credit risk with the U. S. Government. Our
The Company' s access to eur-its cash and cash equivalents and client funds could be significantly impacted in volatile markets
given our concentration in government money market funds . To manage credit risk associated with investments in
available- for- sale debt securities, the Company monitors credit ratings of the issuers of the securities and diversifies its
investments by limiting its holding in any one security or issuer . To manage credit risk related to accounts receivable and
unbilled receivables, the Company maintains an allowance for credit losses. The allowance is determined by applying a loss-
rate method based on an aging schedule using the Company' s historical loss rate. The Company also considers reasonable and
supportable current and forecasted information in determining its estimated loss rates, such as external forecasts,
macroeconomic trends, or other factors that are associated with the credit quality of the Company’ s customer base. The
Company did not experience any material credit losses during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and2024-.
HS8Aeeounts—-- Accounts receivable are derived from revenue earned from clients located in the U. S. and internationally.
Significant clients are those that represent 10 % or more of accounts receivable, net . As of asset-forth-irthefollowingtable:
December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was no €hent-client A—*%-ChentB-*%*Fess-than-that represented 10 % or more of
fefa-l—ba-}aﬁe&accounts receivable, net . Funds receivable from payment partners consist primarily of cash held by the
Company’ s global payment processing partners that have not yet been remitted to the Company. Significant partners are those
that represent 10 % or more of funds receivable from payment partners as set forth in the following table: December 31, Partner
A % % Partner B % % Partner C * % %Partner D %-* % Partner E % % * Less than 10 % of total balance. During the years
ended December 31, 2024 2023 —and 2022 aﬁd%@%l— no client dccounted for 10 % or more of total revenue —Buﬂﬂg—t-he—ye&f

G 6 A : vely Summqry of Slomhumt Accountmg
Policies Cash Equ1valents and Restrlcted Cdsh Cdsh equw"llents consist of short telm highly liquid investments with stated
maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. Our cash equivalents include money market funds, which are
AAA- rated and comprised of liquid, high- quality debt securities issued by the U. S. government. Restricted cash consists of
amounts required to be maintained to cover certain banks’ or clients’ credit risk exposure related to facilitating payments for the
Company. As-The Company did not have any restricted cash as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 aned-. InvestmentsDuring
the year ended December 31, 2622-2024 , the Company began investing in a diversified portfolio had-$-6-and-$-2—-6-miltien
of restrieted-eask-highly rated marketable debt securities , respeetivety-all of which are classified as available- for- sale.
Available- for- sale debt securities with remaining maturities of greater than three months but less than one year and
those identified by management at the time of purchase to be used to fund operations within one year are classified as
short- term. All other available- for- sale securities are classified as long- term. Available- for- sale debt securities with
readily determinable market values are recorded at fair value, and unrealized holding gains and temporary losses are
recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net of related estimated tax. The Company
evaluates its available- for- sale debt securities for other- than- temporary impairment on a quarterly basis. When a
decline in fair value is determined to be other- than- temporary, the cost of the investment is adjusted to fair value by
recording a loss on investments in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Gains and losses on
investments are calculated on the basis of specific identification. The Company reviews several factors to determine
whether a loss is other- than- temporary, such as the length and extent of the fair value decline, the financial condition
and near- term prospects of the issuer, market conditions and trends and whether the Company has the intent to sell or
will more likely than not be required to sell before the securities' anticipated recovery, which may be at maturity .
Allowance for Credit LossesAccounts receivable represent client obligations that are unconditional. The Company’ s accounts
receivable do not bear interest and generally does not require collateral or other security to support related receivables.
Unbilled receivables represent the Company' s unconditional right to payment. Accounts receivable and unbilled
recelvables are presented net of an estimated allowance f01 credit losses for amounts that may not be collectible over the




applying a loss- rate method based on an aging schedule using the Company' s hrstorrcal loss rates The Company also considers
reasonable and supportable current and forecasted information in determining its estimated loss rates, such as external forecasts,
macroeconomic trends, or other factors that are associated with the credit quality of the Company’ s customer base. The
adequacy of the allowance for credit losses is evaluated on a regular basis. Account balances are written off after all means of
collection are exhausted and the balance is deemed uncollectible. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance.
Adjustments to the allowance for credit losses are recorded within general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Property and Equipment, net Property and equipment consist primarily of
computer equipment and software, internal- use software, furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements. Property and
equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are
computed using the straight- line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which is between three to five years for
computer equipment and software, five years for internal- use software, three years for furniture and fixtures, and the lesser of
the useful life or remaining non- cancelable term of the lease for leasehold improvements. Costs of maintenance and repairs that
do not improve or extend the lives of the respective assets are expensed as incurred. Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the consolidated balance sheets and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in income
(loss ) from operations in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Impairment of Long- Lived Assets
The Company continually evaluates the recoverability of long- lived asset (asset group) when events and changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the long- lived asset group may not be fully recoverable. Factors the
Company considers in deciding when to perform an impairment review include significant underperformance of the business in
relation to expectations, significant negative industry or economic trends and significant changes or planned changes in the use
of the assets. When indicators of impairment are present, the Company compares forecasts of undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the long- lived asset group to its carrying value. An impairment loss
would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of an asset group are less
than its carrying amount. There were no impairments recorded for the Company’ s long- lived assets during any of the periods
presented. Intangible Assets, net Intangible assets consist of acquired developed technology, acquired relationships ;-and trade
names and associated trademarks and-non—eompete-agreements-. Intangible assets are recognized at fair value using generally
accepted valuation methods deemed appropriate for the type of intangible asset acquired, and reported net of accumulated
amortization, separately from goodwill. The Company estimates the fair value of acquired developed technology and trade name
and associated trademarks under the income approach using the relief- from- royalty method. The relief- from- royalty method
estimates the cost savings that accrue to the owner of an intangible asset who would otherwise have to pay royalties or a license
fee on revenues earned through the use of the asset. The estimated royalty rate is determined based on the assessment of a
reasonable royalty rate that a third party would negotiate in an arm’ s- length license agreement for the use of the technology,
trade name or trademark. The Company estimates the fair value of acquired relationships under the income approach using the
multi- period excess earnings method. The multi- period excess earnings method estimates the present value of the mcremental
after tax cash ﬂows solely attrrbutable to the mtangrble asset —Fhe : s-ustag-th h-an

ag-reefﬁeﬂt— The estimated fair values of these mtangrble assets reﬂect various assumptions mcludmg drscount rates, revenue
growth rates, operating margins, terminal values and other prospective financial information. Intangible assets are amortized
using a method that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible asset are expected to be realized over
their estimated useful lives ranging from one to fifteen years. The useful lives for developed technology are determined based on
expectations regarding the evolution of existing technology and future investments. The useful lives for acquired related
intangible assets are determined based primarily on forecasted cash flows, which include estimates for the revenues, expenses
and customer attrition associated with the assets. The +20usefal--- useful lives of definite- lived trademarks and trade names are
based on the Company ] plans to phase out the trademarks and trade names in the applicable markets —Fhe-aseful-ivesfor

3 rts-. No significant residual value is estimated
for mtanglble assets. Software Developed for Internal- Use The Company caprtalrzes costs related to internal- use software
during the application development stage including third- party consulting costs and compensation expenses related to FlyMates
who devote time to the development of the projects. The Company records software development costs in property and
equipment. Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development activities and post implementation activities are expensed
in the period incurred and are included in technology and development expense in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss. The Company also capitalizes costs related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable the
expenditures will result in additional functionality. Once the additional functionality is available for general use, capitalization
ceases and the asset begins being amortized. The Company periodically assesses whether triggering events are present to review
the useful lives of internal- use software fer-impairment-. Unforeseen circumstances in software development, such as a
significant change in the manner in which the software is intended to be used, obsolescence or a significant reduction in revenues
due to attrition, could require us to implement alternative plans with respect to a particular effort, which could result in the
impairment of previously capitalized software development costs. Software developed for internal- use is amortized straight-
line over its estimated useful life of five years. Goodwill The Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis on the
first day of the fourth quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill may be impaired.
The Company’ s goodwill impairment test is performed at the enterprise level given it is the sole reporting unit. Events that




could indicate goodwill impairment and trigger an interim impairment assessment include, but are not limited to, market
conditions, economic conditions, entity- specific financial performance and other events such as significant adverse change in
legal factors, business climate, operational performance of the business or key personnel, and an adverse action or assessment by
a regulator. Goodwill is tested for impairment by first performing a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely
than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If the reporting unit does not pass the qualitative
assessment, then the reporting unit’ s carrying value is compared to its fair value, including goodwill. Goodwill is considered
impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. The fair value of the reporting unit is estimated using a
combination of income and market approaches. The discounted cash flow method, a form of the income approach, uses expected
future operating results and a market participant discount rate. The market approach uses comparable company prices and other
relevant information generated by market transactions (either publicly traded entities or mergers and acquisitions) to develop
pricing metrics to be applied to historical and expected future operating results of the reporting unit. Failure to achieve these
expected results, changes in the discount rate or market pricing metrics, may cause a future impairment of goodwill. EeasesOn

January 12022 Flywire-adopted-ASU-26+6-There were no impairments of goodwill during any of the periods presented.
LeasesThe Company recognizes leases on its consolidated balance sheets as right - 62, -eases-of- use ( ROU Fopte-842-) 5

assets and subsequentrelated-ASUsusingJanuary+2022-lease liabilities. ROU assets represent the Company' s right to
use underlying assets for the lease terms and lease liabilities represent obligations to make lease payments arising from
the leases. ROU assets are included in Other assets and lease liabilities are included in Other liabilities. Lease
classification is determined at commencement date. All of the Company' s leases are accounted for as operating leases.
ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of
nitial-applieattorrlease payments over the lease term . ASH2646-62-As the implicit rate of the leases is not determinable,
the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate in determining the present value of the lease payments. ROU sets
assets are adjusted euttheprineiples-for deferred rent thereeognitionmeasurement,presentation-and any diselosure-of
feases— lease incentives. Variable lease payments for maintenance bethpartiesto-a-contraet-{i—e—, fessees-property taxes and
+essefs)-0ther operating expenses are recogmzed as expense in the perlod in whlch the obhgatlon for the payment is

-rﬂeuffed- The operating lease expense associated Wlth operatmg 1e"lses is recognized as a sms_le lease cost on a straight- line
basis over the 1e"lse term and is included in general and admlnlstratlve expenses in the consolldated statements of operations and

whether an acqumtlon should be accounted for as a busmess combination or an asset aequmtlon the Company first determmes
whether substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of
similar identifiable assets. If substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets, the set is not considered a business acquisition. If substantially all of the fair value of
the gross assets acquired is not concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets, the Company
further evaluates whether the integrated set of assets and activities include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. If so, the Company concludes that the integrated set of
assets and activities is a business acquisition. The Company accounts for business acquisitions using the acquisition method of
accounting. In accordance with this method, assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective fair values at
the acquisition date. The fair value of the consideration paid, including contingent consideration, is assigned to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over

the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. fPhe—Geﬂap&nye&r}r&depfed—A—S-H—ze%}—GS—Bﬁsmess
Combinations{(Topie-865)—Aeeountingfor-Contract Assets-and-Contra




and-measure-eontraetassets and contract habllmeq acquired in a bu%lneqs c01nb1nat10n are recogmzed and measured as 1f the
acqulrer entered mto the orlgmal contract at the same time and same date as the acqulree in accordance w1th TOplC 606 -

fh&s&m&t—rme—aﬂd—sam&d&te—as—t-he—aeqtufe& Deternunlng the falr Value of assets acquired and llabllltleS as%umed is Judgmental

in nature and can involve the use of significant estimates and assumptions. Fair value and useful life determinations are based
on, among other factors, estimates of future expected cash flows, revenue growth rates, royalty rates, operating margins and
appropriate discount rates used in computing present values. These estimates may materially impact the net income or loss in
periods subsequent to acquisition through depreciation and amortization, and in certain instances through impairment charges, if
assets become impaired in the future. Additionally, actual results may vary from these estimates that may result in adjustments
to goodwill and acquisition date fair values of assets and liabilities during a measurement period or upon a final determination of
asset and liability fair values, whichever comes first. Adjustments to fair values of assets and liabilities made after the end of the
measurement period are recorded within operating results. Contingent consideration in business combinations is recognized at
fair value on the acquisition date. Subsequent to the acquisition date, at each reporting date, the contingent consideration is
remeasured and changes in the fair value resulting from changes in the underlying inputs are recognized in general and
administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss until the contingent consideration is
settled. +22Fhe-The fair value of the contingent consideration in the Company' s consolidated balance sheets was determined
using either an option pricing model that reflects the Company’ s expectations about the probability of payment based on facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition closing date or a scenario- based method formed on the likelihoods of
achieving each of the milestones. See Note 4-5 - Fair Value Measurements for inputs used to fair value contingent consideration.
Transaction costs related to business combinations are expensed as incurred and are included in general and administrative

expense in con%olldated statements of operations and comprehenqlve loqs —Asset—Aeqwsrt—reﬁ—’Phe—Geﬂap&ny—measufes—aﬁd

gfeup—e-ﬁassefs— Falr Value Mea%urementa Certaln assets and llabllltleS are carrled at falr Value under GAAP Fair value is
defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following three
levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable: Level
1- Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2- Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted
prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active for
identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3- Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to determining the fair
value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques. The
Company’ s cash equivalents are carried at fair value (Level 1) as determined according to the fair value hierarchy described
above. The Company’ s cash equivalents include money market funds, which are measured at fair value using the net asset
value (NAV) per share practical expedient. The money market funds, which are AAA- rated are comprised of liquid, high-
quality debt securities issued by the U. S. government. Shares in money market funds are purchased and redeemed at the NAV
at the time of the purchase or sale, which may be purchased or redeemed on demand, as may be required by the Company. The
Company' s investments in available- for- sale debt securities are carried at fair value, determined using Level 2 inputs
in the fair value hierarchy as quoted prices are available to support the valuation. The carrying values of accounts
receivable, funds receivable from payment partners, unbilled receivables, prepaid expenses, accounts payable, funds payable to
clients and accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the short- term nature of
these assets and liabilities. The Company’ s contlngent conelderatlon is carrled at fair value, determlned using Level 3 1nput§ in
the fair Value hierarchy - W R-eont

Translation and Transactions The Company s reporting currency is the U. S. Dollar The ﬁnan01al %tatements of the Company’
s foreign subsidiaries are translated from local currency into U. S. dollars using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date for
assets and liabilities, and the average exchange rate in effect during the period for revenue and expenses. The functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries, with the exception of its U. K. and Australian subsidiaries, is the U. S. Dollar.



The functional currency for the U. K. and the Australian subsidiaries is considered to be the local currency and, accordingly,
translation adjustments for these entities are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive ineeme-(loss)
income in the Company”’ s consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses from the remeasurement of foreign currency
transactions into the functional currency are recognized as in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging The Company generates revenues and incurs expenses by processing payments in foreign
currencies. Changes in the value of foreign currencies could impact the Company”’ s consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss. To mitigate the volatility related to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates, the Company enters into non-
deliverable forward foreign currency contracts. The Company’ s foreign currency forward contracts economically hedge certain
risk but are not designated as hedges for financial reporting purposes. All changes in the fair value of these derivative
instruments are recorded as foreign currency transaction gains or losses and are included as a component of general and
administrative in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company records all derivative
instruments in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair values in prepaid expenses and other current assets and accrued
expenses and other current liabilities. Revenue Recognition Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of the
promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity expects to receive in exchange for those
goods or services. In order to achieve this core principle, the Company applies the following five steps: (i) Identify the contract
(s) with a customer. (ii) Identify the performance obligations in the contract. (iii) Determine the transaction price. (iv) Allocate
the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. (v) Recognize revenue as the entity satisfies a performance
obligation. The Company derives revenue primarily from transactions and platform and other revenues usage—based-fees-.
Transaction Revenue- retate-relates to fees charged for payment processing services provided to educational institutions,
healthcare entities and other commercial entities (each a client) , which is comprised of processing domestic and cross-
border transactions . The Company’ s services relate to facilitating payments from individuals, such as students and patients,
and organizations (client’ s customer) to clients. Fees charged for payment processing services consist of a rate applied to the
monetary value of the payment and can vary based on the currency pair conversion the transaction is settling in, as well as the
geographic region in which the client and the client’ s customer resides. Fees received are recorded as revenue in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss upon completion of the payment processing transaction. The
Company does not recognize the underlying amount of the transaction being settled between the client and the client’ s
customer as revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, as the Company is not the responsible
party for fulfilling the obligation between the client and the client” s customer. Therefore, revenue is only recognized for the fee
to which the Company is entitled for processing the payment. The money can be wired directly from the client’ s customer to
the Company; however, in certain situations when the client’ s customer resides in a country where the Company does not have
an active bank account, the +24€empany—--- Company uses third- party service providers (Partners) to collect wired funds
before remitting the funds to the Company. On a recurring basis, the Partner invoices the Company a fee for each payment
processed and deposited into the Company’ s bank account. The fee paid to Partners as well as any foreign exchange banking
fees paid by the Company are reflected in the payment processing services costs line in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. Once a Partner receives funds from a client’ s customer, the Company has the right to
receive those funds from the Partner. The funds are not remitted to the Company immediately. When the Partner receives funds
from the client’ s customer, the Company records a receivable, which is included in funds receivables from payment partners,
and a corresponding liability, included in funds payable to clients, in the consolidated balance sheets. The amounts are generally
collected or paid within one to 30 days. Partners report to the Company the funds received from the client’ s customer on a daily
basis. Revenue in transactions where Partners are involved is not recognized until the payment is remitted to clients. The
Company also earns revenue from fees charged to credit card service providers for marketing arrangements in which the
Company performs certain marketing activities to increase the awareness of the credit card provider and promote certain
methods of payment. Consideration under these arrangements include fixed fees and variable fees based on a percentage of
transactions processed during the duration of the marketing program. Marketing services provided leverages the Company’ s
existing network and transaction processing platform; therefore, these arrangements are considered part of the Company’ s
ordinary business activities. In certain circumstances, the Company provides marketing services to financial institutions that are
considered both a client (for marketing services) and a service provider (for processing payments). Each one of these services
are negotiated separately, each agreement is for distinct service and they are priced at fair value; therefore, fees included in the
marketing arrangements are accounted for as revenue, while fees paid by the Company are accounted for as payment processing
services cost. Fhe-Platform and other revenues- primarily includes (i) fees earned for the utilization of the Company alse
earns-' s platforms to optimize cash collections and student application processing, which include revenue earned from
software subscription fees and usage- based fees, (ii) fees for the establishment of payment plans on the Company' s
payment platform, (iii) fees related to printing, mailing, and other services which are ancillary to the solutions the
Company provides to its clients, (iv) commissions from insurance providers when an end- user purchases an insurance
policy, and (v) revenue from interest earned on funds held for customers —Wﬂﬂeh—de—net—fepfesen-t—m 1nterest- bearmg




represent a single promise to provide continuous access to the Company’ s platform to perform payment processing services,
cash collection optimization services, marketing, printing and mailing services, on an as- needed basis. As each day of providing
these services is substantially the same and the client simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as services are
provided, these services are viewed as a single performance obligation comprised of a series of distinct daily services. The
Company satisfies its performance obligation as these services are provided. Revenue is recognized in the month the service is
complete. For those arrangements that include fixed consideration, the fixed component is recognized ratably over the service
period while variable consideration is recognized in the period earned. The Company considers implementation services as an
activity to fulfill a contract, rather than a distinct performance obligation as the client does not obtain benefits from the
implementation service alone. The Company charges an immaterial amount for implementation services. +25Variable—--
Variable Consideration The Company’ s contracts contain variable consideration as the amount the Company expects to receive
in a contract is based on the occurrence or non- occurrence of future events, such as processing services performed as a
transaction- based pricing arrangement. The variable consideration relates specifically to the Company’ s effort to transfer each
distinct daily service, as such the Company allocates the variable consideration earned to the distinct day in which those
activities are performed and it recognizes these fees as revenue in period earned, at which point the variable amount is known
and it does not require estimation. Payment Terms The Company’ s payment terms vary by type of client, client’ s eustomer
customers and services offered and ranges between one and 60 days. Typically, the Company charges either a fixed fee, a fixed
fee per transaction or percentage of transaction value or a combination of both. The Company does not assess whether a
significant financing component exists if the period between performance obligations under the contract and payment is one
year or less. None of the Company’ s contracts contain a significant financing component as of December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and
2022 and262+-. Other Revenue Recognition Policies The Company incurs costs in processing payments which may include
banking, credit card processing, foreign currency translation, partner fees, printing and mailing fees. These fees are direct costs
of the Company in providing payment processing services. Since the Company controls the related payment processing service,
it is responsible for completing the payment, bears primary responsibility for the fulfillment of the payment service, and it has
full discretion in determining the fee charged, the Company is acting as a principal. As such, the Company recognizes fees
charged to its clients on a gross basis. Remaining Performance Obligations The Company does not disclose the value of
remaining performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original contract term of one year or less, (ii) contracts for which the
Company recognizes revenue at the amount to which it has the right to invoice when that amount corresponds directly with the
value of services performed, and (iii) variable consideration allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance obligation or
to a wholly unsatisfied distinct service that forms part of a single performance obligation. See Note 2- Revenue and Recognition
for additional information on revenue recognition. Payment Processing Services Costs Payment processing services costs
consist of costs incurred to process payment transactions which include banking and credit card processing fees, foreign
currency translation costs, partner fees, personnel- related expenses for our FlyMates who facilitate these payments and
personnel related expenses to our FlyMates who provide implementation services to its-the Company’ s clients. Technology and
Development Technology and development includes (a) costs incurred in connection with the development of the Company’ s
transaction processing and payments platform, new solutions, and the improvement of existing solutions, including the
amortization of software and website development costs incurred in developing transaction processing and payments platform,
which are capitalized, and acquired developed technology, (b) site operations and other infrastructure costs incurred to support
the transaction processing and payments platform, (c) amortization related to capitalized cost to fulfill a contract, (d) personnel-
related expenses, including salaries, stock based compensation and other expenses, (e) hardware and software engineering,
consultant services and other costs associated with the Company’ s technology platform and products, (f) research materials and
facilities and (g) depreciation and maintenance expense. Selling and Marketing Selling and marketing expenses consist of
personnel- related expenses, including stock- based compensation expense, sales commissions, amortization of acquired
customer relationship intangible assets, marketing program +26expenses—-- expenses , travel- related expenses and costs to
market and promote the Company' s solutions through advertisements, marketing events, partnership arrangements, and direct
client acquisition. General and Administrative General and administrative expenses consist of personnel- related expenses,
including stock- based compensation expense for finance, risk management, legal and compliance, human resources and IT
functions, costs incurred for external professional services, as well as rent, and facility and insurance costs. Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling and marketing expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. Advertising expenses were $ 7. 5 million, $ 6. 6 million and $ 4. 9 millienand $3-2
million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-262+, respectively. Stock- Based Compensation The
Company recognizes compensatlon cost for all stock- based compensation awards made to employees, net of an estimated
forfeiture rate and recognizes compensation cost only for those shares expected to vest over the requisite service period of the
award. The Company determines compensation expense associated with restricted stock units and-restrieted-stoel—awards-based
on the fair value of the Company' s common stock on the date of the grant. The Company determines compensation expense
associated with options to purchase shares of common stock and Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) based on the grant date
fair value method using the Black- Scholes valuation model. The Black- Scholes valuation model requires judgments and
estimates. Such estimates include the exercise price, expected volatility, expected term, risk free rate and expected dividend
yield. Any changes to those estimates may have a significant 1mpact on the stock- based compensatlon expense recorded and
could materlally 1mpact the Company’ s results of operatlons he ;
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fhe—faiﬁa-}ue-e-ﬁfhe-eempaﬂy—s-eemﬁle&ﬁeel&as—ﬂae—farr Value of the Company s common stock is determrned based on the

closing quoted market price of the Company’ s common stock. The expected volatility is estimated based on the historical
volatility of the Company” s common stock. However, since the Company’ s H2O-initial public offering occurred in 2021, the
Company lacked sufficient Company- specific historical and implied volatility information for its stock options granted in 2022
and202+4; therefore, the Company estimated its expected stock volatility based on the historical volatility of publicly traded
peer companies. The expected term represents the period that stock- based awards are expected to be outstanding. The expected
term for options grants is determined using the simplified method. The simplified method deems the term to be the average of
the time- to- vesting and the contractual life of the stock- based awards. The risk- free interest rate is determined by reference to
the U. S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant of the award for time periods approximately equal to the expected
term of the award. Expected dividend yield is zero based on the fact that the Company does not have a history of declaring or
paying cash dividends. Compensation expense is recognized using a straight- line amortization method over the requisite service
period of the award, which is generally the vesting term of four years for stock options ane-restrieted-stoekawards-, one to four
+2Fyears—-- years for restricted stock units and the offering period of 6 months for ESPP. The Company has elected to estimate
the expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only for those shares expected to vest. The expected forfeiture rate is
estimated based on historical experience, which was determined to be 5 % for the year ending December 31, 2623-2024 . The
Company classifies stock- based compensation expense in its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in
the same manner in which the award recipient’ s payroll costs are classified. Income Taxes The Company accounts for income
taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected
future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, as
measured by enacted tax rates anticipated to be in effect when these differences are expected to reverse. The measurement of
deferred tax assets is reduced by a valuation allowance if, based upon available evidence, it is more- likely- than- not that some
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company classifies deferred tax assets and liabilities as noncurrent
within the consolidated balance sheets. The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions using a two- step process to
determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position is evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will
be sustained upon external examination. If the tax position is deemed “ more- likely- than- not ” to be sustained, the tax position
is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may
be recognized is the largest amount that has a greater than 50 % likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Interest
and penalties related to uncertain tax positions are recognized in the provision for income taxes. The Company accounts for the
earnings of its foreign subsidiaries, if any, as permanently reinvested and therefore does not provide for U. S. income taxes that
could result from the distribution of those earnings to the U. S. parent. The Company is open to future tax examinations from
2018 to the present; however, carryforward attributes that were generated prior to 2018 may still be adjusted upon examination
by federal, state or local tax authorities to the extent they will be used in a future period. Comprehensive LossComprehensive
loss includes net income ( loss ) as well as other changes in stockholders’ equity €defteity-that result from transactions and
economic events other than those with stockholders. The comprehensive loss for the Company equals its net income ( loss )
plus changes in foreign currency translation and unrealized gains (losses) on avallable- for- sale debt securltles, net of taxes
for all periods presented. Net Income ( Loss ) per Share Bas1c ; v v ;

income (1oss) per share attrlbutable G

-}ess-a&ﬂbu’éab-}e—te-eenﬂﬁ&eﬂ—s’feekhe}defs—by the Werghted average number of shares of common stock outstandrng for the
period. Diluted net income ( loss ) attributable to common stockholders is computed by adjusting net income ( loss )
attributable to common stockholders to reallocate undistributed earnings based on the potential impact of dilutive securities.
Diluted net income ( loss ) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the diluted net income ( loss
) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted- average number of common shares outstanding, including all potentially
dilutive common shares, if the effect of such shares is dilutive . The dilutive effect of outstanding equity incentive awards is
reflected in diluted net income (loss) per share by application of the treasury stock method . In periods in which the
Company reports a net loss attributable to common stockholders, diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
is the same as basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, since dilutive common shares are not assumed to
have been issued if their effect is anti- dilutive. The Company reported anet +28tess-income attributable to common
stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company reported net loss attributable to common stockholders
for the years ended December 31, 2023 ;-and 2022 ard-2624—; accordingly, basic net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders was the same as diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders. The rights, including the
liquidation and dividend rights, of the voting and non- voting common stock are identical, except with respect to voting rights.
As the liquidation and dividend rights are identical, the undistributed earnings are allocated on a proportionate basis to each
class of common stock and the resulting basic and diluted net income ( loss ) per share attributable to common stockholders are,



therefore, the same for both voting and non- voting common stock on both individual and combined basis. Recently Adopted
Accounting PronouncementsThe following Accounting Standards Update ( ASU ) was issued by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (—F—ArS-B)—dnd adopted by F 1lere durlng the year ended December 31 %92—3—2024 ASU %9%9-—94—Refe1=e1=1ee

%92—3A—S-U—2023 07, Segment Reportmo (T0p1c 280) lmprovements to Report"lble Segment Dlsclosures ASU 2023 07
improves reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment
expenses. ASU 2023- 07 also enhances interim disclosure requirements, clarifies circumstances in which an entity can disclose
multiple segment measures of profit or loss, provides new segment disclosure requirements for entities with a single reportable
and contains other disclosure requirements. The Company adopted ASU 2023- 07 retrospectively ts-effeetive-forFlywire-for
the annual period beginning-during the year ended December 31, 2024. The adoption of this standard resulted in
addltlonal dlsclosures for segment reportmg Refer to Note 3- Segment Reporting for additional details on the Janunary+;
e d —Eatly adopmon of ts-permitted—ASU 2023- 07 sheuld-be-appted

6 i . Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted as
%&Ge&m&ny—ts—et&rer&ky—ev&ht&&&g—t%mmp&et—of December 31, 2024ASU this-standard-en-its-consolidated-finanetal
statements-and-diselosures—ASH-2023- 09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures: ASU 2023-
09 requires public business entities to disclose on an annual basis additional information in specified categories with respect to
the reconciliation of the effective tax rate to the statutory rate for federal, state, and foreign income taxes. It also requires greater
detail about individual reconciling items in the rate reconciliation to the extent the impact of those items exceeds a specified
threshold. In addition, ASU 2023- 09 requires disclosure pertaining to taxes paid, net of refunds received, to be disaggregated
for federal, state, and foreign taxes and further disaggregated for specific jurisdictions to the extent the related amounts exceed a
quantitative threshold. ASU 2023- 09 is effective for the Company for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2025. Early
adoption is permitted. ASU 2023- 09 should be applied on a prospective basis. However, companies have the option to apply
the standard retrospectively. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial
statements and disclosures. ASU 2024- 03, Income Statement- Reporting Comprehensive Income- Expense Disaggregation
Disclosures (Subtopic 220- 40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses: ASU 2024- 03 is intended to improve the
disclosures of expenses by providing more detailed information about the types of expenses in commonly presented
expense captions. The ASU requires entities to disclose the amounts of purchases of inventory, employee compensation,
depreciation and intangible asset amortization included in each relevant expense caption; as well as a qualitative
description of the amounts remaining in relevant expense captions that are not separately disaggregated quantitatively.
The amendment also requires disclosure of the total amount of selling expense and, in annual reporting periods, an
entity’ s definition of selling expenses. ASU 2024- 03 is effective for the Company for the annual period beginning on
January 1, 2027, and interim reporting periods within annual reporting periods beginning January 1, 2028. Early
adoption is permitted. The ASU can be applied either prospectively or retrospectively. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. Note 2. Revenue and
Recognition The following table presents revenue disaggregated by geographical area and major solutions. The categorization
of revenue by geographical location is determined based on the location of where the client resides. +29¥ear-Year Ended
December 31, (in thousands) Primary geographical markets Americas $ 221, 616 $ 222, 580 $ 194, 429 $159,-621+-EMEA 188,
869 120, 840 69, 185 34;872-APAC 81,659 59, 674 25, 761 F--456-Total revenue $ 492, 144 $ 403, 094 § 289, 375 $264:149
Major solutions Fransaetiens— Transaction $ 410, 256 $ 329, 721 § 224, 149 $447-994-Platform and usage—basedfees-other
revenues 81, 888 73, 373 65, 226 53;455-Total revenue $ 492, 144 $ 403, 094 $ 289, 375 $264+49-Contract Balances from
Contracts with ClientsThe timing of revenue recognition, billing and cash collection results in billed receivables, unbilled
receivables and deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheet. When fees are received prior to transferring services to the
client under the terms of a contract, deferred revenue, which is a contract liability, is recorded. Contract liabilities are recognized
as revenue when services are performed and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. In certain instances, the
Company delivers services in advance of billing. In this case the Company recognizes unbilled receivables which is not a
contract asset as the Company has an unconditional right for payment. The following table provides information about accounts
receivable, unbilled receivables and deferred revenue from contracts with clients (in thousands): Year Ended December 31,
Accounts receivable, net $ 23,703 $ 18, 215 $43;-697-Unbilled receivables , net 15, 453 10, 689 5;268-Deferred revenue —
current 7, 337 6, 968 5;223-Deferred revenue — non- current For the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company
recognized $ 4-5 . 8 million in revenue from amounts that were included in deferred revenue as of December 31, 2622-2023 . For
the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , the Company recognized § 3-4 . #8 million in revenue from amounts that were
included in deferred revenue as of December 31, 262+2022 . Remaining Performance ObligationsThe Company has
performance obligations associated with certain clients' contracts for future services that have not yet been recognized as
revenue. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to performance obligations that
are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied, including deferred revenue, was approximately $ +6-10 . -8 million. Of the total




remaining performance obligations, the Company expects to recognize approximately 55-62. 0 % within the next year, 23. 6
% after one year through year two and 14 . 4 % swithtna-year-and-44—6-%-over the next twe-three to five years thereafter.
Actual amounts and timing of revenue recognized may differ due to subsequent contract modifications, renewals and / or
terminations. Contract CostsIncremental costs for obtaining contracts that are deemed recoverable are capitalized as contract
costs and are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Such costs result from the payment of sales incentives
and totaled $ 3. 4 million, $ 3. 5 million yand $ 4. 0 million ard-$-0—4mitheras of December 31, 2024, 2023 --and 2022 and
2024, respectively. Capitalized sales incentives are amortized over the period of benefits, which the Company has determined
to be three years. The amortization is included in selling and marketing expense line in the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss, and totaled $ 2. 0 million, $ 1. 2 million ;-and $ 0. 4 mthen-andtessthan-$-0—-million for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 s-and 2022 and2624-, respectively. 436€ests—-- Costs to fulfill a contract are capitalized when
they relate directly to an existing contract or specific anticipated contract, generate or enhance resources that will be used to
fulfill performance obligations and are recoverable. Such costs primarily represent set- up and implementation costs, which
include any direct cost incurred at inception of a contract. The Company capitalized $ 3. 0 million, $ 2. 3 million ;and $ 2. 0
million aad-$+—-4-mithtenof costs in 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2024+, respectively within other assets on the consolidated
balance sheets. These capitalized costs are amortized on a straight- line basis over the expected contract life, which generally is
five years, starting on go- live date. The amortization is included in technology and development expense line in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, and totaled $ 1. 2 million, $ 0. 6 million yand § 1. 8 mithenand
$-0-2-million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 ard2021+, respectively. Included in the amortization
expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 is $ 1. 5 million resulting from the impairment of customer set- up costs
associated with technology integration. Note 3. Segment InformationThe Company has a single operating and reportable
segment. There--- The was-no-impairment-Company’ s chief operating decision maker (CODM) is its Chief Executive
Officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of eapitalized-eontraet-eosts
during-making operating decisions, assessing financial performance and allocating resources. Beginning in 2024 annual
reporting, we adopted ASU 2023- 07 retrospectively. The following table presents the Company' s significant segment
expenses and other segment items for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 26242022 . The CODM does not
regularly review segment asset information for the purpose of assessing performance and making resource allocation
decisions; therefore, such information is not presented. December 31, (in thousands) Revenue Less Ancillary Services (a)
$474,311 5 381,506 $ 267, 047 Less: Payment processing services costs 161, 086 127, 303 85, 512 Personnel expense (b)
154, 969 137, 127 109, 486 Other segment items (c) 81, 247 77, 014 56, 851 Depreciation and amortization expense 18, 541
16, 368 14, 103 Stock- based compensation expense 65, 754 45, 215 31, 317 Interest expense 1, 211 Interest income 21, 440
13, 349 3, 242 Gain (loss) from remeasurement of foreign currency (11, 756) 4, 192 (9, 168) (Benefit from) provision for
income taxes (1, 040) 4, 214 1, 988 Segment income (loss) 2, 900 (8, 566) (39, 347) (a) Revenue less Ancillary Services
represents segment revenue. (b) Personnel expense includes employees' and contractors' compensation in Technology
and development, Selling and marketing and General and administrative operating expenses. (c) Other segments items
included in segment income (loss) includes the following expenses: professional fees, marketing, travel, facilities,
software, acquisition and other general and administrative . Note 3-4 . InvestmentsThe following table summarizes the
estimated fair value of available- for- sale debt securities included within short- term and long- term investments as of
December 31, 2024 (in thousands): December 31, 2024 Gross Amortized Cost Gross Unrealized Gains Gross Unrealized
Losses Allowance for Credit Losses Accrued Interest Receivable Aggregate Fair Value Short- term investments
Corporate bonds $ 61,941 $ $ (3) $ — $ $ 62, 625 U. S. Government obligations 36, 358 (4) — 36, 755 Treasury bill 6,
979 — — — 6, 983 Foreign agency securities 2, 583 — — 2, 607 Commercial paper 6, 877 — — — 6, 878 Total short-
term investments $ 114, 738 $ $ (7) $ — $ $ 115, 848 Long- term investments Corporate bonds $ 22,797 $$ (23) $ —$ $
23,100 U. S. Government obligations 21, 174 (67) — 21, 384 Agency bond 2, 458 — — 2, 469 Asset- backed securities 3,
163 (2) — 3, 172 Total long- term investments $ 49,592 $ $ (92) $ — $ § 50, 125 The following table summarizes the fair
value of the Company maintains-' s available- for- sale debt securities by remaining contractual maturity as of December
31, 2024 (in thousands): Due within one year §$ 115, 848 Due after one year through five years S0, 125 Total investments
$ 165, 973 As of December 31, 2024, approximately 28 out of approximately 152 investments in available- for- sale debt
securities were in an unrealized loss position. The following table shows fair values and gross unrealized losses for
available- for- sale debt securities that were in an unrealized loss position, for which an allowance for credit losses has not
been recorded, as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands): December 31, 2024 Less than 12 Months 12 Months fer—- or
aceotntsrecetvable-and-unbilledreeetvables-Longer Total Fair Value Gross Unrealized Losses Fair Value Gross
Unrealized Losses Fair Value Gross Unrealized Losses Short- term investments Corporate bonds $ 6,002 $ (3) $ —$ —
$6,002 $ (3) U . S. Government obligations 2, 010 (4) — — 2, 010 (4) Total short- term investments $ 8, 012 $ (7) $ —$
—$38,012 $ (7) Long- term investments Corporate bonds $ 12,648 $ (23) $ —$ — $ 12, 648 $ (23) U. S. Government
obligations 13, 845 (67) — — 13, 845 (67) Asset- backed securities (2) — — (2) Total long- term investments $ 27, 492 §
(92) $ —$—$27,492 $ (92) Unrealized losses have not been recognized into income (loss) as the Company neither
intends to sell, nor anticipates that it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell, the securities
before recovery of their amortized cost basis. The decline in fair value is due primarily to Changes-changes in the
aHewanee-for-market interest rates, rather than credit losscs for-. Based on the evaluation of available evidence, the
Company does not believe any unrealized losses represent the-other than temporary impairments. During the years— year
ended December 31, 2623-2024 , 2622-the Company received proceeds of $ 29. 6 million from the sale and 2021+-were-as
follows-(irrthousands)y-maturity of short- term and long- term investments. There have been no significant realized gains
or losses on the sale of short- term and long- term investments during the Year-year Ended-ended December 31, 2024.
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Value Mcasulununl& The following lablus present the Company’ s fair value hlLl‘dthy for its lmdnual assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-(in thousands): Measured at NAV
as of December 31, 2024: Measured at Fair Value as of December 31, 2024: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Financial
Assets: Cash equivalents: Money market funds $ 139, 545$ —$ —$ — § 139, 545 Foreign exchange contracts — — —
Short- term investments Corporate bonds — — 62, 625 — 62, 625 U. S. Government obligations — — 36, 755 — 36, 755
Treasury bill —— 6, 983 — 6, 983 Foreign agency securities — — 2, 607 — 2, 607 Commercial paper — — 6, 878 — 6,
878 Total short- term investments — — 115, 848 — 115, 848 Long- term investments Corporate bonds — — 23, 100 —
23,100 U. S. Government obligations — — 21, 384 — 21, 384 Agency bond — — 2, 469 — 2, 469 Asset- backed
securities — — 3, 172 — 3, 172 Total long- term investments — — 50, 125 — 50, 125 Total financial assets $ 139, 545 §
— $ 165,973 $ $ 305, 567 Financial Liabilities: Contingent consideration $ —$ —$ —$ 5, 094 $ 5, 094 Total financial
liabilities § —$ —$— 985,094 $ 5, 094 Measured at NAV as of December 31, 2023: Measured at Fair Value as of December
31,2023: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Financial Assets: Cash equivalents: Money market funds $ 372,912 —$—§ —§
372,912 Foreign exchange contracts — — — Total financial assets $ 372, 912§ — § — § § 372, 928 Financial Liabilities:
(ontmgml consideration $ —$ —$—§ 2, 882 S 2, 882 Total financial liabilities S —$ —$ — 52,882 § 2, 882 Meas'dfeé

465—$—1—465—DL111110 1hc ycals mdui Duunbu 31,2024, 2()"? —and "()22 &ﬁd—?}e%l— there were no llansicls bu\x een Lu Ll 1,
Level 2 or Level 3. 3+Contingent—-- Contingent consideration StadybinkThe-InvoicedThe fair value of the contingent
consideration related to the revenue and-vetame-of money-movement-milestones from the Company’ s acquisition of Invoiced
was determined using an option pricing model and the fair value of the contingent consideration related to the cross- selling,
product and security and IT milestones was determined using a scenario- based method. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company made a payment of contingent consideration of $ 1. 1 million based on Invoiced' s
successful and timely achievement of the contracted milestones. Refer to Note 9- Business Combinations for additional
details on the Invoiced acquisition. The following table presents the unobservable inputs incorporated into the valuation
of contingent consideration as of December 31, 2024. Year Ended December 31, 2024Discount rate 6. 47 %- 6. 59 %
Probability of successful achievement * 4 %- 100 % * Probability of successful
achievement was set at different targets based on the Company’ s estimates on achieving them. The weighted average
probability of successful achievement as of December 31, 2024 was 65. 1 %. Increases or decreases in the discount rate
would result in a lower or higher fair value measurement, respectively. Increases or decreases in any of the probabilities
of success in which the revenue, cross- selling, product and security and IT milestones are expected to be achieved would
result in higher or lower fair value measurement, respectively. StudyLinkThe fair value of the contingent consideration
related to the revenue milestone from the Company’ s acquisition of StudyLink was determined using an option pricing
model and the fair value of the contingent consideration related to the volume of money movement, the cross- selling and
engineering implementation milestones was determined using a scenario- based method. Refer to Note -9 - Business
Combinations for additional details on the StudyLink acquisition. The following table presents the unobservable inputs
incorporated into the valuation of contingent consideration as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. Year Ended December 31,
2623 Diseount—--- Discount rate 6. 3 %- 8 2 % 7.4%-7.5 % PIObdbllllV of successful dthC\ ement * 0 %- 100 % 29 %- 95

of &ucucss[ul achievement was xu at different targets bdsui on the Company’ s best-estimates on achieving lhun The welghted
average probability of successful achievement as of December 31, 2024 was 42. 3 %. Increases or decreases in the discount
rate would result in a lower or higher fair value measurement, respectively. Increases or decreases in any of the probabilities of
success in which the speetfie-pestrevenue, volume, cross - aeqtisitionselling and the engineering implementation
milestones were-are cxpuud to be dchlu ed w ould ILSI.ll[ in g-higher or 10\\ er fair \dlLlL measurement, uspucm le




fespeet-wel-y—The follow1ng table summarizes the Changes in the carrying Value of the contlngent conslderatlon for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-2624—(in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Beginning balance $ 2, 882 $
1,332$ 11,309 -$—1—2,%99—Additions 4,508 2, 703 1, 695 3;:-549-Change in fair value ( 978) (2, 805) 2;-263-Contingent
consideration paid * (1, 125) (1, 674) (8, 664 3HF0+2-) Foreign currency translation adjustment ( 193) ( 203) Ending balance $
5,094 $ 2,882 % 1,332 $H5309-* For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard202+-, contingent consideration paid
has been bifurcated between the financing and operating sections of the consolidated statement of cash flows. Amounts paid up
to the fair value initially recorded in purchase accounting is reported in the financing section of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, while any excess is reported in the operating section of the consolidated statement of cash flows. For the year ended
December 31, 2022, contingent consideration paid has been bifurcated among the investing, financing and operating sections of
the consolidated statement of cash flows. Contingent consideration paid within three months after the acquisition date of Cohort
Go is reported in the investing section of the consolidated statement of cash flows given the proximity to the acquisition date.
Amounts paid up to the fair value initially recorded in purchase accounting is reported in the financing section of the
consolidated statement of cash flows, while any excess is reported in the operating section of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Note 5-6 . Derivative Instruments As part of the Company’ s foreign currency risk management program, the Company
uses foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate the volatility related to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates. These
foreign currency forward contracts are not designated as hedging instruments. Derivative transactions such as foreign currency
forward contracts are measured in terms of the notional amount; however, this amount is not recorded on the consolidated
balance sheets and is not, when viewed in isolation, a meaningful measure of the risk profile of the derivative instruments. The
notional amount is generally not exchanged but is used only as the underlying basis on which the value of foreign exchange
payments under these contracts is determined. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, the Company had 18, 858 and 12,
737 andH58+6-open foreign exchange contracts, respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, the Company
had foreign currency forward contracts outstanding with a notional amount of $ 43. 3 million and $ 36. | milienand$547F
million, respectively. The Company records all derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets at their fair values. For
the yeatr-years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded an asset of less than $ 0. 1 million and-for-the-year
ended-Deeember31-, 2022 respectively , the-Companyreeorded-atiability-of $-0—-mitlienrclated to outstanding foreign
exchange contracts. The Company recognized a loss of $ 1. 7 million, $ 2. 0 million ;-and $ 1. 6 mitherand-$0-8-million
during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-26824-, respectively, which was included in the general and
administrative line within the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Note 6-7 . Accrued Expenses and
Other Current Liabilities Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following as of the dates presented (in
thousands): Year Ended December 31, Accrued employee compensation and related taxes $ 17,950 $ 19, 748 $146;,944
Accrued vendor liabilities 3, 992 4, 193 3;3484-Accrued income and other non- employee related taxes 8, 699 6, 270 5,06+
Accrued professional services 1, 879 2, 139 45#23-Current portion of operating lease liabilities 1, 719 1, 465 +Current portion
of contingent consideration 4 , 867113 2, 053 Other accrued expenses and current liabilities 9-10 , 566-5-945 7 , 844-447 $ 49,
297 $ 43, 315 Note 8 $34,4231433Nete-F-. Property and Equipment, net Property and equipment, net consisted of the following
as of the dates presented (dollars in thousands): Estimated Useful Life December 31, (Years) Computer equipment and software
3-5%3,68+907 $ 3, 495-681 Internal- use software 23,378 18, 135 -1-3—1—3—1—Fu1n1ture and fixtures Leasehold improvements
Shorter oflease termor useful life 5, 456 5, 431 4-33 , 645 764-Construetion-inprogress—28, 159 22243 ess: Accumulated
depreciation and amortization * ( 16, 485) ( 13, 025) €S—$ 17,160 896)-5 15, 134 * For the year ended December 31, 2024,
accumulated depreciation and amortization expense included $ +3-(348) thousand of computer disposalsand $ (1 , 347*
290) thousand of foreign currency translation adjustments. For the year ended December 31, 2023, accumulated
deprecmtlon and amortlzatlon expenqe 1ncluded $ (167) thou%and of computer ésp%ﬂs%—— dlsposals and $ 54 t-heﬂsa-nd-e-f

Depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of internal- used eoftware was $ 5.1 mllllon, $ 4.2 mllhon —and $ 3.
2 mithenand-$23-million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and202+ respectively. The Company
capitalized $ 5. -2 million and $ 5. 70 million in costs related to internal- use software during the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2022-. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, the carrying value of internal- used software was $
15. 4 million and $ 12. 7 mithenand-$+0-6-million, respectively. Amortization expense related to internal- used software was
$ 3. 6 million, $ 2. 9 million yand $ 1. 6 million and-$-0-8-for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and2021+-,
respectively. Geographic Information The following table summarizes the Company’ s property and equipment, net based on
geography (in thousands): December 31, Long- lived assets: U. S. $ 15,903 $ 13, 503 $H5-655-U. K. Other countries 1, 204 1,
52648$17 ,466-160 $ 15, 134 -$—1-3—3—1—7—N0te 89 . Business CombinationsStudyLinkOnNovember3
CombinationsInvoicedOn August 2 , 2623-2024 , Flywire ;threugh-ene-ifitsAustralianentities Flywire Paetfie Pty bte
acquired all of the issued and outstandlng shares of Studybini-Invoiced , anAustralian-a U. S. - based SaaS edueationrB2B
company that provides accounts receivable software that automates all aspects of billing, collections, payments, reporting
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subseqtentto-the purchase price alloumon peﬂed—m—t-he—Gemp&ny’—s-epefaﬁﬂg—was adjusted to reflect a working capital true-
up. This restltsresulted ina $ 0 fhe—peﬂed—rrrvv%neh—fhe—&djttsfmefﬁs-&fe—deteiﬂﬂed- 1 million decrease Anypotentiat

in refationto-the preliminary-vatuespresented-cash consideration, net of cash acquired
and a $ 0. 1 million decrease to goodwill from the quarter ended September 30, 2024 to the year ended December 31,

2024. The adjusted purchase price allocation is reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024 and
purchase price allocation below . Pursuant to the terms of the business combination agreement, the Company acquired
StudybinkeInvoiced for estimated total purchase consideration of approximately $ 3753 . 6-2 million or $ 35-51 . 5-7 million,
net of cash dcqunui which consisted of (in thousands): Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 3247 , 764-229 Estimated
fair value of contingent consideration 2-4 , #64-508 Total purchase consideration, net of cash acquired $ 35-51 , 465-Contingent
737 The purchase consideration includes ;-whieh-totals-ap-te-approximately-$ 2. 0 million of acquisition holdback payments
payable on the first and second anniversary dates of the acquisition. The business combination agreement provides for
contingent consideration of up to $ 7 . S million, with an estimated fair value of $ 4. S million on the date of acquisition,
and represents additional payments that Flywire may be required to make in the future which are dependent upon the
Studybink's-successful achievement of certain targets related to revenue and svetame;cross- selling and-engineering

implementatiorrof the Invoiced software as well as milestones related &ﬂd—rs—s-ubjeet—to exeha-nge—fa-te—ﬂ-uefu&&eﬁ—adjﬁsfmeﬂf
betrweeﬁ—thc Invmced software product U—S—Be-l-}&r—and securlty Atistra p nofeontingent-considerats

&fe—ﬁ*ed—eﬁ—t-he—d&te—e%&eqt&srtwteﬂ—and IT mtegratlon paryable-enty+ O - iFad
lm yuar ended Duumbu‘ 31 %92—3—2024 the C ompany e*peﬂsed—made a contmgent c0n51derat10n payment 0f % 9—1 2—1

-rn—t-he—Gemp&ﬂ-y—s successful eeﬂsehéa-ted-sta%emeﬂts-e-ﬁﬂaefaﬁeﬂs—dnd tlmely achlevement of eeﬂ&pfeheﬂswe—}ess—aﬂd—a

habilityis-reeorded-inracerned-expenses-and-other—- the contracted milestones eurrenttabilities-on-the-consotidated-batanee
sheet-. During the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company incurred $ 0. 76 million in transaction costs, which are

included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The table
summarizes lhu pfel-i-m-i-ﬁ&ry—dlloumon of the purchase consideration to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in
thousands): Cash § 2-1 , 418 +08-Aeeountsteeetvable2762-Prepaid expenses and other current assets Other assets Geodwi
207-765-Identifiable intangible assets +9-26 , $53-100 Goodwill 31, 818 Total assets acquired 45-59 , #53-566 Deferred tax
liabilities 2-4 , 663-923 Deferred revenue 2-1 , 654-037 Accounts payable and Aeerued-accrued expenses and-other-eurrent
habtities2-004-Total liabilities assumed 8-6 , +86-411 Net assets acquired 35593 53, 155 Less: cash acquired 2-1 , +68-418
Net assets, less cash acquired $ 35-51 , 465-737 Goodwill arising from the acquisition of $ 268-31 . 9 million was attributable to
the assembled workforce of Stadybink-Invoiced and the synergies expected to arise from the acquisition. No Fhe-Compatny
expeets-thatno-goodwill from this acquisition will be deductible for income tax purposes. The following table reflects the
estimated-fair values of the identified intangible assets of Stadybink-Invoiced and their IL\DLLII\ ew uglllui average estimated
amortization periods. +35Estimated-Fair FairValaes—--- Values Weighted-

AverageAmortizationPeriods (in thousands) (years) Developed technology $ 7, 100 Acquired relationships 18, 600 Trade
name / Trademark § 26, 100 The results of Invoiced have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the
date of the acquisition. Invoiced contributed $ 2. 4 million in platform revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024.
The Company has not disclosed net income or loss since the acquisition date as the business was fully integrated into the
consolidated Company' s operations and therefore it was impracticable to determine this amount. Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial InformationThe following unaudited pro forma financial information shows the results of the Company’ s
operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2023. The
unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for information purposes only and is not necessarily indicative
of what would have occurred if the acquisition had occurred as of that date. The unaudited pro forma information is
also not intended to be a projection of future results due to the integration of the acquired operations of Invoiced. The
unaudited pro forma information reflects the effects of applying the Company’ s accounting policies and certain pro
forma adjustments to the combined historical financial information of the Company and Invoiced. The pro forma
adjustments include:  incremental amortization expense associated with the estimated fair value of identified intangible
assets; * incremental employee compensation expense for Invoiced employees; * transaction costs; and ¢ the estimated tax
impact of the above items. Year Ended December 31, 2024 Year Ended December 31, 2023 Actual Pro Forma Actual Pro
Forma (in thousands) Revenue $ 492, 144 $ 495, 412 $ 403, 094 $ 408, 325 Net income (loss) $2,900 $ 1, 623 $ (8, 566) $
(11, 233) StudyLinkOn November 3, 2023, Flywire, through one of its Australian subsidiaries Flywire Pacific Pty Ltd.,



acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of StudyLink, an Australian- based SaaS education company that
provides platforms to education providers to support their student admissions systems and processes, including features
such as eligibility assessment, offer generation, recruitment agent and commission management and acceptance
processing. The acquisition of StudyLink was intended to accelerate the Company' s growth in the Australian higher
education market and enhance the Company' s value proposition to payers, universities and agents in the higher
education ecosystem. The acquisition of StudyLink has been accounted for as a business combination. During the first
quarter of 2024, the Company completed its purchase accounting and recorded an immaterial net working capital
adjustment. Pursuant to the terms of the business combination agreement, the Company acquired StudyLink for
estimated total purchase consideration of approximately $ 37. 6 million or $ 35. 5 million, net of cash acquired, which
consisted of (in thousands): Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 32, 764 Estimated fair value of contingent
consideration 2, 701 Total purchase consideration, net of cash acquired $ 35, 465 The business combination agreement
provides for contingent consideration up to $ 3. 9 million, with an estimated fair value of $ 2. 7 million on the date of
acquisition, and represents additional payments that Flywire may be required to make in the future which are dependent
upon StudyLink' s successful achievement of revenue, volume, cross- selling and engineering implementation milestones
and is subject to exchange rate fluctuation adjustment between the U. S. Dollar and Australian Dollar. A portion of
contingent consideration can be paid in the form of cash or shares of common stock, at the Company' s option.
Additional payments in the form of shares of common stock will be made based on the continuing employment of a key
employee; accordingly, the fair value of $ 2. 4 million, or approximately 84, 000 shares of common stock, have been
excluded from the purchase consideration. These shares were fixed on the date of acquisition and payable only in
common stock, therefore are equity- classified. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company
expensed $ 1. 2 million and $ 0. 2 million, respectively, in stock- based compensation associated with retention of the key
employee. The stock- based compensation expense is included in the Company’ s consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss and additional paid- in capital on the consolidated balance sheet. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Company incurred $ 0. 7 million in transaction costs, which are included in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The table summarizes the
allocation of the purchase consideration to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in thousands): Cash § 2, 108
Accounts receivable 2, 762 Prepaid expenses and other current assets Other assets Goodwill 20, 705 Identifiable
intangible assets 19, 553 Total assets acquired 45, 753 Deferred tax liabilities 2, 663 Deferred revenue 2, 654 Accounts
payable Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 2, 004 Total liabilities assumed 8, 180 Net assets acquired 37, 573
Less: cash acquired 2, 108 Net assets, less cash acquired $ 35, 465 Goodwill arising from the acquisition of $ 20. 7 million
was attributable to the assembled workforce of StudyLink and the synergies expected to arise from the acquisition. No
goodwill from this acquisition will be deductible for income tax purposes. The following table reflects the fair values of
the identified intangible assets of StudyLink and their respective weighted- average amortization periods. FairValues
Weighted- Average AmortizationPeriods (in thousands) (years) Developed technology $ 7, 397 Custemer-Acquired
relationships 12, 027 Trade Name / Trademark $ 19, 553 The results of StudyLink have been included in the consolidated
financial statements since the date of the acquisition. StudyLink contributed $ 7. 6 million and $ 1. 4 million in platform
revenue during the year-years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company has not disclosed net income or loss since
the acquisition date as the business was fully integrated into the consolidated Company’ s operations and therefore it was
impracticable to determine this amount. Unaudited Pro Forma Financial InformationThe following unaudited pro forma
financial information shows the results of the Company’ s operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 as if the
acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2022. The unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for information
purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what would have occurred if the acquisition had occurred as of that date. The
unaudited pro forma information is also not intended to be a projection of future results due to the integration of the acquired
operations of StudyLink. The unaudited pro forma information reflects the effects of applying the Company’ s accounting
policies and certain pro forma adjustments to the combined historical financial information of the Company and StudyLink. The
pro forma adjustments include: ¢ incremental amortization expense associated with the estimated fair value of identified
intangible assets; ¢ incremental employee compensation expense for StudyLink employees; ¢ transaction costs; and  the
estimated tax impact of the above items. Year Ended December 31, 2023 Year Ended December 31, 2022 Actual Pro Forma
Actual Pro Forma (in thousands) Revenue $ 403, 094 $ 409, 161 $ 289, 375 $ 295, 325 Net Fess-loss $ (8, 566) $ (10, 369) $
(39, 347) § (41, 824) Cohort GoOn July 13, 2022, Flywire acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Cohort Go, an
Australian- based education payments provider that simplifies the student recruitment process by bringing together students,
agents and essential student services such as health insurance into one platform. The acquisition of Cohort Go contributed to the
Company' s global expansion and accelerated the growth of Flywire' s agent related revenue, in which Flywire partners with
agents who refer students to the Company. The agent related revenue is reported as transaction revenue for Flywire, while the
health insurance 1elated revenue is 1ep01ted as pldtform revenue. The dcqumtlon of Cohort Go has been accounted for as a

of the business Lombmdtlon agreement, the Company dcquned Cohort Go for estlmated tOtdl purchase LOHSldeldthll of $ 3—3—9
mittenrer$23. | million, which consisted of $ 17. 1 million in cash consideration, nct of cash acquired, whicheonsisted-of<



$ 4. 3 million in thousands)—136Cash-shares of common stock and up to $ 2. 2 million of contingent consideration, with an
net-of eashaequired- $17 140 Estimated-estimated fair valuc of § sh&fes—ef—eeﬁafﬁeﬁ—steele‘%s&mafed—fatwa}ue—ef
eontingent-eonsideration-1 . 7 million on the acquisition date. 5 :
422-Contingent consideration, which totaled up to $ 1. 7 million repIesented addltlonal payments thdt Flywire was required to
make, in the form of cash or shares of common stock at the Company' s option, which were dependent upon Cohort Go's
achievement of specific post- anUISlthH mllestones and were subject to exclmnge rate ﬂuctuatlon ad]ustment between the U. S.
Dollar dnd Australian Dollar. g attor : A-cla

Durmo the years ended Decembel 31,2023 dnd 2022 the Company made a payment of
contingent consideration of $ 1. 7 million and $ 0. 5 million, respectively, in the form of cash, based on Cohort Go' s successful
and timely achievement of the contracted milestones. No additional contingent consideration is due or payable with respect to
the Cohort Go acquisition. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred $ 0. 6 million in transaction costs,
which are 1nc1uded in general dnd administrative expenses in the consolidated stdtements of operatlons and Comprehensn e loss.

-1-6—498—T—he—results of Cohort Go have been mcluded in the consolldqted fmdncml stdtements since the date of the anUISlthH
Cohort Go contributed $ 14. 5 million in transaction revenue and $ 9. 3 million in platform revenue during the year ended
December 31, 2024, § 16. 6 million in transaction revenue and $ 10. 4 million in platform revenue during the year ended
December 31, 2023 and $ 6. 4 million in transaction revenue and $ 3. 3 million in platform revenue during the year ended
December 31, 2022. The Company has not disclosed net income or loss since the acquisition date as the +3Fbusifress—--
business was fully integrated into the consolidated Company’ s operations and therefore it was impracticable to determine this
amount. Unaudited Pro Forma Financial InformationThe following unaudited pro forma financial information shows the results
of the Company’ s operations for the ears— year ended December 31, 2022 and2624-as if the acquisition had occurred on
January 1, 2021. The unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for information purposes only and is not
necessarily indicative of what would have occurred if the acquisition had occurred as of that date. The unaudited pro forma
information is also not intended to be a projection of future results due to the integration of the acquired operations of Cohort
Go. The unaudited pro forma information reflects the effects of applying the Company’ s accounting policies and a pro forma
adjustment to the combined historical financial information of the Company and Cohort Go, which includes incremental
amortization expense associated with the estimated fair value of identified intangible assets. Year Ended December 31, 2022
¥e&r—Eﬂéed—Beeeﬁrber—34—2924—Aeﬁlﬂl—Pfe—Fefma—Actudl P10 Forma (m thouscmds) Re\ enue $ 289, 375 $ 301, 892 -$%9—1—1-49




s’fa-teﬂ‘reﬂts—rﬂ-aﬂy—peﬂed-pfeseﬁfed—Note 9—10 (JOOdV\ 111 dnd Auqmred lntdnuble Assets (JOOdV\ 111The follo“ ing tdble

summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622(in
thousands): Year Ended December 31, Beginning balance $ 121, 646 $ 97, 766 $85:-84+-Goodwill related to acquisitions 31,
818 20, 705 +6;49FForeign currency translation adjustment (3, 906) 3, 175 ¢45272)-Ending balance $ 149,558 $ 121, 646 &
97-766-Acquired Intangible AssetsAcquired intangible assets subject to amortization consisted of the following ( dellars in
thousands): December 31, 2024 Gross CarryingValue * AccumulatedAmortization * * Net CarryingAmount
WeightedAverageRemaining Life (Years) Developed Technology $ 45, 546 $ (26, 312) $ 19, 234 4. 90 Acquired
Relationships 120, 119 (21, 104) 99, 015 10. 12 Trade Name / Trademark (89) 3. 30 $ 166, 189 $ (47, 505) $ 118, 684 *
Includes $ (4, 394) thousand of foreign currency translation adjustments. * * Includes $ 410 thousand of foreign
currency translation adjustments. December 31, 2023 Gross CarryingValue * Accumulated Amortization * * Net
CarryingAmount WeightedAv elaoeRemammg Life (Years) Developed Technology $ 39, 624 $ (21, 446) $ 18, 178 4. 71
Acquired Relationships 104, 007 (14, 143) 89, 864 11. 04 Trade Name / Trademark — 1. 83 § 143,767 § (35, 589) $ 108, 178 *
Incl udes $ (750) thousand of fmewn currency tmnslatlon ddjustments ** Includes $ (4 ) 10usand of foreign currency

D
P PPN wdes$ 4

Amortization e‘q)ense for the years ended Degember 31 2024 2023 s-and 2022 aﬂd%@%l—\x as ‘{> 12. 3 mllllon, $1 5 million 5
and $ 9. 1 million and-$-6—Fmithen, respectively. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the estimated annual dmOItlZdthH expense
of intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafter is expected to be as follows (in thousands):

Estimated AmortizationExpense $ 13, 424 13, 473 13,323 13, 119 12, 251 Thereafter 53,094 $ 118, 684 Note 11 . Debt 2024
Revolving Credit FacilityOn February 23 , 984-2024, the Company entered into a five- year senior secured 2024
Revolving Credit Facility with four banks for a total commitment of $ +2-125 . 0 million. The 2024 Revolving Credit
Facility provides for an incremental facility in an amount equal to $ 50. 0 million plus 100 % of Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA based on the most recent consolidated financial information. In addition , 2451++-521+-the 2024 Revolving
Credit Facility includes a $ 10 . 0 million letter of credit sub- facility and a § 5. 0 million swingline sub- facility , 947with
available borrowings under the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility reduced by the amount of any letters of credit and
swingline borrowings outstanding from time to time. The 2024 Revolving Credit Facility is guaranteed by Flywire’ s
current and future material domestic subsidiaries. The 2024 Revolving Credit Facility replaced the three- year senior
secured 2021 Revolving Credit Facility of $ S0. 0 million entered into in July 2021, under which $ 50. 0 million was
available to Flywire as of December 31, 2023. Three of the lenders under the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility were existing
lenders under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility. In connection with the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility, the Company
incurred debt issuance costs of $ 0. 8 million. Debt issuance costs related to the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility are
amortized on a straight- line basis over the contractual term of the agreement and are presented as a component of other
assets on the Company' s consolidated balance sheets. Debt issuance costs of $ 0. 1 million related to the 2021 Revolving
Credit Facility will continue to be amortized on a straight- line basis over the contractual term of the new agreement and
are presented as a component of other assets on the Company' s consolidated balance sheets. The exchange of the 2021
Revolving Credit Facility with the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility from the same lenders was accounted for as a
modification. The 2024 Revolving Credit Facility consists of Alternate Base Rate (ABR) borrowings or Term Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) borrowings, at the Company’ s option. ABR borrowings bear interest at the ABR plus
the applicable rate. Term SOFR borrowings bear interest at the Adjusted Term SOFR for the interest period plus the
applicable rate. The ABR rate is based on the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate, (b) the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 1 /
2 of 1 %, or (c) the Adjusted Term SOFR for a one- month interest period, plus 1 %. The Adjusted Term SOFR is equal
to the sum of (a) Term SOFR for such interest period, plus (b) the SOFR adjustment of 0. 10 % ;598 Thereafter 50,-883-%
108178 Note10-. Rate—The applicable rate swas-is based upon the Company’ s heuidity-consolidated total net leverage ratio
as of the most recent consolidated financial information and ranged-ranges from 1. 0 #5-% to 2. 25-5 %.The 2024 Revolving
Credit Facility incurs a commitment fee ranging from 0.25 % to 0.35 % based upon the Company’ s heuidity-consolidated total
net leverage ratio as of the most recent consolidated financial information assessed on the average sndrawirportion-ofthe
available commitment.The 2024 Revolving Credit Facility contains customary affirmative and negative covenants and
restrictions typical for a financing of this type that,among other things,require the Company to satisfy certain financial
covenants and restrict the Company” s ability to incur additional debt;pay-dividendsDebt-debt the-Companys-ability-to-inetr
addittenal-debt- pay dividends and make distributions,make certain investments and acquisitions,repurchase its stock and prepay
certain indebtedness,create liens,enter into agreements with affiliates,modify the nature of its business,enter into sale- leaseback
transactions,transfer and sell material assets and merge or consolidate.Non- compliance with one or more of the covenants and
restrictions could result in the full or partial principal balance of the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility becoming immediately due
and payable and termination of the commitments. The Company was in compliance with all covenants associated with the 2024
Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31,2024.2021 Revolving Credit FacilityOn July 29, 2021, the Company entered into
a-three-- the 2021 —yearsentorseenred-Revolving Credit Facility with three banks for a total commitment of $ 50. 0 million.
The 2021 Revolving Credit Facility iretades-included a $ 5. 0 million letter of credit sub- facility and a § 5. 0 million swingline
sub- facility, with available borrowings under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility reduced by the amount of any letters of credit



and swingline borrowings outstanding from time to time. The 2021 Revolving Credit Facility +s-was guaranteed by Flywire’ s
material domestic subsidiaries. The 2021 Revolving Credit Facility eensists-consisted of ABR loans or Eurodollar Borrowings,
at the Company’ s option. On June 23, 2023, the Company executed the First Amendment to the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility
to transition determination of the interest rate from the LIBOR benchmark rate to the SOFR benchmark rate effective June 30,
2023. As In accordance with the First Amendment,...... asqomated Wlth the Revolvmg Credlt F acﬂlty as of December 31, 2024

, there was no outstandnm mdebtedness undel the 2024
Revolving Credit Facility or the 2021 Revolving C Iedlt Facility. lnterest expense for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 yand 2022 and2024-was $ 0. 5 million, $ 0. 4 million;-and $ 1. 2 mitherand-$2-0-million, respectively. Included in
interest expense for the years ended December 31 2024 2023 —and 2022 aﬁd%@%l—ls $ 0 2 mllllon, $0.3 m11110n —and $ 0.3
mllhon aﬁd—$—9—3—n=n-1-heﬂ-0f amortization of debtis e ; vely- :

mithenineonneetton-with-the-issuanee-of the ESA-, respectively whieh
-rﬂtefest—n&et-hed—ever—t-he—tefm—ef—t-he—}e&ﬂ— Letter of Credlt On-May

December 31 2024 and 2023 the Company had an outstanding and unused letter of c1ed1t in the amount of approxmlately $ 2
5 million and $ 0. 7 million respectlvely, for the purpose of protecting a third- party service provider against default on
payroll payments. The letter of credit expires-may be terminated at any time by the Company upon notice. Note H-12 .
Stockholders” Equity {Pefteiy-Preferred Stock The freonneetton-with-the HOthe-Company’ s current amended and restated
certificate of incorporation beeame-effeetive-, which was filed on May 28, 2021, authorizes the issuance of 10, 000, 000 shares
of undesignated preferred stock with a par value of $ 0. 0001 per share with rights and preferences, including voting rights,
designated from time to time by the board of directors. Common Stock The Ineenneetion-with-the HOthe-Company’ s current
amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of 2, 000, 000, 000 shares of voting common stock
with a par value of $ 0. 0001 per share and 10, 000, 000 shares of non- voting common stock with a par value of $ 0. 0001 per
share. The voting and non- voting shares are identical, except that holders of voting common stock are entitled to one vote for
each share on each matter properly submitted to the Company’ s stockholders for their vote, while holders of non- voting
common stock are not entitled to vote on such matters. Holders of voting common stock and non- voting common stock are
entitled to receive any dividends as may be declared from time to time by the board of directors. As of December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022- no cash dividends have been declared or paid. Holders of the Company' s veting common stock have no
conversion rights while each share of non- voting common stock automatically converts into common stock on a one- to- one
basis without the payment of additional consideration upon the transfer thereof in (i) a widespread public distribution, including
pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act, (ii) a transfer (including a private placement or a sale pursuant to Rule 144 under
the Securities Act) in which no one party acquires the right to purchase 2 % or more of any class of voting securities (as such
term is used for the purposes of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended), (iii) an assignment to a single party (for
example, a broker or investment banker) for the purposes of conducting a widespread public distribution, or (iv) to a party who
would control more than 50 % of the Company' s voting securities without giving effect to the shares of non- voting common
stock H4ttransferred—-- transferred by the holder. Other than in the event of such transfers, shares of non- voting common
stock shall not be convertible into any other security. Share Repurchase ProgramOn August 6 During-the-year-ended
Deeember3+, 2622-2024 , 4 1H5;-658shares-of-the Company *s-announced a share repurchase program of up to $ 150
million of outstanding voting and non- voting common stock eenverted-nte-for an indefinite period as part of the
Company’ s capital deployment strategy (Repurchase Program). Repurchases under the Repurchase Program may be
made from time to time through open market purchases, in privately negotiated transactions or by other means,
including through the use of trading plans intended to qualify under Rule 10bS- 1 under the Securities Exchange Act of



1934, as amended, in accordance with applicable securities laws and other restrictions, including Rule 10b- 18. The
timing, value and number of shares repurchased will be determined by the Company in its discretion and will be based
on various factors, including an evaluation of current and future capital needs, current and forecasted cash flows, the
Company’ s capital structure, cost of capital and prevailing stock prices, general market and economic conditions,
applicable legal requirements, and compliance with covenants in the Company’ s credit facility that may limit share
repurchases based on defined leverage ratios. The Repurchase Program does not obligate the Company to purchase a
specific number of, or any, shares and may be modified, suspended or terminated at any time without notice at the
Company’ s discretion. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company repurchased 2, 386, 856 shares of its
common stock eafor an aggregate amount, including commissions and accrued excise tax, of $ 45. 6 million under the
Repurchase Program. The repurchased shares are currently being held as treasury stock. As of December 31, 2024,
approximately $ 104. 9 million of the originally authorized amount under the Repurchase Program remained available
for future repurchases. All of the Company’ s repurchases are subject to a one percent excise tax enacted by —to—one
basis-upoen-the sale-Inflation Reduction Act of sueh-2022 (the IRA). The amount of share repurchases subject to the excise
tax are reduced by the fair market value of any shares issued during the taxable year. For the year ended December 31,
2024, the Company accrued $ 0. 5 million of related excise tax pursuant to the IRA which is included in the cost of
treasury stock on our consolidated balance sheet . Treasury StockThe Company may issue treasury stock to cover the
exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock units related to equity incentive plans. The Company issued 30, 927 and
2,677 Uedsuly shares at an average cost 01‘ $ 0. 32 per share during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 —Ne-treasury
dd h , 2022-respectively . The Company intends to issue treasury shares as

long as an adequdte numbe1 of those shdres is av allable Comprehensive LossComprehensive loss includes all changes in

equity during 2023-FeHow—OnPublie-OfferingOnAugust 14,2023 -the period and Companysold-8;-006,-000-shares-ofits—
is Veﬁng—eeﬂﬂa&eﬂ—steelecomprlsed of net income (loss) and other comprehenswe income (loss) Accumulated other

Pt s-ofthe ( Ompdny S consolndated balance sheets for ve&ng—eefnmeﬁ—steele
-rn—eaeh—rnst&nee—&t—a—pﬂee—te—the pub-l-te—year ended December 31, 2024 consists of foreign currency translation adjustment

and the unrealized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, on available- for- sale debt securities. The following table
summarizes the changes in AOCI for the year ended December 31, 2024 (in thousands): Unrealized Gainson Available-
for- sale Dethecurltles, net F orelgn CurrencyTranslatlonAdjustment Estlmated Tax (Expense) Beneﬁt Total Beglnnlng

0 : e oS ‘{a 1+, 320 $ = $ 1 'lﬂl'l'l'lﬁ'ﬁ—A'S- 320 Other comprehenswe income
(loss) before reclass1ﬁcat10ns (3 594) — (3 386) Less: Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from AOCI — — — — Net
current period other comprehensive income (loss) (3, 594) — (3, 386) Ending balance $ $ (2,274) $ — $ (2, 066) Changes
in AOCI for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of foreign currency translation adjustment only. Refer
to the Company' s consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity for the changes in AOCI for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022. Reserved Shares of Common Stock for Future IssuanceAs of December 31, 2024 , the
Company had reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows: Issued and outstanding stock options §-6 , 167
199 , 86+369 Issued and outstanding restricted stock units 4-6 , 436-016 , 725-838 Available for issuance under the 2021 Equity
Incentive Plan +45-846;-81+7- 17, 135, 599 Available for issuance under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 3-4 | 856-598 , 785-941
Committed to Setthng-settling Earn—out-tiabilities-employee retention 41, 98-998 -+62-Available for conversion of non-
voting common stock 1, 873, 320 33-35 , 243-866 , 676-065 Note +2-13 . Stock- Based Compensation Equity Incentive Planln
April 2021, the (ompany s board of directors adopted, and in May 2021 its stockholders approved, the 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan (the 2021 Plan) whieh-beeame-effeetive-on-May28;2024+. No further awards are being made under the Company’ s 2009
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the 2009 Plan) or the Company’ s 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2018 Plan); however,
awards outstanding under each of the 2009 Plan and 2018 Plan will continue to be governed by their existing terms. With the
establishment of the 2021 Plan as further discussed below, upon the expiration, forfeiture, cancellation, or reacquisition of any
stock- based awards granted under the 2009 Plan or 2018 Plan, an equal number of shares will become available for grant under
the 2021 Plan. The 2021 Plan, 2018 Plan and 2009 Plan are collectively referred to as the “ Equity Incentive Plans ”. The 2021
Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards, restricted stock units, performance awards and other forms of equity compensation (collectively, equity awards). A total
of49-26 , 988-116 , 336-754 shares of the Company’ s common stock have been reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan in
addition to (i) any annual automatic evergreen increases in the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under
the 2021 Plan and (ii) upon the expiration, forfeiture, cancellation, or reacquisition of any stock- based awards granted under the
2009 Plan or 2018 Plan, an equal number of shares of common stock will become available under the 2021 Plan. As of
December 31, 2623-2024 , a total of +4;:-846;8+7- 17, 135, 599 shares of the Company' s common stock were available for
future issuance under the 2021 Plan. +42Steel--- Stock OptionsStock options granted under the 2009 Plan, 2018 Plan and the
2021 Plan generally vest based on continued service over four years and expire within ten years from the date of grant. Any
options that are canceled or forfeited before expiration become available for future grants. The following table summarizes the
stock option activity since December 31, 20222023 : Number ofShares Weighted- Average ExercisePrice Per Share Weighted-
AverageRemainingContractualTerm (In Years) Aggregate IntrinsicValue (In Thousands) Outstanding as of December 31, 2022
2023 +2-8 , +66-107 , 566-861 $ 6-7 . 25-6-17 5 . 39-69 § 229-136 , 349975 Granted — — Exercised ( 3-1 , 797799 , 64+2-325 )
3.3%12 Cancelled ( 255-109 , 887167 ) 26-28 . 4127 Outstanding as of December 31, 2023-2024 8-6 , +67-199 , 861369 $ 7.
1798 5. 69-02 $ 436-86 , 975213 Exercisable as of December 31, 2023-2024 6;585:645-5,903, 732 7 . 44 4. 95 $ 84 534-%
H8-, +06-148 Vested or expected to vest as of December 31, 2623-2024 4-289 , 591 18 462,943142- 83770 6 . 19-44 $ 1482 ,



247020 The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated as the difference between exercise price of the underlying awards and the
closing price of the Company’ s common stock at December 31, 2623-2024 . The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2024-was $ 89-33 . 8 million, $ 89. 8 million and $
56. 1 mithenand-$247Fmillion, respectively. The Company did not grant any options to purchase shares of common stock
during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The weighted average grant- date fair value of stock options granted
during the years ended December 31, 2022 and2624+-was $ 30. 08 aﬁd—$—1%9—peﬁshafe—fes‘peeﬁ¥el-y— The fair value of each
option award was estimated on the date of grant using the Black- Scholes option- pricing model. The table below quantifies the
weighted average of the most significant inputs to determine the fair value of stock options granted during the years ended
December 31, 2022 and2624+. Year Ended December 31, 2022 Risk- free interest rate 2. 16 % 6—87%-Expected dividend yield
% %%-Expected volatility 47. 4 %-42—6-% Expected terms (in years) The Company received cash proceeds from the exercise of
options to purchase common stock of $ 5. 6 million, $ 10. 4 million yand $ 4. 7 mittenand-$-6-9-million during the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2024- respectively. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , there was $ H-2 . 46
million of total unrecognized expense related to unvested stock options, Wthh is expected to be recognlzed over a Welghted—
average perlod of -1—0 2—7—68 years Restricted Stock UnltsThe Avvards e S RE e

stock units to employeei and certain non- employee board membem unde1 the 2021 Plan. The fair value of each reﬂmeted stock
unit is estimated based on the fair value of the Company' s common stock on the date of the grant. The restricted stock units vest
over the requisite service period, which +43range---- range between one and four years from the date of the grant, subject to the
continued employment of the employees and service of the non- employee board members. The following table summarizes the
restricted stock units activity for the year ended December 31, 2823-2024 : Number of Shares Weighted- AverageGrant Date
Fair Value AggregateFairValue (In Thousands) Unvested as of December 31, 2022-2023 2-4 , 934-430 , 442-725 $ 24-26 . 94-28
Granted 23 , 890-948 | 46727-809 25 . +4-34 § 78-100 , 435063 Vested (1, +92-825 . 362-670 ) 24-26 . 88-32 $ 29-48 . 676-052
Cancelled (284537 , 762-026 ) 27-26 . 39-13 Unvested as of December 31, 2623-2024 4-6 , 436-016 , 725-838 § 2625 . 28-67
As of December 31, 2623-2024 , there was $ 89-122 . 40 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to
unvested restricted stock units, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted- average period of 2. 88-74 years. Employee
Stock Purchase Planln April 2021, the Company’ s board of directors adopted, and in May 2021 its stockholders approved, the
2021 ESPP, which became effective on May 28, 2021. The ESPP authorizes the issuance of shares of common stock pursuant to
purchase rights granted to" eligible employees". A total of 3-5 , 856-082 , 785-470 shares of common stock have been reserved
for future issuance under the ESPP, in addition to any annual automatic evergreen increases in the number of shares of common
stock reserved for future issuance under the ESPP. The price at which common stock is purchased under the ESPP is equal to 85
% of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the first or last day of the offering period, whichever is lower. Eligible
employees can contribute the lesser of up to 15 % of their eligible compensation or IRS limit. Offering periods are generally 6
months long. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , a total of 34 , §56-598 , 785-941 shares of the Company' s common stock were
available for future issuance under the ESPP. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , there was no unrecognized compensation
expense related to the ESPP. Stock- Based Compensation CostsThe following table summarizes the stock- based compensation
expense for (i) stock options s-and restricted stock units and-ESPP-shares-granted to employees and non- employee board
members and (ii) ESPP shares that was-were purchased by employees that were recorded in the Company’ s consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss (in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Technology and development $ 11,
710 $ 9, 286 $ 4, 916 $2,-540-Selling and marketing 17, 968 11, 982 7, 856 5;,+6+General and administrative 35, 255 22, 458

17,487 -l—l—2§—7—Total qtock based Compemanon expen%e $ 64 933 $ 43,726 $ 30,259 -$—l-8—9%8—1-ﬂ—Febﬁta—1‘y—292—l—eefta-m—ef

On November 6 2023, the Company entered mto a Tranqltlon Agreement with its prev10us Chlef Financial Officer ( Prlor
CFO). In-eenneetion-with-Pursuant to the terms of the Transition Agreement s-(including the receipt by the Company
moedified-of a release from the Prior CFO), the Company agreed to modify its Prior CFO' s outstanding stock options and
restricted stock units to (1) accelerate vesting for nine months from the his-separation-date of the termination of the Prior
CFOs employment with the Company (the Separation Date), and (ii) extend the exercise period of his vested nonqualified
stock optlonq from ninety days to one year following the Separation Date . To receive these benefits, the Prior CFO has-had

to remain employed through fhe—'Pr&nsﬁerrBafe—whtehﬂs—emﬁﬁeﬂ&yheaqaeefed—te—be—March 31,2024. As a reqult of {-he—thls

modification, the

%&nﬁtmfh*greeﬁieﬂt—fhfeugh—Mafeh%{—EG%—"Phe—Company recognlzed addltlonal compeniatlon expense of $ 1. 3 mllllon
and $ 0. 7 million fer-during the year ended December 31, re-expee g he §
e*peﬁse—ef—$4—2—dufmg—&1e—fhfeefﬂeﬂﬁns—eﬁded—M&reh—3{—2024 and 2023 respectlvely Note +3-14 . Net Income ( Loq@ ) per
Share Basic and diluted net income ( loss ) per share attributable to common stockholders was calculated as follows (in
thousands, except share and per share amount%) Year Ended December 31, Numelator Net income ( loqs )$2,900 % (8,566)$
(39, 347) $-Net income ( loss 28,-085-) Aeeretion e e A ss-attributable to
common stockholders- basic and diluted $ 2, 900 $ (8 566) $ (39 347 9—$—€2—8—998—) Denommator Welghted average common
shares outstanding- basic and-éditated-124, 269, 820 114, 828, 494 107, 935, 514 H-Effect of potentially dilutive stock options
4 , 168550 , 654-017 — — Effect of potentially dilutive restricted common stock 519, 624 — — Weighted average




common shares outstanding — diluted 129, 339, 462 114, 828, 494 107, 935, 514 Net income ( loss ) per share attributable to
common stockholders- basic and-diuted-$ 0. 02 $ (0. 07) $ (0. 36) Net income (loss) per share attributable to common
stockholders- diluted $ 0. 02 $ (0.39-07) $ (0. 36 ) For periods in which the Company is in a loss position, basic net loss per
share attributable to common stockholders is the same as diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders.
Outstanding potentially dilutive securities, which were excluded from the diluted net income ( loss ) per share calculations
because they would have been antidilutive were as follows as of the dates presented: Year Ended December 31, Unvested
restricted stock units 4, 641, 715 4, 430, 725 2, 934, 442 243,424-Stock options to purchase common stock 841, 927 8, 107, 861
12, 160, 560 +4-5 , 855483 , 292-642 12, 538, 586 15, 095, 002 Note 15 7868443 Note+4-. Income Taxes The following table
presents the components of income ( loss ) before (benefit from) provision for income taxes (in thousands): Year Ended
December 31, United States $ (18, 775) $ (23, 190) $ (45, 341) $29;486)-Foreign 20, 635 18, 838 7,982 3-§ 1, 259-860 & (4,
352) $ (37, 359) $25:929-The following table summarizes the components of the Company’ s (benefit from) provision for
income taxes (in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Current United States: Federal $ —$ — $ — State Foreign 7, 011 4,
011 3, 490 -8+4-Total current provision for income taxes $ 7, 754 $ 4, 142 $ 3, 696 $2-042-Deferred United States: Federal $
(4,209) $ $ State (487) (102) Foreign (4, 098) (1, 750) Total deferred income tax (benefit) provision ( berefit8, 794 ) (1, 708)
Total income tax (benefit) provision $ (1, 040) $ 4, 214 $ 1, 988 A $2,3584H45A—rcconciliation of the U. S. federal statutory
income tax rate to the Company’ s effective income tax rate is as follows (dollars in thousands) : Year Ended December 31,
Federal statutory income tax rate $ 21. 0 % $ (914) 21. 0 % $ (7, 845) 21. 0 % $+5;435)2+-0-%State income taxes, net of
federal benefit (541) (29. 1) (721) 16. 6 (2, 228) 6 —603668)5-. 0 Non- deductible expenses 34.0 (4. 2) — — Imputed
interest 28.4 (2. 6) (1. 2) Fair value of contingent consideration (206) (11. 1) (1. 8) (579) 1. 5 €=8)>-Global intangible low-
taxed income inclusion (1, 703) (91. 6) 3, 128 (71.9) (1. 0) Equity- based compensation 40. 3 (4, 668) 107.3 (3, 538) 9.5
Research and development credits ( 2-7 , 724-714 ) +6-(414 . 7) S-Change-in-fair-value-of preferred-stoek—-warranttabity—
— — — 2 250-(8—H-Excess executive compensation 3, 199 172. 0 1, 865 (42.9) 1, 267 (3. 4) 5F27H6—-Change in uncertain
tax position 30. 5 (30) 0. 7 (68) 0. 2 £-2>Change in valuation allowance 3,087 165.9 2, 734 (62. 8) 13,797 (36. 9 ¥6;38424-
6) Forelgn rate differential 40. 1 1, 015 (23. 3) (1. 3) €68-—=2-Deferred statutory rate changes 40. 9 1, 296 (29. 8) (367) 1. 0 €6-
3y-Foreign withholding taxes 9.7 (3. 1) — — Return to provision and Other-other adjustments (1, 717) (92.2) (2) —
(0. 8) fBF-Effective income tax rate § (1, 040) (55.9) % $ 4, 214 (96. 8) % $ 1, 988 (5. 4) % $ 2545883y % During the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 s-and 2022 and2624-, the Company recorded an income tax (benefit) provision of $ (1. 0)
million, $ 4. 2 million -and $ 2. 0 mithemand-$22-million, respectively, which is primarily attributable to foreign activity and
U. S. state taxes. The Company’ s deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following components (in thousands): Year
Ended December 31, Deferred tax assets: Net operating loss carryforwards $ 18, 901 $ 26, 690 $33;-678Property and
equipment Credit carryforwards 6, 673 — Accrued expenses 1, 805 1, 814 5398-Equity- based compensation 6,461 5, 113 55
370-Lease liability {-n’eefest—hmﬁ&&en—e&ﬂyfeﬁb‘afd—Capltahzed research and development costs 25, 666 20, 776 +6;366
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 3, 160 Other temporary differences Total deferred tax assets 64,233 55, 861 53;339-Deferred
tax asset valuation allowance ( 44, 191) (40, 444) 378 20 , 042 62795 15, 417 $45;H2 Deferred tax liabilities: Intangible
assets (4525, 234-008 ) (26-15 , 272-234 ) Goodwill (71 , 843-318 ) (+7 , 633-843 ) Right- of- use asset ( #43-669 ) ( 596-743
) Deferred revenue — (2, 387 H2292-) Deferred contract costs (2, 668-105 ) (42 , 726-668 ) Other temporary differences (38
19 ) (463-38 ) Total deferred tax liabilities ( 2829 , 943-119 ) (2628 , 862-913 ) Net deferred tax liabilities $ (439 , 496-077 )
$ (46-13 ,358-496 ) As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company had gross federal and state NOL carryforwards of $ 86-57. 9
million and $ 88 . 3 million aﬁd—$—1—9—1—4—m-1-1-heﬂ— respectively, out of which § 471 . 6-1 million of federal NOL carryforwards
and $ 99-87 . 3-0 million of state NOL carryforwards begin to expire in 2032 and 2624-2029 , respectively. Additionally, $ 68-56

. 78 million of federal NOL carryforwards and $ 2-1 . 2 million of state NOL carryforwards have indefinite lives. As of
December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company has gross foreign NOL carryforwards of $ 8-4 . 9 million which have indefinite lives.
The federal, state and foreign NOL carryforwards may be available to reduce future federal, state and foreign taxable income,
respectively. +460wnership—-- Ownership changes, as defined under Internal Revenue Code Section 382, and similar state
provisions may limit the amount of federal and state NOL carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future federal and
state taxable income. Generally, an ownership change occurs when the ownership percentage of 5 % or greater stockholders
increases by more than 50 % over a three- year period. Accordingly, the purchase of the Company’ s stock in amounts greater
than specified levels could limit the Company’ s ability to utilize federal and state NOL carryforwards for tax purposes. During
2022, the Company completed a Section 382 study and as a result of the ownership changes identified, $ 1. 6 million of
Flywire’ s NOLs and $ 0. 2 million of Simplee’ s NOLs will expire unutilized, assuming sufficient taxable income is generated
in the future. The Company completed is-in-the-proeess-efupdating-its refresh of the Section 382 study through the 2023 tax
year, and preliminary-indieations-show-there are wittbe-no additional limitations in using Federal and State NOL carryforwards

. The Company expects to refresh the study in 2025 . In assessing the realizability of its deferred tax assets, the Company
considered whether it was more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets would not be realized. The
realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable income. The Company has evaluated the positive
and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability and determined that it is more likely than not that the Company will not
realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets, and as a result, a valuation allowance has been established against federal, state
and certain foreign deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 . During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company recorded a net increase in the valuation allowance of $ 3. 7 million, which is primarily due to and-- an increase
of $ 4. 8 million related to capitalized research and development costs and $ 7. 0 research and development tax credit
carryforwards identified during a comprehensive research and development study conducted during 2622-2024 , offset
by a valuation allowance release of $ 1. 0 million in a foreign jurisdiction and $ 4. 9 million release of valuation allowance
against deferred tax liabilities acquired in the Invoiced acquisition . During the year ended December 31, 2023, the




Company recorded a net increase in the valuation allowance of $ 2. 8 million, which is primarily due to an increase of § 12. 1
million related to capitalized research and development costs, offset by NOL utilization in the U. S. and the U. K. During the
year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a net increase in the valuation allowance of $ 13. 8 million, which is
primarily due to an increase of $ 12. 7 million related to capitalized research and development costs in the U. S. The Company
also recorded a valuation allowance of $ 1. 3 million related toa forergn subsidiary, offset by a decrease of $ 0. 2 million due to
the release of Valuatron allowance in forergn entrtres rg-th h ee an

Valuatron allowanee are surnmarlzed as follows (in thousands) Year Ended December 3l Valuatron allowance at beginning of
year $ (40, 444) $ (37, 627) $ (23, 864) $-4F485)>-Change recorded to income tax provision as part of operations ( 3, 747) ( 2,
817) (13, 763 36;379-) Valuation allowance at end of year $ ( 44, 191) § (40, 444) $ (37, 627 ¥$23;864-) The Company
permanently reinvests the earnings of its foreign subsidiaries. No additional income taxes have been provided on the indefinitely
invested foreign earnings at December 31, 2623-2024 . The Company has approximately $ 3451 . 72 million of unremitted
earnings at December 31, 2623-2024 , which the Company believes to approximate the outside basis difference in its foreign
subsidiaries. If these earnings were distributed, the Company could be subject to income taxes and foreign withholding taxes. As
of December 31 2623-2024 , the amount of the unrecognized deferred taxes on these earnings are not material. As of December
31,2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and2024- the Company accrued $ 1. 3 million, $ 0. 8 million yand $ 0. 8 mitlenand-$-06-9-million
related to uncertain tax positions, inclusive of interest and penalties, respectively, which includes potential tax benefits of $ 1. 0 -
S-million, $ 0. 6-5 million and $ 0. 6 million, respectively, that, when recognized, would impact the effective tax rate. As of
December 31, 2023-2024 , $ 0. 3-8 million of the reserve is reflected as a reduction to deferred taxes and the remaining balance
is recorded as a component of other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending
amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands) : Year Ended December 31, Balance at beginning of year $ $
§ —Settlements with taxing authorities — Increases (decreases) related to tax positions taken during prior years — (170)
Decreases related to lapses in statute of limitations ( 133) (39) (60) —Increases related to tax positions taken during the current
year — — Balance at end of year $ 1, 124 § $ +47Fhe-The Company expects a decrease of $ 0. 42 million in uncertain tax
positions in the next 12 months due to the lapse of statute of limitations. The Company did not reeegnized— recognize any
accrued interest and penalties of$-0;-$-6-and-$-0—2-miHien-for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 rand 2022 and-2624;
respeetively;related to the reserves for uncertain tax positions in the income tax provision. Included in the total reserve for
uncertain tax positions are accrued interest and penalties of $ 0. 2 million, $ 0. 2 million and $ 0. 2 million at December 31,
2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and-2021-, respectively. The Company files income tax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the
jurisdiction in which it operates. In the normal course of its business, the Company is subject to examination by federal, state
and foreign jurisdictions, where applicable. The Company is open to future tax examinations from 2018 to the present; however,
carryforward attributes that were generated prior to 2018 may still be adjusted upon examination by federal, state or local tax

author1t1es to the extent they erl be used ina future perrod Note 9ﬂ—Augus~t—l6 —ZGQQ—t-he—I-n-ﬂaﬁen—Redueﬁeﬁﬁet—eHG%Z—ﬁﬂs

en—t-he—Qompaﬂ-y—s—ta—r&l—tabi-l—rty—Note—lé— LeasesOperatrng Leases The Cornpany leases Certarn real estate for its primary

facilities under operating leases that expire at various dates between one and five years. These leases contain renewal options,
and require the Company to pay operating costs, including property taxes, insurance, and maintenance. The terms of these lease
agreements include free rent periods and annual rent increases. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight- line basis
over the term of the lease. There were no finance lease obligations as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-. ROU assets
are included in Other assets and operating lease liabilities are included in Other liabilities. (amounts in thousands) ROU assets $
3,381 $ 3, 422 $2,-789-Operating lease liabilities 3, 534 3, 551 3;449-Weighted- average remaining lease terms 2. 6 2. 63 years
2—12-years Weighted- average discount rate 6. 9 % 6. 4 %-4—5-% Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as
follows: (amounts in thousands) Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities $ 2-1 , 867-842
$ 2, 627067 ROU assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities 1, 660 2, 322 4;-488-Future minimum lease
payments as of December 31, 2024, were as follows (in thousands): Years Ending December 31, $ 1, 904 Thereafter —
Total undiscounted lease payments $ 3, 877 Less- present value discount Lease liability, at present value $ 3, 534 Future
minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2023 ;-were as follows (in thousands): Years Ending December 31, $ 1, 643 1,
202 — Thereafter — Total undrscounted lease payments $ 3, 840 Less- present Value discount Lease lrabrlrty, at present Value $

on the table below (in thousands) : 5w ;
thousands) Operating lease expense $ 1,973 $ 1, 691 $ 1,615 Short term lease expense Varrable lease expense Total operating
lease expense $ 2,370 $ 2, 087 $ 2, 306 Note -1-6-17 Cornmrtments and Contingencies Legal proceedings The Company is
subject to various legal proceedings and claims from time to time, the outcomes of which are subject to significant uncertainty.
The Company records an accrual for legal contingencies when it has determined that it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. In making such determinations, the Company evaluates, among
other things, the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and, when it is probable that a liability has been incurred, and
the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the loss. If the occurrence of liability is probable, the Company will disclose the
nature of the contingency, and if estimable, will provide the likely amount of such loss or range of loss. As of December 31,
2623-2024 , the Company was not a party to any litigation the outcome of which, the Company believes, if determined adversely



to it, would individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows. In the course of enhancing its implementing-geoloeation-data—based-sanctions sereening-measures-compliance function
, the ( ompany initiated an 1nternal rev1ew that 1dentmed eertatn-lssues related to the Company s compliance with

v : data 1ave originated
beerinitiated-from y viola pliea anettons-sanctioned feg-rﬁ‘les—]lll‘lSdlCthIlS or
sanctioned persons . Althouoh Flvw1re continues to evaluate whether these or other transactions constitute potential violations
of ©FAC-sanctions (including whether certain of these payments may have been authorized by general licenses or license
exemptions under the relevant sanctions regulations), #r-Atgust2023-Flywire has made a-voluntary sabmissten-submissions to
OFAC to report the petenttal-apparent violations and provide supplemental information. Flywire is currently engaging
with OFAC to resolve these matters . Based upon the results of the internal investigation completed to date, the Company
does not believe that the amount of any loss incurred as a result of this matter would be material to its business, financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows. Indemnification In the ordinary course of business, the Company agrees to
indemnify certain partners and clients against third- party claims asserting infringement of certain intellectual property rights,
data privacy breaches, damages caused to property or persons, or other liabilities relating to or arising from the Company’ s
payment platform or other contractual obligations. In addition, the Company has entered into indemnification agreements with
members of its board of directors and executive officers that will require the Company, among other things, to indemnify them
against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers. To date, the Company has not
incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnifications. The Company is not aware of any pending indemnification
matters or claims, individually or in the aggregate, that are expected to have a material adverse effect on its financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows and had not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in its consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-. Note +718 . Employee Benefit Plan The Company has established a
defined contribution savings plan under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code. This plan covers all employees who meet
minimum age and service requirements and allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre- tax
basis. Matching contributions to the plan may be made at the discretion of the Company’ s board of directors. The Company
made contributions of § 1. 5 million, $ 1. 4 million ;and $ 1. 2 mihenand-$-6-—8-million to the plan during the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 s-and 2022 and2024- respectively. Note 48-19 . Subsequent EventSertifi AcquisitionOn Event2024
Revolving-CreditFaetityOn-February 23-24 | 2624-2025 (the Closing) , Flywire Corporation (Flywire or the Company )
entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the Agreement) to acquire the business of Sertifi LL.C (Sertifi), pursuant to
which Flywire acquired Sertifi for upfront cash consideration of $ 330 million, subject to certain post- closing
adjustments set forth in the Agreement, and contingent consideration of up to $ 10 million upon the completion or
satisfaction of certain technical and commercial milestones by Sertifi. Sertifi is a vertical software and payments
platform digitizing hospitality- specific workflows and associated payments. Pursuant to the Agreement, Flywire also
agreed to issue a number of restricted stock units with an Amended-aggregate value equal to $ 10 million to certain of the
continuing employees of Sertifi on the terms and Rest&ted-ered-rt—condltlons set forth i in the A;:reement for-. The Company
paid the upfront cash consideration through a fiv sef d an(combination of
cash on hand and $ 125 million borrowed from its ex1st1ng 2024 Re\ olvnm ( redit F acmty > The Agreement contains
various representations, warranties, covenants, and indemnification obligations of the parties that are customary in
transactions of this type. In connection with four-banksfor-the Closing, Flywire bound a representations tetal-commitment

%—Oﬁﬁef%he%evehfmg—ere%w&ﬁy—pfeﬂdes—fo%an—and warrantles 1nsurance pollcy insuring breaches

Reveh‘rng—ered-rt—Faerl-ﬁf—rep-}aees—H&e—t-lﬂrfee» the Agreement and certain indemnifiable tax matters -—ye&rsemo%seeﬂre&
Revelving-CreditFaetity-of $-50--0-millon-enteredinto-inJuly2024-under the policy whieh-$-56-. Restructuring PlanOn
February 23 Oﬁﬂheﬂ—was—ava-r}ab-}e—te—ﬂywrre—as—e%eeefnbeﬁl— %92—3—2025 —'Ph-ree—e-ﬁt-he—}eﬂders—m—t-he—new—Revel-ﬁng

, 2023—TFheRevolving
Gred-rt—Faeﬁ-rFy—the board of dlrectors of the Company approved a restructurlng plan that is designed to improve
operational efﬁclencles, reduce operating eonsists—-- costs and better align efABR-borrewings-or FermSOFRberrowings;
at-the Company’ s eption—ABR-berrewings-bear-interest-at-workforce with current business needs, top strategic priorities
and key growth opportunltles (collectlvely, the Restructurlng Plan) ABR—pl-us—ﬂ&euamahe&b-}e—r&te—Teﬂﬁ—SGF-R—berre’vﬂngs

workforce by approx1mately 10 %. The Company estlmates that it w1ll incur
approximately $ 7. 0 million to $ 9. 0 million in charges in connection with the Restructuring Plan, consisting of cash
expenditures for employee transition, notice period and severance payments and employee benefits and related
facilitation costs, as well as non- cash expenditures related to acceleration of the-mestreecenteonsolidated-finanetat
information-and-ranges-fromt-vesting of share- based awards. Of this amount, approximately $ 5 . 0 S%5-million t02-$6 . 5
%-0 million is expected to result in future cash outlays . The Revelving-CreditFaeility-Company expects that the majority
of the restructuring charges will be incurred in the first and second quarter of 2025 and that the execution of the



Restructuring Plan, including cash payments, will be substantially complete by the end of the third quarter of 2025.
Potential position eliminations in each country are subject to local law and consultation requirements, which may extend
this process beyond the third quarter of 2025 in certain countries. The charges that we expect to treurs— incur are
subject to o eommitment-fee-ranging-number of assumptions, including local law requirements in various jurisdictions,

and actual expenses may dlffer materlally from 9—25—%—te—9—3§%—based—upen—the estlmates dlsclosed above Gempany—s

Statements-. ltem 9. Changes in and Dlsagreements Wlth Accountants on Aecountlng and F 1nanelal Disclosure Item 9A

Controls and Procedures Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures Our management, with the participation and
supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer, respectively), have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2823-2024 . The term “ disclosure controls and procedures, ” as defined in Rules 13al5 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under
the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC” s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’ s
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2623-2024 , the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10- K, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level. Our management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a- 15 (f) and
15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act. Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 based on
the 2013 framework established in the * Internal Control- Integrated Framework, ” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation under the framework, management has concluded that
our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023-2024 was effective. On Nevember3-August 2 , 2623-2024
, Flywire acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of StudyEinieInvoiced . As permitted by Securities and Exchange
Commission staff guidance, companies are permitted to exclude acquisitions from their assessment of internal control over
financial reporting for the first year of acquisition. We have excluded StadyEintcInvoiced from our assessment of internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023-2024 . StadyEink-Invoiced accounted for less than 1 appreximately4-
4% of total assets as of December 31, 2623-2024 and less than 1 appreximately6-—3-% of revenues for the fiscal year ended on
December 31, 2623-2024 . The effectlveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2823-2024 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which
appears in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting There
were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule
13a- 15 (d) and 15d- 15 (d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2023-2024 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Inherent Limitations
on Effectiveness of Controls Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that
our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance
of achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, management does not expect that our
disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud.
A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision- making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of
some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of
controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost- effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected. Item 9B. Other Information Rule 10b- 5 Trading Plan©n-PlanDuring the period covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10- K, other than as set forth below, no director or officer of the Company “ adopted ” or terminated a “ Rule
10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” or “ non- Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” as each term is defined in Item 408 (a) of
Regulation S- K. On November +5-19 , 2623-2024 , Robert-OrgetMichael Massaro , our President-and-Chicf Operating
Executive Officer and Director ’feﬂﬁrnafed-adopted a trading arrangement for he—had—pfeweus}y—adep’eed—v&ﬂ-th-fespeet—te—the
sale of shares of our common stock (a" Rule +8b5- 10b - +-5 Trading Plan") that swas-is intended to satisfy the affirmative

defense conditions of Securities Exchange Act Rule 10b5 1 (c) Mr. Ofgel-Massaro s -Ru-le—l-@bS——l—'Praehng—P—lan—was—adepted-

efgel—had-se}d—zé—prowdes for the sale of up to 550 OOO shares of common stock undefpursuant to the terms of the plan



The plan is effective through February 6, 2026 unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of the plan. On

November 15, 2024, Cosmin Pitigoi, our Chief Financial Officer, adopted a Rule 10b- 5 Trading Plan that is intended to
satisfy the afﬁrmatlve defense condltlons of Securltles Exchange Act Rule 10b5 1 (c) Mr. P1t1g01 s Rule 10b- 5 Tradmg
Plan provndes for —Ch v y tov

te—eeffeet—a—seﬂveﬁeihs—efreﬁm—t-he—nuﬂabefof up to 75, 869 %hare% of common stock tmdeﬂ-ymg—pursuant to the thrrd-epﬁeﬁ
{as—sueh-termr-terms of the plan. The plan is defined-effective through November 14, 2025 unless earlier terminated in

accordance with fhe—"Pr&ns&&enﬁgreefﬁeﬁﬁ—The—feﬁgetﬂg—deseﬂp&eﬁ—e-ﬁthe terms aﬁd—eeﬁdﬂr&eﬁs—of the plan :Pransr&en

Regarding Forelgn Jurl%dlCthl’N that Prevent Inspections PART 111 Ttem 10. Dlrectorq Executive Ofﬁceri and Corporate
Governance The Company has an insider trading policy governing the purchase, sale and other dispositions of the
Company’ s securities that applies to all Company personnel, including directors, officers, employees, and other covered
persons. The Company also follows procedures for the repurchase of its securities. The Company believes that its insider
trading policy and repurchase procedures are reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws,
rules and regulations, and listing standards applicable to the Company. A copy of the Company’ s insider trading policy
is filed as Exhibit 19. 1 to this Form 10- K. The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the
Company’ s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be filed with the SEC not later
than 120 days after the close of the Company’ s fiscal year ended December 31, 2823-2024 . Item 11. Executive Compensation
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters Securities
Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans The following table provides information as of December 31, 2023
2024 , with respect to shares of our common stock that may be issued, subject to certain vesting requirements, under our existing
equity compensation plans, including our 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, which was adopted in 2009 and amended and restated in
2011 (as amended and restated, the 2009 Plan), our 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (2018 Plan), 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (2021
Plan) and Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). A B C Plan Category Number ofSecurities tobe IssuedUpon Exerciseof
OutstandingOptions, Warrants, and Rights Weighted- AverageExercise Price ofOutstandingOptions, Warrants, andRights
Number ofSecuritiesRemainingAvailablefor FuturelssuanceUnder EquityCompensationPlans (ExcludingSecuritiesReflected
inColumn (A) Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 12, 538216 , 586-207 (1) 7. +798 (2) +8-21 , 763-734 ,
662-540 (3) (1) Of these shares, 4-6 , 430-016 , 725-838 were underlying then outstanding restricted stock units and 665-529 ,
275-897 were subject to options then outstanding under the 2021 Plan; 5-4 , 983-868 , 379-236 were subject to options then
outstanding under the 2018 Plan; and +-801 , 236 $98;-687-were subject to options then outstanding under the 2009 Plan. (2)
Does not take into account restricted stock units, which have no exercise price. (3) Represents 44,846,817 17, 135, 599 shares
of common stock available for issuance under our 2021 Plan and 3-4 , 856-598 , 785-941 shares of common stock available for
issuance under our ESPP. No shares are available for future issuance under our 2009 Plan or 2018 Plan. Our 2021 Plan provides
for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance thereunder on the first day of each fiscal year equal to the
lower of: (a) 5 % of the total number of shares of common stock and non- voting common stock outstanding on the last business
day of the prior fiscal year; or (b) such other amount as our board of directors may determine. Our ESPP provides for annual
increases in the number of shares available for issuance thereunder on the first day of each fiscal year equal to the least of: (x) 2,
000, 000 shares; (y) 1 % of the shares of common stock and non- voting common stock issued and outstanding on the last
business day of the prior fiscal year; or (z) the number of shares determined by our board of directors. On January 1, 2624-2025
, an additional 6, 428202 , 424-810 shares became available for future issuance under the 2021 Plan and an additional 1, 225
240 , 685-562 shares became available for future issuance under the ESPP. The additional shares from the annual increase on
January 1, 2824-2025 are not included in the table above. The information required under this item not otherwise provided
herein is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’ s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which
proxy statement will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’ s fiscal year ended December
31,2023-2024 . Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence Item 14. Principal
Accounting Fees and Services PART IV Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules The following documents are filed as
a part of this Annual Report on Form 10- K: a) Consolidated Financial Statements The consolidated financial statements are
filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10- K under ““ Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. ” b) Financial
Statement Schedules All financial statement schedules have been omitted as the information is not required under the related
instructions or is not applicable or because the information required is already included in the financial statements or in the
notes to those financial statements. ¢) Exhibits The exhibits listed in the following Exhibit Index are filed herewith as part of this
Annual Report on Form 10- K or are incorporated herein by reference, in each case as indicated below. ExhibitNumber
Description3. 1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Flywire Corporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on June 1, 2021. 3. 2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Flywire
Corporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 2-1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on #ane+March
19 ,2624-2024 . 4. 1 Description of Securities of Flywire Corporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the
Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed on March 29, 2022. 4. 2 Amended and
Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated February 23, 2021, by and among the Registrant and certain security holders of the
Registrant, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2 to the Registrant' s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed
on May 3, 2021. 10. 1 Form of Indemnification Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant' s
Registration Statement on Form S- 1 / A filed on May 18, 2021. 10. 2 # Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan and



forms of agreements thereafter, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K for
the year ended December 31, 2021 filed on March 29, 2022. 10. 3 # 2018 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of equity
agreements thereunder, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Registrant' s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A
filed on May 18, 2021. 10. 4 # 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, and forms of equity agreements thereunder, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed on
March 10, 2023. 10. 5 # 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and form of subscription agreement, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 5 to the Registrant' s Registration Statement on Form S- 1/ A filed on May 18, 2021. 10. 7 # Employment 6-Fean
and—Seettﬂ-ty—Agreement dated as of May 14, 2021 by and between the Regrqtrant and Mlchael Massaro eeﬁatn—e-ﬁrts
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and-Seetrity-Agreement-dated-Deeember-9;2026-, 1nc0rp01ated by reference to Exhrbrt 10. 6—7 to the Regr%trant' s Registration
Statement on Form S- 1/ A filed on May 18, 2021. 10. #8 # Employment Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2021, by and
between the Registrant and MiehaelMassare-Rob Orgel , incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 78 to the Registrant' s
Registration Statement on Form S- 1/ A filed on May 18, 2021. 10. 89 # Employment Agreement, dated as of May+4
February 8 . 2624-2024 . by and between the Registrant and Reb-Orgel-Cosmin Pitigoi , incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10. 820 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 filed on May 7, 2024. 10. 10 #
Employment Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2021, by and between the Registrant and Peter Butterfield, incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10. 10 to the Registrant' s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 / A filed on May 18, 2021. 10. 9-11 #
Employment Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2021, by and between the Registrant and MiehaelHEHis-David King , incorporated
by reference to Exhrbrt 10. 9—11 to the Regr%trant s Regrqtraﬁon Statement on Form S-1/A ﬁled on May 18,2021. 10. +0#

amended by that certain F1r§t Amendment to Office Lease dated Aprrl 7, 201( that certain Second Amendment to Ofﬁce Lease
dated October 23, 2018 and that certain Third Amendment to Office Lease dated May 1, 2023, by and between the Registrant
and NS 141 Tremont LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 14 to the Registrant' s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for
the period ended June 30, 2023 filed on August 8, 2023. 10. 15 Credit Agreement, dated July 29, 2021, as amended by the First
Amendment to Credit Agreement dated June 23, 2023, by and among Flywire Corporation, the other Loan Parties party thereto
from time to time, the Lenders party thereto from time to time, the Issuing Banks party thereto from time to time, and Citibank,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Regrqtrant ] Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the perrod ended June 30,
2023 ﬁled on Augu%t 8 2023 10. 46 de y v

8-—l€ﬁ-led-eﬁ—ﬁrttgust—4—292—l—l-9—l7 # Management Caqh Incentive Plan 1ncorp01ated by reference to Exhrbrt 10. l7 to the
Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed on March 10, 2023. 10. +8+#Fransttion
20 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement , dated as of February 23, 2024 by and between-among Flywire Corporation
and-MichaelEllis-, dated-as-of Nevember-6-the other Loan Parties party thereto from time to time , 2023-the Lenders party
thereto from time to time, the Issuing Banks party thereto from time to time, and Citibank, N. A. , incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 415 to the Registrant™s-Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the pefied—quarter ended Septenber36
March 31 , 2623-2024 ﬁled on NevemberMay 7, %92—3—2024 —1-9— 19. 1 Amend:meﬁh Amended & Restated In51der
Trading Policy Ne- g A Sits We
-E-l-l-ts—dated—as—e-ﬁl:ebfua-lﬁy—Z-}—Z-G%* 2l I * List of Sub%1d1ar1e§ ofthe Regrqtrant 23. l * Con%ent oancewaterhouseCooperﬁ
LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. 31. 1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-
14 (a) and 15d- 14 (a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley
Act 0f 2002. 31. 2 * Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a- 14 (a) and 15d- 14 (a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 32. 1 * Certification
of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley
Act 0f 2002. 32. 2 * Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 97. 1 £Flywire Corporation Policy for the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation , incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97. 1 to the Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year
ended December 31, 2023 filed on February 28,2024 . 101. INS Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document
does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document. 101. SCH
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema with embedded linkbase documents. Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded
within the Inline XBRL document). * Filed herewith. # Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan Item 16. Form
10- K Summary SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. FLY WIRE CORPORATION Date:
February 2825 , 2624-2025 By: / s / Michael Massaro Michael Massaro Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
Executive Officer) Date: February 28-25 , 2024-2025 By: / s / Michael-EHis-Miehael EHis-Cosmin Pitigoi Cosmin Pitigoi Chief




Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) POWER OF ATTORNEY KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE
PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Michael Massaro and Michael
EHis-Cosmin Pitigoi , and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys- in- fact, proxies, and agents, each with full
power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10- K,
and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granting unto said attorneys- in- fact, proxies, and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys- in- fact, proxies, and agents, or their or his
or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the
Securities Exchange Act, this Annual Report on Form 10- K has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Signature Title Date / s / Michael MassaroMichael Massaro Chief Executive
Ol[lLLl and Duulm (leupal Exuumu Of ILLI) February 2-8—25 2024-2025 £s-+Michael-EHisMichael-Elis-Chief Finanetat

s s / Phillip RiesePhillip Riese Chairman of the Board of

Dllu,l()l% Fd)luan 2—8—25 %2025%&%&%&%&%&%@% s / Alex FinkelsteinAlex
Finkelstein Director February 2825 | 20242025 / s / Matt HarrisMatt Harris Director February 2825 , 2024-2025 +s+Edwin

SantosEdwin-Santos Direetor Febraary 28,2024/ s / Gretchen Howard Director February 28-25 | 2024Gretelen-2025Gretchen
HeowardExhibit+6-Howard / s / Carleigh Jaques Director February 25, 2025Carleigh Jaques / s / Diane Offereins
Director February 25, 2025Diane Offereins / s / Edwin Santos Director February 25, 2025Edwin Santos Exhibit 19
AMENDMENTNO-. | TOTHEFRANSIHON-AGREEMENTTHSAMENDMENTNO-(effective as of February 14, 2023)
Introduction A . Legal Prohibitions on Insider Trading B. Detection and Prosecution of Insider Trading C. Penalties for
Violation of Insider Trading Laws and This Policy D. Compliance Officer E. Reporting Violations F. Personal
responsibility Persons and Transactions Covered by This Policy A. Persons Covered by This Policy B. Types of
Transactions Covered by This Policy C. Responsibilities Regarding the Non- Public Information of Other Companies D.
Applicability of This Policy after Your Departure E. No Exceptions Based on Personal Circumstances Material Non-
Public Information A. “ Material ” Information B. “ Non- Public ” Information Policies Regarding Material Non- Public
Information A. Confidentiality of Non- Public Information B. No Trading on Material Non- Public Information C. No
Disclosing Material Non- Public Information D. Responding to Outside Inquiries for Information Trading Blackout
Periods A. Quarterly Blackout Periods B. Special Blackout Periods C. No “ Safe Harbors ” Pre- Clearance of Trades
Additional Restrictions and Guidance A. Short Sales B. Derivative Securities and Hedging Transactions C. Using
Company Securities as Collateral for Loans D. Holding Company Securities in Margin Accounts E. Placing Open
Orders with Brokers Limited Exceptions A. Transactions Pursuant to a Trading Plan that Complies with SEC Rules B.
Receipt and Vesting of Stock Options, Restricted Stock Units, Restricted Stock and Stock Appreciation Rights C. Cash
or Cashless Net Exercise of Stock Options D. Purchases from the Employee Stock Purchase Plan E. Stock Splits, Stock
Dividends and Similar Transactions F. Bona Fide Gifts and Inheritance (Continued) PageG. Change in Form of
Ownership H. Other Exceptions Compliance with Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act A. Obligations under
Section 16 B. Notification Requirements to Facilitate Section 16 Reporting C. Personal Responsibility Additional
Information A. Availability of Policy B. AmendmentsSchedule I (Individuals Subject to Quarterly Blackout Periods)
Schedule IT (Individuals Subject to Pre- Clearance Requirements) Schedule III (Individuals Subject to Section 16
Reporting and Liability Provisions) Appendix A (Requirements for Rule 10bS- | TO-THEFTRANSIHONAGREEMENT
Trading Plans) Appendix B ( the“Amendment>>Pre- Clearance Stock Trading Form ) is-entered-into-as-of Febraary23;
2024-by-and-betweenI' lywire Corporation -a-Delaware-eorporation-(the *° Company ) ;-opposes the unauthorized disclosure
of any non- public information you obtain in the course of your service with the Company and Miehaet-EHis-the misuse of
material non- public information in securities trading. This Amended and Restated Insider Trading Policy (the
Empteyee-Policy ') prohibits the unauthorized disclosure and misuse of any non- public information. A. Legal
Prohibitions on Insider Trading The antifraud provisions of U. S. federal securities laws prohibit directors, officers,
employees and other individuals who possess material non- public information from trading on the basis of that
information. Your transactions will be considered “ on the basis of ” material non- public information if you are aware
of the material non- public information at the time of the transaction. It is not a defense that you did not *“ use ” the
information or-for purposes of the transaction. It is also not a defense that you had a financial hardship that required
you to transact in securities. Disclosing material non- public information directly or indirectly to others who then trade
based on that information or making recommendations or expressing opinions as to transactions in securities while
aware of material non- public information (which is sometime referred to as “ tipping ”) is also illegal. Both the “ tipper
” who provides the information, recommendation or opinion and the “ tippee ” who trades based on it may be liable.
These illegal activities are commonly referred to as “ insider trading. ” State securities laws and securities laws of other
jurisdictions also impose restrictions on insider trading. In addition, the Company, as well as individual directors,
officers and other supervisory personnel, may be subject to liability as “ controlling persons ” for failure to take
appropriate steps to prevent insider trading by those under their supervision, influence or control. B. Detection and
Prosecution of Insider Trading The U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ SEC ”), the Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority (“ FINRA ”) and The Nasdaq Global Market use sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques
to investigate and detect insider trading, and the SEC and the U. S. Department of Justice pursue insider trading
violations vigorously. Regulators have successfully prosecuted cases involving trading through foreign accounts, trading
by family members and friends, and trading involving only a small number of shares. C. Penalties for Violation of
Insider Trading Laws and This Policy 1. Civil and Criminal Penalties As of the effective date of this Policy, potential




penalties for insider trading violations under U. S. federal securities laws include: ® damages in a private lawsuit; o
disgorging any profits made or losses avoided; ® imprisonment for up to 20 years; ® criminal fines of up to $ S million
for individuals and $ 25 million for entities; e civil fines of up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided; ® a bar
against serving as an officer or director of a public company; and e an injunction against future violations. Civil and
criminal penalties also apply to tipping. The SEC has imposed large penalties in tipping cases even when the tipper did
not trade or gain any benefit from the tippee’ s trading. 2. Penalties for Controlling Persons As of the effective date of
this Policy, the penalty for insider trading violations of controlling persons is a civil fine of up to the greater of $ 2. 479
million or three times the profit gained or loss avoided as a result of the insider trading violations, as well as potential
criminal fines and imprisonment. 3. Disciplinary Actions If the Company has a reasonable basis to conclude that you
have failed to comply with this Policy, you may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal for cause,
whether or not your failure to comply with this Policy results in a violation of law. It is not necessary for the Company to
wait for the filing or conclusion of any civil or criminal action against you before taking disciplinary action. In addition,
the Company may give stop transfer and other instructions to the Company’ s transfer agent to enforce compliance with
this Policy. D. Compliance Officer You should direct any questions, requests or reports to the Company’ s Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Compliance Officer, or a designated member of the Compliance team (each, a “ Compliance
Officer ”’). A Compliance Officer is generally responsible for the administration of this Policy. A Compliance Officer
may select others to assist with the execution of his or her duties. E. Reporting Violations It is your responsibility to help
enforce this Policy. You should be alert to possible violations and promptly report violations or suspected violations of
this Policy to a Compliance Officer. If your situation requires that your identity be kept secret, your anonymity will be
preserved to the greatest extent reasonably possible. If you wish to remain anonymous, you may: send a letter addressed
to a Compliance Officer at Flywire Corporation, 141 Tremont St., # 10, Boston, MA 02111; leave an anonymous message
on the ethics hotline at the toll free number 1- 800- 461- 9331; or complete an online report at www. convercent. com. If
you make an anonymous report, please provide as much detail as possible, including any evidence that you have. F.
Personal responsibility You are responsible for complying with this Policy and applicable laws and regulations. You
should use your best judgment at all times and consult with your personal legal and financial advisors, as needed. You
should seek assistance from a Compliance Officer if you have any questions at all. The rules relating to insider trading
can be complex, and a violation of insider trading laws can carry severe consequences. A. Persons Covered by This
Policy This Policy applies to all directors, officers, employees and agents (such as consultants and independent
contractors) of the Company and others designated by the Compliance Officer from time to time. References to the

Company include subsidiaries of the Company. References in this Policy to (as well as general references to
directors, officers, employees together-agents of the Company) should also be understood to include members of your
immediate family, persons whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents and any other

individuals or entities whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control (including, for example, a trust or
a venture or other investment fund or strategic investor, if you influence, direct or control transactions by the entity).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Policy shall not apply in any manner to any entity that
engages in the investment of securities in the ordinary course of its business (e. g., an investment fund or partnership) if
such entity has established its own insider trading controls and procedures in compliance with applicable securities laws.
You are responsible for making sure that these other individuals and entities comply with this Policy. B. Types of
Transactions Covered by This Policy Except as discussed in “ Limited Exceptions ” below, this Policy applies to all
transactions involving the securities of 5. It also applies to all transactions involving the securities of the
other companies about which you possess material non- public information obtained in the course of your service with
the Company. This Policy therefore applies to purchases, sales and other transfers of common stock, options, warrants,
preferred stock, debt securities (such as debentures, bonds and notes) and other securities. This Policy also applies to any
arrangements that affect economic exposure from changes in the prices of these securities (e. g., transactions in
derivative securities (such as exchange- traded put or call options), hedging transactions, short sales and certain
decisions with respect to participation in benefit plans). This Policy also applies to any offers by you with respect to the
transactions discussed above. There are no exceptions from insider trading laws or this Policy based on the size of the
transaction. C. Responsibilities Regarding the Non- Public Information of Other Companies This Policy prohibits the
unauthorized disclosure or other misuse of any non- public information of other companies, such as the Company’ s
clients, distributors, vendors, customers, collaborators, suppliers and competitors. This Policy also prohibits insider
trading and tipping based on the material non- public information of other companies. D. Applicability of This Policy
after Your Departure You are expected to comply with this Policy until such time as (i) you are no longer affiliated with
the Company, (ii) you no longer possess any material non- public information subject to this Policy and (iii) if your
transactions in Company securities are subject to a blackout period at the time you cease to be affiliated with the
Company, the end of such blackout period. E. No Exceptions Based on Personal Circumstances There may be instances
where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned transaction because of
the restrictions imposed by this Policy. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances will not limit your
liability under securities laws and will not excuse a failure to comply with this Policy. A. “ Material ” Information
Information is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in
deciding whether to buy, hold or sell securities or would view the information as significantly altering the total mix of
information in the marketplace. In general, any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market price
of a security is likely to be material. Both positive and negative information may be material. It is not possible to define
all categories of “ material ” information. However, some examples of information that could be regarded as material



include information with respect to: ® Financial results, financial condition, earnings pre- announcements, guidance,
projections or forecasts; note that information about the results of the Company’ s operations for even a portion of a
quarter might be material in helping predict the Company’ s financial results for the quarter; e Restatements of
financial results, or material impairments, write- offs or restructurings; e Significant developments in research and
development or relating to intellectual property; ® Changes in independent auditors, or notification that the Company
may no longer rely on an audit report; e Business plans or budgets; ® Creation of significant financial obligations, or
any significant default under or acceleration of the payment of any financial obligation; e Impending bankruptcy or
financial liquidity problems; e Significant developments involving business relationships, including entering into,
modifying, or terminating significant agreements or orders with clients, customers, suppliers, distributors,
manufacturers or other business partners; ® Product introductions, modifications, defects or recalls or significant
pricing changes or other announcements of a significant nature; e A significant cybersecurity incident, such as a data
breach, or any other significant disruption, loss, potential loss, breach or unauthorized access of the Company’ s
property or assets, whether at the Company’ s facilities or through the Company’ s information technology
infrastructure; o Significant legal or regulatory developments, whether actual or threatened; ® Major events involving
the Company’ s securities, including calls of securities for redemption, adoption of stock repurchase programs, option
repricings, stock splits, changes in dividend policies, public or private securities offerings, modification to the rights of
security holders, or notice of delisting of our securities from trading on a securities exchange; ® The existence of a special
blackout period in which you may not trade securities; ® Significant corporate events, such as a pending or proposed
merger, joint venture or tender offer, a significant investment, the acquisition or disposition of a significant business or
asset or a change in control of the Company; and e Major personnel changes, such as changes in senior management or
lay- offs. If you have any questions as to whether information should be considered “ material, ” you should consult with
a Compliance Officer. In general, it is advisable to resolve any close questions as to the materiality of any information by
assuming that the information is material. B. “ Non- Public ” Information Information is considered non- public until it
has been broadly disseminated to the public for long enough to be reflected in the price of the security. Unless you have
seen material information publicly disseminated, you should assume the information is non- public. As a general rule,
you should consider information to be non- public until the beginning of the second trading day after the information
has been broadly disseminated to the public in a press release, a public filing with the SEC, a pre- announced public
webcast or another broad, non- exclusionary form of public communication. If, for example, the Company were to make
an announcement after the close of the trading day on a Monday afternoon, you should not trade in the Company’ s
securities until the beginning of the trading day on Wednesday. However, depending upon the form of the announcement
and the nature of the information, it is possible that information may not be fully absorbed by the marketplace until
later. Any questions as to whether information is non- public should be directed to a Compliance Officer. The term “
trading day ” means a day on which national stock exchanges are open for trading. A. Confidentiality of Non- Public
Information This Policy prohibits the unauthorized use or disclosure of non- public information relating to the Company
or other companies. All non- public information you obtain in the course of your service with the Company may only be
used for legitimate Company business purposes. In addition, you should handle others’ non- public information in
accordance with the terms of any relevant nondisclosure agreements, and the use of any such non- public information
should be limited to the purpose for which it was disclosed. You must use all reasonable efforts to safeguard non- public
information in the Company’ s possession. All officers, employees and agents (such as consultants and independent
contractors) of the Company are required to sign and comply with an agreement addressing confidential information
and invention assignment. B. No Trading on Material Non- Public Information Except as discussed in “ Limited
Exceptions ” below, you may not, directly or indirectly through others, engage in any transaction involving the
Company’ s securities while aware of material non- public information relating to the Company. It does not matter that
you did not “ use ” the information in your transaction. Similarly, you may not engage in transactions involving the
securities of any other company if you are aware of material non- public information about that company (except if the
transactions are similar to those presented in “ Limited Exceptions ” below). For example, you may be aware of a
proposed transaction involving a prospective business relationship or transaction with another company. If information
about that transaction constitutes material non- public information for that other company, you would be prohibited
from engaging in transactions involving the securities of that other company (as well as transactions involving the
Company securities, if that information is material to the Company). “ Materiality ” is company- specific — information
that is not material to the Company may be material to another company. C. No Disclosing Material Non- Public
Information You may not disclose non- public information about the Company or any other company, unless required
by law, or unless (i) disclosure is required for legitimate Company business purposes, (ii) you are authorized to disclose
the information and (iii) appropriate steps have been taken to prevent misuse of that information (including entering an
appropriate nondisclosure agreement that restricts the disclosure and use of the information, if applicable). This
restriction also applies to internal Company communications and to communications with agents (such as consultants
and independent contractors) of the Company. In cases where disclosing non- public information to third Parties-parties
is required, you should coordinate with the Legal Department. In addition, you may not make recommendations or
express opinions on the basis of material non- public information as to trading in the securities of companies to which
such information relates. You are prohibited from engaging in these actions whether or not you derive any profit or
personal benefit from doing so. This prohibition against disclosure of material non- public information includes
disclosure (even anonymous disclosure) via the Internet, blogs, investor forums, chat rooms, social media, or the like. D.
Responding to Outside Inquiries for Information In the event you receive an inquiry from someone outside of the



Company, such as a stock analyst or news reporter, for information, you should refer the inquiry to the Chief Financial
Officer or the Investor Relations Department. Your disclosure of information could result in SEC enforcement actions
against the Company, including injunctions and severe monetary penalties. Please consult the Company’ s Media policy
for more details. 9 To limit the likelihood of trading at times when there is a significant risk of insider trading exposure,
the Company has instituted quarterly trading blackout periods and may institute special trading blackout periods from
time to time. It is important to note that whether or not you are subject to blackout periods, you remain subject to the
prohibitions on trading on the basis of material non- public information and any other applicable restrictions in this
Policy. A. Quarterly Blackout Periods Except as discussed in “ Limited Exceptions ” below, all Company directors,
executive officers and other employees and agents (such as consultants and independent contractors) identified by the
Company or a Compliance Officer as listed on Schedule I must refrain from conducting transactions involving the
Company’ s securities during quarterly blackout periods. From time to time, the Company or a Compliance Officer may
identify other persons who should be subject to quarterly blackout periods, and may update and revise Schedule I as
appropriate. Even if you are not specifically identified as being subject to quarterly blackout periods, you should
exercise caution when engaging in transactions during quarterly blackout periods because of the heightened risk of
insider trading exposure. This period is a particularly sensitive time for transactions involving the Company’ s securities
from the perspective of compliance with applicable securities laws due to the fact that, during these periods, individuals
may often possess or have access to material non- public information relevant to the expected financial results for the
quarter. Quarterly blackout periods start at the beginning of the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of the last month of each
fiscal quarter (e. g., March 15th, June 15th, September 15th and December 15th) and end at the beginning of the second
trading day following the date of public disclosure of the financial results for that fiscal quarter. If, for example, the
Company were to release results for a completed fiscal quarter after the close of the trading day on a Monday afternoon,
you should not trade in the Company’ s securities until the beginning of the trading day on Wednesday. The Company
will notify you when each quarterly blackout period starts and ends so that you will know when you may and may not
engage in any transaction involving the Company’ s securities. You are responsible for complying with the blackout
period described in this Policy regardless of whether you receive notification from the Company about the period. B.
Special Blackout Periods From time to time, the Company or a Compliance Officer may also prohibit directors, officers,
employees and agents (such as consultants and independent contractors) from engaging in transactions involving the
Company’ s securities when, in the judgment of a Compliance Officer, a trading blackout is warranted. The Company
will generally impose special blackout periods when there are material developments known to the Company that have
not yet been disclosed to the public. For example, the Company or a Compliance Officer may impose a special blackout
period in anticipation of announcing interim earnings guidance or a significant transaction or business development.
Special blackout periods may be declared for any reason. The Company will notify you if you are subject to a special
blackout period, in which case you may not engage in any transaction involving the Company’ s securities until
instructed that it is permissible, and you should not disclose the existence of the special blackout period to others. C. No “
Safe Harbors ” There are no unconditional “ safe harbors ” for trades made at particular times, and you should exercise
good judgment at all times. Even when a quarterly blackout period is not in effect, you may be prohibited from engaging
in transactions involving the Company’ s securities because you possess material non- public information, are subject to
a special blackout period or are otherwise restricted under this Policy. 11 Except as discussed in “ Limited Exceptions ”
below, directors and executive officers must refrain from engaging in any transaction involving the Company’ s
securities without first obtaining pre- clearance of the transaction from a Compliance Officer. In addition, as listed on
Schedule II, the Company has determined that certain other employees and agents (such as consultants and independent
contractors) of the Company that may have regular or special access to material non- public information must refrain
from engaging in any transaction involving the Company’ s securities without first obtaining pre- clearance of the
transaction from a Compliance Officer. A Compliance Officer may not engage in a transaction involving the Company’ s
securities unless another Compliance Officer has pre- cleared the transaction. Individuals subject to pre- clearance
requirements are listed on Schedule II. From time to time, the Company or a Compliance Officer may identify other
persons who should be subject to the pre- clearance requirements set forth above, and a Compliance Officer may update
and revise Schedule II as appropriate. These pre- clearance procedures are intended to decrease insider trading risks
associated with transactions by individuals with regular or special access to material non- public information. In
addition, requiring pre- clearance of transactions by directors and officers facilitates compliance with Rule 144 resale
restrictions under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the liability and reporting provisions of Section 16 under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ). WHEREAS-Pre- clearance of a trade , however,
is not a defense to a claim of insider trading and does not excuse you from otherwise complying with insider trading laws
or this Policy. Further, pre- clearance of a transaction does not constitute an affirmation by ora
Compliance Officer that you are not in possession of material non- public information. A Compliance Officer is under
no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre- clearance, and may determine not to permit the transaction. A
form of pre- clearance request has been included as Appendix B. Before executing any transaction, the pre- clearance
form should be completed and submitted to the Compliance Officer for pre- clearance. 12 This section addresses certain
types of transactions that may expose you and the Company to significant risks. You should understand that, even
though a transaction may not be expressly prohibited by this section, you are responsible for ensuring that the
transaction otherwise complies with this Policy, including the general prohibition against insider trading as well as pre-
clearance procedures and blackout periods, if applicable. A. Short Sales This Policy prohibits short sales (i. e., the sale of
a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) and “ selling short against the box ” (i. e., a sale with a delayed



delivery) with respect to Company securities. Short sales may signal to the market possible bad news about the Company
or a general lack of confidence in the Company’ s prospects, and and- an expectation that the value of the Company’ s
securities will decline. In addition, short sales are effectively a bet against the Company’ s success and may reduce the
seller’ s incentive to improve the Company’ s performance. Short sales may also create a suspicion that the seller is
engaged in insider trading. B. Derivative Securities and Hedging Transactions This Policy prohibits transactions in
publicly- traded options, such as puts and calls, and other derivative securities with respect to the Company’ s securities.
This prohibition extends to any hedging or similar transaction designed to decrease the risks associated with holding the
Company securities. Stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights and other securities
issued pursuant to the Company benefit plans or other compensatory arrangements with the Company are not subject to
this prohibition. Transactions in derivative securities may reflect a short- term and speculative interest in the Company’
s securities and may create the appearance of impropriety, even where a transaction does not involve trading on material
non- public information. Trading in derivatives may also focus attention on short- term performance at the expense of
the Company’ s long- term objectives. In addition, the application of securities laws to derivatives transactions can be
complex, and persons engaging in derivatives transactions run an increased risk of violating securities laws. C. Using
Company Securities as Collateral for Loans You may not pledge the Company securities as collateral for loans without
the approval of a Compliance Officer. If you default on the loan, the lender may sell the pledged securities as collateral in
a foreclosure sale. The sale, even though not initiated at your request, is still considered a sale for your benefit. If made
at a time when you are aware of material non- public information or otherwise are not permitted to trade in the
Company securities, the sale may result in inadvertent insider trading violations, Section 16 violations (for officers and
directors), violations of this Policy and unfavorable publicity for you and the Company. For these reasons, even if you
are permitted to pledge the Company securities as collateral for loans, you should exercise caution when doing so. 13 D.
Holding Company Securities in Margin Accounts You may not hold the Company securities in margin accounts without
the approval of a Compliance Officer. Under typical margin arrangements, if you fail to meet a margin call, the broker
may be entitled to sell securities held in the margin account without your consent. The sale, even though not initiated at
your request, is still considered a sale for your benefit. If made at a time when you are aware of material non- public
information or are otherwise not permitted to trade in the Company securities, the sale may result in inadvertent insider
trading violations, Section 16 violations (for officers and directors), violations of this Policy and unfavorable publicity
for you and the Company. For these reasons, even if you are permitted to hold the Company securities in margin
accounts, you should exercise caution when doing so. E. Placing Open Orders with Brokers Except in accordance with an
approved trading plan (as discussed below), you should exercise caution when placing open orders, such as limit orders
or stop orders, with brokers, particularly where the order is likely to remain outstanding for an extended period of time.
Open orders may result in the execution of a trade at a time when you are aware of material non- public information or
otherwise are not permitted to trade in the Company securities, which may result in inadvertent insider trading
violations, Section 16 violations (for officers and directors), violations of this Policy and unfavorable publicity for you
and the Company. If you are subject to blackout periods or pre- clearance requirements, you should inform your broker
when you place any open order at the time the order is placed. 14 The following are certain limited exceptions to the
restrictions imposed by the Company under this Policy. Please be aware that even if a transaction is subject to an
exception to this Policy, you will need to separately assess whether the transaction complies with applicable law. For
example, even if a transaction is indicated as exempt from this Policy, you may need to comply with the “ short- swing ”
trading restrictions under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, if applicable. You are responsible for complying with
applicable law at all times. A. Transactions Pursuant to a Trading Plan that Complies with SEC Rules The SEC has
enacted rules that provide an affirmative defense against alleged violations of U. S. federal insider trading laws for
transactions pursuant to trading plans that meet certain requirements. In general, these rules, as set forth in Rule 10b5-
1 under the Exchange Act, provide for an affirmative defense if you enter into a contract, provide instructions or adopt a
written plan for trading securities when you are not aware of material non- public information. The contract,
instructions or plan must (i) specify the amount, price and date of the transaction, (ii) specify an objective method for
determining the amount, price and date of the transaction and / or (iii) place any subsequent discretion for determining
the amount, price and date of the transaction in another person who is not, at the time of the transaction, aware of
material non- public information. Transactions made pursuant to a written trading plan that (i) complies with the
affirmative defense set forth in Rule 10b5- 1, (ii) complies with the requirements set forth in Appendix A hereto and (iii)
is approved by a Compliance Officer, are not subject to the restrictions in this Policy against trades made while aware of
material non- public information or to the pre- clearance procedures or blackout periods established under this Policy.
In approving a trading plan, a Compliance Officer may, in furtherance of the objectives expressed in this Policy, impose
criteria in addition to those set forth in Rule 10b5- 1. You should therefore confer with a Compliance Officer prior to
entering into any trading plan. The SEC rules regarding trading plans are complex, and you must comply with them
completely for your trading plan to be effective. The description provided above is only a summary, and the Company
strongly advises that you consult with your personal legal advisor if you intend to adopt a trading plan. While trading
plans are subject to the Company review and approval, you are ultimately responsible for compliance with Rule 10b5- 1
and this Policy. A Compliance Officer must keep a copy of each adopted trading plan. The Company may publicly
disclose information regarding trading plans that you may enter (including but not limited to the information required
by Regulation S- K Item 408), and you, or the Company on your behalf, will identify any Rule 10b5- 1 transactions as
such on Forms 4 and 5, if applicable. B. Receipt and Vesting of Stock Options, Restricted Stock Units, Restricted Stock
and Stock Appreciation Rights The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the grant or award of stock



options, restricted stock units, restricted stock or stock appreciation rights issued or offered by the Company, or
mandatory “ sell to cover taxes > for restricted stock units. The trading restrictions under this Policy also do not apply to
the vesting, cancellation or forfeiture of stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock or stock appreciation rights
in accordance with applicable 15 plans and agreements. The trading restrictions do apply, however, to any subsequent
sales of any such securities or the common stock underlying such securities and any other market sale for the purpose of
generating the cash needed to pay withholding taxes related to the settlement restricted stock units or stock option
exercises. C. Cash or Cashless Net Exercise of Stock Options The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to
the exercise of stock options for cash under the Company’ s stock option plans. Likewise, the trading restrictions under
this Policy do not apply to the exercise of stock options in a stock- for- stock exercise with the Company or an election to
have the Company withhold securities to cover tax obligations in connection with an option exercise. However, the
trading restrictions under this Policy do apply to (i) the sale of any securities issued upon the exercise of a stock option,
(ii) a cashless exercise of a stock option through a broker, because this involves selling a portion of the underlying shares
to cover the costs of exercise, and (iii) any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the
exercise price of an option or to pay withholding taxes related to the settlement of restricted stock units or stock option
exercises. D. Purchases from Stock Purchase Plan The trading restrictions in this Policy do not apply to
elections with respect to participation in the Company’ s employee stock purchase plan or to purchases of securities
under the plan. However, the trading restrictions do apply to any subsequent sales of any such securities acquired
therefrom. E. Stock Splits, Stock Dividends and Similar Transactions The trading restrictions under this Policy do not
apply to a change in the number of securities held as a result of a stock split or stock dividend applying equally to all
securities of a class, or similar transactions. F. Bona Fide Gifts and Inheritance The trading restrictions under this
Policy do not apply to bona fide gifts involving Company securities or transfers by will or the laws of descent and
distribution. However, the trading restrictions apply if (i) you have reason to believe that the recipient intends to sell
Company securities while you arc parties-aware of material nonpublic information or, (ii) (A) you are subject to the
trading restrictions specified above under the heading “ Trading Blackout Periods, ” and (B) you have reason to believe
the recipient intends to sell the Company securities during a blackout period. In other words, you cannot use a gift to
conduct a transaction that otherwise would be prohibited under this Policy. In addition, the trading restrictions under
this Policy apply to any gifted or inherited securities if the recipient, for example, an immediate family member, is
subject to this Policy. See “ Persons and Transactions Covered by this Policy ” above. Please also note that under the
Company’ s stock option plans, a stock option or other equity award may not be gifted or transferred except under very
limited circumstances. 16 G. Change in Form of Ownership Transactions that involve merely a change in the form in
which you own securities are not subject to the trading restrictions under this Policy. For example, you may transfer
shares to an inter vivos trust of which you are the sole beneficiary during your lifetime. H. Other Exceptions Any other
exception from this Policy must be approved by a Compliance Officer, in consultation with the Board of Directors or an
independent committee of the Board of Directors. 17 A. Obligations under Section 16 Section 16 of the Exchange Act,
and the related rules and regulations, set forth (i) reporting obligations, (ii) limitations on “ short- swing ” transactions
and (iii) limitations on short sales and other transactions applicable to directors, officers, large shareholders and
FransitionAgreement-other persons. The Company’ s Board of Directors has determined that those persons listed on
Schedule III are required to comply with Section 16 of the Exchange Act . dated-and the related rules and regulations,
because of their positions with the Company. A Compliance Officer may amend Schedule III from time to time
appropriate to reflect the election of Nevember-6-new officers or directors , 2623-any change in the responsibilities of
officers or other employees and any promotions, demotions, resignations or departures. Schedule III is not necessarily
an exhaustive list of persons subject to Section 16 requirements at any given time. Even if you are not listed on Schedule
I1T, you may be subject to Section 16 reporting obligations because of your shareholdings, for example. B. Notification
Requirements to Facilitate Section 16 Reporting To facilitate timely reporting of transactions pursuant to Section 16
requirements, if you are subject to Section 16 reporting requirements you must provide, or must ensure that your broker
provides, the Company with detailed information ( e. g., trade date, number of shares, exact price, etc.) regarding your
transactions involving the Company’ s securities, including gifts, transfers, pledges and transactions pursuant to a
trading plan, both prior to the transaction (to confirm compliance with pre- clearance procedures, if applicable) and on
the date of the transaction. C. Personal Responsibility The obligation to file Section 16 reports, and to otherwise comply
with Section 16, is personal. The Company is not responsible for the failure to comply with Section 16 requirements. 18
Additional Information A. Availability of Policy This Policy will be made available to all the Company directors,
officers, employees and agents when the-they commence service with the Company. You are required to acknowledge
that you understand, and agree to comply with, this Policy. B. Amendments The Company is committed to continuously
reviewing and updating this Policy and any other Company policies and procedures. The Company therefore reserves
the right to amend, alter or terminate this Policy at any time and for any reason, subject to applicable law. A current
copy of the Company’ s policies regarding insider trading may be obtained via the Wire and Bamboo.. * * * Nothing in
this Policy creates or implies an employment contract or term of employment. The policies in this Policy do not
constitute a complete list of the Company policies or a complete list of the types of conduct that can result in discipline,
up to and including discharge. 19 A Rule 10b5- 1 “ Fransitton-Agreement-trading plan ” involving purchases or sales of
Company securities must comply with the requirements of Rule 10bS- 1 and must meet the following requirements: 1.
The trading plan must be in writing and signed by the person adopting the trading plan. 2. The trading plan must be
adopted at a time when: (?] the person adopting the trading plan is not aware of any material non- public information (“
MNPI WHEREAS-(?] there is no quarterly , pursuantspecial or other trading blackout in effect with respect to the



person adopting the trading plan. 3. The trading plan must be entered in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme
to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10bS5 - 1 and the individual adopting the trading plan must act in good faith with
respect to the plan through its duratlon 4.1In addltlon, dlrectors and Section 22—16 ofﬁcers of t-he—"l"—r&nsrtwteﬂﬁgfeemeﬁt—

d 0 he-mutual-promises-and-ecovenants h-herein;-the-Parties-hereby-agree-as .,allpersonshsted
on Schedule III of Befinitions—At-eapitalized-terms-nototherwise-defined-inrthis Amendmentshallt-have-the-meanings-aseribed
fe—Pohcy) must represent in a tradlng plan at t-hem— the tlme of its adoption (or modification) that intheTFransition

g otr6-(a) of the-they are not aware of any MNPI about the

Company or 1ts securities, and (b) they are adoptmg (or modifying) the trading plan in good faith and not as part of a
plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5- 1. S. The individual adopting the trading plan may not have
entered into or altered a corresponding or hedging Fransitiorr-transaction Agreement-or position with respect to the
securities subject to the trading plan and must agree not to enter into any such transaction while the trading plan is

in its-entirety-toread-asfolows-effect. 6. The first trade under the trading plan may not occur
until : (?) For directors and Section 16 officers of the Company (i. e., all persons listed on Schedule IIT of this Policy), the
later of (a) 90 calendar days after adoption of the trading plan or (b) two business days following the filing of the Form
10- Q or Form 10- K for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was adopted (but in any event, no more than 120 calendar
days after the adoption of the trading plan). (2] For all other persons, 30 calendar days after adoption of the trading
plan. 7. The trading plan must have a minimum term of one year and a maximum term of two years (measured from the
date the plan is effective). There is a limitation of one single- trade plan during any consecutive 12- month period. 8. All
transactions during the term of the trading plan (except for the other “ Limited Exceptions Gpﬁeﬁs—eﬂﬂ*prﬂz”-éée-lé—
yot-weregranted-astoek-option(the—First Option-~ identified in yto-purehase-5+6;873-shares-of-the Company’ s eommon
stoek-insider trading policy) must be conducted through the trading plan. 9. The trading plan cannot overlap with
another Rule 10b5- 1 trading plan, unless one of the following exceptions applies: (2] Eligible “ sell- to- cover
transactions ( i. e., authorizing the “-Cemmen-Stoel—>sale of securities as necessary to satisfy tax withholding obligations
arising exclusively from the vesting of a compensatory award where the insider doesn’ t otherwise exercise control over
the timing of such sales ) are not considered separate plans that count against this prohibition. (2] A series of separate
contracts with different broker- dealers that effectively function as a single trading plan are not considered overlapping
plans. (2] Trades under an existing trading plan can continue to run during the cooling- off period for a new trading plan
if the following conditions are met: (a) trading under the new trading plan may not begin until after all trades under the
existing trading plan are completed or expire without execution, and (b) the applicable cooling off period under the new
trading plan, running from the date of its adoption, has been met; provided, however, if the existing trading plan is
terminated early (i. e., before its scheduled completion date), then the applicable cooling- off period for the new trading
plan must run from the date of the termination of the existing trading plan. 10. Regarding material modifications (where
such modifications change the amount, price or timing of the purchase or sale of securities pursuant to the plan, but does
not include immaterial modifications): (?J The trading plan may only be modified when the person modifying the trading
plan is not aware of MNPI. (2] The trading plan may only be modified when there is no quarterly, special or other
blackout in effect with respect to the person modifying the plan. (?] The first trade under the modified trading plan may
only occur in accordance with the cooling off periods noted in item 6 above. The existing plan would remain in effect
until the modified plan comes into effect. (2] The modified trading plan must have a minimum duration of one year and
a maximum term of two years (measured from the date the plan is effective). 11. A person may only modify a trading
plan once in a one- year period. 12. If the person that adopted the trading plan terminates the plan prior to its stated
duration, he or she may not trade in the Company’ %999—Equ-rt=y—l—&eeﬂtﬁe—P-lan-securltles until the completion of the next
upcoming quarterly blackout period after termination ( or, if the “2069-Plan-plan >is terminated during a quarterly
blackout period, the end of that blackout period ). ©nNevember28-13. The Company must be promptly notified of any
modification or termination of the trading plan , 2648;-yet-were-including any suspension of trading under the plan. 14.
If the trading plan granted-grants discretion to a stockbroker or stoek-option(the-other person with respect “Second
Option-o the execution purehase195-006-sharesof trades Common-Steekunder the plan: (2] trades made under the
trading plan must be executed by someone other than the stockbroker or other person that executes trades in other
securities for the person adopting the trading plan; (2] the person adopting the trading plan may not confer with the

person administering the trading plan regarding the Company or its securities; ~s20+8EquityIneentive Plan(the“ 2648
Planr-OnJanary 2202 —ver-weresrantedamand (2] additionatstockoption{  “Third-Opten—and-eceHeettvely

person administering the trading plan must provide prompt notice to the Company of the execution of a transaction
pursuant to the plan 15 All transactions under the tradlng plan must be in accordance with apphcable law 16 The
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Ne—l—te—t-he—’Pfa—nﬂt-reﬁ—Agfeeﬁieﬂ-t—Exhlblt 21.1 SUBSIDIARIES OF FLYWIRE CORPORATIONName of Sub%ldlary
Jurisdiction of OrganizationFlywire EATAM-LatAm Corporation United States of AmericaFlywire AEA Corporation United
States of AmericaFlywire Healthcare Corporation United States of AmerteaFtywire-U—S—Holdings; Ine—United-States-of
AmericaOnPlan Holdings, LLC United States of AmericaFlywire Securities Corporation United States of AmericaFlywire
Global Corp. United States of AmericaFlywire Payments Corporation United States of AmericaSimplificare Inc. United States
of Americalnvoiced, Inc. United States of AmericaFlywire Pacific Pty Ltd AustraliaCohort Solutions Pty Ltd AustraliaOSHC
Australia Pty Ltd AustraliaLearning Information Systems Pty Limited AustraliaCohort Go Brasil Representacoes
Representacdes Eireli BrazilFlywire Servicos Ltda BrazilFlywire €anade;tre—CanadaFlywire-Payments Canada, Inc.
CanadaCohort Solutions (Canada) Ltd CanadaFlywire (Hong Kong) Limited Hong KongFW Solutions India LLP IndiaLis
Studylink India Private Limited IndiaSimplificare Ltd. IsraclFlywire G. K. JapanFlywire Europe, UAB LithuaniaFlywire
Mexico, S. A. de C. V. MexicoCohort Solutions (NZ) Ltd New ZealandpeerTransfer Commercial Consulting (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd. People’ s Republic of ChinaFlywire Romania S. R. L. RomaniaFlywire (Singapore) Pte. Ltd SingaporeFlywire Spain, S L.
U. SpainFlywire Payments I:td—Hﬂrted—ng&em’#P—M—Gfeﬂp—lelted Unlted KlngdomWPM Educatlon lelted Unlted
KingdomWPM Payment Security Eimt W d A
Emd%mhmned Unlted KlngdomExhlblt 23.1 CON SENT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration
Statements on Form S- 3 (333- 273835) and Forms S- 8 (Nos. 333- 256695, 333- 263956 and-, 333- 270587 , and 333- 277440 )
of Flywire Corporation of our report dated February 2825 , 2824-2025 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10- K. / s / PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Boston,
MassachusettsFebraary—------- Massachusetts 28-February 25 . 2624-2025 Exhibit 31. | CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL
EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULES 13a- 14 (a) AND 15d- 14 (a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 I, Michael
Massaro, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 of
Flywire Corporation; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and
other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying
officer (s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f)
and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure
controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control
over financial reporting; and 5. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s




board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting, which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’
s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that
involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: February 28-25 , 2624-2025 By: / s / Michael Massaro Michael Massaro Chief Executive OfficerExhibit 31. 2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO I, Miehael-EHis-Cosmin Pitigoi , certify that:
Date: February 2825 , 2624-2025 By: / s / Michael-EHtisMichaelEHis-Cosmin Pitigoi Cosmin Pitigoi Chief Financial
OfficerExhibit 32. 1 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In connection with the Annual Report of Flywire Corporation (the “ Company ) on Form 10- K for the
year ended December 31, 2623-2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report ),
[ certify, pursuant to 18 U. S. C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that: (1) The Report
fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) The information
contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.
Date: February 2825 , 2624-2025 By: / s / Michael Massaro Michael Massaro Chief Executive OfficerExhibit 32. 2 Date:
FeblleIy 2-8—25 %9%4—2025 By:/s/ %ehael—E—l—hs—Mtehael—E—l—l-ts—Cosmm P1t1g01 Cosmm P1t1g01 C hlef FlndllCldl OffieerExhibit
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